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mission statement

we aspire to be one of the
world's great specialist
banking groups, driven by our
commitment to our core
philosophies and values,

philosophies and values

Philosophies

Single organisation

Meritocracy

Focused businesses

[Differertiated, yet integrated

Material employee ownership

Creating an environment that stimulates extraordinary parformance

Values

We demand casi-iron integrity in all internal and extarnal dealings, consistently and uncompromisingly
displaying moral strength and behaviour which promotes trust.

We will break china for the client, having the tenacity and confidence to challenge cenvention,

We show concern for people, support our colleagues and encourage growth and development

We thrive on change, continually chailenging the status quo and recegnising that success depends on
flexibility, innovation and enthusiasm in meeting the needs of our changing environment.

We believe that open and honest debate is the appropriate process to test decisions, seek consensus
and accept responsibility.

We are creative individuals who co-operate and collaborate unselfishly in pursuit of group performance.
We respect the dignity and worth of the individuai through openness and telerance of difference and by
the sincere, consistent and considerate manner in which we interact.

We require talented people with passion, energy and stamina, who exercise common sense in achieving
effective performance in a high pressure, multi-task environment.

We promote entrepreneurial flair and the freedom to operate within the context of risk consciousness,

sound judgement and the obligation to do things properiy,
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financial highlights

3! March % 31 March
UK GAAP: 2003 Change 2002
Profit and Loss Account and Selected Returns
Earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders before exceptional
items and amaortisation of goodwill {£'000) 88 684 {30.5) 127 613
Headline earnings {£'000) 8261} {28.6} 5 777
Operating profit before amaortisation of goodwill,
exceptiona! items and taxation (£000) 84 758 {(46.5) 158 567
Operating profit: South Africa and Cther (% of total) 80,9 516
Operating profit: Non-Southern Africa and Other (% of total) (9.1 48.4
Cast to income ratio (%) 79.8 720
Staff compensation to operating income ratio {% 504 445
Return on average shareholders’ funds (%) 124 19.4
Return on average fangible net asset value (%) 238 372
Annuity income as a percentage of operating incorme (%) 713 68.7
Net interest income as a percentage of operating income (%) 258 265
Non-interest income as a percentage of operating income (%) T4z 735
Effective tax rate (%) 43 180
Balance Sheet
Total capital resources {£ millions} 1013 5.7 958
Total shareholders’ funds (£ millions) 697 (5.0) 734
Total assets (£ millions) |4 959 (+1.8) 16 957
Core loans and advances as & percentage
of totat assets (%) 268 19.5

Total assets under administration (£ mitlions} 40 804 8 41219
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financial highlights

31 March % 31 March*

UK GAAP! 2003 Change 2002
Salient Financial Features and Key Statistics

Earnings per share before exceptional items and

amortisation of goodwill (pence) 7.6 (30.2) 139.8
Headline earnings per share {pence) 90,9 (2833 126.8
Basic earnings per share (pence) (70.4} >{100; I4.8
Diluted earnings per share {pence) (70.4) >(100) 119
Proposed dividends declared per share (pence) 54.0 0.4 53.8
Dividend cover (times) 1.8 2.6
Net tangible asset value per share {pence) 3855 3.1 3738
Weighted number of ordinary shares in issue {million) 909 (0.4 913
Total number of shares in issue {million) 113.0 226 922
Number of empioyees in the group 4 874 (I.8y 5529
Market capitalisation (£ miltions) 695 {102 742

Notes:

Refer to definitions on page 312.

2 in calcutating the return on average shareholders’ funds for the year ended 31 March 2002, the
sharehoiders’ funds for the year ended 31 March 2001 have not been restated for changes to
accounting policies and disclosures.

* Restated for changes to accounting policies and disclosures.
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an overview of
investec’s dual listed
companies structure

Introduction

Central to achieving Investec's mission to become one of the world's leading specialist banking groups,
the group sought to obtain a listing on the London Stock Exchange.

in November 2001, Investec received permission from the South African Minister of Finance and the
South African Reserve Bank {(SARB) to establish a Dual Listed Companies (DLC) structure with finked
companies listed in London and Johannesburg, This structure was implemented in july 2002 and
represented a significant milestone in the history of the group.

The listing is a logical step in the group's international expansion strategy. lnvestec competes in an
increasingly global market where the availability and cost of capital are important.

The London listing should therefore benefit the group by increasing its global profile, enhancing its
capital raising ability, lowering its cost of capital and improving access to internaticnal capital markets.

implementation of a Dual Listed Companies Structure

A circular regarding the establishment of & DLC structure was issued on 20 June 2002, In summary,

some of the salient features of the DLC structure include:

»  The Investec Holdings (Inhold} pyramid structure. which had been in place since Investec Group
Limited (IGL) Histed on the [SE Securities Exchange Scuth Africa (JSE) in 1988, was not censidered
appropriate under the changed circumstances, and Inhold unbundled its entire shareholding in IGL to
Inhiold members. At the record date, Inhold members received 86.04 IGL ordinary shares for every
100 Inhoid ordinary shares held. With effect from 19 July 2002 Inhold ordinary shares were
suspended on the [SE and the delisting of Inhold from the JSE ook place on 26 July 2002,

= Interms of the DLC structure, IGL has retained all its businesses in continental Southern Africa and

lauritius and its primary listing on the [SE Furthermere, as at 31 March 2003 the UK Traded
Endowments business was stilf owned by Investec Limited.
+ IGL has been renamed lnvestec Limited.
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IGL's other businesses were placed into a2 UK company, Investec plc, and were unbundled from |GL
after the close of business on 19 July 2002. The mechanics of the IGL unbundling were arranged in
such away that for every 100 ordinary shares held by an IGL shareholder, hefshe received 37 iGL
(Investec Limited) and 63 Investec pic shares Le. 100 instrumenits.
Investec plc was listed on the London Stock Exchange on 22 July 2002 and has a secondary listing
on the |SE.
Investec plc and Investec Limited are separate legal entities and listings, but are bound together by
contractual agreements and mechanisms, The agreements are designed to ensure, insofar as possible,
that the economic and therefore, market value, of a share in one company will be the same as the
eccnomic and marke? value of a share in the othen
The companies have the same Boards of Directors and management - the implementation of the
DLC structure did not in any way change the way in which Investec manages its business.
nvestec continues 1o operate as if it were a single unified economic enterprise.
Sharehoiders have common econoemic and voting interests as if Investec Limited and Investec plc
were a single company:
- Equivalent dividends on a per share basis,
- loint electorate and class right voting,
Creditors are however ring-fenced to either Investec Limited or Investec ple as there are no cross
guarantees between the companies.
Regulation of the DLC structure:
- The SARB is the lead regulator of the group.
- The UK Financial Services Authorfty is the regulator of Investec plc while the SARB is the
regulator of Investec Limited,
The Memorandum of Understanding between the two regulators sets out that the role of the
iead regulator would change if 70% or more of the on and off balance sheet assets are heid by
lnvestec pic.
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A simplified illustration of the DLC structure

SA resident Non-5A resident SA resident Non-SA resident
sharehoiders shareholders shareholders shareholders
1 ¥ y ¥
Sharing .
Investec plc <> agreement [<> Investec Limited
Non-SA operations SA operations

LSE primary listing
|SE primary listing
JSE secondary listing

Further information on the group's DLC structure can be found in the circular mentioned above as well
as in the preliminary offering circular issued on 8 July 2002, A copy of these circulars can be found on
the group's website www.investec.com/finvestorrelations.

Presentation of financial information

Under the contractual arrangements implementing the DLC structure, Investec Limited and investec plc
effectively form a single economic entity, in which the economic and voting rights of shareholders are
equalised. In accordance with this structure, the directors of the two companies consider that for
financial reporting purposes, the fairest presentation is achieved by censolidating the results and financial
position of both compantes using merger accounting principles.

Accordingly, the results for Investec pic set out on pages 222 to 308 presents the results and financial
position of the combined DLC group under UK GAAP, denominated in Pounds Steriing, The resuits for
Investec Limited set out on pages 327 to 384 are also prepared on a DLC basis under SA GAAR
denominated in South African Rand,

The financial information contained throughout this document, other than on pages 322 to 395, has
been prepared in accordance with UK GAAR All references in this document referring to “Investec” or
“the group” relate 1o the combined DLC group comprising Investec Limited and Investec plc.

SA GAAP differs in certain respects from UK GAAP A high-ievel reconciliation and summary of the
principal differences between SA GAAP and UK GAAP is set out on page 385,
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chairman’s statement

- Hugh Herman

Results

The 2003 financial year was extremely challenging for Investec as wellf as for the whole investment
banking industry. Equity markets underwent considerable corrections as investor confidence was
damaged by negative corporate news flow in the first half of the financial year, Concerns about the war
in Irag and its aftermath significantly subdued sentiment fowards the end of the period.

Against this backdrop, Invester reported basic earnings per share (EPS) before goodwi!l amortisation
and exceptional items down by 30.2% from 139.8 pence to 97.6 pence. Headline EPS dectined by 28.3%
from [26.8 pence to 90.9 pence. Total dividends per share for the year amounted to 54.0 pence
compared to 53.8 perice in 2002,

Listing in London

A milestone for the group was the establishment in July 2002 of Investec’s Dual Listed Companies

{DLC) structure. In terms of the DLC structure, Investec now has linked companies, listed on a primary
basis, in London and Johannesburg. The listing is a key step in the group's internationalisation strategy as
it raises Investec’s international profile and recognition as an internationa! financial group and enhances

its capital raising capabilities.
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Key developments

During the period under review, Investec took significant steps to adwust its cost base to compensate for
a decline in revenues by restructuring and rationalising many of its operations, The US business, which
was particularly vuinerable to weak equity markets, was resized over the past year The private client
stockbroking business and the clearing division were sald and the investment banking operations were
wound down, As a result, the group now has a small presence in the US comprising fixed income
trading operzations and an lsraeli Nasgaq equities trading desk.

Difficutt trading conditions in the UK had a negative impact on the Treasury and Speciaiised Finance
division, leading to the closure of the interest rate repo desk which was capital intensive and used
significant counterparty lines, Investec Investment Banking and Securities was also impacted by the lack
of corporate advisary and capital market activity and, given the lack of visible prospects for a market
recovery, the division reduced its headcount and operating costs,

In South Africa, Investec completed bedding down the Fedsure transaction, with the final disposal of the
components that ware surplus to its requirements and successfully integrated those areas that were

relevant to its core businesses.

Substantia! progress was made in developing the Australian business. In August 2002, Investec’s
Australian operation was granted a banking licence that has enabled it to increase client deposits

substantially and enhance its profile in Australia,

Investec has a strong culture and values system, which form the cornerstone cf the group's expected
behaviour towards all stakehoiders. As Investec's values piay such a pivotal role, they are reviewed
regularly to assess their relevance and appropriateness. In this regard, a series of values workshops
commenced across all areas of the group towards the end of the 2003 financial year, te review and
perpetuate the valuas in the day-to-day life of Investec.

Empowerment and transformation

During the past few years, investec has been through a long process of entrenching an employment
equity culture, This has evelved into a broader debate about black economic empawerment and
transformation in South Africa. In this regard, foliowing the financial year end, an empowerment
transaction was announced in which Tiso Group, Peu investment Group, an Entrepreneurship
Development Trust and ah Investec employee share trust have coliectively acquired a 25.1% stake in the
issued share capital of Investec Limited. The introduction of empowerment shareholders inta Investecs
ownership structure addresses a key outstanding item on the group's empowerment agenda and
provides a catalyst to further advance the cther aspects of jis empowerment strategy.

COFPO rate governahce

Over the past few years, the importance of corporate governance and increased disclosure and
transparency has been placed high on the agenda of all companies. This was intensified by the release of
the Sarbanes-Oxley legislation in the US, the Higgs and Smith Review in the UK and in South Africa, the
King I! Report and the Myburgh Review. These governance standards emphasise the need for increased
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ethical awareness and greater corporate responsibility. Investec emphasises conducting business in
accordance with the best standards of corporate ethics and the board of directors is dedicated to the

highest level of integrity.

Sustainabiiity

During 2002, Investec published its first separata sustainability report as an initial introduction into the
group’s philosophy on transformation and sustainable development. This was given further impetus by
various international developments, such as the World Summit on Sustainable Development held in
jchannesburg in September 2002, the publication of the King 1l Report and the Giobal Reperting
Initiative measurement framework. Methods of reporting on the social aspects of a company's
performance, however, are relatively fragmented and there is currently no single accepted global
standard.

During the year, a Sustainability Task Team was appointed to drive the process and to ensure that
Investec’s journey 10 sustainability is meaningful and achieves its objectives. The group’s second report
on its sustainability process, which reinforces its commitment, is published in a handout accompanying
this Annual Report,

Management and staff

The collective problems of the past year have demanded hard work, commitment and endiess drive on
behalf of all our people. In this regard, | wouid like to express my sincerest appreciation to the Chief
Executive and Managing Director whose steadfast ieadership and decisive guidance have enabled the
group to withstand many challenges. Furthermore, | extend my thanks to all our directors for their
loyalty and commitment 1o the group's efforts and acknowledge them for their firm support and

guidance.

Investec’s has always focused on employing the highest calibre individuals, who display integrity, intellect
and innovation, | thank each and every employee for their relentless energy and unwavering efforts
which have made a vital contribution towards steering the group through a very difficult year

Our business depends on good relationships with our clients and their needs are at the heart of our
business philosophy and actions. | appreciate the support of our customers in the past year and we will
continue to strive to defiver the best possibie service.

Our people have once again shown their abiiity to deliver value for clients and shareholders in
demanding times, It is this dedication, drive and foyaliy that give me great confidence in the group's
future success,
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Qutlook

Ag 2003 unfolds, the global economic and political climate remains uncertain as financial markets
continue their volatile trends of recent years. Internationally, volatile capital markets continue and
invesior anxiety is high, maintaining the challenges of the operating environment.

A degree of cautious optimism is evident in the UK market with falling oil prices, iow interest rates and
reduced geopolitical uncertainties reinstating some momentum. Aa upside surprise in company garnings
and the gradually improving economic outlook should facilitate a recovery in equity markets and restore

investor confidence.

The Rand has recovered strangly from its collapse in 2001 and Scuth Africa continues to benefit from
sound financial management with disciplined fiscal and monetary policies, The South African Reserve
Bank's recent decision to cut interest rates is positive for investor sentiment and further reductions are
expected in the year ahead, Furthermore, we have confidence in the Financial Services Charter's
progress in pro-actively spearheading empowerment in the financial services sector.

Investec still faces chalienges in the year ahead. and there is no certainty about the timing or extent of a
recovery in the global markets. However, the group is now ieaner and more efficient and we believe we
are well positioned to face the future through the skills of our pecple, cur entrepreneurial spirit and the
strong cuiture that unites our organisation.

Hugh Herman
Chairman
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review by chief executive officer
and managing director

- Stephen Koseff and Bernard Kantor

Overview

The past year the group was faced with the challenges of an exceptionally testing operating
environment, Concerns about political developments and the turmoit in the Middle fast exacerbated
negative market sentiment. The poor economic backdrap placed extreme pressure on equity markets
which were further impacted by the widespread corporate scandals. This resulted :n the poor
performance of the FTSE All Share Index and the |SE All Share Index which fell by 32.1% and 30.3%
respectively. With a tough giobal economy, volatile political environment, and troubled equity markets,
business challenges were abundant.

Weak equity markets negatively impacted investec's equity-related businesses such as investment
Banking, Stockbroking and Private Client Portfolio Management. The Asset Management division,
although not immune to weak equity markets, demonstrated particular resilience and centinued to build
capacity and expand its markets.

In South Africa, the group's Banking Activities were unable to capture market share and repeat their

performance of the previous year. The group's results were also affected by the weak performance of
the Trading Activities in the UK and the closure of the inferest rate and repo desks. Market conditions
further impacted the group with 2 substantial loss of £8.9 million incurred in the Traded Endowments

business.

On the positive side, solid growth fram the group's Private Banking activities and the strong
performance of the South African Trading and Assurance Activities offset the weak performances
referred o above.
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Desnite the challenging operating environment, investec made significant advances during the financial
year 1o address the key issues affecting financial performance. Accordingly, the group made considerable
adjustments 1o aiign its cost structure with the declining revenue environment. In certain business units,
a number of strategic initiatives aimed at streamliining operations and realigning sirategies were
implemented.

Steps were taken 1o restruciure many of the grcup’s underperforming operations, divesting of non-core
activities and implementing measures to improve efficiencies, This led to a substantial decline in
headcount and a permanent reduction of the group’s fixed cost base which should lead to further costs
savings in the year ahead

Salient financial features:

- Operating profit before exceptional items and goodwill amortisation declined from £158.6 million to
£84.8 million, This was largely as a result of the weaker performances of the group’s equity related
activities, referred to above, as well a3 a 9% depreciation of the average Rand/Pound Sterling rate
during the period under review.

Annuity income as a percentage of total operating income increased from 68.7% to 71.3%.

- Cost to income deteriorated from 72.0% to 79.8% and ROE declined frem 19.4% to 12.4%, both
reflecting the difficult operating environment.

- Capital adequacy declined marginally from {3.1% to [2.6% as a result of a slight increase in risk-
weighted assets.

- Notwithstanding this, the board is recommending a final dividend of 28 pence per share which,
together with the interim dividend of 26 pence per share paid in December 2002, amounts to a
total dividend of 54 pence, largely the same as for 2002. This year's dividend is covered 1.81 times
by EPS before exceptionai iterns and goodwili amortisation and 1.68 times by headline EPS, as
determined in UK GAAR

For more details on the group’s performance in the period under review, see pages |1 1o 61,

Dual Listed Companies structure established

The group made a significant strategic advance during the period under review, with the establishment
of & Dual Listed Companies (DLC) structure in July 2002. The DLC structure enabled the group to issue
four mitlion Investec plc shares for a consideration of £33.2 million, at a time when financial markets
were exceptionally difficult.

As a consequence of the group’s rapid international expansion, it now competes in an increasingly
international business environment, where the availabiiity and cost of capital is vital. The DLC structure
is expected to enhance the capital raising capability of the group, lowering its cost of capital and
impraving access ta international capital markets. The listing is an exciting development for lnvestec and
a landmark event in its history. it brings the group closer to its mission to be ong of the world's leading
specialist banking institutions and enhances its ability to expand within its chosen markets.

US operations rationalised
Investec’s business in the US was particularly vuinerable to the dramatic decline in equity markets and

incurred operating iosses before excepticnal items and the amortisation of goodwill of £15.6 miilion.
During the financial year, the group decided that it was not prudent te sustain ongoing losses in the US
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business. Accordingly, the US strategy was reviewed and steps were taken 1o significantly raticnalise the

operation.

The twoe main operating entities, Investec Ernst and Investec inc, were dramatically restructured as

follows:

- The private client stockbroking business was sold to management in May 2002,
The clearing division of Investec Ernst was sold to Fisery Securities in August 2002 for US$44
mittion,

- The Investment Banking aperations were wound down. which involved the ciosure of the research,
equity sales and trading businessas and the sale of PMG Advisors.

The remaining US business now comprises fixed income trading cperations, an lsraeli Nasdaq equities
trading desk, and legal and cperating support for the rundown of the Investec Ernst business,

The cperational iosses of these discantinued operations amounted t¢ £16.7 million bafore amortisation
of goodwill and excepticnal items. An exceptional loss arose on termination of these businesses of

£9.4 milfion. The {atter represents £19.7 miilion in respect of the write down of assets, ciosure costs
{including settlement of legal and contract obligations) and provisions for future costs to be incurred on
the winding down of these businesses. This was offset by a net profit of £10.3 million on the disposals
highlighted above. In addition, goodwill of £19.0 million was written-off with respect to the termination
and disposal of these businesses and included as an exceptional item.

UK businesses streamlined and resized

in the UK, the group posted an operating profit before exceptional items and goodwill amortisation of
£22.3 million, a decrease of 65.6%. The strong performance of the Private Banking business was negated
by the poor performance of the equities refated businesses, which were badly affected by adverse
market conditions,

in particular; a Jack of corporate advisory and capital market activity had a severe impact on lnvestec
Investment Banking and Securities. The group recognised that it was necessary to adjust its cost base to
compensate for the decline in revenues, The division's costs were significantly reduced from a peak
annualised rate of £29 miilion to £18 million, with a decline in headcount from 148 tc 98.
MNotwithstanding this, the retained corporate client list was strengthened and market share gains in large
stocks increased from 1.3% to aimost 2.2% of UK agency commissicns.

The Treasury and Specialised Finance divisicn experienced difficult trading conditions and the group
decided to close the interest rate repc desk, which was capital intensive and used significant
counterparty lines. This was partially negated by the solid performance from relatively new Banking
Activities emphasising the group's strategy of building a high fevel of margin and other annuity related

income.

Sound Rand performance from Southern Africa operations

Operations In South Africa recorded operating prefit before exceptional items and amortisation of
googwill of £68.5 million, dacreasing by 16.2%. The depreciation of the Rand of some 9.2% during the
period under review had a negative effect on the results expressed in Pound Steriing of those Investec
businesses that generate revenues and profits in Rand terms.
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The group's Private Banking, Assurance and property divisions performed solidly during the period
under review. This was partially offset by the poor performance of the Traded Endowments business
{which was still included under Investec Limited for the financial year) of £8.9 million and by the weaker
performances of the Investment Banking and Treasury and Specialised Finance divisions.

The group continued to restructure and rationalise the life assurance activities acquired from Fedsure
Holdings Limited. During the period, two further transactions were concluded. namely the reinsurance
of the annuity business with Capital Alliance Limited, and the reinsurance and transfer of scme of the
businesses of Investec Employee Benefits to Liberty Group Limited. The Fedsure acquisition is now
finally bedded down, with the rationalisation and integration process complete,

We are pleased to note that the findings of the Financiai Services Board (FSB) report, in respect of
Fedsure Life, conciuded that Investec had acted reasonably and in the interests of policyholders as a
group and that Investec had implemented reasonable measures to deal with the situation it inherited.
Once again, this demonstrates the group's ability to deal with an adverse situation swiftly and effectively.

Solid platform in Australia

Substantial progress was made during the period under review to develop Investec’s business in the
Australian market, with profit before exceptional items and goodwill amertisation improving substantially
to £6.0 midion from £1.2 millicn in the previcus yean

In August 2002, the Australian operation was granted a banking licence which has opened up many
growth opportunities for the business. The group successfully enhanced its capabilities in the market
with the establishment towards the end of the period of a Project Finance business that is already
contributing to the busmness.

The corporate advisory business of Investec Wentworth secured a significant share of transactions at a
time when merger and acquisition activity and capital raisings were substantially down in the Australian
market. Furthermore, Investec Private Equity was well placed to take advantage cof the attractive
opportunities provided by the weak equity markets,

The group now has a solid platform in Austraiia with a quality client list and effective corporate network
from which to buitd and grow the business.

Israel affected by weak operating environment

The detericrating operating environment experienced in Isragl during 2002 persisted in 2003 with &
fragile geopolitical situation that culminated with war in Iraq. Public confidence in the stability of the
financial sector was somewhat shaken due to the discovery of a massive fraud which led to the collapse
of & small domestic bank and the near coliapse of the larger Industrial Development bank which
suffered significant bad debt write downs. As a result, margin compression and a significant fall-off in
capital market activity had a negative impact on the results of the group's Israeli operations,
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Notwithstanding this, the bank remained profitable, posting a profit before exceptional items ang
goodwill amertisation of £3.5 million. The group successfully increased its mutual funds under custody
from NISE biflion in the previous year to NIS2.2 billicn at the year end. Investec Bank (Israel) is now
considered to be a dominant player in this activity.

Empowerment deal provides opportunities for the group

The release of the Mining Charter in 2002, and the aftermath in the South African market, provided the
impetus for companies in the financial services sector to proactively prepare for the Financial Services
Charter. Accordingly, Investec is currently participating, along with other financlal institutions in South
Africa, in drafting the guidelines for the new Financial Services Charter. The charter is expacted to
strengthen the banks’ operating environment by leading to greater inclusion and empowerment of aii
segments of South African society.

Investec recognises that a crucial element for the Financial Services Charter and indeed for the
sustainabiiity process in South Africa, is the pursuit of black economic empowerment. The group
recognises that while it had taken significant transformation steps - internally, through its employment
equity process and, externally, through its support of black owned and managed companies - Investec
stil needed to address the transformation of its ownership structure,

During the period under review, Investec showed its commitment to black economic empowerment by
addressing the transformation of s ownership structure. Foilowing the financial vear end, Investec
Limited announced that it had entered an empowerment transaction with Tise Group (Tiso}, Peu
investment Group (Peu} and the broad-based Entrepreneurship Development Trust. in terms of the
transaction, Tiso, Pey, the broad-based Entrepreneurship Development Trust and an Investec Employee
Share Trust coilectively acquired a 25.1% stake in the issued share capital of Investec Limited. The
acquisition encompasses ail Investec's businesses, including its four main pillars of Investment Banking,
Asset Management, Private Client Activities, and Treasury and Specialised Finance,

The transaction Is both a significant step in the group’s empowerment strategy and a fandmark
development in the South African banking sector. Furthermore, the transaction opens up many
opportunities, as Investec will be considered 2 black empowerment group with positive implications for
the protection of existing activities and creating a strong position for the group in respect of new
business flows.

Strategic direction

The two strategic impediments to Invested’s strategy of being one of the world's teading specialist
banking groups have now been eliminated, The establishment of the DLC structure is an important
strategic development as it allows the group to enhance its capital raising capability and improves access
to international capitai markets.

In addition, the recent empawerment transaction shows Invested’s true commiiment to transformation
and gnsures the group remains competitive and relevant in the South African market. Investec now also
has an opportunity to cperate on the back of a strang, existing platform, with the capacity to deliver
quality services successfully to key segments of the South African economy.
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Investes remains exposed to equity markets and it has taken strategic steps during the period to
address this. The group remains focused on building critical mass in its banking activities in order to
balance its UK business model. The group wilt also continue to drive the business organically, both in
South Africa and Australia, recognising that not all products and services can be replicated in all

markets,

An essential piliar of investec’s strategy is that it does not try to be alf things to all people. Rather, the
greup seeks to build well-defined businesses, focused on serving the needs of select market niches
where it can compete effectively. It is important for Investec to reinforce its commitment to a
specialised and focused approach, building business depth rather than business breadth,
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Investec has a team of talented people whose passion, energy, diversity and entrepreneurial spirit are
integrai to our success. We would like to thank all employees for their invaluable contribution and

relentless determination, which have remained constant in very irying conditions.
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and gngoing commitment to the group during a very difficult period,

As the challenges for Investec continue, we remain committed to our values and disciplined, agile and
accountable culture, as well as to generating sustained, meaningful value for clients, shareholders and

empioyees.
Prospects

In the past year Investec took far-reaching steps to streamline and raticnalise its operations, recognising
that weak market conditions could remain for some time. We remain mindful that in the short term, our
performance is subject to conditions in the markets in which we operate and there are many
unpredictable external influences that can affect performance.

Investec is soundly based and welt capitalised ang cur businesses have demonstrated their resilience in
an adverse environment. We will continue to monitor our cost base carefully, focusing on improving
financial performance and maintaining or improving market share, Qur strong niched businesses,
together with a renewed focus on core activities, provide a sclid base to deal with a tough oparating
enviranment, while preparing us for opportunities that lie ahead.

Stephen Koseff Bernard Kantor
Chief Executive Officer Managing Director
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a detailed analysis of the
group’s performance

Introduction

The following commentary and analysis of the group’s financial resuits for the year ended 31 March
2003 should be read together with the financial statements and the notes to such statements on pages
222 to 308.The commentary and analysis is based on the group’s consolidated financial resutts
presented in accordance with UK GAAP and denominated in Pound Sterling, The financial informaticn
discussed below is based on the year under review, and may not necessarily refiect the financial
condition or results of operations of the group going foerward.

Key income drivers

Investec provides a wide range of financial products and services 1o a niche client base in two principal
markets, South Africa and the UK, as well as certain other markets, including Austrafia, the US and Israel.
Investec is organised into four principal business divisions: Private Client Activities. Treasury and
Specialised Finance, Investment Banking and Asset Management,

In addition, Investec’s head office provides certain group-wide integrating functions such as Risk
Management, Information Technology, Finance, Investor Relations, Marketing, Human Rescurces znd
Organisational Developrment, It is also responsible for the group’s central funding and other activities,
such as Investec’s Property business, Trade Finance and Traded Endowment operations,

A detailed description of the group's principal businesses is provided elsewhere in this report. The
following is an overview of Investec’s key income drivers.

i7
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% of operating profit before amortisation of goodwill and exceptional items {excluding “other
activities” and “discontinued operations™)

30 March 31 March

UK GAAP 2003 2002
Private Client Activities 3C.6% 22.1%
Treasury and Specialised Finance 210% 269%
Investment Banking 13.0% 24.0%
Asset Management [4.6% 10.9%
Assurance Activities 20.8% 16,1%

Private Client Activities

This division's principal sources of income have been derived from its Private Banking and Private Client
Portfolic Management and Stockbroking operations:

+ Private Banking. There are two principal sources of income attributable to Investec's Private Banking
activities. The first is interest earned in connection with the bank’s lending activities, The level of interest
receivable is affected by, among other factors, the size of Investec's loan portfolio and, in the case of the
UK, the general state of the property market, as well as the interest rate environmant in the markets in
which these activities are conducted. The second significant income strearm comgarises fees earned for
advisory services, intluding investment management and trust and fiduciary services, which is refiected
primarily under “fees and commissicns - annuity income” in the profit and loss account, This income is
affected by the demand for Investec's specialised advisory services, principally in the UK and South
Africa, which in turn is affected by applicable tax, reguiatory and other economic factors.

= Private Client Portfolio Management and Stockbroking. The primary income streams generated by
these activities are fees levied as a percentage of assets under management and commissions earned for
executing transactions for clients. These fees and commissions are reflected under “fees and
commissions - annuity income’’. Fee income 15 affected primarily by movements in the value of assets
underlying client portfolios, which can result frem a variety of factors, including fund inflows or outflows
and changes in the market price of the securities held, Commissions earned are affected by the level of
clients' investment activity, which is in turn affected by, among other factors, the performance of the
stock markets in which the businesses operate and the equity investment risk appetite of Investec's
clients.
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Treasury and Specialised Finance

This division has derived the bulk of its income from its Financial Markets and Banking Activities:

* Financial Markets Activities. Income attributable o Investec’s Financial Markets Activities largeiy
comprises "dealing profits” earned through Investec's Commodities, Foreign Exchange. Equity Derivative
and Interest Rate activities. income flows can be significantly affected by how well these businesses are
positioned to react to sudden changes in market liquidity, volume and volatility, as well as limitations
imposed on trading opportunities as a result of applicable regulatory capital requirements.

* Banking Activities. Income attributable to Investec's Banking Activities principally comprises “net
intergst income”, as well as “fees and commissions - deal income” earned. in connection with the
management of the group's liquidity and interest rate exposure and the provision of a range of treasury
and financial products to the government and inter-bank, corporate and institutional markets. investec's
ability fo generate income through its Banking Activities is significantly affected by the degree of
sophistication of the financial markets in which the group operates and the resuiting demand for highly
specialised structuring advice, as well as the continued development of the private finance initiative and
public private partnership markets. In addition, income is affected by the group's credit rating and its
ability to attract lower cost funding. A large proportion of the group's “net interest income™ is
attributable 16 the Treasury and Specialised Finance division's interest rate and balance sheet
management activities.

Investment Banking

The Investment Banking division has derived the bulk of its income fram the following areas:

* Corporate Finance. Income attributable to Investec’s Corporate Finance activities principally refiects
fees resulting from the provision of capital markets and financial advisory work. These fees are reflected
under “fees and commissions - deal income” in Investec's consolidated profit and loss account, These
fees can be affected by a number of factors, including macro- and micro-aconomic fundamentais,
industry-specific trends and underlying stock market activity, particularly in Investec’s primary markets,
the UK and South Africa.

* Institutional Research, Sales and Trading. Income atirisutable to these activities has largely been
earned in the form of brokerage commissions. The group however, also earns income from market
making and trade facilitation activities. These revenue scurces are reflacted principally under “fees and
commissions - annuity income” and “"deal income”, as well as “dealing profits”, and are affected by stock
market trading volume and volatility. client allocation of broking transactions and lnvestec’s ability to
source securities and execute trades on behalf of its clients.

* Private Equity and Direct Investments. Income attributable to these activities is realised on the sale
of investments and revalugtion of trading investments, and is reflected under "deaiing profits” and “other
operating income”. This income is affected by, among other things, macro- and micre-economic market
conditions, pringipally in South Africa, the UK and Australia, as well as the availability of profitable exit
routes in the case of private equity and, in the case of direct investments, whether apprepriate market
conditions exist to maximise gains upon sale. In addition, due to the nature of these activities, the
income stream generated in the past has been unpredictable. Accordingly, these activities have had, and
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are expected to continue to have, a material impact, which may be positive or negative, on the revenues
and profitabitity of the division. Investec expects that the income derived from its UK-based private
equity investments wiil decline over time, as it continues to divest itself of the portfolic of investments
it inherited in connection with Investec's acguisitions of Guinness Mahon and MHambros PLC in 1998,

Asset Management
This division’s principal sources of income, have been derived from its Asset Management operaticns

and Assurance business:

* Asset Management. The principal source of income for Investec's Asset Management business is fees
levied a5 a percentage of assets under management, which are reflected under "fees and commissions -
annuity income’’, These fees can be significantly affected by a small movement in the value of the
underlying assets, which can result from a variety of factors, including fund infiows or outflows, changes
in the market price of the securities held in a particular fund, refative fund perfarmance compared to
funds operated by competitors and a strategic shift by investors of their allecation of assets from one
class to another.

* Assurance. Income generated by Invesiec's long-term assurance business comprises operating profit
generated from existing Assurance Activities, which is driven by premiums earned and benefits paid in
respect of existing poiicies, the investment performance of the assets underiving policies, the degree of
matching between policyholder assets and liabilities and the cost of maintaining an administrative
infrastructure to support these activities. The level of income derived from existing Assurance Activities
is influenced by the types of aolicies written ang the econamic factors in South Africa that affect the
performance of the assets supperting such palicies, as well as the underlying assumptions used in the
actuarial valuation of policy liabilities. This latter component is a key factor in determining the present
value of in-force life business, the movement of which is recognised as income/losses over the relevant
period.

Group Services and Gther Activities

in addition, Investec nas derived income from its Group Services and Other Activities division through
the activities of its Worldwide Property business, its UK Traded Endowments business and its
International Trade Finance business. These businesses earn a variety of management and banking fees,
brokerage, commissions and income on the sale of investment and dealing properties, Income generated
is reflected almost entirely under “fees and commissions - annuity income”, which is derived from the
Property businesses, as well as under "dealing profits” and "net interest income", which are derived from
the Traded Endowment and International Trade Finance activities, respectively. As this division is
responsible for the group’s central funding requirements, this income is offset by the cost of group
funding {net of return on the group's central capital) incurred in connection with acquisitions, central
costs and debt obiigations, as well as the purchase of corporate assets and investments not ailocated 1o
the four principal business divisions,
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Operating profit before taxation, amortisation of goodwill and exceptional items by geography

31 Marchk 31 March

UK GAAP £ millions 2003 2002

Southern Africa £8.5 8.8
UK and Europe 22.3 64.8
Australia 6.0 2
fsrae 35 9.1

USA [ 19
Discontinued operations {167) 03
Total group 84,7 1585

Qperating profit before taxation, amortisation of goodwill and exceptional items by business

31 March 31 March

UK GAAP £ millions 2003 2002

Private Client Activities 409 424
Treasury and Specialised Finance 275 518
Irvestment Banking 17.2 46.3
Asset Management 19.5 208
Assurance Activities 278 31

Group Services and Gther Activities (3209 (337
Discortinued operations {16.7) (0.3}
Total group 84.7 585

Risks relating to Investec’s operations

Information pertaining to the key risks relating to Investec’s operations is discussed below. Additional
risks and uncertainties not presently known to Investec or that Investec currently deems immaterial may
in the future also impair its business operations. Investec’s business, financial condition or resuits of
operations could be materially adversely affected by any of these risk factors.

1
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Market risk, conditions and fluctuations could adversely affect Investec’s businesses in
many ways

Jnvester’s businesses and revenues are materially affected by conditions in the financial markets and
aconomic conditions generally around the world, A deterioration in warld financial markets or extreme
volatility in the markets in which Investec's businesses operate may have an adverse effect on its results
of operations and financial condition. The factors, which could influence the performance of lnvestec's
principal business activities as well as that of its Group Services and Other Activities division, have been

discussed above.

Investec’s risk management policies and procedures may leave it exposed to
unidentified or unanticipated risks

Investec has devoted significant resources tc developing its risk management policies and procedures,
particularly in connection with credit, market, liquidity and operationa! risks, and expects to continve to
do so in the future. These policies and procedures are described in detail in the “risk management”
section on pages 125 to157. Nonetheless, its risk management techniques may not be fully effective in
mitigating its risk exposure in all market environments or against all types of risk, including risks that are
unidentified or unanticipated. Some of Investec’s methods of managing risk are based upon its use of
observed historical market behaviour As a resuit, these methods may not predict future risk exposures,
which couid be significantly greater than historical measures indicate. Other risk management methads
depend upon evaluation of information regarding the markets in which Investec operates, its clients or
other matters that are publicly available or otherwise accessible by Investec, This information may not
be accurate in all cases, complete. up-to-date or properly evaluated. Any fallure of Investec's risk
management techniques may have a material adverse effect on its results of operations and financial
condition.

Credit risk exposes Investec to losses caused by financial or other problems
experienced by its clients or other third parties

Credit risk is of particular significance to Investec largely due {o its exposure to Southern African
markets. Investec is exposed to the risk that third parties that owe it money, securities or other assets
wifl not perform, or will e unable to perform, their obligations which could adversely affect investec’s
results of operations or financial condition. These parties include clients, governments, trading or
reinsurance counterparties, clearing agents, exchanges, other financial intermediaries or institutions as
well as issuers whose securities Investec haolds, who may default on their obligations 1o Investec due 1o
bankruptcy, lack of liquidity. operational failure, economic or political conditions or other reasons. In
particular, Investec may suffer significant losses from its cradit exposure to or from a default by a large
financial instituticn that could either impact Investec specifically or the financial markets generally. In
addition, the information that Investec uses to manage its credit risk may be inaccurate or incomplete,
leading to an inability on the part of investec to manage its credit risk effectively. Further information
periaining to Investec’s overall fevel of asset quality and provision coverage can be found on pages {34
to [36.

Liquidity risk may impair Investec’s ability to fund its operations and adversely affect
its financial condition

Ready access to funds is essential 1o any banking business, including those operated by Investec. An
inability on the part of Investec to access funds or to access the markets from which it raises funds may
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lead o Investec being unabie to finance its operations adequately, which in turn could materially
adversely affect its results of aperations and financial condition. In particular, Investec takes deposits
with maturities which are shorter than the loans it makes. This expases Investec to the risk that
depositors could withdraw their funds at a rate faster than the rate at which borrowers repay their
foans, thus causing ligquidity strains. Additionally, Investec's ability to raise or access funds may be
impaired by factors that are not specific to it, such as general market conditions, severe disruption of
the financial markets or negative views about the prospects for the industries or regions in which
investec operates. This risk was prevalent in South Africa, as was the case in early 2001 when a number
of South Africa’s banks experienced liquidity crises forcing them o withdraw their banking licenices
which ultimately resulted in a major contraction of the number of smalier tanks operating in the
country. For a discussion of how Investec seeks to mitigate this risk through its risk management polices,
refer 10 pages 142 to 144 In addition, Investec's borrowing costs and access to funds may be adversely
affected by any reduction in its credit rating and no assurance can be given that any rating agency will
not at some time in the future reduce such credit ratings.

Investec’s net interest earnings may be adversely affected by interest rate risk

Investec is potentially exposed to the risk that interest rates paid to depositers and yields earned from
loans change at different times with varying degrees of predictability, If the interest rates paid to
borrowers rise at a faster rate than the yields earned from loans, then Investec's results of operations
may be adversely affected. Further information in this regard is provided belaw and on page 145

Investec may be unable to recruit, retain and motivate key personnel

Investec's performance is largely dependent on the talents and efforts of key personnel, many of whom
have been employed by Investec for a substantial period of time and have grown with the business,
Competition in the financial services industry for gualified employees is intense. Investec’s continued
ability to compete effectively and further develop its businesses depends on its ability to retain and
motivate its existing employees and to attract new employees. In addition, the South African operations
of Investec have been and may continue to be affected by the increase in recent years of the rate of
emigration of skilled labeur from South Africa. In each of the markets in which Investec operates, the
future loss of qualified empioyees, including in particular 2 team of traders or key fund managers, or the
inability to ident:fy, hire, train and retain other qualified personnel could have an adverse effect on
Investec's business, financial condition or operating resuits, Information pertaining to Investec’s
philosophy with respect to retaining and motivating employees can be found in its journey to
Susteinabifity Document which is produced together with the Annual Report.

Employee misconduct could harm Investec and is difficult to detect

Investec runs the risk that employse misconduct could accur Misconduct by either existing employees
or those inherited as a resuit of acquisitions could include binding lnvestec to transactions that exceed
authorised limits or present unaccepiable risks, or concealing from Investec unauthorised or unsuccessful
activities, which, in esither case, may result in unknown and unmanaged risks ar losses. Employee
misconduct could also involve the improper use or disclosure of confidential information, which couid
result in regulatory and legal sanctions and significant reputational and/or financial harm and could have
a material adverse effect on Investec's results of operations and financial condition. It is not always
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possible to deter employee misconduct, and the precautions Investec takes to prevent and detect this

activity may not be effective in all cases.

Operational risk may disrupt Investec’s business or result in regulatory action

Investec's business activities require it to record and process a very large number of transactions
accurately on a daily basis. Any failure or delay in recording or processing transactions, or other
contractual relationships with clients, could resuft in losses 1o Investec and could subject it to claims for
losses and regulatory fines and penaities. Investec relies on its employees 1o operate and maintain its
systems properly, and is similarly refiant on the continued functioning of the sysiems of the exchanges
on which Investec operates and their supporting depositary, clezring and settlement organisations.
investec's recording and processing of trades is potentially subject to human and processing errors or a
breakdown in its general internal controls. Any operational failure may cause serious reputational or
financial harm and could have a material adverse effect on Investec’s results of operations and financial
condition. Information pertaining to how Investec manages operational risk can be found on pages 145
w0 147,

investec may be vulnerable to the failure of its systems and breaches of its security
systems

investec relies on the proper functioning of its systems which may fail as a result of hardware or
software failure or power or tefeconmmunications failure. The occurrence of such a failure may not be
adequately covered by its business resurnpticn and disaster recovery planning. Any significant
degradation, failure or tack of capacity of Investec's information systems or any other systems in the
trading process could therefore cause it to fail to complete transactions on a timely basis, could have an
adverse effect on its business, results of operations and financial condition er could give rise to adverse
regulatory and reputationai consequences for Investac’s business. The secure transmission of confidential
information is a critical element of Invested’s operations. Investec’s networks and systems may be
vulnerabie to unauthorised access and other security problems. lnvestec cannot be certain that its
existing security measures wiil prevent security breaches inciuding break-ins, viruses or disruptions.
Persans that circumvent the security measures could use Invested’s or its client’s confidential information
wrongfully which could expose it to a risk of less, adverse regulatery consequences or fitigation.
investec’s future success will depend in part on its ability 1o respond to changing technologies and
demands of the rmarket place. Investec's failure 1o upgrade its information and communications systems
on a timely ar cost effective basis could have an adverse effect on ts business, financial condition and/ar
operating resuits and could damage its refationships with its clients and counterparties.

Investec has a relatively fixed cost structure which could expose it to declining profit
margins

Seme elements of Investec's cost structure, including the fixed component of its financing charges,
salaries and group and central costs, do not decline if Investec experiences reductions in its operating
income. As a result, if market or any other conditions cause Investec’s operating income to decline, it
may be unable to adjust these elements of its cost structure on a timely basis. Consequently, investec's
operating margins would fall. An analysis of Investec’s administrative expenses can be found on pages 40
to 42,
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Investec may have insufficient capital in the future and may be unable to secure
additional financing when it is required

Investec’s business depends on the availability of adeguate capital. Investec may need to raise additional
funds to, among other things, strengthen is capital adequacy ratios or support expansion. It may alse be
required to obtain additional financing on short notice as a result of rapid, unanticipated developments,
such as a steep market decline. Investec cannot be sure that it will have sufficient capital in the fuiure or
that additional financing will be available on a timely basis or on terms that are favourable to it. If
financing is insufficient at any time in the future. Investec may be unable to comply with capital adeguacy
ratios, develop or enhance its businesses or services, take advantage of business apportunities or
respond to competitive pressuves. any of which could have a negative impact on Investec’s business,
operating results and financial condition. Investec however, continues to maintain a stable capital
adequacy ratio and overall levei of capital resources, further information in this regard can be found on
pages 50, 51 and 53.

The financial services industry in which Investec operates is intensely competitive

The financial services ndustry in which Investec’s businesses cperate is highly competitive. Investec
competes on the basis of a number of factors, inciuding customer service and quality, transacticn
execution, its products and services, innovation, reputation and price. Competition is expected to
increase further due to a trend towards consolidation among companies in the financial services
industry, particularly outside South Africa, where consolidation has significantly increased the capital base
and geographic reach of Investec’s competitors in some of the markets in which Investec operates. in
addition, investec does not have a long operating history in any of its markets outside South Africa.
New competitars, including companies other than hanks, may disintermediate the market and as a result
they may acquire significant market share. Some of Investec's competitors also offer a wider range of
services and products than Investec offers and have greater name recognition, greater fimancial resources
and more extensive customer bases. These competitors may be able to respond more quickly 1o new or
evolving cppartunities, technologies and customer requirements than Investec and may be able to
undertake mors axtensive promotional activities, If Investec is unable to compete successfully, its future

revenue and profit growth could be materially adversely affected.

Iinvestec may have difficulty expanding and integrating its operations

The continued expansion of Investec is an important part of Investec’s overall business strategy and
focus on internationalisation. Cver the past ten years, [nvestec has made numercus acquisitions of
companies and businesses, including acquisitions outside South Africa. and Investec continues o evaluate
potential acquisition and investment opportunities. Any acquisitions which Investe¢ has completed or
does complete are accompanied by the risks commonly encountered with acquisitions of companies or
businesses, such as the difficulty of integrating the operations and personnel of the acquired businesses,
the potantial disruption to Investec’s own business, the assumption of unexpected liabilities relating to
the acquired assets or businesses and the possibility that indemnification agreements with the sellers of
such assets may be unenforceable or insufficient 1o cover potential liabilities, the imposition and
maintenance of common standards, controls, procedures and policies, and the impairment of
relationships with employees and counterparties as a result of difficulties arising out of integration.
fnvestec has an Organisational Development division that assists in facifftating processes 1o integrate
organisations that are acquired, further information on this division can be found on page 122
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Legal and regulatory risks are substantial in Investec’s businesses

Substantial legal liability or a significant regulatory action against Investec could have a material adverse
effect or cause significant reputational harm 1o Investec, which in turn could seriously harm Investec’s
business prospects and have an adverse effect on its resuits of operations and financial condition.

Legai liability

lnvestec faces significant legal risks, and the volume and amount of damages claimed in Higation against
financial intermediaries generally is increasing. These risks inciude potential lizbility under securities or
other laws for materially false or misleading statements made in connecticn with the sale of securities
ang other transactions, potential liability for advice Investec provides 1o participants in corporate
transactions and disputes over the terms and conditions of complex trading arrangements, Invesiac aiso
faces the possibility that counterparties in complex or risky trading transactions will ciaim that Investec
improperly failed to inform them of the risks or that they were not authorised aor permitted to enter
into these transactions with Investec and that their obligations to Investec are not enforceable.
Particuiarly in those paris of Investec’s business that are focused on the pravision of gortfolic
management and stockbroking services, investec is exposed to daims that it has recommended
investments that are incensistent with a client’s investment objectives or that it has engaged in
unauthorised or excessive trading. Investec is also exposed to claims from dissatisfied customers as part
of the increased trend of performance-related litigation, investec may also be subject to claims arising
from disputes with employees for among other things, alleged discrimination or harassment. These risks
often may be difficult to assess or quantify and their existence and magnitude often remain unknown for
substantial perieds of time. Notwithstanding the assumption of appropriate group insurance cover,
liability resuiting from any of the foregoing or other claims could have a material adverse effect on
Invested’s results of operations and financial condition.

Research

invester has noted the allegations made, particularly in the US, against certain investment banks in
connection with the independence and/or quality of the research produced by their analysts. In addition,
various reguiatory reforms relating to the publication of research have been proposed and/or enacted in
the US. There can be no assurance that the outcome of these allegations and reforms, and any possible
future regulatory reforms or litigation relating thereto, will not have an adverse effect on investment
banks generally, including Investec.

Extensive regulation

Investec is subject 1o extensive regulation by governmental and seif-regulatory organisations in the
jurisdictions in which it operates arcund the world, including, in particular the South African Reserve
Bank (SARB) in South Africa and the Financial Services Autharity (FSA} in the UK. The requirements
imposed by Investec’s regulaters. including capital adequacy and those specifically imposed in respect of
the Dual Listed Comzanies {DLC) structure are designed to ensure the integrity of the financial markets
and to protect customers and cther third parties who deal with Investec. [nvestec faces the risk of
significant intervention by regulatory authorities, including extended investigation and surveillance
activity, adoption of costly or restrictive new regulations, and judicial or administrative proceedings that
may result in substantial penalties. In addition, Investec's lead regulator may switch from the SARB to
FSA. Exdisting and future regulations imposed on investec could adversely affect the way Investec
aperates its business.
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Tax residency

Rulings that have been obtained from the UK Inland Revenue and the Scuth African Revenue Service on
the basis of which, Invesiec plc should be treated as tax resident in the UK and Investec Limited should
be treated as tax resident in South Africa. Any change in tax residency of Investec plc or Investec
Limited (whether as a result of changes in the management structure of Investec, the manner in which
Investec’s management operates or ctherwise) may result in different tax treatment, which may have an
adverse effect on Investecd's resuits of operations and financial condition,

Risks relating to the markets in which Investec operates

Due to the nature of the businesses engaged in by the group, it has been and will continue to be
affected by changes in a number of macro-economic fundamentals. These include the condition of
worldwide financial markets, general economic cycles, levels of exchange and interest rates, and inflation,
in particuiar in South Africa, the UK and Australia, where the group derives the majority of its profit as
well as, 1o a iesser extent, the LS and lsrael,

The following tables set out certain macro-economic data for the group's two principal geograph:es,
South Africa and the UK, as of and for the twe years ended 31 March 2003:

South Africa
3t March 2003 31 March 2002

GDP (real growth) & 3.0% 2.7%
Consumer price index (% change over the periad) ¢ 10.4% 5.3%
1SE All-Share Index 7 6799 10 999.5
JSE Al-Share Index (% change over the period) (30.27%) 36.3%
Per capita GDP V"% (Rand) NA® 4 554
Per capita GDP (real growtn) 73 NA |.0%
Notes:

¥ Source: SA Stotistics end investec Securities.

2 Data for calendar year ending during the period.
2 Data not yet available.

9 Source: INET Bridee.

UK
31 March 2003 31 March 2002

UK GOP (% change over the period) 2.2% .29
UK RP! (% change over the period) 3.0% 2.3%
FTSE All Share | 7357 2 5574
FTSE All Share (% change over the period) {32.1%) (5.7%)
UK GDP per capita (£) 17 968 17075
UK GDPF per capita (% change over the period) 2.4% |.8%

Source: Datgstream
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Social, political and economic risk outside investec’s control may adversely affect its
business and results of operations

investec operates in a2 number of jurisdictions, in particular Seuth Africa and israel, which have
experienced or continue to experience periods of political, social and/or economic instability, Investec is
exposed to political, social, economic, legal, operational and other factors affecting its operations in
South Africa, Israel and other jurisdictions in which it has operations. These risks range from difficulties
in settling transactions in emerging markets to possible nationalisation, expropriation, price controls, war
or other restrictive governmental actions or a significant downturn or collapse of financial markets.
Political, sociat andfor economic instability in the markets in which Investec operates may have a
material adverse effect on Investec’s business operaticns and financial condition. [n addition. in South
Africa Investec is exposed, inter alia, to the impact of exchange controls, a comparatively high inflation
rate and fiuctuations in foreign exchange rates between the Rand and major currencies.

Exchange control regulations may have a negative impact on Investec’s business

South African exchange control reguiations provide for a common monetary area censisting of South
Africa, Namibia, Lesctho and Swaziland. Transactions between South African residents and non-CMA
residents are subject to South African exchange controt reguiations. South African residents, including
companies, are generally not permitted to export capital from South Africa or 1o hold foreign currency
without the approval of the SARB, and restrictions are imposed on their foreign investments. This has
historically imposad significant censtraints on the development of Investec’s businass. While Investec ple
wiil not be subject to such restrictions, investec Limited and its South African assets will conitinue to be
beund by such restrictions.

The extent to which exchange control regulations will be relaxed by the South African
Government cannot be predicted with certainty

Further relaxation or abolition of exchange controls may change the capital flows to and from South
Africa. If changes to exchange controls result in large capital outflows, Investec’s Scuth African business
could be adversely affected, which could in turn have a material adverse effect on Investec's resuits of
operations and financial condition.

Fluctuations in exchange rates may adversely affect Investec

Since the end of July 2002, post the implementation of the group’s DLC structure, Investec’s reporting
currency has changed from South African Rand to Pounds Sterling.

A subgtantizl proportion of Investec’s operatiens are conducted by Investec entities outside the UK. The
resuits of operations and the financial condition of Investec's individuat companies are reported in the
local currencies in which they are domiciled, including Rand, Australian dollars, US dollars and Israeli
shekels, These results will then be translated into Pounds Sterling at the applicable foreign currency
sxchange rates for inclusion in Investec's conselidated financial statements. In the case of the profit and
loss accounts, the weighted average rate for the relevant period is applied, and in the case of the
balance sheets, the relevant closing rate is used.

The exchange rates between local currencies and Pounds Sterling have histerically fluctuzted. in
particular, continued capital outflows from South Africa, together with economic and political
uncertainty in South Africa, has resulted in a depraciation of the average Rand/Pound Sterling exchange
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rate of 51.5% over the four year pericd to 31 March 2003, The translation effect of such fluctuations in
the exchange rates of the currencies of those countries in which Investec operates, including South
Africa, against Founds Sterling may adversely or positively affect Investec's results of operations and
financial condition. Where the impact of the depreciation/appreciation of these currencies against
Pounds Sterling is key to understanding the performance of the group’s businesses, this bas been noted

in this report.

The following table sets out certain relevant exchange rates against Pounds Sterling over the reporting
period:

3} March 2003 31 March 2002
Currency per £1.00 Period End Average Period End Average
South African Rand 12.5¢ 15,04 16.16 13.65
US Dollar 1.57 |.55 |43 1.43
israeli Sheke! 743 7.41 677 6.19
Australian Dollar 262 275 2.67 278

Seurce: Reuters and Quanda.com

These rates are indicative only and are not necessarily the rates at which the relevant currencies were
converted into Pounds Sterling for the purposes of preparation of the group’s consolidated financial
statements.

Fluctuations in interest rates may adversely affect Investec

The shape of the yield curve, the time lag between changes in interest rates applicable to assets and
liabilities, and the volatility of interest rates in each of Investec's principal geographic markets can affect
its net interest income Dy either positively or negatively affecting the spread between interest paid and
interest earned. As a matter of policy, the group does not take on unhedged, long-dated interest rate
positions. Sharply rising interest rates can also result in a higher number of defaults, as an increasing
number of existing variable rate borrowers cannot service their obligations. This can lead to higher bad

debt charges and provisions.

The following table sets out certain interest rates affecting the group’s businesses as at 31 March 2003
and 2002

31 March 2003 31 March 2002
Period End Average Period End Average
South African Prime Overdraft 17.00 16.33 15.00 13.71
IIBAR - 3 month 1342 12.56 11.03 9.92
UK Clearing Banks Base Rate 375 3.96 4.00 4,67
LIBOR - 3 month 2.52 3.45 3,97 4.57

Source: INET Bridge.
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Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements; changes in group
composition

Investec's consolidated financial statements, from which the financial information discussed below has
been extracted, have been prepared in accordance with UK GAAEF investec has fully consolidated the
financial statements of all subsidiary companies in which it holds maore than one-half of the voting rights
or over which it exercises contrel. Majority interests in companies acquired are consolidated from the
date of acquisition. Companies in which Investec owns between 20% and 50% of the outstanding voting
stock are accounted for using the equity method of accounting except where Investec does not exercise
significant influence. The minonity interests of owners of shares in Investec's non-wholly owned
subsidiaries have been reflected in the group's consclidated financial statements,

The acquisition of interests in the businesses discussed below was accounted for using acquisition
accounting. The financial performance of these acquisitions has had a significant effect on the
comparability of Investec’s resuits from period to peried and is an important factor in interpreting its
results. Unless otherwise indicated, the results of operations of the businesses acguired were
consolidated inte Investecs financial results as of the date of acquisition.

Acquisitions of financial services companies usually resuit in a significant amount of goodwill arising on
the balance sheet of the acquiron Accordingly. the goodwill that has arisen on the acquisitions made by
Investec over the four years ended 31 March 2003 is significant (& four year period is used as this is the
period over which the group has had to record its results in UK GAAP). It is investecs policy 1o
amartise goodwill over its estimated useful economic life. The goodwill write-off period for the
acquisitions described below is between three and ten years.

* In May 1999, Investec acquired certain assets and 100% of the issued share capital of some of the
subsidiary companies of Gandon Capital Markets Ltd, WIL Management Services Ltd & GE Capita!
Woodchester Bank Ltd for a total consideration of £18.6 miilian. The excess of cost aver estimated
fair value of the assets acquired, totafling £18.5 million, was recorded as goodwill,

¢ Injune 1999, Investec acquired for £6.5 million the Johannesburg retail divisicn of HSBC Simpson
McKie (Pty) Ltd. The excess of cost over estimated fair value of the assets acquired, totalling £6.5
million, was recorded as goodwill, This operation was mergaed into the operations of invastec
Securities Limited's private client stockbroking business.

* In September {999, Investec acquired the private baniing business of Kleinwort Benson in the UK
and certain trade and assets of Royce Investment Group Inc. in the US for £9.7 million and £4.3
million, respectiveiv. The excess of cost over estimated fair value of the assets acquired, totaliing £9.7
million and £3.0 million, respectively, was recaorded as goodwill. Kieinwart Benson’s business was
merged into Investec’s UK private banking operations, and Royce's business was merged into the
private client stockbroking operations of investec Ernst & Co. in the US.

* In August 2000, investec increased its interest in Securities Investment Bank Holdings {SIBH), a South
African holding company from 25.1% to 100%, its assets comprised a | 00% interest in Securities
Investrment Bank (SIB), 2 financial markets and instruments trading bank, and a portfolic of private
equity and direct investments. The aggregate purchase price was £45.0 millon, in respect of which
£20.0 million was recorded as negative goodwill. The goodwill of £3.6 million relating to the
previous investment in SIBH was transferred from interests in associated undertakings. SIBIH was
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consolidated into the group's financial statements, with the results of SIB incorporated into the
Treasury and Specialised Finance division and the income genarated by the remaining assets of SiBH
reflected in the Investment Banking division. SIB ceased operating during the 2003 financial year and
the remaining negative goodwill of £5.8 million was released t¢ income.

* in December 2000, Investec acquired a 100% interest in the internaticnal trust companies, Radchffes
Trustee Company SA (Radaiiffes) and Theodere Holdings Limited {Theodore), for aggregate
consideration of £25.4 million, of which £23.0 million was recorded as goodwiil The results of these
subsidiaries are reflected in Investec’s UK private banking business, The downturn of the European
economy necessitated an impairment of goodwill, in the current year, of £4.4 million relating to
Radcliffes,

* In March 2001, Investec acquired a |00% interest in Wentworth Associates Piy Limited. an Australian
corporate finance boutique, for £24.5 million, of which £23.5 million was recorded as googwill.

« In June 2001, Investec acquired 100% of the issued ordinary share capital of Fedsure Investments
(Pty) Ltd and Fedsure International {Pty} Ltd for a total consideration of £373.0 milion. The excess
of cost over estimated fair value of the assets acquired, totalling £289.3 million, was recorded as
goodwil, of which £41.7 million was written off as impairment of goedwill for the year ended 31
March 2002 and £45.2 million for the year ended 31 March 7003. The assefs of this business were
allocated to investec’s assurance business. as well as its property and traded endowments
businesses.

s InJune 2001, Investec acquired a 100% interest in PMG Group. a Pennsylvania based investment
bank, and its subsidiaries. The total consideration was £22.7 miltion of which £15.5 million was
recorded as goodwill. This business has subsequently been wound down, Further information is
provided on pages (2 and |3

» In October 2001, investec purchased z [00% interest in European Capital Company Ltd. for tota
consideration of £2.6 million, which resulted in goodwill of £1.8 mitiion. This project finance advisory
and arranging business is reflected in the Treasury and 3pecizlised Finance division.

* in February 2002, investec acquired a {00%. interest in Chronwerth (Pty) Limited, an Austrafian
corporate finance business, for total consideration of £1.8 million. Gosdwill of £1.8 million was
recognised,

As a consequence of the foregoing and in light of Investec’s strategy to seek o grow its operaticns in
part through the acquisition of complementary businesses, intangible fixed assets and amortisation of
goodwill could increase in future periods, Due to the fact that Investec has integrated the operaticns of
its critical mass enhancing acquisitions into its existing businesses, it is not possible to distinguish
between arganic and acquired growth over the various reporting periods.

Accounting policies

The reported results of the group are sensitive to the accounting policies, assumptions and estimates
that underlie the preparation of its consolidated financial statements. The accounting pelicies used in the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements are set out in the notes 1o the consolidated
financial statements. UK accounting standards require the directors, in preparing these accounts, to
select suitable accounting policies, apply them consistently and make judgemenss and estimates that are

reasonable and prudent.
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Where UK GAAP allows a choice of policy, Financial Reporting Standard 18 "Accounting Policies”
requires the group to adopt those policies judged to be most appropriate to its particular circumstances
for the purpose of giving a true and fair view. The judgements and uncertfainties involved in the group's
accounting policies that are most important to the portrayal of its financial condition are discussed

below,

Recoverability of loans and investments

Where management perceives thai there is a significant risk that nvestec will not receive full repayment
of the amounts advanced to clients or recover the original cost of investments in debt or equity
securities, provisions are made in the financial statements to reduce the carrying value of toans and
advances and investments to the amount expecied o be recovered,

Ag at 3| March 2003, Investec held provisions for bad and doubtful debts of £83.0 miilien against total
core loans and advances to customers of £4.006 millicn, These provisions were determined through a
combination of specific reviews and management estimates. Certain aspects of this process require
material judgemental evaluations, such as the amounts and timing of future cash flows and the
assessment of the value of collateral held (such as guarantees), which may be susceptible to significant
variation and prevailing economic conditions. investec considers that the provisions for bad and doubtful
debts, debt securities and equity shares at 31 March 2003 were adeguate based on information available
at that time. However, amendments to the provisions may be required in the future as a result of
changes in collateral values or in the timing and amounts of cash flows, or other economic events,

Goodwitl

As discussed above, Investec has made a number of acguisitions over the past few years. Goodwill
arising on these acquisitions is reviewed annually.

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of businesses from Fedsure Holdings by Investec in june 2001 is
being amortised over eight years, its estimated useful economic life. The goodwill is subject to an annual
impairment review, evaluated by comparing the present value of future cash flows (the value-in-use} to
the carrying value of the underling net assets. In the event that the carrying value of the net assets
axceeds the value-in-use, an impairment is deemed to have occurred resgiting in 2 charge being made
to the profit and loss account. During the most recent impairment review conducted by Investec for the
2003 financial year. goodwill arising on the acguisition of the businesses from Fedsure Hoidings was
deemed to have been impaired, which has resulted in a charge to the profit and foss account of £45.2
million for the year ended 31 March 2003. Any future adverse changes in the performance of the
businesses acquired from Fedsure Holdings, or other businesses acquired by the group, affecting the
amount and timing of future cash flows, or changes in the econcmic environment, may iead to related
goodwill becoming further impaired in future periods,

Furthermore, during the current year, the group changed its policy for the transtation of intangible assets
in respect of foreign entities. Intangible assets are now translated at the closing exchange rate instead of
the exchange rate at the date of acquisition. This change accords with both UK GAAP and SA GAAE As
a recent exposure draft issued by the International Accounting Standards Board proposes to make this
treatment mandatory, the group considers it appropriate to change the policy in the current period. The
effect in SA GAAP of this change is an increase in goodwill as at 31 March 2002 of RIS billion. The
effect in UK GAAP of this change in policy is 2 decrease in goodwill as at 31 March 2002 of £646.3
million. The difference in each case has been taken directly to foreign currency translation reserves,
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resulting in a corresponding increase (in SA GAAP)/decrease {in UK GAAP) in ordinary shareholders’
funds as at 31 March 2002.There is no effect on the tangible net asset value of the group.

Embedded vaiue

Investec accounts for the value of the shareholders’ interest in the long-term assurance business using
the embedded value basis of accounting, which is in accordance with UK GAAP for banking groups
owning life assurance operations. The embedded value can be affected by assumptions over investment
returns. lapse rates, maortality rates, investment expenses, basis of calculation and timing of other net
cash flows, principally annual management charges and other fees levied upon the policyholders, which
are reflected in the profit and loss account using smoacthed fund values. To the extent that actual
experience s different from that assumed, the effect is recognised in the profit and foss account for the
relevant period. The effect of changes in the underlying assumptions and variations between actual and
assumed experience cn the resuits of the current and prior pericds and the embedded vaiue cof the
business are disclosed on pages 267 and 268,

Transfers between investment and dealing portfolios

investment securities, which are intended for use on a continuing basis in the activities of Investac, are
carried in the accounts at cost, less provisien for any permanent diminution in value. Securities heid for
dealing or market making purposes are valued at market price, or in the case of unquoted securities, at
management's estimate of market value.

Although investment securities are held for continuing use in the business, Investec may on occasions
dispose of certain of these securities. The incidence of profits arising from such securities will therefore
depend on the timing of their disposal.

In rare circumstances, Investec may aiter the purpose for which securities are held, subject to board
approval, reclassifying them from an investment portfolio to a dealing particlio or vice versa. Transfers
on reclassification are effected at market value and consequently transfers from investment to dealing
porifolios will in general give rise to a profit or z loss. The effect on the profit and loss account of
transfers between investment securities and dealing securities sertfolios is disclosed on page 259.
Changes in the purpose for which securities pesitions are heid could give rise to further reclassifications
between debt and equity securities which could result in changes in reported financial resuits,

Fair value

Securities and derivatives held by Investec for trading purposes are carried at fair value. Investec reflects
changes in these values in the profit and Joss account. Fair values are based on guoted market prices for their
components using appropriate pricing modeis. Whers Investec's positson is of such a size that the price
cbtainable weuld be marterially different from the quoted price, Investec adiusts the quoted price based on
management's estimate of the price that Investec would realise from the holding in current market conditions.

Where instruments such as over-the-counter derivatives are valued using pricing models, the value of
the instrument and changes in that value are determined by the model and its underlying assumptions.
The use of different models or other assumptions could result in changes in reported financial results.
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Share options

In June ZQU02, Investec issued & 700 000 options to staff at a strike price of R164.50 per share and

770 617 options at a strike price of RI70 per share. These options have vesting periods varying
between & months and 5 years. In December 2002, Investec issued 2 00C Q00 options to staff at a strike
price of Ri11.32 and 1 200 000 options at a strike price of £7.93. The Rand opticns vest in tranches
over 5 years and the Pound options vest in tranches over 9 vears.

Future accounting standards are likely to require that options are valued at the date of issue and
expensed over the period that employees become entitied to them. Had Investec applied this treatment
1o the options issued during the current period, reported earnings would have decreased by £4 million
{(R&C million} in respect of the june options and £320 000 (R4 miflion) in respect of the December

options,

Thase charges have been calculated using & Black-Scholes model with an average implied volatility for
the Investec share price of 43%, independently projected dividends, and a risk free rate appropriate to
the period of the option. The fair value of the opticns granted has been adjusted to take into account
the expected future staff turnover rates and the vesting periods, as will be required by future accounting
standards,

Restatements

Invested's accounting policy s to show trading profits net of the funding costs of the underlying
positions, During the year the group conducted a thorough evaluation of the funding costs of trading
desks as a result of which interest charges were reallocated between trading and funding desks within
the Treasury and Specialised Finance division. Comparative figures have been restated to be consistent
with this.

Salient features of the group’s results in the year under review - incorporating
performance vs objectives

Profit and lass account analysis
Total operating income

The following table sets out certain information on Investec’s total operating income by gecgraphy for
the period under review;

% of totat % of total  year on year
UK GAAP £000 31 March 2003  income 31 March 2002  income % change
South Africa and Other 217 488 42.7% 235 110 38.0% {7.5%)
UK and Europe 219 348 43.1% 271 98¢ 44,0% {19.1%)
Australia 8053 3.5% 12 990 2.1% 39.0%
Israel 20 485 4.0% 27 958 3.7% {10.8%)
USA 5 388 1 1% 17 721 2.8% (69.6%)
Discontinued Operations 28 587 5.6% 57 %06 9.4% (50.6%)

Total operating income 509 949 100.0% 618 671 100.0% {17.6%)
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The following table sets out certain information on Investec’s total operating income by divisien for the

period under review:

31 March % of total 31 March % of total  year on year

UK GAAP £000 2003 income 2002 income % change
Private Client Activities 171 222 33.6% 171 394 27.7% {C.1%)
Treasury and

Specialised Finance 92 292 18.1% 107 820 [7.4% {14.4%)
Investrnent Banking 64 184 £2.6% 104 746 16.5% (38.7%)
Asset Management

and Assurance E17 485 23.0% 119 744 19.4% (1.9%)
Group Services and

Other Activities 36 179 7.0% 57 061 9.2% {36.6%)
Ciscontinued Cperations 28 587 5.6% 57 906 9.4% (50.6%)
Total operating income 509 949 100.0% 618 671 100.0% {17.6%)

Total operating income declined by 17.6% from £618.7 million for the year ended 3! March 2002 10
£509.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2003, The various components of Investec’s total cperating
income are analysed below. In compieting this analysis, commentary is only provided on the group's
continuing cperations as the decline in the samings of the discontinued operations, in alt cases, is
obviousiy reflective of the winding down and closing down of those businesses in the US. Further
information on the discontinued operations, is provided in the geographical analysis provided on page
{2 and 13,

21 March % of total 31 March % of total  year on year

UK GAAP £000 2063 income 2002 income % change
Net interest income 131 468 25.8% 163 830 26.5% (19.8%)
Dividend income 3597 0.7% 208l 0.3% 72.8%
Feas and commissions

receivable 276 607 54.2% 341 247 55.2% (18,99
- Annuity (net of fees payable) |232 014 45.5% 261 174 42.2% (11.2%)
- Deal 44 593 8.7% 80 073 13.0% {44.3%)
Dealing profits 45 231 8.9% 49 485 8.0% {8.6%)
Income from long-term

assurance business 27 779 5.4% 31 079 5.0% (10.6%)
Cther operating income 25 269 5.0% 30 949 5.0% (18.4%)
Total operating income 509 949 100.0% 618 671 i00.0% {17.6%})

Net interest income

MNet interest income represents interest earned net of interest paid in connection with Investec’s
portfolic of bank accounts, deposits, loans and financial structured products. Net interest income
declined by 19.8% to £131.5 million.
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The following table sets out Investec's net interest income by division for the period under review:
g b

UK GAAP £000 31 March 20603 31 March 2002 Variance % Change
Private Client Activities 70 817 71524 {707} {1.0%)
Treasury and Specizlised Finance 31 892 57 237 (25 345) {44.3%)
Investmeant Banking 4992 3207 I 785 557%
Asset Management 5376 3 466 I 910 55.1%
Group Services and Other Activities 14 330 15 595 {1 265) (8.19)
Discontinued Operations 4 059 12 801 (8 742) (68.3%)
Net interest income 131 466 163 830 (32 364) {19.8%)

Significant variances over the period can be explained as follows:

*  The Private Banking businesses’ net interest income dropped stightly notwithstanding heafthy growth
in advances of 24.6% and 17.0% in South Africa and the UK respectively, largely due to the
depreciation of the average Rand/Pound Sterling exchange rate masking the underlying growth in
South Africa,

*  The Treasury and Specialised Finance division experienced a significant decline in net interest income
largely as a result of the winding down of the interest rate business in the UK and the depreciation
of the average Rand/Pound Sterling exchange rate over the period.

Net fees and commissions receivable

Net fees and commussions receivable consists of fees receivable for the provision of fund management.
investment advice, banking services, retainers, institutional stockbroking commissions and trokerage, and
simiar items that are bkely to recur due to the repetitive nature of these activities (l.e."'fees and
commissions receivable - annuity income’), plus facility arrangement fees, corporate finance fees and
similar items that are transactional in nature and therefore genarate more volatile income streams {i.e.
"fees and commissions receivable - deal income’), offset by fees and commissions payable which
predomunantly comprise brokerage payable, banking fees and other simiar charges {i.e. "fees and
commissions payanie’),

MNet fees and commissions receivable declined by 18.9% from £341.2 miliion for the year ended
31 March 20027 to £276.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2003,

The following table sets out Investec’s net fees and commissions receivable by division for the period

under review:

UK GAAP £7000 3| March 2003 31 March 2002 Variance % Change
Private Client Activities 94 816 92 467 2 349 2.5%

Treasury and Specialised Finance 24 491 i9 960 453 22.7%

Investment Banking 36 141 6% 3561 (33 220) {47.9%)
Asset Management 83 552 83 780 {188) (0.2%)
Group Services and Other Activities |1 084 23 253 (12 169) (52.3%)
Discontinued Operations 26 483 52 424 {25 943) (49.5%)

Met fees and commissions
receivable 276 607 341 247 {64 640) {18.9%)
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Significant variances over the period can be explained as follows:

*  The Private Client Portfolio Management and Stockbroking businesses have continued tc be
negatively impacted by the fall off in the markets over the past year On the other hand, the Private
Banking businesses experienced a solid increase in annuity fees and commissicns as a result of
increased lending turnover in afl cperations,

+  The Treasury and Specialised Finance division experienced a solid growth in deal fees. The Financial
Products division in South Africa earned increased fees from an improved performance in scrip
lending and increased activily in the debt origination market. Furthermore, Structured Finance
enjoyed an increase in fees. In the UK the division enjoyed a strong performance from the three
relatively new banking teams: Project Finance (December 2001), Structured Finance (July 2002} and
Financial Products.

*  Difficult market conditions continued to impact the Investment Banking division, particufarly in the
UK, where deal fees and commissions fell by £32.5 million. In South Africa, deal fees and
commissions declined marginally with the Corporate Finance division concluding 55 corporate
finance deals in comparison to 65 in the previous yean

» The Group Services and Other businesses were negatively affected by the poor performance of the
US operations and the subsequent sale of the clearing and exacution business 1o Fiserw.

Dealing profits (trading income)

Dealing profits comprise trading income and the marking-tc-market of interest rate instruments, equities
and other securities such as foreign exchange instruments, and profit on the disposal of dealing
properties and, as a result of the acquisition of Fedsure in June 2001, traded endowments. Debt
securities and equity shares held for trading purposes are revalued at each balance sheet date and the
change in value is recognised as a charge or a profit under dealing profits,

Dealing profits decreased by 8.6% to £45.2 million for the vear ended 31 March 2003.

The following table sets out Investec’s dealing profits by division for the period under review:

UK GAAP £'000 3| March 2003 31 March 2002 Variance % Change
Private Client Activities 50638 3215 | 853 57.6%
Treasury and Specialised Finance 35 454 28 853 & 601 22.9%
Investment Banking 8 789 7 660 1129 14.7%
Asset Management 722 | 672 (250) (56.8%;
Group Services and Other Activities (3 841) i5 266 {19 107} >{100%)
Discontinued Operations (961 (7 181 5220 86.6%

Dealing profits 45 23} 49 485 (4 254) (8.6%)
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Significane variances over the period can be explained as follows:

«  The Trading Activities of the Treasury and Spacialised Finance division in South Africa had a
successful vear with the majority of the desks contributing to the overall performance, There was a
significant improvement from the Forex, Interest Rate and Equity Derivatives desks in comparison to
the previcus year. These results were partially offset by a decline in profitability of the Commodities
desk.

* In the UK there was a decline in income earned from the Treasury and Specialised Finance Trading
Activities, in particular the Commodities desk. Furthermore, the winding down of the Interest Rate
business also negatively impacted these results,

= In the Investment Banking division the increase in mark-to-market adjustments in the Scuth African
Private Equity division of around £2 million (year on year) was offset by a decline in UK market
making revenues of over B0% in comparisen to the prior year.

+ in the Group Services and Other businesses, the Traded tndowments business was the largest
contributing factor to the decline in dealing profits (approximately £1 [ miliion), with the division's
results negatively impacted by a fall off in business aclivity and bonus rates cuts announced by life
insurance companies. Furthermore, the closure and winding down of the operations in the US had a

negative impact on these results.

Income from long-term assurance business

income from long-term assurance business was £27.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2003 (2002
£31.1 millian), and reflected the profits of the group’s South African assurance business that was
acquired in cennection with investec's purchase of Fedsure on | June 200!, These profits are reflected

in the results of the Asset Management division.

Operational earnings increased significantly from £15.5 miflion for the year ended 31 March 2002 to
£51.7 millicn for the year ended 31 March 2003, These results were largely attributable to further
restructuring of the business and its investrnent portfolios particularly in the first half of the year
However, since embedded value accounting is applied, the net movement in the vaiue of in-force
business is accounted for in the profit and loss account, with the result that the current year's
operational earnings were offset by a negative adjustment of £23.9 million, compared to a positive
movement of £15.6 million in the prier year.

In the second half of the year the group concluded a deal with Liberty Group Limited (Liberty)
whereby certain of the labilities of the retirement fund administration business and the existing
disability claimants business were reinsured with Liberty with effect from 3t March 2003 (the deal is
subject to approval by the Competition Comimission), As a resuft of the actuarial reassessment of
policyholder liabilities and the value of in-force business at the year end, the effect of the deal with
Liberty was 1o generate a profit of approximately £1 | million, included in the operational earnings
menticned above, offset by a reduction in the value of in-force business of approximately £7 miilion,
and the net effect has been recognised in the current period. The group believes that the profits
reported during the current year are not sustainable.

Orther operating income (investment income)

Cther operating income declinad by 18.4% from £30.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2002 to
£25.3 miition for the year ended 31 March 2003
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The following table sets out Investec's other operating income by division for the period under review:

UK GAAP £'000 31 March 2003 31 March 2002 Variance % Change
Private Client Activities 521 4127 (3 606) (87.4%)
Treasury and Specialised Finance 341 | 682 {1 341) {79.7%)
Investrnent Banking i2 654 22904 (10 260) (44.8%)
Asset Management 16 312} 328 =1 00%
Group Services and Other Activities 12 731 2678 i0 053 =>100%
Discontinued Operations (994) {140 (854) >(160)%
Other operating income 25 269 30 949 (5 680) {18.4%)

Significant variances over the period can be explained as follows:

*  The decline in other opsrating income in the Private Client Activities division can be attributed to
the profit made on the disposal of Carr Sheppards Crosthwaite's shareholding in the Londen Stock
Exchange in the prior year (arcund £4 million), which was not repeated in 2003,

= The investment Banking division experienced 2 decline in other operating income largely as a result
of the approximate net £15 million profit made on the disposal of investments after taking into
accoynt impairments, in the previous year. This negative variance was offset by a sirong performance
from the UK Private Equity division which benefited from the realisation of the partial disposal of
one of its investments amounting 1o approximately £9 miliion.

+  The Group Services and Other Activities division benefited from an increased return on an
investment portfolic originally acquired from investec Employee Benefits and on cther long-standing
investments. The total increased return amounted to approximately £1C miiion,

Total annuity type income

Investec defines annuity income as net interest income and net fees and commissions receivable -
annuity income. Annuity income as a percentage of total income increased from 68.7% to 71.3% for the
year ended 3t March 2003,

Performance Objective

Annuity income as a % of rotal income The extreme volatiity experienced in international
markets highlights the importance of the group's
diverse portfolio of integrated businesses and profit

UK GAAP . . . ‘
streams, The group aims to increase its focus on its
annuity income base, thereby increasing the stabiiity of

2000 69.6% its earnings.

2001 T45% Investec has set itself a target of 75% annuityfrecur-

2602 68.7% ring income as a percentage of earnings. VWhile the

group strives to achieve this target, it still seeks to

2003 71.3% maximise its non-annuity income which will be driven
by transactiona! flow and financial market voiatility.
Consequently, in years of market buoyancy, this ratio
could drop to below 70%.

3¢
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Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel costs (including wages and salaries, social security
and similar pension related costs), business and equipment expenses, and premises and marketing costs,
Administrative expenses declined by §.4% from £428.5 million in 2002 to £392.5 million in 2003,

3| March % of total 31 March % of total  year on year

UK GAAP £000 2003 expenses 2002 expenses % change
Personnel costs (257 123) 65.5% (275 23h) 64.2% 6.6%
Business expenses (74 628) 19.0% {79 717} 18.6% 5.4%
Ecuipment (excluding

depraciation) (25 569) 6.5% {31 980} 7.5% 20.0%
Premises (excluding

depreciation) {22 303) 5.7% (25 855) 6.0% 13.7%
Marketing costs (12 843) 3.3% (15 727) 37% 18.3%
Total administrative

expenses (392 466) 100.0% (428 510) 100.0% 8.4%

Included in the numbers in the table above, for the year ended 31 March 2003, is £44.3 million in costs
relating to the discontinued operations, broken down as follows: personnel costs £24.0 million; business

expenses £11.4 million; equipment expenses £5.7 million; premises costs £3 million; marketing costs

£0.2 miilion.

The following table sets out certain information on Investec's administrative exgenses by geography for

the period under review:

31 March % of total 31 March % of tatal  year on year

UK GAAP £000 2003 expenses 2002 expenses % change
South Africa and Other (130 863} 33.4% {130 710) 30.5% {0.1%)
UK and Europe (187 767) 47.8% (202 893) 47.3% 7.5%
Australia (11 449) 2.9% (10 435) 2.4% (9.7%)
lsrael (14 525) 37% (12 405) 2.9% (17.5%)
USA {3550y 0.9% (14 4423 3.4% 75.4%
Discontinued Operations {44 312} I1.3% (57 625) 13.5% 23.1%
Total administrative

axpenses {397 4686) 100.0% {428 510) 100.0% 8.4%




The foliowing table sets out information on Investec's adminisirative expenses by division for the peried

under reyiew,
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3t March % of total 31 March % of total  year on year

UK GAAP £°000 2003 expenses 2002 expenses % change
Private Client Activities (i13 8565) 290% (1E5 633) 27.0% |.5%
Treasury and Specialised

Finance (58 824) 15.0% (52 292 12,2% (12.5%)
Investment Banking (45 394) I'1.6% (56 96%) 13.3% 20.3%
Asset Management (6% 182) 17.6% (66 585) 15.5% (3.9%)
Group Services and

Cther Activities (60 889) [5.5% {79 406) 18.5% 23.3%
Discontinued Cperations (44 312) P1.3% {57 625) 13.5% 23.1%
Total administrative

expenses {392 466) 100.0% {428 510) 100.0% 8.4%

Specifically the variance in administrative expenses can be explained as follows:

*  The Private Banking divisions experienced an increase in expenses largely as 2 result of increased
headcount and an increase in incentive-based remuneration in line with strong growth in profitability.

+  On the contrary, Carr Sheppards Crosthwaite and the UK Investment Banking division's costs

declined significantiy largely as a result of a sharp deciing in incentive-based remuneration given

declining profitability. The decline in personnel expenses was around £6 million and £11 miilion

respectively,

*  The large decline in expenses in the Group Services and Other Activities businesses can be
attributed to the winding down of the US business and the subsequent sale of the clearing and

execution business to Fisery,

Performance

Cost to income ratio by geography

UK GAAP 2003 2002
Scuth Africa & Other 62.6% 582%
UK & Europe 882%  774%
Australia 64.5% 82.5%
fsrael T6:4% S79%
USA 79.8% 89.1%
Total group 79.8% 720%

Objective

The cost to income ratio is still considered
to be high against group objectives, This has
largely been as a resuit of mternational
expansion without full scale being realised
and declining revenues in certain of the
group’s businesses, A strong emphasis on
cost containment has been entrenched in
the operational philosophies of both
business and centrai units. Investec has set
itself the following targets over the medium
o long-term: SA cost to income ratics 50%
Non-SA cost to income ratio: 65%
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Notwithstanding this nominal value decrease in gdministrative expenses, the ratic of operating expenses
1o total cperating income increased from 72.0% 1o 79.8%. The increase in the ratio is largely attributable
to the reduced revenues in the group's equity related activities, particuiarly the Investment Banking

division.

The cost to income ratio in South Africa increased from 58.2% to 62.6%, negatively impacted by the
peor performance of the Traded Endowments operations. The cost to income ratio for the non-South
African businesses increased from B0.4% to 92.6%.

Provision for bad and doubtful debts

Provision for bad and doubtful debts charged in the profit and loss account increased by 24.8% to £18.3
million fargely as a result of increased provisions in the Private Banking operations and the additional
provisioning of approximately £2 million made by the Treasu:"y and Specialised Finance division in South
Africa.

The percentage of gross non-performing loans to core ioans and advances increased from [.2% last year
to |.5%. Notwithstanding, total provision coverage of non-performing loans remains conservative both
an a gross and net basis with the relevant percentages being 136.8% and 337.4% respectiveiy. In
addition, the group's general provision coverage as a percentage of net ioans and advances increased
from [.1% to 1.3%. Further information on the group's asset quality is provided in the Risk Management
Section on pages 125 to 157,

Performance Objective

Total provisions as a % of gross non-performing loans
Setting a target in this area is susceptible to

UK GAAP .
economic and market conditions. The group,
however, strives to achieve a minimum

2000 1:17.3% coverage of 100% of gross non-performing
foans.

2001 134.1%

2002 | 68.5% In addition, a minimum percentage of 1% of

2003 136.7% genieral prowisions to total ioans and advances

is targeted.
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Operating profit before taxation, amortisation of goodwill and exceptional
items

As a result of the foregoing factors, Investec’s operating profit before taxation, amortisation of goodwill
and exceptional items decreased by 46.5% from £158.6 million in 2002 to £84.8 million in 2003.

The following table sets out information on Investec's operating profit before taxation, amortisation of
goodwill and exceptional items by geography for the period under review:

3t March 31 March year on year
UK GAAP £000 2003 % of total 2002 % of total % change
South Africa and Other 63 543 80.9% 81 797 51.6% (16.2%)
UK and Europe 22 326 26.3% &4 770 40.8% (65.5%)
Australia 5978 71% i 232 0.8% >100%
Israel 3496 4.1% 129 5.8% (61.7%)
USA | 086 1.3% | 934 1.2% (43.8%)
Discontinued Operations {16 669) (19.7%} (295) {0.2%) >{100%)
Total 84 758 100.06% 158 567 100.0% (46.5%)

The following table sets out information on Investec’s operating profit before taxation, amortisation of
goodwill and exceptional items by division for the period under review:

31 March 3{ March year on year

UK GAAP £000 2003 % of total 2002 % of total % change
Private Client Activitias 40 91 48.3% 42 489 26.8% (3.7%)
Treasury and Specialised

Finance 27 351 33.0% 5§ 784 32.7% (46.0%)
Investment Banking |7 294 20.4% 46 293 29.2% (62.6%)
Asset Management 19 479 23.0% 20611 13.2% {6.8%)
Assurance Activities 7779 32.8% 30079 |.6% {10.6%)
Group Services and

Other Activities {31 987 {37.8%) (33 694) (21.3%) 5.1%
Discontinued Operations {16 469) (19.7%) {(2%5) {0.2%) >{100%)

Total 84 758 100.0% 158 567 100.0% {46.5%)
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The following table sets out further information on Investec’s aperating profit before amortisation of
goodwill and exceptional items by division for the period under review:

UK GAAP £000 31 March 2003 2H2003 IH2003 31 March 2002

Private Clisnt Activities

Private Banking 34 637 |18 Q78 i6 559 26 869

Private Client Portfolio Management

and Stockbroking 6274 2939 3335 15620
40 911 2017 19 894 42 489

Treasury and Specialised Firance

Banking Activities 27 409 16 543 10 865 39 841
Financial Market Activities 542 {7 191) 7 733 12 123
27 951 2 352 18 599 5] 784

Investment Banking

Corporate Finance (2 039) (3 892) i 853 16 021
institutional Research and Sales and Trading 2 597 2 6314 (343 9 &37
Direct lnvestments 4 604 4 593 i 9223
Private Equity 12 132 [ 995 133 412

17 294 {5 331 | 963 46 293

Asset Management

Asset Management 19 479 909 10 388 20 91t
Assurance Activities 27779 2 050 18 729 310739
47 258 18 4] 29 117 5§ 990

Group Services and Other Activities

Internationat Trade Finance 123 429 694 2425
Property Worldwide 5986 3034 2 952 5782
US continuing operations | 041 i 813 (772) 2 054
UK Traded Endowments (8 945) (6 601) (2 344) 2531
{795) {I 325) 530 12792
Central Funding 4279 4 455 (176) (7 356)
Central Costs (37 471) (2G 676) (16 795) {3% 130)

(31 987) (15 546) (16 441) (33 694)

Discontinued Operations* {16 669} (12 080y {4 58%; {295}

Total group 84 758 36 215 48 543 158 567

* In September 2002, the icsses on private client stockbroking were shown as exceptional items ie.
the £4.6 million relates cnly to lavestec Inc, (corporate finance activities)
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The following table sets out information on Investec's operating profit before taxation, amortisation of
goodwill and exceptional items by business and geography for the year ended 31 March 2003:

Southern UK & Dise. Total
UK GAAP £'000 Africa  Europe Australia  lsrael USA  Operation group
Private Chent Activities 14473 23273 I 700 | 465 - - 40911
Treasury and Specialised Finance 31411 (2850 (728) 118 - - 27951
Irvestrmant Banking 5 871 6915 2711 P 797 - - 17294
Asset Management 17715 646 - 118 - - 19479
Assurance Activities 27779 - - - - 27779
Group Services and Other Activities {28706y (6658) 2293 {2y 10Bs - {31 987)
Discontinued Operations - {16669) (1666%)
Total group 68 543 22326 5976 3 49 1086 (16669) 84758

The following table sets out information on Investec’s operating profit before taxation, amortisation of
goodwill and exceptional items by business and geography for the year ended 31 March 2002:

Southern UK & Disc. Total
UK GAAP £000 Africa  Europe Australia lsrael USA  Operation  group
Private Client Activities 12832 28485 (2655 3827 -~ 42489
Treasury and Specialised Finance 40466 9726 | 273 3i9 — 51784
Investment Banking 18567 20255 2724 4 747 - - 46293
Asset Management 8154 2439 318 - - 2091
Assurance Activities 3i 079 - - - - 31079
Group Services and Other Activities (39301) 3865 {11y B 1934 - {33694
Disceritinued Operations - - - - - (295) (29%)
Total group 81797 64770 1232 9129 1 934 {295) 158 567

A detailed description of the performance of the group’s principal divisions as well as its Group Services
and Gther Activities division can be found on pages 78 to |24, Furthermore, a detailed description of
the performance of the group in the various geographies in which it operates can be found on pages 12
to 15,
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Goodwill amortisation and impairments

The charge for amortisation and impairment of poodwill {excluding exceptional items) increased by
24.2% from £98.4 million to £122.3 million, of which £116.6 million relates to continuing operations.
Incluced in this amount is £45.2 million relating to additional impairments on the businesses acguired
through the Fedsure acquisition, which was funded by the issue of shares at approximately £20 per
share, Furthermore, included in the total goodwill amortisation charge were impairments of £4.4 million
relating to certain other group businesses in kurope.

The following table seis out information an Investec's amortisation and impairment of goodwill by
geography for the geriod under review:

UK GAAP £°000 3§ March 2003 31 March 2002 Variance % Change
Southern Africa (87 392) (65 394) (21 998) (33.6%)
UK and Europe (23 979) (18 769 5210 (27.8%)
Australia {5 195) {4 879) (318) (6.5%)
lsrael (33) (20) (13 (65.0%)
USA - (359 3592 >100%
Discontinued Operations (5 703) (5 781y 78 1.3%
Amortisation and impairment

of goodwill (122 302) (98 435) (23 867) (24.2%)

Share of income of associated companies

The marked increase in associate income is attriputable to the fact that the group's interest in its main
associate, Capital Alliance Holdings Limited (CAL) was acquired in Ccteber 2001, An amount of £11.3
million (pefore amortisation of goodwiil) has been accrued. representing Investec’s share in CAl's
estimated operating earnings for the twelve month period ended 3t March 2003

Exceptional ltems
The following table sets out information on Investec’s exceptional itemns for the period under review:

UK GAAP £'000 31 March 2003 31 March 2002 Yariance % Change
Provision for losses on
termination and disposal of groug

operations- discontinued (9 437y (7 056) (2 381) (33.7%)
Impairment of goadwill on

discontinued operations (1% 047) - (1% 047) >{100%)
Profits on termination and disposal

of group operations - continuing 5 800 | 363 4437 >100%
Reorganisation and restructuring

costs - continuing {6 073) {11 838) 5763 48.7%

Exceptional items {28 757) {17 529) Il 228 {64.1%)
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The exceptional items for the 2003 financial yvear, fall into four categories, namely:

+  Losses on termination and disposal of the group's discontinued operations amounting to £9.4
miflion, The amount includes £19.7 millicn reflecting the write down of assets and closure costs
(including settiement of legal action and contract terminations) and provisions for future casts to be
incurred on the winding down of these businesses. This was partiaity offset by a net profit of £10.3
million on the disposals of certain of the businesses in the US (as discussed on page 2 and |3).

*  Unamortised goodwill of £19.0 million written-off in respect of the discontinued operations,

*  Negative goodwill released to income in relation to the termination of operations previcusly
conducted by the group’s 100% held subsidiary, Securities Investment Bank amounting to £5.8
miilicn.

*  Reorganisation and restructuring costs amounting to £6.1 million incurred in the group's continuing
operations as a result of actions taken by the Board over the year to reduce operating costs. These
expenses refate to the reduction in head count and ailied Costs over the year, plus additional costs
incurred for restructuring initiatives largaly undertaken in the following businasses: UK Investment
Banking, UK Interest Rates business, Traded Endowments, UK Private Banking (shift of costs to Scuth
Africa).

Taxation

The taxation charge has decreased significantly to £5.4 million lzrgely as a result of recoverable tax
charges and deferred tax assets raised in the group’s UK operations. The effective tax rate of the
group’s South African operations has also declined from 27.0% in the prior year 1o 14.5%. mainly as a
result of lcsses brought forward in the long-term assurance business, Despite the losses made in the
group's US operations a net charge of £6.2 million arose due to the write off of all deferred tax assets
as a result of the group's reduced potential to generate sizeable profits in the continuing businesses
which would absorb these tax losses.

The following table sets out information on investec’s taxation charge by gecgraphy for the pericd
under review:

UK GAAP £'000 31 March 2003 31 March 2002 Variance % Change
South Africa and Other (5 967) (22 101 i2 134 54.9%
UK ang Europe i3 704 (8 014y 21718 >100%
Australia (2 452) (4173) (2 039) >(100%)
Israel (427) (3 524) 3097 87.9%
USA - | 852 {1 852) >(100%)
Discontinued Operations (6 215) 3 660 (9 875) >{100%)

Taxation (5 357) {28 540) 23 183 81.2%
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Minerity interest

Minority interest reflects that portion of Investec’s operating profit after taxatian that is contributed to
the minority shareholders of its subsidiaries.

Loss/earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders

As a resuit of the foregoing factors, earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders dedlined from £15.4
million in 2002 to a loss of £63.6 million in 2003,

Earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders before amortisation of goodwill
and exceptional items

Earnings attricutable to ordinary shareholders before amortisation of goodwill and exceptional items
declined by 30.5% from £127.6 millien in 2002 to £88.7 million in 2003

The following table sets out earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders before amortisation of
goodwill and exceptional items for the period under review.

UK GAAP £000 31 March 2003 3[ March 2002
Loss/earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders (64 519) 13 545
Amertisation and impairment of goodwill 122 302 98 435
Profit on termination and disposal of group operations {5 800 {1 363)
Provision for iosses on termination ang
disposal of group operations (net of deferred tax) G 437 (80}
Impairment of goodwill on discontinued operations 19 047 4 4(9
Amaortisation of goodwill of associates I 644 821
Reorganisation and restructuring costs - continuing & 073 Il 836

Earnings attributable to ordinary sharehoiders before
amortisation of goodwill and exceptional items 88 684 127 613

Earnings and dividends per share

The following table sets out the relevant earnings per share (EPS) ratios and the dividends per share
(DFP5) for the period under review:

UK GAAP pence per share 3| March 2003 31 March 2002 % Change
EPS (70.4) {48 >(100%)
Dituted EPS {704} 3.9 >(100%
EPS before amortisation of goodwili and
exceptional items 976 139.8 (30.2%)
Headline EPS 90.9 126.8 (28.3%)
DPS - interm 26.0 259 0.4%
DPS - final 28.0 279 0.4%
Total ordinary DPS 54.0 538 0.4%

Further information in this regard can be found on pages 253 to 255.
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Dividend policy

Objective

Investec intends to maintain a dividend cover
of betwean |7 and 2.3 times based on
earnings per share before amortisation of

goodwill and exceptional items, denominated

in Pounds Sterling and grepared in accordance
with UK GAAP Interim and final dividends will
be declared and proposed in accordance with

the above policy.

The following table sets out a reconciliation of the number of shares in issue for EPS purposes;

UK GAAP
As at 31 March 2002

Conversion of compuisoriy
convertible debentures

Conversion of compulsorily
preference shares

Transfer of shares to the staff
share scheme
MNew issue in terms of giobal offering

Total number of shares in
issue at 31 March 2003

Less: weighted average number
of own shares

Number of shares in issue for
EPS purposes as at 31 March 2003

Transaction
date

|8 june 2002

15 fuly 2002

18 july 2002

29 July 2002

Varous

Actual
(mn}

2.2

9.5

53

113

Weighted for
EPS {mn}

922

38

27

(9.2

90.9

Notes

Per 2002 Annual
Report page 147.

Par circular to members
dated 20 June 2002

refer to para 4.2 page 21.

These shares are not
inciuded for EFS
purposes as they do not
rank for dividends.

Per circuiar to members
dated 20 June 2002 refer
to para 4.1.1 page !8.

Per ciircular to members
dated 20 June 2002 refer
to para 4.3 page 2.
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Balance sheet analysis
Capital resources

Total capital resources increased by 5.6% to £1.0 tillion in 2003,

UK GAAP £°000 31 March 2003 31 March 2002
Subordinated liabilities (including convertible debt) 276 897 190 659
Minority interests - eguity 38 804 33473
Called up share capital 158 7530
Share premium account 994 08 814 089
Sharas to be issued 2428 41 148
Revaluation reserves 1% 160 f§3202
Other reserves (173 877) {176 833)
Profit and loss account (155 009) 37 186
Shareholders funds 696 968 734 302
- Eouity 696 968 651 201
- Non-equity 43 10t
Capital resources i 012 669 958 434

Sharehelders’ funds decreased by £37.3 miliion, orimarily reflecting- 1) Earnings before amortisation of
goodwill and exceptional items of £89.1 million 2} Goodwill and exceptional items of £152.7 million
and 3) Dividends of £53.4 miilicn. This is offset by the net proceeds of share issues and cancellation of
shares of £75.3 million which includes the fresh issue of shares as well as the conversion of all the
instruments that took place at the time of implamenting the DLC structure, The balance of the change
refates to the revaluation of investrent properties of £18.3 million and 2 currency translation loss of
£13.9 million.

Consclidated statements of reconciliations of shareholders’ funds and movements on reserves

UK GAAP £'0G00 31 March 2003 31 March 2002
Baiance at the beginning of the year 734 302 578 885
- as previously reported 800 555 579 170
- prior year adjustment (66 253} {285)
Foreign currency adjustrnents (i3 870) (6% 737)
Retained loss for the period (117 026) {42 314)
Share issues/to be issued Ii2 588 391 526
Cancellation of shares (5 079) (134 655)
Conversions from debentures | 343
lssue expenses {32 213 -
Revaluation of investment properties I8 265 |10 254
Balance at end of the year 696 968 734 302

Loan capital increased by £86.2 million fargely reflecting the raising of subordinated debt of £44.4
million towards the end of the financial period and the strengthening of the closing Rand/Pound Sterting
exchange rate of 22%.
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Net tangible value attributable to ordinary shareholders has increased from £349.4 miliion in 2002 to
£397.3 million in 2003,

The group’s return on average tangible net asset value declined from 37.2% to 23.8% and the return on
average shareholders’ funds inclusive of goodwill declined from 19.4% to 12.4%.

Investec plc and Investec Limited are adequately capitalised and exceed the minimum SARB capital
adequacy ratio of 10%. The overall group capital adequacy applying SARB rules to the SA GAAP capital
base is 12.6% (2002: 13.1%), on a pure accounting consolidated capital adequacy basis.

Total shareholders’ funds and capital adequacy

Objective

lnvestec intends to maintain a sufficient
level of capital to satisfy regulatory
requirements, as well as take advantage of
opportunities that may arise in the financiai
services industry, focusing on increasing the
group'’s retun on equity in the medium to
long-term.

The group woudld like to maintain & capital
adequacy ratic of between 3% and 15%.

Performance Objective

Return on equity (ROE) and return on tangible net asset value (RONAV)

UK GAAP ROE  RONAV Investec’s objective is to continue to focus on
increasing the return on shareholders’ funds
(RCE}, as opposed to nominai capital, through

2000 16.9% 290% the efficient deployment of fis capital base.
2001 18.2% 3i6% ‘ .
Investec has set itself the following targets over
2002 19.4% 3% the medium to long-term:
2003 124%  238% Group ROE: 20% - 25%

South African ROE: 30% - 35%
Non-SA ROE: 15%-20%
Group RONAV: 30% - 35%
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Net tangible asset value per share

In calculating net tangible asset value per share the group assumes that all previously issued Compulsory
Convertible Debentures (CCD's) are trezted as eguity. Under UK GAAP however, a portion of these
CCD's is treated as debt and not included in shareholders’ funds. As a result, the group believes that
certain adjustments should be made to the shareholder base which should more appropriately reflact
their permanent capital nature. These adjustments are not required under SA GAAP as the full amount of

the CCD's are treated as equity.

LUK GAAP
A Shareholders funds

B Convertible debt included
in subordinated liabiiities

C  CCD%s issued by Investee Limited
included in subordinated liabilities

D Less Intangitle fixed assets
Tangible net asset value

Nurnber of shares in issue
{including non-equity shares}
CChs

CCD's

Number of shares in issue for this

calculation {millions)

Tangible NAV per share (pence}

31 March 2003

31 March 2002

(£'000) (£000)
696 968 734 302
48 830 51706
4189 -
(299 773; (384 900}
450 214 401 118
i130 942
36 13
G2 -
1168 107.3
385.3 3738

Notes
Per the balance sheet,

Detyr component of CCD's
(included in equity under SA
GAAP) relating to unsecured,
Class "A", Class "A" Series | |,
Class “B” and Class "C”
subordinated CCO's, Refer to a
more detziled explanation of the
difference between SA GAAP
and UK GAAP on page 385,

These CCD's {200,0003

relate to the group’s staff share
schemes. The balance of these CCD's
{approximately 1.7 million) have
largely remained unallocated, and are
therefore not included on the
balance sheet under UK GAAR

Per the balance sheet.

Refer to page 49.

Relates to B above,

Allozated in terms of C above.
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Managing the group’s capital resources

In line with Investec's objective to increase shareholder value through a group-wide discipline that links
capital aliocation and structuring, performance measurement, investment decisions, and capital-based
incentive compensation into one integrated framework, a Capital Committee was established two years
age to oversee the various componegnts contributing towards effective capital management.

The proposed capital management framework seeks to optimise the use of the group's capital by
determining:
*  The optimal amount of total capital commensurate with the group's overall risk profile in order tor
Support business strategies, including any growth assumptions inherent therein,
- Meet targeted credit ratings and regulatory ratios.
- Protect against losses, maintain liquidity and buttress the group’s capital requirements 1o cater
for future opportunistic acquisitions.
»  Capital allocation to activities with the most favourable returns and highlighting those activities
which are unduily capital intensive,
*  The most efficient composition of the greup's capital base.

Against this background, the Capital Committee manages the capital structure of Investec Limited and
Investec plc. The Chief Executive Officer chairs the Committes, and other permanent members include
certain executive and non-executive directors, the Global Head of Finance and the Giobal Head of
Corporate Governance and Compliance, Management from varicus disciplines are co-opted onto the
Committee where specific expertise is required (for example, in refation to tax, exchange control,
regulatory compliance, financiai products engineering),

An assessment of economic capital utilised

In order to assess the return on economic capital utilised, the group believes that certain adjustments
should be made to the profit and loss analysis and balance sheet analysis as reflacted under UK GAAPR
The group believes that these adjustments are necessary as they reflect the actual utilisation of capital
and return thereon, notwithstanding accounting conventions.

The methodelogy applied in assessing the utilisation of the group’s economic capitai is as follows:

* A portion of central costs incurred in "Group Services and Other Activities” is allocated to the
business segments in proportion to their utilisation of the group's central functions,

* A notional return on capital {net of the cost of subordinated debt) which is managed and borne in
the centre is allocated from "Group Services and Other Activities" to the business segments based
on their total capital utilisation.

* Shareholders' funds as shown under UK GAAP is increased to reflect permanent capital either
reflected under subordinated debt or which are ot included as equity in terms of UK GAAP
convention,

*  The final dividend is added back to shareholders' funds which, under UK GAAR reduces reserves.
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The following table sets out the calcutaticn of average sharsholders' funds in terms of “economic capital

utilised™
£000

Sharehglders' funds (incuding minorities) per UK GAAP
balance sheet

Add : Convertible debt included in subordinated liabilities
Other capital which is excluded under UK GAAP
Final dividend declaration

Adjusted shareholders' funds

Goodwill per UKGAAP balance sheet

Adjusted tangible sharehoiders’ funds

Onerating proftt before amortisation of goodwill and
exceptional items

Share of proftt of associated companies before amortisation
of geodwill

Revised operating profit

Tax on ordinary activities

Revised operating profit after tax

Pre-tax return on average adjusted tangitle shareholders’ funds
Fre-tax return on average adjusted shareholders' funds
Post-tax return on average adjusted tangible sharehoiders' funds

Post-tax return on average adjusted sharsholders' funds

31 March 2003 31 March 2002 Average
735772 767 775 751774
48 830 51716 50273
16133 20 249 23191
28 989 25779 27 384
839 724 865519 852 622
(299 773) {384 900} (342 337}
539 951 480 619 510 285
84 758
11350
%6 108
{5 357)
90 754
188%
i13%
17.8%
10.6%




ROE by division for the year ended 31 March 2003

£000

Total operating profit™
Notional return on
reguatory capital

Cost of subordinated debt
Centrat cost allocation
Adjusted earnings/{iosses)

Adjusted average
shareholders’ funds

Adjusted average tangble
shareholders’ funds

Adjusted tangible
shareholders’ funds
as at 3t March 2003

Return on adjusted average
shareholders’ finds

Return on adjusted average
tangible shareholders’ funds

Annual Report 2003

Disc

PB* PCSB* TSF* 1B* AMH* ASU* GSO* Ops*
34 637 6274 27951 17294 19479 27779 (20637} (i6669)
19 549 611 22885 272 | 630 2577 (50 098) 114
{7 332 {255) (7 981) (951) (60%) 817y 18003 (61
5591y (1577) (7088 (3644) (3686) (48i18) 26412
41 283 50583 35759 5411 16817 24721 (26320) (i664186)
210969 24532 197688 51725 215924 33005 116675 7104
|86 854 7161 181 647 23065 15§75  i5884 7B eCS 2104
197 737 7577 192207 24406 16057 16575 B3 76 2226
19.6% 20.6% 18.1% 29.8% 7.8% 749%  (22.6%) >(100%)
22.1% T0.6% 19.7% 668% >100%  =H00%  (335%; >(100%)

*Where: PB = Private Banking PCSB = Private Client Portfolio Management and Stockbroking TSF = Treasury and
Specialised Finance 1B = Investment Banking AM = Asset Management ASU = Assurance Activities
G50 = Group Services and Other Activities  Disc. Ops = Discontinued Operations.

** Operating profit per line of business as reflected under UK GAAR including share of income of associated
companies but before amortisation of goodwill and exceptional iterns.

The remaining loss in the GSO category can be explained as follows: 31 March 2003

Adjusted losses of GSO per table above
Unrealised surplus on revaluation of investment properties

Revised earnings

Analysed as foliows :

Central costs remaining in the centre

Traded Endowmenits
Property Worldwide
International Trade Finance

US continuing businesses operations

Shori-term Insurance Activities

Liquidation Activities

Rermaining surplus generated from central capital

(26 320)
18 265
(8 055)

(1 059)
(8 945)
5 986

1123
i 041

933

755
2
(8 055)
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ROE by geography for the year ended 31 March 2003

£000

Total operating profit¥®

Share of income of
associated companies

Tax on profit on
ordinary activities

Profit on ordinary activities*™
after taxation

Adjusted average
shareholders' funds

Adjusted average
tangible shareholders' funds

Adjusted tangible shareholders’
funds as at 31 March 2003

Pre-tax return on adjusted average
tangible shareholders' funds

Pre-tax return on adjusted average
shareholders’ funds

Post-tax return on adjusted average
tangible shareholders' funds

Post-tax return on adjusted average
shareholders' funds

Southern UK & Disc. Total
Africa  Europe Australia  Israel USA  Operation  group
68543 22326 5976 349 1086 (16 669) 84738
1333 {35) 52 - 11350
{9967y 13704 (2452) {(427) — {6215 (5357}
69909 36030 3524 3034 i 138 {22884) 90751
336645 432500 43084 48289 ¥ 2104 852622
190925 2447223 24744 48 289 * 7104 510285
202 624 258421 26184 51 Q9 * 2226 539 95!
41.8% S1%  242% 7.2% *O»{100%) 188%
24.5% 5.2% 13.9% 7.2% = o=(100%)  H1.3%
36.6%  14.8% 14.2% 6.3% O(IG0%)  17.8%
21 4% 8.3% 82% 6.3% o ={100%) 10.6%

* The caloulations for the US are based on the numbers for the continuing and discontinued operations te.
average sharehoiders' funds of £2.1 million and the resultant returns are shown for the US operations as a

whole,

** Amounts are shown before amortisation of goodwill and exceptional iters.
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Total assets
Total assets declined by 11.8% from £16.9 billion at 31 March 2002 to £14.9 billion at 31 March 2003

The following table sets out the group’s assets Dy geography as at 31 March 2003,

Southern UK & Total
UK GAAP £ millions Africa  Burope Australia  Israel USA group
l.oans and advances to customers 2 662 P25 i74 238 | 4898
- Core advances 2194 [ 318 174 236 [ 3923
- Cash and cash equivalents 443 507 975
Orther interest, bearing assets ' i 368 3233 10l 537 42 528l
Interests in associated undertakings 58 4 62
Long-term assurance assets attributable
0 shareholders and policyholders 2645 2 645
intangible fixed assets [19 165 16 300
Other assets * ! 361 374 9 40 (1 1773
Total assets 8213 5601 300 813 32 14959

The foliowing table sets out the group’s assets by geography as at 31 March 2002

Southern UK & Total
LK GAAP £ millions Africa  Europe Australia  Israel USA group
Loans and advances 1o customers i 948 1572 18 255 487 4780
- Core advances i 635 1 110 1ig 255 131 3249
- Cash and cash equivalents 313 8e2 - 356 531
Other interest bearing assets ! {45 5436 44 535 50 7618
Interests in associated undertakings 43 i - | - 45
Long-term assurance assets attributable
0 shareholders and policyholders 24272 - 2472
intangible fixed assets 49 188 2 - 27 385
Other assefs i 289 310 6 47 81 1709
Total assets 7302 7908 189 933 625 16957

Notes:

" Includes: cash and balances at central banks, treasury bills and other eligible Bills, loans and advances 1o banks, debt
Securities.

* Inchides: balance of total assets.
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Significant variances over the period can be explained as follows:

+  The Scuth African operations experienced a solid growth in all categories of assets largely as a
resuft of the appreciation in the closing Rand/ Pound Sterling exchange rate over the pericd.

+  The assets of the UK operations declined significantly iargely as a result of the winding down of the
interest rate business during the year

«  The Australian operation benefited from the receipt of a banking licence during the period.

+ The Israeli operation experienced a decline in all categories of assets fargely as a result of the
depreciation in the closing lsraeli Shekel/Pound Sterling exchange rate over the period.

¢ The assets of the group’s US operations declined significantly as a resuit of the closure and sale of a
number of the businesses, as discussed on page 12 and 13

Total assets under administration

Total assets under administration decreased by 8.2% from £44.2 billion at 3t March 2002 to

£40.6 biliion at 31 March 2003, This was mainly attributable to a decline in assets under management of
£.1.6 billion acress all ranges of third party funds due to depressed equity values and the decline in the
level of on-balance sheet assets of the group.

The following table sets out the group's assets under administration by geography as at
31 March 2003,

South UK,

Africa & Australia, Totai
UK GAAP £ miilions Other lsrael & USA group
Retail 2224 | 994 4218
Institutionat 5877 58630 I'] 507
Private chents 2066 6 306 8372
- Private chents-discretionary 364 2 681 3045
- Private clients-non-discretionary 1 702 3625 5327
Properties managed for third parties 423 |4 437
Acceptances on behalf of clients - 2 2
Scrip lending - P 109 109
Total third party assets 10 590 15055 25 645
On-balance sheet assets 8213 6 746 14 959
Total assets under administration 18 803 21 80l 40 604

Note: The Assurance Assets (approximately £1.2 bilion) are included in the on-balance sheet numbers but are
managed by lnvestec Asset Management.
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The following table sets out the group's assets under administration by geography as at
31 March 2002,

South UK,

Africa & Australia, Total
UK GAAP £ millions Cther Israef & USA group
Retal | 93] 2232 4163
Institutional 5324 6 49| 11815
Private clierts 1 696 8426 16122
- Private clients-discretionary 420 3842 4 262
- Private clients-non-discretionary 1 276 4 584 5 860
Properties managed for third parties 241 13 254 |
Acceptances on behalf of clients - 3 3
Serip lending & 899 805
Total third party assets 9198 i8 064 27 262
Cn balance sheet assets 7302 9 655 16 957
Total assets under administration 16 500 27719 44219

Note: The Assurance Assets {approximately £0.9 billon) are included in the on-balance sheet numbers but are
managed by Investec Asset Management.

Additional information

Number of employees

The tables overleaf set out the number of employees by division and by gecgraphy over the four-year
period to 3t March 2003. The numbers reflected as at 31 March 2003, will be reduced by approximately
500 people during the first six months of the 2004 financial year, as result of rationalisation processes
initiated, but not yet completed during the 2003 financial year
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Number of emplayees
As at 31 March ) 2003 2002 2001 2000

Private Banking

South Africa and COther 628 571 542 534
UK and Europe 329 793 319 305
Australia 55 4 74
Usa _ -
Israe 73 51 97 g7
Tozal | 085 958 1032 936

Private Client Portfolio Management and Stockbroking

South Africa and Cther 44 48 i64 4%
UK and Europe 400 415 402 407
Australa
USA - 292 430 336
Israel

Total 544 855 996 892

Private Client Activities Total

South Africa and Other 772 719 706 683
UK and Europe 79 708 72! 7i2
Austratia 55 43 74 -
USA - 292 430 336
lsraei 73 51 97 97
Total I 629 I 813 2028 | 828

Treasury and Specialised Finance

South Africa and Cther 265 271 300 279
UK and Burope 156 166 128 93
Australia i0 I - —
LISA 33 7

fsraei 25 48 I3 i2
Total 489 503 44| 384

Investment Banking

South Africa and Other 105 116 |47 147
UK and Europe 101 i5 140 99
Australia 6 30

UsSA 68 H 3 -
lsrael 44 49 54 45

Total 336 462 344 291




Number of employees
As at 31 March

Asset Management
Santth Africa and Other
UK and Europe
Australia

UsA

lsrae’

Tozal

Assurance Activities

Group Services and Other Activities
South Africa and Other

UK and Euwrope

Australia

USA

lsraet

Total

Number of employees
As at 31 March

By Geography

South Africa and Cther

UK and Europe

Australia

USA

lsrae!

Toral number of employees

Prospects

Annual Report 2003

2003 2002 2001 2000
490 512 403 387
267 245 252 236

- 6 5 7
4 - -
774 763 670 630
490 576 - -
83 815 678 684
2i8 235 176 239
22

30 72 421 318
76 90 78 67

| 359 | 412 | 353 | 308

2003 2002 2001 2000

2935 3009 2244 2 180

[ 471 L 510 L 417 | 379
103 84 74 -
131 685 859 661
734 238 242 221

4 874 5 529 4836 4 441

The volatitity of external market and economic conditions render performance for the 2004 financial
year difficult to predict. The group will continue to assess its performance based on the foliowing key

indicators:

+  Return on average shareholders’ funds,
«  Return on average tangible net asset value.

+  Cost to income ratio,

*  Annuity income as a percentage of tota! operating income.

= Non-performing loans as a percentage of total loans and advances,

6
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integrated global
management structure

Investec’s management structure, reporting lines and responsibilities have been built arcund a geographic,
product and functional mairix. it is structured around global divisional leaders, global roles and geographic
business leaders. This management struciure enables the group to meet the challenge of regional responsiveness
and global competence. The integrated global model enables the group te take advantage of best economies of
scale, leverage resources and core competencies, and exploit synergies across all regions in which the group

operates.

The directors believe that the links between its overlapping paris, and the degree of effective integration, make
the matrix an effective model. The quality of the links is a result of values-based behaviour and practice, which

are key drivers of Investec’s cubture.
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Chairman

Hugh Herman

Chsef Executive Officer

Stephen Koseff

Managing Director

Bernard Kantor

Bradiey Tapnack

Corporate Governance and Compliance
Risk Maragement

Glynn Burger

Banking, Institutions and Corporate Relagions

David Lawrence

Finance

Rayanne Jacobson

Marketing

Raymond van Niekerk

Information Technology

Simen Shapiro

Hurman Resources

Patsy McCue

QOvrganisational Development

Caryn Solomon

Chief Integrating Officer

/-‘:Jéen Zimbler

Product Business Leaders

Private Banking
Sam Hackner ancd  Geographic
Steven Heifbron

Richard Forles

Geographic Business Leaders

South Africa United Kingdom  Israel USA
Andy Leith Alan Tapnack Alan Tapnack John Murabito
Glynn Burger Bradley Fried

David Lawrence

Private Client Stockbroking Treasury and Specialised Finance  Investment Banking Asset Management

Andy Leith and Hendrik duToit
Bradley Fried

Australia SE Asia

Geoff Levy Richard Forlee
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geographic representation

United States

New York

Investec Brnist & Company
Gerber Trade Finance inc

British Virgin Islands

Tortola

investec Asset Mznagement (BYi) Lid

Investee Overseas Finance (BVY) Lid

Investec Investment Managers international Lid

Namibia
Windhosk

Invester Asset Management {Namibia) (Pty) Lid
Investec Fund Managers Namibia Ltd

Botswana
AOrong
Ivestec Asset Management Botswana (Pty) Lid
tnvestec Bank {Botswana} Lt
tnvestec Fung Managers (Botswana) (Pry) Lid




Sauth Africa
Cape Town
Durban
johannesburg
Pietermaritzourg
Port Elizabeth
Pretoria

ivestec Bank Litd
investec Securities Ltd

investec Property Group Ltd

lavestes Employee Benefits Lid

tvestac Personal investments (Pty) Lid
tnvestec Asset Management (Pty) Ltd
Reichmans Ltd

invester Fund Managers SA4 Lid

investec Investment Management Services (Py)
Ltd

Investec Anaiytics {Pty} Lid

Investec Assurance |td
Silica Fund Adminisy

n Systems (Pty) Lid

Swaziland
Mbabane
Swazilanc Porifolio Mznagers (Pty) Ltd

Ireland

Dublin

Ivestec Private Ecuity Management (treland) Ltd
Investec Investment Management lrefand Lt
Investec Bank (LK) Ltd - Irish branch

lnvestec Gandon Lt

Irvestec Asset Maragement lreland Lt

Channel Islands

Investec Asset Management Guernsey Ltd
Investac Personal Portfolio Management Ltd
Investec Bank (Chaanel islands) Ltd

Theodores Trast and Law Group Ltd

fnvestec Asset Management Channe! lslands Lt¢

United Kingdom
London

lnvestec Bank (UK} Ltd
Carr Sheppards Crosthwaite Lt
Investec Asset Management Ltc

Luxembourg
Investec SA
Investec Finance SA
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Switzerland

Ceneva

Zurich

Reichmans SA

Investec Bank {Switzerland) A.G.
Radcliffes Trustee Company S.A.

tsrael

ferusalam

Tel Awviv

Investec Bank (lsrzel) Lid

Mauritiug
Port Louis
Irvestec Bank {Mauritius) Lid

Hong Kong

Investec Hong Keng (Pty) Lid
Investec Assel Management Asta Lic

Australia

Brisbane

Meibourne

Sydney

investec Wentworth (Piy) Lid

Investec Australia Corporate Finance Ltd
fnvestec Bank {Australia) Lid




66

Annual Report 2003

investec in
perspective

An essential pillar of Investec's operating phitosophy is that it does not seek to be ali things to al
people. The group's core philosophy has been 1o build weli-defined, value-added businesses focused on
serving the needs of select market niches where the group tan compete effectively. Investec’s strategic
goals and abjectives are motivated by the desire to develop an efficient and integrated business on an
international scale through the active pursuit of clearly established core competencies in the group's
four principal business argas, namely:

+  Private Client Activities

*  Treasury and Specialised finance

+ Investment Banking

*  Asset Management

n addition, Investec's head office provides certain group-wide integrating functions such as Risk
Management, Information Technology, Finance, Investor Relations, Marketing, Human Resources and
Crganisational Development. it is also responsible for the group's central funding as well a3 cther
activities, such as its Property business, Trade Finance and Traded Endowments operations.

The business divisions are effectively managed as autonomous international business segments, enabling
them to remain focused on trends and dynamics within their particular industries. Notwithstanding, as a
result of the inter-related nature of their target markets and activities, a degree of inferaction takes
place between each business to ensure clients benefit from dealing with the broader investec group The
group’s services are supplemented by a commaon thrust consisting of the group's cuiture, mission and
phitosozhias. This helps the business segments across the jurisdictions to operate as an integraied
network.
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history of
significant events

Since its inception as a leasing company in South Africa in 1974,
investec has expanded through a combination of substantial organic
srowth and a series of strategic acquisitions. Investec’s strategic goals
and objectives are motivated by the desire to develop an efficient
and integrated business on an international scale through the active
pursuit of clearly established core competencies in the Group's four
principal business areas namely, Private Client Activities, Treasury and
Specialised Finance, Investment Banking and Asset Management.

Three stages of genesis of Investec

Develop
business in
South Africa

1980-19%0

*Investec secures a banking licence
in 1980.

*Investec lists on the [SE in 1936,

*Growth is driven organically and
via acquisitions.

* Investec focuses on building &
strong base from which to
internationaiise.

Embark on
international
serategy

1992

® lnvestec acquires London-based
Allied Trust Bank Ltd - first

international acquisition.

* Investac embarks on an
international drive to boost
capability and enhance critical
mass in select geographical
markets.

London
tisting

2002

*July 2002 - investac
implements a DLC
Structure with listings on
the |.SE and JSE.
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southern africa - history of significant events

Private Client
Activities

Established capital markets
trading operations

and introduced Foreign Exchange
d and Interest Rate activities

Treasury
Specialise

Firnance Introduced deposit taking and

iending activities

Investment
Barking

Asset
Management
and Assurance

Focus on Retail Banking

Commenced corporate lending
and Structured Finance activities

Established an Emerging Markets
and Mining Finance unit

Eariy years - established local
asset management businesses

)
O

1992

Obtaned corporate
membership of the ISE

Exganded into stockbroking
through the acquisition of
Solms & Company

Acquisition of Fergusson
Bros - integrated with
other trading activities tc
form Investec Securities
timited

Established an Interest
Rate Derivatives team

Introduced z Financial
Products business unit

Project and Infrastructure
Finance unit formed

Introduced Structured
Finance activities in
Mauritius

Organic expansion of
South African Corporate
Finance

Acquisition of Fergusson

Bros, a South African
breking business

Acquisition of Sechoid




Acquisition of HSBC's
(lohannesburg) private client
stockbroking business

Evolved to full service Private
Banking

YaTe T IR YA
2000 - 2001

Acguisition of Quyn Martin Asset
Management business

Acquisition of Private Client loan
portfolio of McCarthy Bank and
professional lending beok of Mercantile
Bank

Established an Equity Derivatives team
and a Commaodities team

Established a Public Sector Finance
unit

Established a private equity division

Acquisition of Fedsure - adds R46bn
to funds under management and
introduced assurance activities into the
group

Reinsurance and transfer of majerity of
life assurance businesses te Capital
Alliance Limited
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Acquisition of Merrill Lynch's
{South Africa) private client
business in Cape Town

Acquisition of debtors book of
Rega! Treasury Private Bank Lig

Continued rationatisation of the
businesses acquired from Fedsure

Reinsurance of the annuity business
of IEB with Capital Alliance Limited

Reinsurance and transfer of some
of the businesses of IEBto Liberty
Group Limited (subject to
Competition Commission approval}
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united kingdom and europe - history
significant events

Private Client
Activities

Treasury and
Specialised
Finance

investment
Barking

Asset
Management
and Assurance

|

5an
P80 -

R

<

L

of

i
N

Acquisition of Allied Trust
Bank in the UK-
predominantly Private
Banking activities

Acquisition of Carr Sheppards
in the UK, a private dlient
stockbroking and portfolio
management business

Established a Private Bank
based in Jersey

Acquisition of London-
paseqd Clive Discount
Company Lid and money
broking operations of
Cazenove & Company

Enter stock lending, money
markets, repos and foreign
exchange

Embarked on internationa!
expansion of asset
management businesses




LR ] PG0
PSS vy

Acquisition of Guinness Mahon (UK,
Switzerland & Guernsey Private Banking)

Acquisition of Kleinwert Benson's private
client book

Acquisition of Guinngss Mahon -
incorporating Henderson Crasthwaite
private client business. This business later
merges with Carr Sheppards 1o farm
Carr Sheppards Crosthwaite

Established Project Finance activities

Acqguisition of Gandon Capital Markets
in Ireland, enhancing interaational
Structured Finance and Treasury
Activities

Acguisition of Guinness Mahen, including
Henderson Crosthwaite, a UK securities
and investment banking house

Acquisition of Hambros PLC, including a
UK-managed private equity portfolio

Acquisition of Guinness Flight - adds
£7bn to funds under management

EYON Y Y
2000 - 2001

Acquisition of Theodores Trust & Law
(Jersey) and Radcliffes Trustee
Company (Switzerland), augmenting
trust and fiduciary capabilities.
Businesses now operate under the
name Investec Trust Group

Introduced an European Equity
Derivatives operation

Established a Commoditizs team
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Carr Sheppards Crosthwaite racruits
most of the international team from
the Gerrard Group

Acquisition of Furopean Capital,
enhancing project advisory and finance
capabiiity

Established a Resource Finance
presence in London

Acquisition of a Structured Finance
ieam from ANZ Investment Bank

Exited the money market and
repurchase agreement operations

A strong UK IFA brand in the making

Acceptance from UK consultanis and
multi-managers
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australia, israel and usa - history of significant events

Private Client
Activities

Treasury and
Specialised
Finance

fnvestment
Banking

Asset
Management
and Assurance

0437 [ R
3/{3&3 [V Ee N A

Y
N
S
Iey)
et
v

-

Established an operation
in Australia

Acquisition of a
controlling interest in
lsrael General Bank
(subsequently re-named
Investec Bank {lsraei)
Limited)

Acqguisition of a
contralling interest in
Israel General Bank -
Treasury, Foreign
Exchange and Interest
Rate Activities

Acquisition of a
controliing interest in
lsrael General Bank,
inciuding a significant
discount
execution/trading
operation




A
N

1998 - 195

Acquisition of Stuart Coleman

& Company {New York) and the
Royce nvestment Group {Long
Istand, USA), retail broking firms

e
JCGG - 200

Acguisition of the private client
and cisaring arm of Hertzog
Heine Geduld inc. in the US

Foreign Exchange desk set up in
New York (subsequently ciosed)

Established an Equity
Derivatives operation in New
York {subsequently closed)

Established a Structured Finance
unit in Austratia

Acquisition of PMG, a US
investment banking and research
boutique

Acquisition of Wentwarth
Associaies, an Australian
corporate finance boutique
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Sale of the Private Client
Stockhroking business in the US w0
the management of the business

Established a Project Finance unit in
Australia

Acquisition of Melbourne-based
Chronworth Piy Ltd, a corporate
finance advisory boutigue

Sale of PMG Advisors and the closure
of the research, equity saies and
wading businesses in the US
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investec in perspective

by geography

Scope of activiey ® % of operazing profit ©* % of atgributable sarnings ™
Investec total: £101 4mn Investec total ££10.3mn

Asset Management. Assurance
Activities, Investrment Sanking,
Private Chient Activities,
Property Activities, Reichmans
Inzernational Trade Finance,
Traded Endowments, Treasury
and Specialised Finance

South Africa

Profit: £68.5mn Earnings: £68.1mn

Asset Management, investment
Banking, Private Ciient Activities,
Property Activities, Reichmans
Internaticnal Trade Finance,
Treasury and Specialised Finance

Profit; £22.3mn Earnings: £35.0mn

Imvestrment, Banking, Private
Client Activities, Treasury and
Specialised Finance

Australia
Profit: £6.0mn Earnings: £3.5mn

Asset Management, iInvestment
Banking, Private Client Activities,
Treasury and Specialised Finance

lsrael

Profic: £3.5mn Earnings: £2.5mn

Fixed income Trading, israeti
Masdag Equities Trading

United Siates

Profiv £1.fmn Earnings: £1.2mn

*  The stage of development of these activities varies between each geographic region. Refer to pages 78 to 124 for a detailed description
and operating review of the group’s activities.
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% of assers
investec total £14 359mn

Assets: £8 213mn

Assets: £5 601mn

Assets: £300mn

Assets: £813mn

Assets: £32mn

% of NAY #
Investec total £539.9mn

NAV: £20%.0mn

NAV: €258 4mn

NAY: £26.2mn

NAY: £51. Imn

NAY: £2.2mn

Number of employees ¥
investec total 4 874

Employees: 2 935

Employees: 1 471

Employees: |03

Employees: 234

Employees: 131
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COMROE =

COL62.6%
ROE: 36.6%

COlkL 88.2%
ROE: 14.8%

COLL 64.5%
ROE: 14.2%

COL 76.4%
ROE: 6.3%

COl 79.8%
ROE
<(100%)

ingd,

discontinued

aperations

Global management

SA joint MDs:
Andy Leith and
Glynn Burger
SA Deputy
Chairman. David
Lawrance

Alan Tapnack and

Bradiey Fried

Geoff Levy

Alan Tapnack

John Murabito

** Qperating profit represents profit before taxation, amortisation of goodwill and exceptional iterns {excluding discontinued operations}.
Attributable earnings is shown after taxation and minarity interest but before amortisation of goodwill and exceptional tems. COl s cost
o income ratio. Operating profit, attributable earnings, totel assets and COl have been calculated in accordance with UK GAAR NAV is
net tangible shareholders’ funds and ROE Js return on adjusted average tangible sharehokders' funds as caicuiated on pages 54 ta 56.
Refer to pages 238 to 243 for detailed segmental information, including comparative figures for the year ended 31 March 2002




76

investec in perspective

Annual Report 2003

by business

Private Client
Actvit

phes

f BOC
ed Finance

investment

Bar

#

Scape of actvity ®

Private Banking

Private Client Portfolio
Manapamant and Stockbroking

* Deposit taking, lending,
advisory services, structuring
and proprietary trading

« Corporate Finance

« Institetional Research, Sales and

Trading
* Private Equity
+ Direct Investments

Asset Management: institutional,
Retail

Assurance Activities: Investec
Employee Benefits

¢ Central Costs

+  Central Funding

+  Other Aciivities: Preperty
Woridwids, International
Trade Finance, UK Traded
Endowments

Geographic representation

+ Principal markets: Australia,
South Africa, UK

» Other: Botswana, the Channel
Islands, Israel, Switzerland

« Principal markets: South
Alrica, UK
« Other: Ausiralia

« Principal markets: South
Africa, UK

+ Other: Australia, lrefand,
tsrael, Mauritius

« Principal markets: Australia,
South Adrica, UK
+ Other: Ireland, Israel

= Principal markets: Southern
Adrica, UK
« Other: Lurope, Hang Kong, US

« Principal market: South Africa

* Principal markets: South

Africa, UK
« Other; Australia, Israel, US

Core clieng hase

High income and high net
worth individuals

Malnly high net warth
individuals (includes charities in
the UK)

Select corporate clients, public
sector bodies, financial
instiutions, banks, financial
brokers

Mid 1o large capitalisation
companies, uniisted
corporations, fund rmanagers,
government and parastatals

Retrement savers via pension fund
consultarts (instkutional) and
incenendent financial advisers

indivickuals, corporates and
institutions

The stage of development of these activities varies between each geographic region, Refer to pages 78 to 124 for a detailed description
and operating review of the group's activities.

=% Operating profit represents orofit before taxation, amortisation of goodwill and exceptiona! tems {excluding discontinued gperations), as
determined in accordance with UK GAAR Refer to pages 238 to 243 for detailed segmental information, including comparative figures for
the year ended 31 March 2002
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% of operating profie ** Number of employees™ Salient features Global muanagermaent
Investec total: £101.4mn Investec total: 4 874
* SAVoted as the best private Sam Hackner and
bark. (PWC Survey) Steven Heilbron

+ Giobal lean portfolio:
993, £0.6bn =¥ 2003: £2.6bn

« SA: largest player ‘ SA:Henry

» UK iong standing reputation Blurneriths!
Profit Pyt Bani: £34.6mn*** Employees Pvt Bank: f 085%4 : ng'?gii‘bfni@zgg?g j;fm: UK Fred Carr
Profit PCSB: £6.3mn*** Employees PCSE: 544+ P70 A0 : £8.4bn

* Strong position in SA Richard Forlee

* Building internationai capability

Prafit: £27.9mn Employees: 469
* 5A: No i M&A house Andy Ledh and
(Deaimakers Survey) Bradiey Friad
« UK: recognised market
positioning
Profit: £17 3mn Employees: 336
* SA: market feading position erdrik Ou Toit
« UK: building recognised platform
+ Total funds under management:
1991: £41 Bmn =3 2003: £15.8bn
» Acquired from Fedsure Ciaran Whelan
Profit IAM: £19.5mn Empioyees IAM: 771
Profit Assurance: £27.8mn Employees Assurance: 490
Geographic
Loss: (£32.0mn) Employees: | 159

#=# Where Pyt Bank refers to the group's Private Banking business and PCSB refers to the group's Private Client Portfolio Management and
tockbroking business.
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private client activities

Includes: Private Banking and Private Client Portfolic Management and

Stockbroking

UK GAAP (£'000)

Net interest income

Crther income

Provision for bad and doubtful debts
Admin expenses and depreciation
Operating profit¥

Private Banking

Private Client Portfolio Management
and Stockbroking

Operating profit*

South Africa and Other
UK and Europe
Australia

Israel

Operating profit *

Cost to incame ratio (%)

Number of empioyees

Private Banking

Private Client Portfolio Management
and Stockbroking

*Before taxation, amortisation of goodwill and exceptiona! items.

31 March 2003 31 March 2002 % Change
70 817 71524 (1.0%)
100 405 99 870 5.4%
(12 611y (9 262) (36.2%)

{117 700) (119 643 1.6%
40 911 47 489 (3.7%)
34 637 26 86% 28.9%

& 274 15 620 (59.8%)
40 911 42 489 (3.7%)
14 473 2 832 12.8%
23273 28 485 {18.3%)
I 700 (2 655) > 00%
I 455 3827 (61.7%)
40 911 42 489 (3.7%)
68.7% 69.8%
{629 1813 (10.1%)
1085 958 [3.3%
544 855 {36.4%)
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Contribution analysis - % of group total at 31 March 2003

Operating Total
UK GAAP profict Employees assets
Total group £101.4mn 4874 £14 95%mn
Private Client Activities 213%
Private Banking 34.1% 22.3%
Private Client Portfolio Management and Stockbroking 6.2% 119

* Before taxation, amortisation of goodwill and exceptional items {exciuding the resuils of the
discontinued operations).

Scope of activities

Private Client Activities comprises two businesses: Private Banking and Private Client Portfoiic
Management and Stockbroking. The group conducts these activities in two principal markets, South
Africa and the UK, and has a limited service offering in Australia, Botswana, the Channel lslands, israel
and Switzerland,

Private Banking Private Client Portfolio Management and

*  South Africa: High net worth individuals {net asset Stockbroking
value R50mn+ and investable assets Ri5mn+), + investec Securities Limited, South Africa:
private chents {net asset value RSmin+ and eamings Targeted at mass affluent and high-income
Rlimn+) and professionals {earnings RO5mn+) sector and above with Rimn+ 1o invest

+  UK:Targeted at individuals with 2 net asset value of »  Carr Sheppards Crosthwaite, UK:
£5mn+ and investable assets of £3mn+ Targeted at individuals with investable

= Awustralia: Targeted at individuals with net investable assets of £0,5mn+, and smaller charities
assets of greater than AUDSZ million. {<£20man)
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Management structure

Private Banking

Global Head of Frivate Banking
Sam Hackner
Steven Heilbron

Australia

Mark Joffe

Tim Johansen

fvan Katz

Brendan O'Sullivan
Michae! Sack

Israel
Yaossi Zalnick

South Africa
Steven Heilbron
Paul Hanjey
Michaea! Barr
Colin Franks
Wayne Preston
John Witter

UK and Europe

Steven Heilbron

l.eon Blitz

Richard Bowdler-Raynar
Robert Clifford

Michaei Cullen

Mort Mirghavameddin
Paul Stevens

Private Client Portfolio Management and

Stockbroking

Investec Securities Limited, South Africa
Henry Blumenthal
Jonathan Bloch
Peter Clucas

Paul Deuchar
Daonald Giyn
Reymond Goss
Fairfax Gray

Craig Hudson

Cy Jacobs

Steve Liptz

Rodney Marthinusen
Etienne Nel

Angus Rebertson
Andy Vogel

Carr Sheppards Crosthwaite, UK
Fred Carr
Nick Bagshawe
Clive Brangwin
David Bulteel
Adam Burr
teve Elliott
Alun Evans
Chris Hilis
Robart Leach
lan Maxwell Scott
Grant Nowell-Mitche
Mark Redmayne
Tony Richards
John Yelgham
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private banking

Investec provides a range of Private Banking services, targeting seiect. high income and high net worth
individuals in chosen niche markets, primarily in South Africa, the UK and Austraiia. Investec also has
smailer private banking cperations in the Channel islands. Ireland and Switzeriand, as well as in [srael.

The products and services provided by the Private Banking business principally comprise:
+  Specialised lending activities,

*  Trust and fiduciary services.

+  Banking services,

*  Investment management.

*  Private client investment banking.

*  Structured property finance.

Investec seeks 10 position its Private Banking operations in the low volume, high value advisory market,
As Investec’s Private Banking operations are at different stages of maturity and operate in markets with
distinct demographics, the breadth and nature of the products and services offered in each of its

marikets vary.

Overview of performance

UK GAAP £000 31 March 2003 31 March 2002 Variance % Change
Net interest income 65 268 a5 444 (376} (0.6%)
Net fees and commissions receivable 49 247 33 563 15 684 46.7%

Dealing profits 5013 2 607 2 406 $2.3%

(Orther operating income and dividends 471 174 |97 71.9%

Provision for bad and doubtful debts {(126l1) (7 262) (3 34%) (36.2%)
Admin expenses and depreciation {72 751) {65 957} (6 794) {10.3%)
Operating profit* 34 637 26 869 7 768 28.9%

Cost to income ratio (%) £0.6% &4.6%

Glabal loan porefolic (£ millions) 2 635 | 740 895 51.4%

*Before taxation, amortisation of goodwill and exceptional items,

The Private Banking division continued its ¢reditable performance, with operating profit before
amortisation of goodwill and exceptional items increasing 28.9% to £34.6 million. All of the group’s
Private Banking cperations contributed to this solid performance.

The variance in the operating profit over the period can be explained as follows:

+ Net interest income dropped slightly, notwithstanding a heaithy growth in advances of 51.4%, This
was largely due to the depreciation of the Rand/Pound Sterling average exchange rate masking the
underlying growth in South Africa,
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= The soklid growth in net fees and commissions receivable s attributable to increased lending turnover
in all operations. Furthermore, the division continued ¢ benefit from its diverse nature of activities,
with structured lending fees, advisory fees, transactional banking fees and retail foreign exchangs
income experiencing strong growth over the period.

+  Dealing profits were positively influenced by the increase in value of certain investments held by the
division, which have arisen out of the provision of investment banking services to private clients. The
activities of the "Private Client lnvestment Banking” division are positioned well below the radar
screen of the traditional corporate finance and private equity houses, and focus on the active
wealthy entrepreneur: Furthermore, the division is well equipped o offer small to medium size
businesses the service of partnering their personal and business requirements by praviding advisory
services and asset acquisition. As a result. the division took certain equity positions in the businesses
of thase private clients. The equity expesures are within the group's risk parameters and are
monitored regalarly,

+  Administrative expenses grew, largely as a result of a 13.3% increase in headcount over the period
and an increase in incentive-based remuneration in line with solid growth in profitability.

Developments
Key business developments over the past vear are outlined below,

South Africa

+  The Private Bank in South Africa posted a commendable performance as a result of its integrated
approach to wealth creation and wealth management.
+  Sinca March 2002, the private client lending book grew by 24.6% in Rand terms to R17.2 billion
{2002: R13.8 billion).
+ In difficult and volatile investment markets, rigorous investment management processes and
comprehensive infrastructure protected dient portfolios and maintained assets under administration,
* n transactional banking, critical mass was created, with a substantial increase in the number and
usage of account holders.
*  The Private Bank continues to focus on product innovation:
o Launch of Journey card.
o Significant online banking enhancements.
o Establishment of "Pinion™ 2 private insurance product aimed at private clients facilitating all
personal insurance requirements into one policy.
© A strategic enhancement during the financial year was the development of a private client
investment banking service, which is aimed at wealthy entrepreneurs and focuses on
- Funding through the provision of debt and equity.
- Business advisory services.
- The creation of specialist investment opportunities for clients wanting to diversify their
investment porticlics.
+ The division was rated the number one private bank for the third consecutive year in the
PriceWaterhoouseCoopers SA Banking Survey {2002).
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UK and Europe

*  Performance across ail business areas was solid, with particularly good growth from siructured
property finance specific to the UK market in the form of mezzanine and senior debt.

+  Since March 2002, the private client lending book grew by 17.0% in Pound Sterling terms to £925
mitiion {2002: £790 million}.

*  Despite a strong bias in the lending book towards commercial and residential property expaosures,
the book is well secured and the group believes that loan to value ratios of between 60% to 65%
are conservative. In terms of various stress tests appiied, a reduction of 30% in property values
couid resuit in a naked exposure of approximately £12.2 miliion,

* In line with a detailed strategic review that was underiaken during the periog, specialist investment
products were introduced as weil as the new private client investment banking service.

* The division relocated its banking deposit business call centre to South Africa, generating an annual
saving of £1.2 million.

+  As part of the division's marketing objective, it started to successfully penetrate specific community
groups, niches and segments.

*  The division is building an appropriate busingss and [T architecture, balancing the investments with
the scale of the business to facilitate the delivery of its value propasition.

Australia

*  Client deposits and overall level of advances have increased substantially since the group was
granted a banking licence in August 2002,

*  Since March 2002, the private client lending book grew by 40.7% to A$422 million (2002: A$300
miilicn).

*  The division continued to enhance its positioning in the investment property finance, wealth
advisory and investment management arenas.

Qutlook

The Private Bank continues its core philosophy of independent “best advice™ In an increasingly
commaditised environment, it is important for the Private Bank to build a brand with which the concept

of “advice” is clearly associated.

The core strategic focus remains the leveraging of talent poocls, products, technology and infrastructure
across all geographies, in addition to engoing product innovation and maintaining a portfolio of
businesses. The introduction of new and enhanced products and additions to existing preducts should
assist penetration into target markets.

South Africa

In South Africa, the division has suitably positioned itseif in the private banking market through its
extensive network and established experfence, and expects to continue realising the benefits in this
regard. Product innovation, new client acquisition and growing assets under administration remair a
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priority. In the context of a continually increasing demographic shift, black economic empowerment

initigtives remain core.

UK and Europe

The Private Banking businesses in the UK and Europe are still in 2 growth phase and vast oppertunities
exist for future deveiopment and increased presence and profitability.

The Investment Managemant business continues to focus on both a client-centric mvestment consulting
approach and on scurcing strategies that are opportunistic and nen-traditional The focus for the Trust
businesses is on “high-end" advisory-fed services and business development.

The Sgecialist Lending team will continue to market through professional intermediaries and the Private
Client Investment Banking team aims to benefit from investrent funding opportunities that arise,

Furthermore, the establishment of a new banking presence in Geneva will enable the development of
additional structared products to service targeted clientele.

Australia
In Australia, the Private Bank will continue to concentrate on providing quality advice to the high net
worth segment, while developing its product and service offering to ensure a balanced portfoiio of

businesses.
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private client portfolio management
and stockbroking

Investec's Private Client Portfolio Management and Stockbroking business offers a range of personal
investment and stockbroking services to a client base comprising predominantiy high net worth
individuals {based on assets under management) in South Africa and the UK Investec aisc has limited
private client capabilities in Australia,

Overview of performance

UK GAAP £'00G 31 March 2003 3! March 2002  Variance % Change
Net interest income 5 549 5880 (330 (5.6%)
Net fees and commissions receivable 45 569 58 904 (13 335) (22.6%)
Dealing profits 55 608 (553) (51.0%)
Other cperating jncome and dividends 50 3914 (3 86%) ($8.7%)
Admin expenses and depreciation (44 949) (53 686) 8 737 16.3%

Operating profit 6274 15 620 (9 346) (59.8%)
Cost to income ratio (%) 87.8% 775%

Private client funds under

management (£ millions} 8 372 10 122 {1 750) {17.3%)
Discretionary 37045 4362 (217 (28 6%)
Non-discretionary 5327 5 860 (533) (7.1%) i

* Before taxation, amortisation of goodwill and exceptional items.

The Private Client Portfolio Management and Stockbroking division recorded a disappointing
performance, with operating profit before amortisation of goodwill and exceptional items of £6.3
million, decreasing 59.8% on the previous year. The division was negatively impacted by lower market
prices and reduced demand far equity and related investment products. Notwithstanding, both Investec
Securities Limited in South Africa and Carr Sheppards Crosthwaite (CSC) in the UK remained profitable
throughout the period, albeit at lower levels than in the prior year In terms of its strategic reviaw of the
US operations, Investec sold its private dient retail broking operations t¢ the management of the
business at the beginning of the financial period. Further information is provided on page {2 and 13

The variance in the operating profit over the period can be explained as follows:

*  Net fees and commissions receivable daclined significantly, as the businesses continued to be
negatively impacted by the fail off in markets over the past yean

*  The decline in other operating income can be atiributed to the profit made on the disposal of

a5
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CSC’s sharehoiding in the London Stock Exchange in the prior year (around £4 million). Similar
realisations were not repeated in the current yearn

Administrative expenses were paositively influenced by various cost cutting initiatives as well as a
sharp deciine in incentive-based remuneration given declining profitability The decline in personnel

expenses was around £6 millian,

Developments

Key business developments over the past year are outlined below.

South Africa

Total funds under management as at 31 March 2003 were R25.6 billion (2002: R27.3 billion), of
which R4.5 billion and R21.1 billion were managed on a discreticnary and non-discretionary basts,
respectively.

The recent strength in the Rand led to diminishing Rand values of the asset swap portion of

portfolics.
The division was able 1o supplement its revenue stream through a number of new investment

initiatives.

UK and Europe

Funds under management fell from £6 billion as at 31 March 2002 to £4.7 billion as at 31 March
2003 on the back of deciining market indices, Of the £4.7 billion, £2.9 billion and £1.8 billion were
managed on & discretionary and non-discretionary basis, respectively.

Net new funds under management of £376 million were recorded for the period under review.
While more than half of the new funds emanated from private clients and trusts, the initiatives on
the charities side continued to be beneficial, with the business winning charity portfelio management
mandates to the value of more than £100 million.

At 31 March 2003, CSC administered some £560 million of personal equity plan and individual
savings account funds for third partias,

Prior to financial year-end, and yet to be reflected in the funds under management, CSC was
appointed by the Lord Chanceilors Depariment as one of two Panel Private Client Fund Managers
to act on behalf of the Public Guardianship Office, the Court Funds Office and the Official Solicitor
and Public Trustee.
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Qutlook

The outlook for the group’s Private Client Portfolic Management and Stockbroking businesses is
dependent on the overall performance of glebal equity markets, The group will continue to investigate
opportunities to enhance its competitive positioning and profitability and will seek to expand its Private
Clignt Portfolio Management and Stockbroking businesses through select acquisitions.

South Africa

tnvestec Securities Limited is focusing on identifying ways of diversifying its brokerage income stream by
introducing alternative product offerings and leveraging off group services that are appropriate for
clients. The conversion of client portfolios into fee paying, fully managed accounts is an ongoing
objective, designed to Increase annuity revenues, Furthermore, the business continues to rationalise
costs wherever possible, whiie still investing for the future by building systems to improve efficiencies
and profitabiiity.

UK and Europe

CSC intends to grow funds under management by maintaining high levels of service and professional
performance, supplemented by relatively iow-cost marketing effors.

The strategic focus looking forward will be directed to

+  Caoncentrating on core activities where the division has critical mass.
*  Attracting appropriate high net worth clients,

«  Further developing the smalier charities niche market,

+ Resuming the push of investment related services.

+  Accelerating the collectivisation of smaller portfolios.

While CSC’s business model and mix enable the business to be better equipped than maost to cope with
periods of low velumes and revenues, it would not be immune to the effects of a prolonged severe

downturn.

¥
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treasury and specialised finance

includes: deposit taking, lending, advisory services, structuring and proprietary
trading in the corporate, project, public sector and institutional markets.

UK GAAP £'000 31 March 2003 31 March 2002 % Change
MNet interest income 31892 57 237 {44.3%)
Other income 60 400 50 583 19.4%
Provision for bad and doubtful debis (4 258) (2132} (99.7%)
Admin expenses and depreciation (60 083) {53 904y {11.5%)
Operating profit® 27 951 51784 {46.0%)
Banking Activities 27 40% 3% 6561 {30.9%;
Financial Markets Activities 542 12 123 {95.5%)
Operating profit® 27 951 51 784 {46.0%)
South Africa and Other 3144 40 466 (22.4%)
LK and Europe (2 850) g 724 >(100%)
Australia (728) ;273 >{100%)
Israel 118 319 (63.0%)
Operating profit* 27 951 51 784 (46.0%)
Cost to income ratio (%) 65.1% 50.0%

Number of empiovees 489 503 (2.8%)

*Before taxation, amortisation of gocdwill and exceptional items.
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Contribution analysis - % of group total at 31 March 2003

Operating Total

profie* Eraployees assers

Totat group £1014mn 4874 £14 959mn
Treasury and Speciaiised finance 27.6% 10.0% 49.4%

* Before taxation, amortisation of goodwill and exceptional items {excluding the resuits of the

discontinued operations).

8%
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Management structure

Regional Management
Richard Forlee

Tom Murray

Craig McKenzie
Richard Wainwright
David van der Walt

Financial Markats Activities

interest Rates
Brett Hopkins

fForeign Exchange
Patrick de Villiers

Equity Derivatives
Milton Sarnios

Peter Alderson

Commodities
Paut Plewrnan

Banking Activities
Treastry - Balance Sheet
{Clive Sindelman

Paula Gray

freasury - Corporate
Aisling Dodgsen
Annette Smyth
Michaet lameson-Till

Finandial Products
Richard Wairwright
Mark Currie

International
ireland
Mauritius
South Africa
UK

South Africa

International

international co-head/
South Airica
International co-head/UK

International

South Africa
UK

Irefand
South Africa
LK

International
South Africa

Structured and Asset Finance

David van der Walt
Richard Longes
Arton Millar
Vusumuz! Mahlangu
David Kuming
Alistair Crowther
Paut Unsworth

roiect ond Resource Finance
Project ond R Fi

José de Nobrega
Deon Louw
Michael Meeser
Maurice Hochschild
Cosmas Kapsanis

Support Activities

international

Austraila

SA Structured Finance
SA Public Sector Finance
SA Mezzanine Debt

UK Structured Finance
UK Asset Finance

Imermational

Resource Finance

SA Project Finance

UK Frofect Finance
Awustralia Project Finance

Divisional Compliance ond Legal

Pauline Trollip

Information Technology
Nigl Oberhoizer
Tanis Jardin

Financial Control
Alan Byrne

Eureka Redelinghuys
jodi Joseph

Financial Institutions Group
Helmut Bahrs
Michael Jameson-Til

International

International/Scuth Africa
UK

lreland
South Africa
UK

International/South Africa
UK
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Introduction

investec's Treasury and Specialised Finance division provides a wide range of products, services and
solutions to select corporate clients, public sector bodies and financial institutions. The division
undertekes the bulk of lnvestec's proprietary trading activities, Furthermore, all non-private client
deposit taking. corporate and public sector lending, project finance, advisory and structuring activities

are transacted through the division.

The division has eight product areas that are divided equally between Banking Activities and Financial
Markets Activities, as set cut below.

Banking Activities

Treasury - corporate treasury and asset and liability management

Provides Rand. Sterling, Euro and US Dollar funding to the group, and manages liquidity and inlerest rate
risk on behalf of the group. Provides a broad range of treasury products and services to the corporate
market.

Financial Products

Involved in commercial paper and bond origination, securitisation, financial enginsering, preference share
investrnents and structures, equities scrip leading, collateralised debt obligation structures, credit
derivatives and the development of investment products.

Structured and Asset Finance

Involved in structured and conventional lending, asset leasing and finance, preference share finance,
mezzanine debt financing, leveraged buy-out funding, executive share schemes, structured insurance
products, and financing solutions for corporate, government and parastatal markets,

Project and Resource Finance

Advisory services, debt arranging and underwriting and equity raising in the mining and resources,
energy, infrastructure and industrial sectors.

Financial Markets Activities

Interest Rates

Market maker in interest rate guarantee products, forward rate agreements, interest rate swaps, money
market instruments, government and certain parastatal bonds, interest rate options and repurchase
agreements.

Foreign Exchange

Market maker in the spot, forward exchange, currency swaps and currency derivatives markets,
principally in ZAR and G7 currencies and certain emerging markets currencies.

Equity Derivatives

Market maker i major equity index opticns, certain single stock options, equity structured products,
futures index arbitrage and equity warrants, Provides hedging and structuring services 1o financial
intermediaries, institutions and companies.

Commmedities

Market maker in precious and base metals, Provides hedging and structured trades for clients in the
spot and derivatives markets.
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The division’s breadth of cperations represents a portfolio of diversified business units. The Banking
Activities are characterised by more predictable revenues, while the Financial Markets Activities fend to

be more voiatile.
Overview of performance

The Treasury and Specialised Finance division posted operating profit before amortisation of goodwill
and exceptionai items of £27.9 millicn, a dedine of 46.0%. The UK and European operations posted a
loss of £2.9 million, while the South African operation’s contribution decreased by 22.4% to £31.4

million.

Operating profit* - Banking Activities

The operating profit before amortisation of goodwill and exceptional items of the Banking Activities
declined frem £39.7 million to £27.4 million. The relatively new Banking Activities performed well in
the UK but in South Africa the divisions were unable to repeat the exceptional performance of the
previcus year. This was largely as a result of fewer transactions closing in the corporate market,

UK GAAP £'000 31 March 2003 31 March 2002  Variance % Change
MNet interest income 34 208 65 535 (31 327} {47.8%)
Net fees and commissions receivable 23 453 13 565 3 888 72.9%

Dealing profits 4 509 (9 164} 13 673 > 100%

Other operating income and dividends 451 | 769 {1 318) (74.5%)
Admin expenses, depreciation, provisions (35 212) (32 044) (3 168) (2.9%)
Qperating profit* 27 409 39 661 {12 252) {30.9%)

*Before 1axaticn, amortisation of goodwill and exceptiona! items.

The variance in the aperating profit over the period can be expiained as follows:

+  Net interest income declined significantly largely as a resuit of the depreciation of the average
Rand/Pound Sterling exchange rate over the period. Furthermore, the Balance Sheet Management
and Financizl Products units in South Africa were unabie to repeat the performance of the prior
year. During this period, both units had benefited from the rate positioning of their assets and the
effective implementation of a number of hedging strategies.

» Deal fees grew solidly. The Financial Products unit in South Africa earned increased fees from
improved performance in scrip lending and increased activity in the debt origination market.
Furthermore, the South African Structured Finance unit experienced an increase in fees. In the UK,
the division benefited from a strong performance from the three relatively new banking teams:
Project Finanice {December 2001}, Structurad Finance {July 2002) and Financial Praducts,

+  Administrative expenses increasad largely as a result of additional teams and people employed,
particuiarly in the UK Furthermore, the Project Finance unit in South Africa made an additionai
provision for bad and doubtful debts of approximately £2 million.
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Operating profit™ - Financial Markets Activities

The operating profit before amortisation of goodwill and exceptional items of the Trading Activities

declined substantially, with the division making a much reduced profit of £542 000,

The group's Trading Activities experienced a mixed performance.

+  The South African Susinesses performed well, particularly the Interest Rate, Foreign Exchange and
Equity Derivatives units.

*  The negative performance of the UK operations, other than the Equity Derivatives division that
performed well, resublted in a significant scaling down of the group's Trading Activities in the UK

UK GAAP £'000 31 March 2003 3| March 2002 Variance % Change
Net interest income (2 316) (8 297) 5 981 72.1%
Net fees and commissions receivable i 038 & 394 (5 356} (83.8%)
Deating profits 30 945 38ol17 (7 072) (18.6%)
Cther operating income and dividends 3 | 2 >100%
Admin expenses, depreciation, provisions (29 128} (23 992} (5 136} {21.4%)
Operating profit* 542 12 123 {11 581) {95.5%)

* Before taxation, amortisation of goodwill and exceptional items.

The variance in the operating profit over the period can be explained as follows:

+  The winding down of the Interest Rate business in the UK had a negative impact on overall
performance.

*  The South African Trading Activities had a successful year, with the majority of the units contributing
to overalt performance. These results were partially offset by a decline in profitability of the
Commedities unit.

* Inthe UK, dealing profits declined as the majority of the Trading Activities, in particular the
Commodities unit, performed poorly during the period,

Developments

Key business developments over the past year are outiined below.

Banking Activities

Treasury

» The continued conservative appreach to liquidity management heid the group in good stead,
particularly in South Africa where uncertainty with regard to depesit taking among smaller banks
continued,

= Revenues were generated from active interest rate management,

«  The UK and South African balance sheets are liquid.
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Financial Products

s The South African operations perfarmed commendably:

o

The Debt Originatien unit performed particularly well, with a number of high profile corporate
debt securities issued.

The unit successfully undertook a RI billion securitisation of a portion of the Private Bank's
home mortgage loan book.

Financial engineering and investment product creation slowed down as a result of difficult market
conditions.

¢ in the UK the unit made substantial strides in the credit derivatives arena, where it seeks to
structure or participate in structures and selling positions to the investor market.

Seructured and Asset Finance

*  The South African cperaticns experienced lower levels of transaction flow in an envircnment of

great unceriainty.
+  Nevertheless, gross lending advances managed to keegp slightly ahead of redemptions.
+  The UK operations posted solid results, with the addition of an experienced Structured Finance

team during the year and a resilient performance from Asset Finance,

Project and Resource Finance

+ The Proiect Finance unit performed well, concluding several key transactions during the period:

o]

In South Africa, the unit was involved in arranging and underwriting debt facilities for the
SunCoast Casino.

The unit also arranged and underwrote the debt in the refinancing of the Kelvin power station,
Investec European Capital performed particutarly well, condiuding the largest hospital PH project
to date in the UK.

ln Australia, the newly estabiished Project Finance unit acted as co-lead underwriter to
construction contractor Abigroup in the A$2.4 biliion Western Sydney Orbital woli road project.

¢ The results of the Resource Finance business were affected by a specific bad debt provision of

approximately £2 million rafsed.

Trading Activities

Interest Rates

+  The successful integration of Securities lavestment Bank Limited {a [00% owned subsidiary of the
group) with the Interest Rate desk in South Africa led to substantial cost savings without a material

reduction in revenues.
+  The UK Interest Rate activities were curtailed, with the group’s exit from its money market and

repurchase agreernent cperations. This decision was taken as the business was unable to generate a

satisfactory return on capital and used significant counterparty iines.
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Foreign Exchange

* In South Africa, the volatility in domastic and international exchange rates increased opportunities
for good client business.

+  During the period under review, Investec closed the New York desk and significantly reduced the UK
business.

Equities Derivatives

* In South Africa, warrants volumes decreased and institutional hedging activities were subdued.

+ Investec became the first issuer of equity warrants in the Irish market during the financial vear

v n the UK, the unit successfully maximised returns on structured warrant trades and converiible
tond trading, which commenced in the second halfl of the financial year

Commeodities

*  The Commodities unit recorded 2 loss after a solid performance in the previous year.
* Hedging transactions in the goid market were scarce, while base metals activity was unpredictable.

Qutiook

The Treasury and Specialised Finance division remains well positioned in the Scuth African market, The

chaflenge is to uphold this favourable position and expand operations elsewhere in the world.

The non-Southern African operations did not perform well in the past financial year Major changes
were made through cost-cutting initiatives, scaling down of certain operations and discontinuing others.
Notwithstanding, the division also continued expanding in areas where it sees long-term profit and
growth potential. A selid platiorm has been created in the UK

The division expects better performance this year and is well placed for cpportunities which may arise
in the year ahead. Many one-off charges have been accounted for such as team acquisition costs and
retrenchment costs, and the concerted cost-cutting exercise has also yielded positive results.

The division’s objectives inciude:

*  Remaining specialised and competing only in areas where the division can be differentiated,

¢ Ensuring intense management of capital usage and related returns.

+  Maintaining focused management on costs of operation,

«  Developing sales and distribution capability in Hong Kong through growth of a recently established

joint venture,
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investment banking

Includes: Corporate Finance, Institutional Research, Sales and Trading, Private

Equity, Direct Investments

UK GAAP £000

Net interest income

Other income

Provision for bad and doubtful debis
Admin expenses and depreciation
Operating profit*

Coerporate Finarice

Institutional Research, Sales and Trading
Private Equity

Direct Investments

Qperating profic*

South Africa and Other
UK and Europe
Awustralia

Israel

Operating profit*

Cost to income ratio (%)

Number of employees

*Before taxation, amortisation of goodwill and exceptional items,

31 March 2003 31| March 2002 % Change
4 962 3207 58.7%
59 192 101 539 (41.7%)
{589 (437} {34.8%)
{46 301) (58 0lg) 20.2%
17 294 46 293 {62.6%)
(2 03%) 6021 >{100%;
2 597 S 637 (73.1%)
12132 i1 412 6.3%
4 604 g 223 {50.1%])
|7 294 46 193 {62.6%)
5 871 18 567 (68.4%)
6915 20 255 (65.9%)
271 2724 (0.5%)
1797 4 747 {62.1%)
17 294 46 293 (62.6%)
72.1% 55.4%
336 162 (27.3%)
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Contribution analysis - % of group total at 31 March 2003

Operating Total
UK GAAP profit® Employees assets
Total group £1014mn 4 874 £14 $59mn
favestment Banking i7.1% 6.9% 1.7%

* Before taxation, amortisation of goodwill and exceptional items {excluding the resuits of the

discontinued operations).

Scope of activities

Product | ‘ Geography 1 | Description J

Corporate
Finance

Institutiona!
Research, Sales
and Trading

Private Equity

Direct
Investments

Australia,
South Africa, UK

Israel,
South Africa, UK

Australia,
South Africa, UK

Awustralia,
South Africa, UK

+  Domestic businesses benefiting from access to an

international network
Mid-market focus In the UK and Australia with a penstration
into farger clients, specifically in South Africa

Research operated on an international platform
Blue chip domestic institutional client base

Income primarify from realisations of third party investments
acquired through UK acquisiticn of Hambros PLC

Small but growing private equity businesses in South Afiica
and Australia

Largely a South African business leveraging off Corporate
Finance's market knowledge and deal flow

Focus on quoted companies

Selective, opportunistic approach
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Management structure

Joint Global Heads of Investment Banking
Bradiey Fried
Andy Leith

Australia
Investec Wentworth
Geoff Levy

Private Equity
iohn Murphy

lsraet
lnvestec Bunk (Isroel) Lid

Yoel Berger

South Africa
Corporate Finance
Malcoim Dods
Kevin Kerr

Hugo Steyn

Private Equity
Thomas Pring

Investec Securities Institutional Stockbroking
Carole Mason

Craig Tate

Kevin Brady

Managemert Services
Kevin McKenna

UK

Investec Investment Bonking ond Securities
Perry Crosthwaite

Dravid Currie

Richard Hickinbotham

David Kantor

Neti Montgomery

Nigel Tose

Private Equity
Rab Cohen

International
Ockert Olivier
Clive Richardson
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Introduction

The Investment Banking division engages in a range of investment banking activities in two principal
markets, the UK and South Adrica, with smaller but growing operations in Australia and israel. These
activities comprise Corporate Finance, Institutional Research, Sales and Trading, Private Equity and Direct
Investments. The business positions itseif across these operations as a super boutique, focusing on
specific market niches. It targets clients seeking highly customised service, which Investec offers through
a combination of domestic depth and expertise and client centric approach.

The client base of the division includes:

«  Major listed and unlisted corparations.
+  Fund managers.

«  Government.

+ Parastatals.

Overview of performance

The prolonged weakness in financial markets and subdued trading velumes had a severe impact on the
performance of the Investment Banking division. Operating prefit before amortisation of goodwili and
exceptional items declined by 62.6% to £17.3 millien.

In South Africa, the Investment Banking division reported declining resuits, largely as a result of the lack
of reglisation oppartunities in the direct investment partfolio from which the divisicn had benefited in
the previous year

In the UK, investec Investment Banking and Securities posted an operating loss. In the circumstances and
given the lack of visible prospects of a market recovery, the division's cost base was significantly
restructured. Accordingly, a sigaificant deciine in staff numbers and the outsourcing of support activities,
such as certain settiement functions, resulted in costs falling from a peak annualised rate of £2% million
to £18 million.

fnvestec [nc, in the US, which was particularly vuinerable to the dramatic decline in equity markets,
pesied operating losses. Towards the end of the financial year, the group decided it was not prudent to
sustain the ongoing iosses in the US tnvestment Banking operations, given the unlikelihood of the
establishment of 3 profitable competitive business in the region. Consequently, 2 strategic decision was
tzken to wind down the Investment Banking cperations in the US. At the beginning of the 2003 calendar
year, PMG Advisors was sold and by the end of May 2003 all Investment Banking activities had ceased
operation. The cost of closing this activity is recognised as an exceptional item in the group’s 2003
results. Further information is provided on page 12 and 13.

In Austraiia, Investec Wentworth performed well, notwithstanding difficutt market conditions.
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Operating profit* - Corporate Finance and Institutional Research, Sales and Trading

UK GAAP £'000 31 March 2003 3| March 2002 Variance % Change
Net interest income 6 166 5 045 | 121 22.2%
Net fees and commissions receivable 34 765 48 964 (34 199) {49.6%)
Dealing profits 4392 7 920 (3 528) (44.5%)
Other operating income and dividends 152 19 133 > 00%
Admin expenses, depreciation, provisions (44 917} {56 290} i 373 20.2%
Operating profit 558 25 658 (25 100) (97.8%)

* Before taxation, amertisation of goodwill and exceptional items.

The variance in the operating profit over the period can be explained as follows:

.

Difficult market conditions continued to impact the Investment Banking division, particularly in the
UK, where deal fees and commissions felf by £32.5 miltion. In South Africa, deal fees and
commissicns declined marginally, with the Corporate Finance division cencluding 55 corperate
finance deals compared to 65 in the previous year

Deafing profits were negatively impacted by a decline of more than 80% in UK market making
revenues compared to the prior yearn

Administrative expenses were positively influenced by significant restructuring that took place during
the year in the UK, as well as a sharp decline in incentive-based remuneration given declining
profitability. The decline in personne! expenses was around £11 million,

Operating profit* - Direct investments and Private Equity

UK GAAP £000 31 March 2003 31 March 2002  Variance % Change
MNet interest inceme {1 172) {1 839) 667 36.3%
Net fees and commissions receivable I 375 397 978 >100%
Dealing profits 4 397 {260) 4 657 >100%
Other cperating income and dividends 4 {10 24 439 (10 389 (42.4%)
Admin expenses, depreciation, provisions {1 9743 (2 162} 188 8.7%
Operating profir* 16 736 20 635 {3 899) {18.9%)

*Before taxation, amortisation of goodwill and exceptional items,

The variance in the operating profit over the period can be explained as follows:

Net interest payable was positively affected by a reduction in loan balances, following the sale of
certain investments in the prior yesar
The division's net fees and commissions receivable increased as a result of certain management and

ather fees received on transactions concluded during the period.
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Dealing profits increased as a resuit of the net positive mark-to-market adjustments in the group's
private equity and direct investment portfolios,

Other operating income declined, fargely as a result of the approximate net £15 million profit made
on the disposal of investments after taking into account impairments, in tha previous year This
negative variance was offset by a strong performance from the UK Private Equity division, which
benefited from the realisation of the partial disposal of one of its investments amouriting to
approximately £9 million,

Developments

Key business developments over the past year are outlined below,

Corporate Finance

South Africa

Investec Corporate Finance continued its strong performance.

The division focused on group and corporate restructuring activities, shareholder activism rnandates
and black economic empowerment (BEE) transactions.

In accordance with investec’s BEE sirategy, the division participated in both an advisory and an
investrment capacity in the acquisition by Peu Investment Group of a 20% equity interest in Capital
Alliance Limited for R420 milkion, and the formation of Tiso Capital Partners,

The number of corporate finance transactions completed during the period deciined to 55 (2002
45), while the number of sponsor broker deals increased to 45 (2002: 36).

The division continued to seek creative and effective ways to develop value-added sclutions for its
clients,

The givision was ranked first in volume and value of transactions in the Deafmakers Magozine Survey
for Corporate Finance (March 2003). it was ranked second for advising on the highest volume and
value of M&A transactions in the Ernst & Young Survey (March 2003).

UK and Europe

The performance of the division was severely impacted by difficult market ¢onditions, reflected in
declining fund raisings and advisory work plus lower stock market valuations.

The number of M&A deais and fund raising transactions completed during the period declined to 13
(2002: 25) and to |0 (2002: 24) respectively.

Dagpite this, the retained corporate client list was strengthenad, with (3 wins as opposed to six
losses.

The average market capitalisation of the corporate client fist is approximately £86 miflion.

Australia

-

investec Wentworth secured a significant share of transactions, at a time when the level of M&A
activity and <apital raisings were substantially down in the Australian market,
The division advised on 20 deals vaiued at A$2.5 billion during the financial year
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Israel

*  During the year, the Corporate Finance and Research division was downsized, given market
conditions.

Institutional Research, Sales and Trading

South Africa

+  The agency business suffered as a result of the lower average volumes traded on the [SE Securities
Exchange of South Africa (SE)

*  The Structured Equity Desk continued its strong performance, with its activities now spanning both
the JSE and FTSE

* The Institutional division of investec Securities Limited successfully repositioned itsef in the
marketplace. The division's full service offering, with an emphasis ¢n broad-based market coverage
and significantly augmented execution capability, was weli received by clients.

+  Noteworthy client rankings in the Financial Mail Survey (May 2003} indicate that Investec Securities
Limited is well positioned to leverage off the credibie platform that has been created,

UK and Europe

+  Despite low levels of activity, the division's market share in large cap stocks increased from 1.3% to
almost 2.2% of UK agency commissions.

*  The business expanded its research offering and market making capabilities, both of which enhanced
investec Investment Banking and Securities’ profite in the UK market,

*  Furthermore, the division continues to work closely with Institutional Stockbroking in South Africa,
as demonstrated in the profitable launch of the Structured Equity Desk.

Israel

+  Stockbroking commissions were negatively impacted by reduced domestic market activity, although
this was partially offset by an encouraging increase in commissions on Nasdaq listed Israsli stocks.

»  Falling stock values also affected custody revenues. Although the bank was awarded its first
custodian contract by a bank, all previous clients were independent asset managers,

Private Equity and Direct Investments

South Africa

*  The Private Equity division enjoyed good quality transaction flow and benefited from an upward
revaluation of certain of its investments.

*  There was a fack of opportunities in the Direct tnvestments portfolic from which the division had
penefited in the previous year,

UK and Europe

= The Private Equity division benefited from a significant realisation in one of the underiying funds,
amounting to approximately £2 million.
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*  The aggregate book vaiue of the Private bEquity and Investment portfolio was £23.4 million {2002:
£27.F million).

Australia

* Weak equity markets provided zttractive opportunities, with amongst other things, the division
investing A$8 million to acquire a one-third stake in mobile phone retailer. Fone Zone.

Qutlook

The cutlook for the Investment Banking division is naturally geared towards the state of global equity
markets. The primary cbjective of the division is to secure its current positions and continue to build its
operations in gach of the markets in which it operates, with a strong focus on enhancing overall
profitability.

South Africa

The Investment Banking division in South Africa should benefit, going forward, as 2 result of a number of
international banks scaiing down their securities and advisory businesses. Investec Securities Limited is
well positioned to take advantage of an eventual upturn in market conditions, although it is difficult to
anticipate when any meaningful turnaround will cccur Furthermore, Investec Corporate Finance has a
strong position in the market, with weli-estabiished refationships with clients and z pipeline of deals that
remains steady. The Private Equity division's strategy is to remain niched and continue to focus on
transactions where valug can be leveraged through the division’s involvement and through the
implementation of a specific approach.

UK and Europe

In the UK, Investec investment Banking and Securities believes that its strategic focus combined with the
breadth and depth of its coverage have not been materially reduced by the restructuring activities that
took place during the period. The division is focusing on a number of revenue initiatives aimed at
account management and new corporate client wins, Furthermore, while there is scope for small further
gains in Private Equity depending on market conditions, these opportunities are expected te be fimited
in the next financial year

Australia

In Australia, the group has made significant progress with building a sound platform for its Advisory and
Private Equity businesses, The group currently has two private equity funds and is looking to raise a
third one. The weak equity markets provide reasonable opportunities for the division. The division will
continue to focus on building a profitable and recognised business by maintaining 2 solid deal pipeline,
aggressively targeting new clients, enhancing brand awareness and further intzgrating its operations into
Investec's internationa! network,
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asset management

Includes: Asset Management and Assurance Activities

UK GAAP £000 31 March 2003 3| March 2002 % Change
Asset Management

Net interest income 5378 3 464 55.1%

Cther income 84 330 85 199 (1.0%)})
Admin expenses, depreciation, provisions (70 227; (67 754) (3.6%)
Operating profic* 19 479 20 911 {6.8%)
South Africa and Other 17 715 i8 154 (2.4%)
UK and Eurcpe i 644 2439 {32.5%)
lsrael i18 38 (62.9%)
Operating profit* 19 479 20 911 (6.8%)
Cost to income ratio 78.3% 76.4%

Number of employees 77 763 1.0%

Funds under management (£ miliions) 16 828 16 268 3.4%

Assurance Activities
income from long-term assurance business 27778 31079 {(10.6%)
Number of empioyees 490 576 (14.9%)

* Before taxation, amertisation of goodwill and exceptional items.
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Operating Total
UK GAAP profit* Employees assets
Total group £101.4mn 4 874 £14 959mn
Asset Management 19.2% 15.8%
Assurance Activities 27.4% iC.1%%

Asset Manzgement and Assurance

19.7%

* Before taxation, amortisation of goodwill and exceptional items (exciuding the results of the

discontinued operations}.

asset management

Scope of activities

Investec Asset Management is managed as a single international organisation, comprising client-facing

strategic business units that are supported by a unified investment team, which leverages cff a scalable
operations platform, This structure facilitates maximum leverage of experience and expertise across

markets and enables central management to direct resources to the best opportunities available,
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Mark Samuelson
Nick Motiram
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Introduction

Investec Asset Management provides a select range of portfolio management services and products te
institutional ang retail clients in South Africa and the UK. The company zlso offers a selection of
offshore products to investors in Europe, Asiz and the US.

investec Asset Management seeks to position itself as a manufacturer of a limitad number of high guality
core products. At present, its core specialities are South African, UK and giobal equities, fixed income
and balanced products. The company also offers a range of absolute return products,

investec Asset Management uses predominantly non-proprietary distribution channels, thereby limiting
potential conflicts of interest. The business continues to nvest in its capacity to engage and service

these distribution channels,

Overview of performance

Investec Asser Management, in the face of difficult equity market conditions, demonstrated its resilience
and continued to bulld the capacity required to operate effectively. For the business, this was a year of
consolidation in South Africa and significant progress in the UK.

The transition from a single country fund manager with a limited product range in 1999 to an
international fund manager with strong foundations in South Africa and the UK, abie to reach into a
wide variety of international markets, is complete, A clear structure, solid leadership core and strong
staff complement are in place.

Noteworthy developments over the past year include:

* Earnings proved resilient in the most demanding business enviranment yet experienced by the
business.

«  Acceptance from leading UK consultants and multi-managers came earlier than expected.

« A strong brand in the UK IFA market began to smerge, shown by market share growth.

*  The London-based investment teamn showed excellent investment performance in care propositions
(global and UK eguities, balanced and fixed income).

+  The business achieved a transition from a balanced 1o a specialist house in South Africa,

*  Perfcrmance was disappeinting against the peer group of South African balanced funds.

*  South African specialist performance was excellent.

+  The South African retail operations, now calfed Investec Personal Investments, had a successful yean

Investec Asset Management reported operating profit before amortisation of goodwill and exceptional
items of £19.5 million, which represented growth of 4.0% in Rand terms and 2 6.8% decline in Sterling
terms. Assets under management increased by 3.4% in Sterling terms to £16.8 billion but declined by
20.0% in Rand terms to R210.6 billion,
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The variance in the operating profit over the period can be explained as follows:

In Scuth Africa, the Persanal Investments division performed well, with a solid increase in retail fees
earned. This was as a result of improved fiows (approximateiy R billion/£60 million), endeorsing the
strategic direction embarked on two years ago, and an increase in funds under management
acquired from Fedsure (which was only reflected for 10 months of the 2002 financial year). Despite
a reduction in fees and commissions earned, caused by an outflow of funds from former Fedsure
clients (approximately R8 billion/£480 million), the Institutional tvestments division continued to
post a strong performance. This was as a result of performance fees earned and cost containment
initiatives.

The UK and Other International Ogerations division benefited from a reduction in expenditure
(approximately £4 million), largely due to tight cost control, a2 deciine in headcount and munimal
salary increases. Despite net inflows to the institutional and retail funds, weak equity market
cenditions impacted on overail revenue, “Deal fees” (once-off fees) were the most significantly
affected, with retail once-off fees deciining due to lower initial fees, while several once-off
transactions from the prior vear {for example, restructuring costs and investment irust initial
commission on a new trust) were not repeated in 2003,

Funds under management - £16.8 billion

Business type Geographic (sourced) Asset class
Retail: 76% South Africa: 55% Hedge funds: 0.8%
Institutional: 74% UK & Other: 45% Equity: 38.4%

Fixed income and cash; 60.8%
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£ miflions

FUM 31 March 2002

Net client gains/losses
New clients and funds
Disinvestments and funds closed
Existing cient movements

Market/Forex movement

FUM 31 March 2003

% of total FUM

Movements in funds under management (FUM)

Total Institutional  Retail SA UK and Gther
16 268 11 943 4325 8 14| 827
{373} 656} 283 (4143 41

| 883 1 672 211 715 | 148

{1 871 (1 862) 9) 757) (114

(385) (466) 81 (372) (13

933 119l (258) | 574 (643)

16 828 i2478 4350 9303 7525
4% 26% 55% 45%

R F3% due o structural outflows from the Assurance book

Developments

Key business developments over the past vear are outlined below,

South African Institutional Investments

Investec Asset Management services the Scuth African institutional market and is one of the two largest
managers of segregated institutional mandates in South Africa. Products include balanced as well as
specialist mandates, defined by asset class or risk objective.

«  The business made a successful transition from balanced o specialist manager. providing expertise in

the listed equity and fixed income market.

»  Despite a largely market-induced decline in funds under management over the last year, South
African assets {excluding those acguired from Fedsure) have doubled since internationalisation

(1998,

+ Baianced portfoiios did not perform in line with historic standards.
*  There were significant mandate wins in the specialist equity area,

+  The Tiso Private Equity Fund was launched successfully in a ioint venture with Tiso Capital.

* International assets showed excellent relative performance,

»  Overzall performance during the year was sound, with more than 75% of the specialist funds in both
asset weighted and number of portfolio terms outperforming their benchmarks.
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South African Personal Investments

Investec Asset Management is a leading player in the South African unit trust and portfslio product

industry. The businass has a dominant retail market positioning, with an | 1% unit trust and a 22%

portfolic product market share,

Following the integration of the Fedsure businesses acquired, the division repositioned itself under
the brand lnvestec Personal Investments, to reflect its focus on investment rather than
administration. This external focus proved to be extremely beneficial, with a 30% increase in sales
market share.
Retail fund performance was excetent, and several awards were won, both for individual funds and
the entire range:
Standard & Poor's award for the Best Larger Group Over Five Years for the third consecutive
yean
investec Asset Management remained in the top three in the Plexus Survey of fund famifies.
Investec Asset Management was first in the Plexus Survey for offshore fund safes in South Africa,
Close co-operation with the institutiona division will release efficiencies and create opportunities in
the long term.
The divisicn remains vulnerable 1o a continuation of the current equity bear market,

Investec Asset Management in the South African unit trust industry

31 March 2001 3| March 2002 31| March 2003
Investec Asset Management funds

under manragement (R millions) 13394 19 965 18 484
Total industry size {R millions} 124 337 176 338 174 075
Market share (%) 1% I1% 1%
Size ranking in indostry 3rd out of 29 2nd out of 29 4th out of 29
Industry gross sales (R millions) 14 197 130 939 142 793
Investec Assel Management %

of gross industry sales 16% 10% 3%

All figyres inciude Money Funds but exclude Fund of Funds
Source: Association of Unit Trusts
Industry sales for the twelve-month periods

Investec Asset Management in the South African portfolio product industry

31 March 2001 31 March 2002 31 March 2003
investec Asset Management funds

under management (R miilions) 10 593 19 313 15 732
Total industry size (R miliions) 58 125 77 024 72 337
Market share (%) 18% 25% 22%
Industry gross sales (R millions) 18 524 19 864 23736
Investec Asset Management % of

gross industry sales 21% 18% 25%

All figures inciude Money Funds but exclude Fund of Funds
Source: Linked Investments Service Providers Associgtion
Industry sales for the twelve-month periods
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UK Institutional

Investec Asset Management provides portfolio management services to its UK client ase, and has a

leading position in the UK public sector Sterling fixed income market The division manages balanced,

fixed income and equity portfolios. Global balanced and global equity funds are aiso offered to its South

African client base.

Ower the past year, the division made significant progress in estabiishing its position in the UK

institutional market:

- It raised over £950 million in new assets and penetrated the “buy” Iists of several major
investmient consuftants.

- Investec Asset Management won several landmark mandates, including its first consullant driven
pension fund and multi-manager mandates, and gained a foothold in the defined contribution
pension market.

This satisfactory market entry was achieved much earlier than expactad.
The division's growing market presence and invesiment performance were recognised with 2 number
of award nominations, This Hist includes runner up for Glebal investor's One to Watch for 2003,

UK Reraif (including European sales)

The division offers a comprehensive portfolio of own and externally managed OFEICs to the upper end

of the cnshore UK funds market.

It continued to grow market share despite the global bear market in equities ang pressure on
intermediaries, its primary distribution channei.

The division increased funds under management with the acquisition of £30 million of funds from
Hargreaves Lansdown, a large intermediary.

There were gross sales of £315 million into the division’s onshare range {a 29% increase on 2002).
Investec Asset Management achieved recognition on several fronts, featuring strongly in a large
industry survey of independent financial adviser buying patterns, It was also awarded for investment
performance, service and its leading web site,
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Investec Asset Management in the UK retail fund industry

31 March 2001 31 March 20602 31 March 2003
Invesiec Asset Management funds

under maragement (£ millions) 519 649 666

Total industry size (£ millions) 244 394 242 281 188 267

Size ranking in industry 74tk out 62nd out 58th out
of 151 of 136 of 129

Industry net retail sales (£ millions}) 15 750 8 206 6 842

Investec Asset Management % of net

industry sales 0.8% 2.2% 2.7%

Industry gross retait sales {£ millions) 34 151 27 475 26 839

Investec Asset Management % of gross

industry sales 0.5% 0.9% 1.2%

Source: investrnent Management Association
Industry sales for the twelve-month periods

Ofishore funds

Investec Asset Management's offshore fund ranges are domiciled in Guernsey and Dublin, These funds

are distributed in Investec’s two core markets, South Africa and UK, as well as via select channels inte

the offshore territories of Asig, Eurcpe and the US.

*  The porifolio of funds won numerous awards fast yearn, including Best Offshore Group at the Standard
& Poor's Offshore Fund Awards.

Asia and US

* The marketing and sales of Investec Asset Management’s offshore funds continued to mzke progress,
despite difficult equity markets and Hong Kong's weak mutual fund market that necessitated the
ctosure of the division's Asia-based invesiment team.

+  Over the financial year, market share of fund sales in Hong Kong increased by 80% to 2.8%.

*  As part of the effort to establish a Greater China sales platform, a small saies office was apened in
Taiwan, where the initial sales experience bodes well for the future,

= Qver the past year, the US division was reorganised 1o meet its objectives and, as & conseguence,
the small, sub-scale, no-load mutual fund family was dispesed of.
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International retaif fund performance
Quartite Rank

Te 31 March 2003 One year Two years  Three years  Five years
Global Equity Funds

IAF Global Growth Fund I'st Ist Ist nd
GSF Global Equity Fund fst Ist I st Znd

UK Equity Funds

GSF UK Equity Fund Pst | st Ist 2nd
UK Blue Chip Fund Ist I st Ist Ist
UK Smaller Companies Fund Ist Est I'st Ist
UK Oppertunities Fund lst ist Ist Znd
UK Value Fund Ist Ist st Ist

Balanced Funds

IAF Global Balanced Fund I'st | st st Ist
GSF Global Balanced Fund I'st [st ist ist
UK Cautious Managed Fund 2nd Ist I'st Ist

Global Bend Funds

IAF Global Bongd Fund ist I'st Ist Ist

GSF Global Bond Fund Ist Ist 2nd Znd

5t Glebal Bond Fund ist fst Ist 2nd
Outlook

The same core management team that built the business from scratch in South Africa is still at the helm,
strengthened over the years by additional highly 1alented people who share the same vision. Despite
difficult markets, experience and management stability engble Investec Asset Management 1o retain its
focus on real issues, namely investment performance, client retention and sales. The division's leading
position in South Africa provides a strong base from which to engage competitors demestically and
internationally.

The company bought, and decisively turned around, a Ui-based business amid one of the most testing
bear markets in the last cenwry. Since the acquisition of Guinness Flight in 1999, Investec Asset
Management has focused on the UK as a large, second domestic market. In order tc achieve this,
Investec Asset Management has assembled and retained world-class equity and fixed income skilis and
has focused the business on a relatively small number of core investment propositions. Today, Investec




114 Annuat Report 2003

Asset Management is endorsed by the industry's most prestigious distributors and continues to deliver

outstanding investment performance.

tnvestec Asset Management's jong-term orientation, the determination to win and ability to retain key
peopie, have historically set it apart from the competition, For 12 years, management has been building
an asset management success story It was never plain sailing. but these conditions are the most
challenging yet. Tha | 3th year will be tough, but if management remains focused on #ts clearly articulated
objectives, the foundation for the next growth phase of Investec Asset Management will have been laid.

assurance activities

Head of Assurance Activities

Ciaran Whelan
Overview of performance and key business developments

The group's Scuth Afiican life assurance activities, conducted by Investec Employee Benefits (1EB)
reported cperating profit before exceptional items and amortisation of goodwilt of £27.8 million, a
decline of 10.6%.

Operational earnings increased significantly from £i5.5 million to £51.7 million, These results were
positively influenced by further restructuring of the business and its investment portfolios, particularly in
the first half of the financial year. However, since embedded value accounting has been implemented, the
net movement in the value of in-force business is accounted for in the profit and foss account, with the
result that the current year's operationa! earnings were offset by a negative adjustment of £23.9 miliion,
compared to a pesitive movement of £15.6 million in the prior year,

Towards the end of the financial year the group concluded a deaf with Liberty Group Limited (Liberty)
whereby certain of the liabilities of the retirement fund administration business and the existing
disability claimants business were reinsured with Liberty with effect from 21 March 2003 {the deal is
stilf subject to approval by the Competition Commission). As a result of the aciuarial reassessment of
policyholder liabilities and the value of the in-force business at the year end, the effect of the deal with
Liberty was to generate a prefit of approximately £11 million, included in the operaticnal earnings
menticned above, offset by a reduction in the value of in-force business of approximately £7 miflion.

The rationale behind this transaction was to:

» Reduce Invested's exposure to administration intensive businesses, which require significant
infrastructure and ongoing investment: and

+  Transfer liabilities of approximately £290 million to Liberty.

Post the implementation of the transaction 1EB will mainly comprise;
+ A Risk Only division.
= An Investment Only division.
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The Risk Only division provides death and disabiiity benefits on a standzione basis where another
company is responsible for the member administration. The management of disability claims and the

provision of various disability and underwriting services is also offered.

it is 1EB's intention to aggressively grow this line of business and to becorne a signdficant player in this
market without the legacy of huge administration systems. Investec is confident that this line of business
witl be successfully integrated into the group as the nature of this business fits into the group's core
competencigs of risk management, The division is in the process of setting its strategy for the Risk Only
division and Is currently revising its products and operating procedures in line with client feedback,

The Investment Only division is effectively an asset management function. I1EB will continue to
manufacture appropriate nvestment and risk products to distribute to its client base.

Salient financial features for IEB

UK GAAP £060 3t March 20063 31 March 2002

The embedded value comprises:

Net tangible assets of life company inciuding surpius 273072 156 094

Reallocated to investments in associated undertakings (50 824) (34 098)

Elimination of intercorpany balances (120 833) (81 371

Value of in-force business 7113 26 489
108 538 67 1186

Income from long-term assurance business comprises

Premium income 306 110 201 734

investment inceme 13 920 93 637
Total income 320 G30 295 368

Operating expenses (21 003) (28 21 1)
Palicyholders' benefits paid {419 310) (449 183)
Decrease in technical provisions 457 68¢ 206 597
Re-insurance premium expense (277 387)

Operating profit 60 010 24 571

Tax charged to technical account (8 298) {5 055)
Surplus attributable to shareholders 51714 15516
Value of in-force business (23 935) 15 563

Income from long-term assurance business 27 779 31 079

No current taxation has been provided on the surplus attributable to shareholders due to the
availabitity of brought forward taxation losses.

Re-insurance premium expense of £277 million for the year ended 3| March 2003 (2002 Nii) relates
to the re-insurance of certain policyholder liabilities with Capital Aliiance. This is offset by an
equivalent decrease in related technical provisions.

FlS
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Salient financial features for IEB
UK GAAP 31 March 2003 31 March 2002

Assumptions

The economic assumptions are based upon a long-term
view of economic activity and are therefore not adjusted
for market movements which are considered to be short-
term. This approach is considered to be the most
appropriate given the long-term nature of the porticlic
of products and the business is located in South Africa.
The economic assumpticns are derived by adding
appropriate long-term riskfequity margins to the
benchmark giit L.e. R153 South African government bond.
The principal economic assumptions which have been
used for the pericds under review are as follows:

Risk-adiusted discount rate (%) 3.4 (6.5
Return on equities (gross of tax) (%) 2.4 {55
Return on fixed interest securities (gross of tax} (%) i0.4 135
Return on property investments (gross of tax) (%) 14 14.5
Return on cash held {gross of tax) (%) 7.4 105
Inflation rate (%) 6.4 9.5
Qualifying capital (net of inadmissible assets) {£ millions) 2765 14.6
Statutory capital adequacy requirement {CAR) {£ miilions) 236 53.6
CAR cover (times) L7 2.7

Further financial information for |EB can be found on page 267 and 268.
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group services and other activities

Includes: Central Costs, the Central Funding of Investec and Other Activities

UK GAAP €000 3§ March 2003 31 March 2002 % Change
Net interest income 14 330 15 595 (8.1%}
Net fees and commissions receivable 1084 23 253 {52.3%)
Dealing profits (3841} 15 266 >{100%)
Other operating income and dividends |4 607 2947 >100%
Provision for bad and doubtful debts (810) (2 818) 71.3%
Admin expenses and depreciation {67 357) (87 937) {23.4%)
Qperating profit* {3t 987) {33 694) 5.1%
International Trade Finance 123 2425 (53.7%)
Property Woridwide 5985 5 782 3.5%
US Clearing and Execution Activities o4 2 054 (49.3%)
UK Traded Endowments {8 94%) 2 531 >{100%)
Other Activities {795) 12792 >(100%)
Central Funding 6279 (7 356) >100%
Centrai Costs (37 4713 (39 {30 4.2%
Operating profic* (31 987) (33 694) 5.1%
South Africa and Other {28 708) (39 301) 27.0%
UK and Europe {6 658} 3 865 >{100%)
Australia 2293 {110) >100%
fsrael {2 (82) 87.6%
USA | 086 | 534 (43.8%)
Operating profit* {31 98%) (33 694) 5.1%
Number of employees i 159 | 412 (17.9%)

* Before taxation, amortisation

of goodwill and exceptional items.
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Management structure

Chief Integrating Officer
Alteri Zimbler

Corporate Governance and Compliance
Bradley Tapnack

Corporate Social Investment
Lisa Kropman

Economics Research
Carole Mason

Facitities
Craig Gunnell

Group Finance
Rayanne jacobson

Hurman Resources
Patsy McCue

information Technology
Siman Shapiro

Investor Relations
Ursula Munitich

Secretarial and Tax
Selwyn Noik and Richard Vardy
Justin Cowley and Nipan Malde

Marketing

Raymond van Niekerk

Organisational Development

Caryn Solomon

Risk Management
Glynn Burger

investec Property Group
South Africa

Sam Lecn

Sam Hackner

Ronnie Sevitz

Norbet Sasse

David Donaid

UK

Paui Stevens

ReichmansCapital
Howard Tradonsky
John Wilks

Robin |acobson

Traded Endowments
Rob Cchen
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Contribution analysis - % of group total at 31 March 2003

Operating Total
UK GAAP profit® Empioyees assets
Total group £101.4mn 4 874 £14 959mn
Group Services and Other Activities {£32.0m) 23.8% 79%

* Before taxation, amortisation of goodwill and exceptional items {exciuding the resuits of the
discontinued operations}.

Overview of performance
Greup Services and Other Activities posted an operating loss of £32.0 miliion.

The variance in the operating profit over the period can be explained as foliows:

+  Net interest income and net fees and commissions receivable were negatively impacted by the poor
performance of the US operations and the subsequent sale of the clearing and execution business
to Fiserv.

= The significant decline in dealing profits can largely be attributed to the poor performance of the
Traded Endowrments business in the UK. The business posted an operating |oss as a result of a fal]
off in business activity and bonus rates cuts announced by life insurance companies,

»  The Group Services and Other Activities division benefited from an increased return on an
investment portfolic originally acguired from investec Employee Benefits and on other long-standing
investments. These developments resulted in an increase in operating income of approximately £10
mitlion.

» Administrative expenses were positively influenced by the winding down of the US business and the
subsequent sale of the clearing and execution business to Fiserv.

Description of activities and developments
Central Costs

Centrat Costs is made up of functional areas that provide services centrally across all of the group's
business cperations. Consistent with Investec’s philosophy of operating as a single organisation, Central
Costs provide integrating mechanisms between the business operations. As thesa services dg not farm
part of the four operating divisons, their costs are generally not allocated to any of these divisions.

Investec's principal Central Costs, relating to the operations and centrol of its business, are Group Risk
Management, Group Information Technology, Group Finance, Investor Relations, Group Marketing and
Organisational Development. Other group support services include: Head Office, Internal Audit and
Compliance, Legal, Company Secretarial, Tax, Information Center; Regulatory and Facilities,

Ee
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Central costs of £37.5 million (2002; £39.1 million} are allocated as fellows:
+  South Africa - £19.3 millien {Z0CZ: £25.1 milfion}.

+ UK and Europe - £16.7 millien {2002: £14.0 miiion).

= Awustralia - £1.5 million

Group Risk Management and Corporate Governance and Compliance

These functions are discussed in detail on pages 125 to 157 and pages 158 to 184 respectively.

Group Information Technology

Investec's Group Chief information Officer is accountable for the overall development of the technology
direction of Invesiec. The role involves the co-ordination of the information technoiogy resources across
investec’s operations and ensuring that all areas of the group’s operations have the appropriate
processes and cantrols,

The varicus information technoiogy applications are electronically integrated through the central
financial and risk systems, Each division is responsible for ensuring best practice and appropriate
governance standards in the operation of each of its information technology areas. These standards,
which include business resumption and security, are monitorad and considered by Group Operational

Risk and Investec's Internal Audit divisions.

The information technology division is structured so that each area has an established information
technology capability with a Chief Information Officer who reports in a ratrix fashion to the division as
well 25 to the Group Chief Information Officer. This matrix structure is designed to ensure that the
group is agite enough to deal with the ever-changing business environment.

Developments

+ A Group informaticn Security Officer was appointed to focus on enhancing all aspects of the
security of the information assets of the group, including reviewing and upgrading the disaster
recovery and response procedures,

+  The division rolled-out a comprehensive standardised IT risk assessment model that enables it to
identify, monitor and mitigate many of the technology risks faced by the group.

+  Maior upgrades and enhancements were made in terms of the South African online banking systems,
This has included a new facility for online statements and other documents that are produced by
the group.

«  The division initiated a number of projects aimed at relocating business functions from the UK to
Scuth Africa in order to lower the cost base of the group and these are expected to deliver
significant savings in the coming vear.

Group Finance

In line with lnvestec’s abjective to provide its stakeholders with meaningful and accurate information on
which to base their investment decisions, Group Finance, working clesely with Investor Relations, aims
primarily 1o ensure that Investec operates in accordance with the highest standards of financial
reporting discipline and control, This includes comgliance with international best practice for accounting
palicies, disclosure and adherence to applicable statutory requirements,

The division operates through a combination of local and central management. Each of the four
operating divisions and geographic businesses has its own finance function. These functions interlink and
are responsible for monitoring compliance with statutory, regufatory and management reporting
standards. Groun Finance overiays these divisional and regional funztions. It is ultimately responsible for
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defining, reviewing and anatysing all financial information prepared by the divisional and geographic
functions, the consolidation of group-wide information, the management and reporting of group capital,
the setting of disclosure standards and the dissemination of financial information to internal
management and forums for onward submission by Investor Relations.

In addition, Group Finance is responsibie for the control and integrity of the finance operating systems
worldwide to ensure that all financially related information s provided in the most effective, automated

and consistent mannen

Investor Relations

Invester Relations is responsible for ensuring appropriate communication with stakeholders, Regular
contact is maintained with domestic and international institutional sharehalders, fund and asset
managers, analysts and rating agendcies through a comprehensive investor relations prograrmme. This
includes meetings with executive management, investor road shows, presentations to the investment
community, communication by emall, regular telephone conferences and liaison with orivate shareholders
in response to their enquiries.

Investor Relations regularly reports back to the operating divisions. the group executive and the board
on various matters or concerns raised by stakeholders, Furthermore, the division maintains a
comprehensive investor relations web-site, which ensures that ali stakeholders readily have access to
historical and current information, including credit ratings, financial results and share price information.

Group Marketing

Building the Investec brand is the primary function of Group Marketing which has members in the two
main operating areas of the group, that is, johannesburg and London. The division takes responsibility for
group advertising, sponsorship, events and promotions, publicity, e-branding, brand management and
marketing strategy. Well-defined brand controls cover all branded matenial, such as printed collateral,
advertising, events, e-commerce, signage and interior design. In addition, the group marketing staff
provide strategic and tactical marketing services to the varicus business units who in some cases also
have divisional marketing operatives.

Investec has a monolithic brand architecture and is focused on building equity in the primary brand over
the long term. This Investec brand is positicned as Qut of the Ordinary, which is a reflection of the
personality and seif-image of the organisation. Elements included in this Investec psyche are: passion,
performance, focus and creativity. This positioning is communicated threugh alf the brand and
communication elements and also serves as the requisite standard of performance for the organisation.

Investec advertising makes use of a zebra icon as a visual tool fo get immediate recognition and stand
out from competition in the cluttered world of marketing communication. The style utiliised Is different
frem the more wraditional financial communication styles associsted with the majority of our direct
competition. The Zebra carnpaign runs in the UK, South Africz and Australia, with more limited exposure
in trefand, Mauritius, Hong Kong and the US.

Human Resources

As the key enabler of human capital, the Human Rescurces division is positioned to facilitate superior
business performance through the provision of innovative initiatives designed to maximise the groub's
internai rescurces and capabilities.
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From a globa! perspective. the Human Resources division is operationaily aligned through the South
African and UK operations, Local and global human rescurces forums, comprising human resources
professionals and representatives from the business units, convene regularly to ensure the development
of human resources best practice and the alignment of human resources strategy with business strategy.

While the approach in aligning human resources and business strategy remains flexible in order to

accommodate the geography and business focus of the respective divisions, on a global level the Human

Resources division operates through four core areas of activity:

+  Recruitment, focusing on equal opportunity employment.

+  Compensation and benefits, emphasising employee needs.

*  The staff share schemes, based on a philosophy of material employee ownership,

+  Employee relations, focusing on achieving a balance between efficient operation of the business and
fair employment practice.

Human Resources works for the well being and deveiopment of employees, so helping to ensure that
the group's human resources remain a core competitive advantage,

Organisational Development

Organisational Development comprises a global team of specialists that provide independent support
and consuftancy for management. A key aim is to assist Investec to achieve its strategic objectives by
marnaging transformation as an ongoing, consultative process, rather than as a planned event. The facus
is on facilitating processes that ensure learning, sustainability and the capacity to thrive. Organisational
Development is committed to the creation of an entrepreneurial, collegiate environment in which
people are encouraged to engage in open dialogue and debate in the interesis of achieving
extraordinary performance.

Organisational Development focuses on:

*  Ongoing diagnosis of factors influencing organisational effectiveness.

+  Designing and implementing processes to address factors inhibiting organisational performance.

»  Facilitating strategy as a process, not a plan, and ensuring its assisting with implementation of
strategic objectives through ongoing consultation and facilitation of customised processes with all
business units.

»  Building awareness of "cuitural risk” and facilitating the understanding and practice of Investec's
values, philosophies and culture.

* Facilitating effective working relationships between individuals and teams across businass units,
product areas and geographies.

+ Faciiitating processes to integrate organisations and teams which are acguired.

+  Developing leaders,

» Faciiitating processes to enable teams to work together locally and across borders.

+ Managing organisational change in a way that is strategicaily aligned and culturally appropriate.

Central Funding

investec has a business model of maintaining 2 central pool of capitzl, to ensure that economies of scale
for corporate investments, funding and overall management are obtained.

investec employs various sources of funding, the determination of which depends on the specific
financial and strategic requirements it faces at that time. The funds raised are applied towards making
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acquisitions, funding central services and debt obligations, and purchasing corporate assets and
investments not allocated to the four operating divisions,

investec’s Capital Commitiee manages the group’s central capital pool in order to assist in effective
capital management governance. Further information on the Capital Committee is provided on page 53.

Overview of performance

The Central Funding division achieved a significant improverment in its performance, posting operating

profit before amortisation of goodwill and exceptional items of £6.3 million. The division benefited from

effective capital management facilitated through the group's restructure, as well as increased returns on

shareholders' funds within Investec Employee Benefits {IEB), whose earnings were included for a full year

in the current period as opposed 10 ten months in the prior period. The vear on year increase in

operating profit before amortisation of goodwill and exceptional items of £13.6 millicn can iargely be

explained as foliows:

+  Ingrease in margin income earned on the IEB shareholders’ portfolio (+ £5 million).

«  Profit on unwinding of interest rate instruments recognised in 2002 not repeated in 2003 (- £4 million).

+  Mark-to-market losses on the shareholders’ porifolic in the UK {- £1.8 million).

*+ increase in return on an invesiment portfolio originally acquired from Investec Employee Benefits
and on other long-standing investments {+ £10 million).

Other Activities

Other Activities comprise two types of operatians:

*  Those that are better managed separately due to the specific expertise that would be diluted if
incorporated and spit across the business operations.

*  Those that do not yet fall into one of Investec’s four principal business divisions and have been grown
organicaily by Investec or retained following acquisition due to their profitability and diversifying
effect on the group's income streams. These operations inciude Property Worldwide {in South Africa
and the UK}, International Trade Finance and Investec’s UK Traded Endowments business.

Property Division

The services provided by the property division in South Africa include managemaent of property
investment funds (listed and unliisted), oroperty trading and development, groperty administration and
listed property portfclio management. In South Africa, assets under administration have grown to
approximately R8.7 billion by the financial year end, an increase of 18%, making the division one of the
largest property managers in South Africa.

The property division in the UK manages a portfolio of commercial properties inherited from the
acquisition of Berkeley Hambro in 1998, As at 31 March 2003, the UK progerty portlolio had a book
vale of £29.6 million.

Developments
The world-wide property divisions continued to perform well posting an operating profit before
amortisation of goodwilt and exceptional items of £6.0 million (2002: £5.8 miliion).

South Africa
+ The division has two [SE listed Property Loan Stocks under its management and it is now the
second largest manager of listed property vehicles in the South African market. Metprol and
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Growthpoint have a combined market capitalisation of approximately R2.4 billion comprising 13.68%
% of the combined Property Loan Stock and Property Unit Trust sectors of the JSE,

*  The Property Trading and Development division continued 1o perform well and successiully
penetrated the market in developing properties and on-selling into the investment market for capital
profit in its chosen niches of retail, industrial and commercial property. It has also successfully moved
into residential fand conversion coinciding with the growth in that market.

+  The listed Property Asset Management division was established during the year through the strategic
acquisition of Provest, one of South Africa’s best recognised portfolic asset managers of listed
property, servicing both institutional and private clients,

+  The Property division is weli positioned 10 continue to penetrate the market, The pasitive sentiment
surrounding South African property, driven by 2 falling interest rate environment and the current
sitractive returns relative to other asset classes, provides many opportunities for the division,

UK

*  The property investment market remained buoyant driven by the low inferast rate environment and
poor performance of other asset classes.

+ The division consolidated its position on existing projects in an environment of weaker tenant
demand.

= The property division is increasingly involved in the mezzanine finance for the commercial property
lending of the Private Bank,

international Trade Finance

Investec acquired its International Trade Finance business, ReichmansCapital, in South Africa in 1990.The
division’s clients are small to medium sized owner managed businesses. The division offers trade, asset
and debtor finance to provide clients with working capital, funding for the acquisition of assets and te
faciiitate growth.

Developments

*  Operating profit before amortisation and goodwill of £1.1 miilion (2002:£2.4 million).

* Reasonable performance from ReichmansCapital with solid growth in the division's book, despite the
strengthening of the Rand during the pariod,

«  The division focused on organic growth and exploiting opportunities in existing target markets.

Traded Endowments

Investec's traded endowments business, which operates in the UK, was zcquired in June 200 as part of
the acquisition from Fedsure. This business involves the purchase of with-profit endowment policies in
the secondary market at a price above their surrender value vet below the asset value, These policies
are then sold to investors who want to diversify their investment portfolios with an insurance product.
Most of Investec's traded endowments clients are UK-based independent financial advisors and a limited
number of funds.

Developments

*  The business posted an operating ioss of £8.9 million as a resull of a fall off in business activity and
bonus rates cuts announced by Iife insurance companies.

*  The business was significantly rationalised with headcount being reduced from 138 to 38,
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Management structure

Global Head of Risk
Glynn Burger

Australia
Alan Chonowitz

Israel
David Catz

USA
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Southern Africa
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UK and Europe
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Intreduction

investec recognises that risk management is critical to its operations and, therefore, continuously seeks
16 comply with international best practice. The group has an extensive risk management process in
place, to identify, understand and manage the risks associated with its business.

investec monitors and controls s risk exposure through 2 variety of separate but complemantary
market, credit, liguidity, operational and legal risk reporting systems. In this way. Investec aims to ensure
that it assumes a tolerable risk and reward profile in its pursuft of growth in all its business areas.

13

Furthermore, Investec continues to embed a culiure of risk awareness, contrel and compliance in

day-to-day activities.

While each businegs unit is primarily responsible for managing risks associated with its business, a
centralised division, Group Risk Management (which forms part of Group Services), independently
monitors, controls and reports on Investec's risk, as mandated by the Beard of Directors. Group Risk
Management has well-deveioped oparational divisions in South Africa and the UK, as weil as smaller risk
divisions in other geographies,

The primary objectives of Group Risk Management are:

+  To be the custodian of Investec's risk management culture.

» To set or approve risk parameters and limits across the group and seek to ensure that these are
consistently implemented and adherad to.

+  To aggregate and monitor Investec's exposures across risk ¢lasses.

*  To co-ordinate risk management activities across the crganisation, covering ail legal entities and
jurisdictions.

*  To give the boards reasonable assurance that the risks to which Investec is exposed are identified
and, to the extent possible, managed and controlled.

+  To facilitate various risk committees as mandated by the Board of Directors.

Group Risk Management operates within 2 matrix structure, in line with Investec’s managernent
approach, 10 ensure that afl risks acress the group are dealt with using the appropriate processes,
Investec seeks to ensure that Group Risk Managerment divisions which have international responsibility,
are locally responsive yet giobaily aware. The objective is that all initiatives and businesses operate
within lnvestec's defined risk parameters and objectives,

Group Risk Management has grown into a function that aims to meet the international needs of Investec
and has continually focused on improving fts risk management techniques, Over the past few years, a
process of enhancing risk management information and implementing conselidated risk management
reporting has been in progress. This is most evident from a UK and South African perspective. The
effectiveness of any bank’s policies and procedures for managing risk. however, can never be completely

or accurately predicted or fully assured,
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Risk management framework

Investec Limited and Investec plc — Board of Directors
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Risk management committees and forums

investec has established various committees and forums to identify and manage risk at both a business unit fevel
in various locations and at a group level, as shown in the diagram and described more fully below, These

committees and forums operate togetner with Grous Risk Management.

Investec Limited and Investec pic — Board of Directors

Y

Board Risk Review

Y Committee
Group Audit and *
Audit Sub-Committees Y
Group Market Executive Risk Group Deal
Risk Forum Review Forum Forum
Y Y Y Y
Group ALCO Group Credit Country Risk
Committee Committee Forum
Committees Function

Board Risk Review Committee

Members: executive and nop-executive directors;
sernior management

Chairman: Stephen Koseff (CEQ}

Frequency: monthly

Executive Risk Review Forum
Members: executive directors end senior
management

Chairmen; Stephen Koseff {CEO}
Frequency: weekly

The Board Risk Review Commitiee acts as an agent
of the board to ensure that all decisions of the
board on risk management poiicies and procedures
are implemented and monitored throughout
Investec, it alsc ensures that the risk management
structure is adequate with sufficient rescurces and
budget and will report exceptions to the board. It
also ratifies exposure imits for market and credit
risk. In addition, the committee ensures that there is
an ongoing process of risk and control identification,
particularly regarding changes to business objectives
and the bases of measuring risk.

The forum generally meets weekly to review and
evaluate the most significant risks investec faces in
the ordinary course of business (credit, market,
fiquidity, operational, legal and reputational). It
ensures that imits are adhered to and agreed
recommendations to mitigate risks are
implernented, it receives a weekly recort from
Group Risk Management to assist it in the review
and recormendation process.




Committees

Group Credit Committee

Members: executive and non-executive directors;
senior management

Chairman: Glynn Burger {(Global Head of Risk)
Frequency: weekly

Country Risk Forum

Members: executive and non-executive directors;
senior manaegement

Chairman: Glynr Burger (Global Head of Risk)
frequency: ad hoc

Group Market Risk Forum

Members: Globaf headfs of risk, market risk and
the trading desks; senior maragement, members
of the market risk teams; othier members of
Group Risk Management

Chairman: Giynn Burger (Global Head of Risk}
Frequency: monthly or ad hoc if required

Group Asset and Liability Committee
Members: executive and non-executive directors;
senior management; financial officers; Glebal
Treasurer; Global Head of Asset Liabifity
Management

Chairman: Giyan Burger (Global Head of Risk)
Frequiency: monthly or ad hoc if required

Group Deal Forum

Members: executive and nom-executive directors;
senior management

Chairman: Giynn Burger (Global Head of Risk)
Frequency: weekiy

Group Audit and Audit Sub-Committees
Members: executive and non-executive directors;
senior management; external auditors
Chairman; Donn Jowell (non-executive director)
Frequency: at least six times per year
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Function

This committee considers and epproves the
granting of credit to counterparties in excess of the
mandates granted to divisional and other credit
forums on a global basis. Specifically, the committee
sets Investec's maximum counterparty exposures,

This forum considers and manages risks asscciated
with the countries in which Investec assumes
exposure, New countries are reviewed as and when
required.

This forum manages market risk by identifying and
quantifying risks, on the basis of current and future
expectations and ensuring that trading occurs
within defined parameters,

The committee sets and reviews Investec’s funding
and liquidity framework and policies and ensures
compliance with these. It also mandates the regional
Asset and Liability Cornmitiees to manage liquidity
risk in line with Investec’s parameters.

This forum considers, approves and mitigates the
risks inherent in any acquisition, disposal or other
non-standard transaction that investec is
considering,

The duties and responsibilities of the Audit
Committee are described on page {71 and 172.In
addition, the Internal Audit, Compliance and
Operational Risk departmenits report 1o the Audit
Committees.
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Board level risk management information

The executive and non-executive directors are widely represented on the various risk management
committees and forums of the group {see above). Directors’ involvement in these committees and
forums is indicative of a "hands an” style, which facilitates a detailed understanding of the day-to-day
activities of Investec.

Detailed risk information is provided to the Board of Directors both in South Africa and the UK.

Reports from management 1o the board provide a balanced assessment of significant risks and the

effectiveness of the risk managerment procedures and systems in managing these risks. The risk

management reporis generally include:

* Balance sheet management review, including the group’s liquidity position. The analysis is presented
by region and inciudes a high levei summary and detailed supporting scheduies.

»  Maiket risk review, inciuding a desk by desk analysis of the positions on book, vaiue at risk and
expected tail lasses,

¢ Credit exposura reports, including large exposures, level of arrears, sector analysis, draw downs,
provisions and recoveries,

+  New credit faciiities approved during the period.

«  Property investments, corporate finance information (underwriting commitments) and group
investments.

*  QOperationai risk information.

Assessment of risks, policies and procedures

In the ordinary course of business operations, Investec is exposed to a number of risks, including credit,
market, asset and fiability management, operational, fegal and reguiational risk. The process set up to
measure, monitor and mitigate these risks is described below.

Credit risk

The Credit Risk team of Group Risk Management, supervised by the Group Credit Commitiee,
measures and manages the extension of credit.

Credit risk represents the loss Investec might incur if a counterparty or issuer of securities or other
instruments Invesiec holds fails to perform its contractual ebligations to Investec, Credit and
counterparty risk is incurred both in the traditional areas of banking and by virtue of Investec’s trading
activities.

Credit philosophy, policy and process

Consistent adherence to the group’s credit philosophy and credit policies seeks to ensure the integrity
of the lcan book, The policies are designed to combine best practice methodoicgies with practical
ground level management techniques. The fundamental principles Investec uses to manage ¢redit risk

inchude:
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= A clear definition of the group's target market.

* A guantitztive and quaiitative assessment of the creditworthiness of the group’s counterpartias,
*  Appropriate credit granting criteria.

* An analysis of all related risks, including concentration.

= Prudential limits,

*  Regular menitoring of existing and potential exposures once facilities have been approved.

* A high level of executive and nan-executive involvement (n decision-making and review.

The credit process operates as foliows:

+  The credit process has been approved by the board.

*  The credit philesophy and policies are developed and guided centrally by Group Risk Management in
co-operation with Investec's executive directors and operational management.

+  The process is deceniralised (within prescribed limits) throughout the regions in which the group
operates.

*  The central and regional credit forums have been established with predetermined authority levels
and quorums for conducting business.

+ Al credit decisions are forum based.

*  Members of the forums are nominated credit officers, drawn from senior management, executive
and non-executive directors, and are independent of those extending credit. Sector and industry
specialists are included where appropriate,

» Facilities, irrespective of size, are extended on the basis of consensus. No facilities are established on
the judgement of only one credit officen

«  Qutcomes are based on unanimous, and not majority, views,

+  All facilities are assessed on the basis of formal written proposals.

¢ Although external assessments may be used as credit toois, ali credit decisions are based on
investec's awn credit process and analysis.

*  Limits are set per counterparty and groups of connected countercarties, with reference fo
aggregate exposure, taking into account different types of exposure both in the banking and wading
book, and on and off the balanca sheet The limits set are detaiied by product. with 2 maximum
tenor specified.

= Limits are reviewed at least annually.

In addition to the Group Credit Committee, the following specialist forums have been established to

assist in measuring and monitoring credit riske

+ Intensive Care Committee, which manages assets at risk.

*  Watch List Committee, which oversees and manages exposures in arrears that require additional
attention and supervision.

*  Country Risk Forum, which considers and manages risk associated with the countries in which

Investac assumes exposure.

Measuring and monitoring credit risk

For banking products (such as lozns), the calculation of credit exposure is clear. The amount that the
organisation can potentially lose is the net amount of money that has been lent to the counterparty
plus any accrued interest, net of security at market value. For treasury products, this calculation is more
difficuit. investec has to consider both what it stands to lose sheuld the counterparty default at
inception of the trade, plus any changes in this amount as it moves through time towards the ultimate
maturity of the deal or financial instrument.
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The group uses the key principies of equivalent lending risk {ELR) to monitor and measure credit
exgosures. ELR is a term specific to investec and is defined in-house as:

“An attempt to translate the credit risk on treasury preducts inte
banking product equivalent terms i.e. what sizelvalue loan has
the same credit risk as the treasury product being evaluated.”

There are two components to the calculation of ELR, namely, current cumulative rark-to-market and
potential future credit exposure {PFE}, Investec incorporates a measure of PFE because the credit
exposure of treasury products is strongly correlated to the volatility of the relevant market factors.
Since it is difficult in many instances to reduce credit exposure once it has been incurred, it is necessary
to adjust the exposure at inception of the deal to take into account potential future movements in
amounts owed by counterparties as a result of market movements.

The philosophy behind the ELR methodology is that investec will use both historical data and future
expeciations to determine the expected ruling market price for the product under review, both at
rmaturity and over the life of the product.

Improving techniques to measure and monitor credit risk

The group's Credit Risk team has considerably enhanced its methods for measuring and monitoring
credit risk, at both a2 product and portfolio jevel, across the group. RICOS, a global credit risk
management system from Algorithmics, has been implemented over the last four years in South Africa.
Other system related developments include the implementation of a new credit administration system
(iCAS). This is a global intranet-based application that has been developed to manage preparation,
appraval and compliance with specific conditions during the credit proposal administration process.

A primary objective of the analytics and methodology area of credit risk has been to develop an
internat credit risk model. An internal credit scoring/rating model has been implemeniad for corporates
in South Africa. In addition, the group has incorporated the Credit Monitor Model from the KMV
Corporaticn, a default prebability model, in order to assess credit risk exposures under stressfui
conditions. Through a combination of information from Credit Monitor and RICOS, the Credit Risk team
is able to calcuiate individual risk values, for example, expected loss values per transaction per
counterparty. To provide aggregate risk measures on a portfolio basis, the group has aiso purchased
Portfolic Manager from the KMV Corperation, This software provides the supplementary information
such as macro-economic variables, default correlation data and sovereign related guantities that are
required To measure credit risk on a portfelio basis, The software also provides a mechanism that can
be used to determine the economic capital requirements of the bank and the resulting capital zllccation
framework to be used for risk-adjusted pricing and other sirategic purposes.

Additional work is being undertaken on an internal credit rating mode! to ensure the most efficient use
of regulatory capital under the New Basel Capital Accord (Basel I} proposals. Further information is
provided on page |52,
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Credit risk classification system and provisioning policy

investec's board approved policy incorporates the fobowing:

An exposure is ciassified as non-performing when there s a prospect of non-recovery of interest or
capital or it is deemed imprudent t¢ bring interest 1o account. This definition is in accordance with
regulatory requirements.
Expasures in arrears are continuaily scrutinised. Based on this scrutiny, if it becomes evident that the
account requires additional supervision and attention, it will be inciuded in the managed book and
faii under the Watchlist Committee, comprising members of the Group Credit Committee and the
Credit Risk team. Uniess there are reasonable prospects of recovering interest and capital in fuli, the
accounts are classified as non-performing, Each individual exposure that is in arrears is assessed on
its merits and classified accordingly.
The Watchlist Commitiee assesses perceived and/or actual detericration in a counterparty's credit
risk profile. The “watchlist” is managed and maonitored on an ongoing basis, with review by the
relevant board(s) and the Board Risk Review Committee,
Interest is charged on non-performing accounts. The corresponding amount is not brought to
income but credited 1o a suspended interest provision.
A specific bad debt pirovision is made when there is a probability that Investec will not be able to
collect the full amount of capital and interest due.
The amount of the provision is determined after taking into account:
- The value of the asset or other coilateral securing the debt.
The vaiue of cther assets owned by the debtor after considering secured and unsecured
liabilities.
- The value of any sureties or guarantees given for the debt.
- The amount, i any, already raised as a provision for suspendad interest.
General provisions augment specific provisions and provide cover for feans which are impaired at
the balance sheet date but which will not be identified as such unti! some time in the future.
- The group's general provision has been determined taking into account the structure and the
risk characteristics of the group’s loan portfolio.
A number of complex and changing factors are collectively weighed by management in determining
the adequacy of provisions. These factors include management’s view of the extent of existing risks
in the lean portfolio and prevailing economic conditions.

Quality of the group’s ioan portfolio and provision levels

Some of the more pertinent detalls on the quality of the group's loan porticlic are shown on

subsequent pages.
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Loans and advances to customers Loans and advances to customers
by loan type: 31 March 2003 by geography: 31 March 2003
Corporate and public sector 44.8%
Commercial property 24.3% South Africa and Other 54.3%
Residential mortgages 12.4% UK and Europe 37.3%
Other secured private bank lending  10.9% Australia 3.6%
Lease and instalment debtors 3.9% Israet 4.8%
Other loans and advances 38%
Total provisions by geography: Gross non-performing loans by geography:
31 March 2003 3§ March 2003
South Africa and Other 60.1% Sauth Africa and Other  49.9%
UK and Eurcpe 26.3% UK and Europe 28.4%
Aaustralia 3.3% Austratia 8.2%

Israel 10.3% Israel 13.5%
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Asset quality, specific and general provisions

UK GAAP £000 31 March 2003 3! March 2002
Total loans and advances to customers 4981 210 4 844 707
Less : cash equivalent debtors 975 238 1 530 257
Core loans and advances to customers 4005 972 3314 450
Managed book™ {107 481} (73 587}
Net loans and advances to customers 3 898 491 3 240 863
Average net loans and advances 1o customers 3569677 3306 779
Consolidated profit and loss provision charge 18308 |4 568
Specific provisions 308i3 27 252
General provisions 52171 36 975
Total provisions 82 984 64 227
Gross non-performing loans® 60 677 38 24
Security (36 132} (ri 821y
Net non-performing loans 24 545 26 303

Adequacy of provisions

Consolidated profit and loss provision charge as a % of average loans

and advances to customers 0.50% 0.44%
Specific provisions as a % of core loans and advances to cusicmers 0.77% 0.82%
General provisions as a % of net loans and advances to customers 1.33% 1.14%
Total provisions as a % of core loans and advances t¢ customers 2.07% | .94%
Totat provisions as a % of gross non-performing loans 136.76% H68.47%
Tetal provisions as 2 % of net non-performing ioans 338.10% 744.1 1%
Gross non-performing loans as a % of core loans and advances to customers 1.52% F.15%

* As defined on page 133

The table below presents the group’s foans and advances to customers by lozn type:

UK GAAP £000 3§ March 2003 3| March 2002

Category analysis

Corporate and public sector 2233061 2714679
Commercial property | 203 448 870 443
Residential mortgages 618 020 447 822
ther secured private bank lending 541 362 425 G04
Lease and instalment debtors 194 946 158 619
Other loans and advances 190 373 77291
Margin lending - I50 850
4981 2i0 4 844 708

Problem country exposure
Total advances to problem countries 42 493 53516

Problem country risk provisions - -

The advances are secured by |00% pledge over the assets with additional risk cover in the form of Credit
Guarantee Insurance Corporation (CGIC) commercial CGIC political cover and cash collateral,
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The table below sets out certain information on the non-performing loans (NPL's} by geography as at

31 March 2003,

UK GAAP £000 Gross NPUs Security Net NPLs
Sauth Africa and Other 30 266 9 980 20 286
UK and Earope 17 223 13 638 3587
Australia 4 996 6 208 {1 212)
Israef 8197 % 308 | BE4
Non-performing loans &0 677 36 132 24 545

Provision charge as a % of average loans and
advances to customers

2000 09.75
2001 0.54
2002 0.44
2003 Q50

Total provisions as a % of caore loans and
advances to customers

200G 254
2001 229
2002 .94

2003 207

Gross non-performing loans as a % of
core loans and advances to customers

2000
2001
3002
2003

Total provisions as a % of gross
non-performing loans

2000
2001
2002
2003

240G
|.65
[.i5
1.52

11725
134.06
168,47
136.76
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Market risk

Market risk refers to the potential for change in the market value of a portfolio of financial instruments
{including derivatives) caused by adverse movements in market factors such as interest and foreign
exchange rates; equity, bond and commodity prices; and volatility and credit spreads.

Market risk exists where the group has taken on principal trading positions. These positions result from
proprietary trading, market making, arbitrage, underwriting and investments in the commaodity, foraign
exchange. equity, capital and money markets. Investec actively trades in the following major markets:

Scuth Africa UK UISA lsraet

Domestic money market Money market
Domestic capital markets Domestic capital markets Bonds Capital markets
Equity and equity indices Equity and equity indices

Foreign exchange Foreign exchange Foreign exchange
Commaodities Cornmodities

investec’s Market Risk team, supervised by the Group Market Risk Forum, manages market risk by
identifying and quantifying risks, on the basis of current and future expeciations, and ensuring that

trading occurs within defined parameters.

Management and monitoring of market risk - role of the Market Risk team

The Market Risk teams act independently from those inveived in the trading activities of the group. The
team manages and reviews the groun's market risk across all gecgraphic locations on z day-to-day basis.
All trading positions are marked-to-market daily. Al appropriate risk measurement indicators, values and

metrics are calculated using sutomated processes.

Risk reports for the group are produced automaticatly for each desk daily through the overnight batch
run of RiskWatch, a sophisticated market risk management software package from Algorithmics These
reparts broadly cover:

»  Open position exposures per product relative to limits approved by the board.

* Value at Risk {VaR) versus limits,

* VaR at entity level, at product type level and in aggregate (see tabie on page 140).

»  Expected Tail Loss (see table on page 141).

*  Profits and {osses, which are analysed to determine whether there are any unusually large

movements and to ensure that all sources of revenue are understood.
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Numerous other reports are generated daily for the various portfolios, 1o facilitate the understanding
and management of market risk.

The market risk managers are responsible for the detailed analysis of these reports and the consequent
identification of any significant issues or poiential problem areas. Issues are discussed with the trading
desks daily. The risk managers are actively involved in the review and implementation of methodologies

1o reduce risk exposures.

Management and monitoring of market risk - establishment of appropriate limits

The group manages trading risk through the establishment of appropriate limits, These limits are
determined by the group’s risk appetite both for the markets andl/or products traded, the liquidity and
maturity of the market and the group’s desired risk/return profile.

The Group Market Risk Forum and the boards, through the Board Risk Review Commitiee, approve
trading limits. in addition, trading bock policy statements, which have been prepared and approved by
the boards for the group entities, alsc comply with relevant regulatory reguirements. The statements
outline the scope of trading activities, the trading limits in place and the procedures for monitoring risk
fimits.

Salient features for the establishment of limits are as follows:

* In general, there are two limits that are set, namely, a 95% one-day VaR and 2 set of stress test limits
(usuafly a 95% sensitivity and a |5 Standard Deviation disaster sensitivity).

+ In determining the magnitude of a limit given to a traden special consideration is given o the
disaster stress. The limit will be set conservatively so that a disaster wiil not endanger the financial
condition or reputation of the group nor the separately regulated entity.

+ Limits may also be quoted on a non-statistical basis if this adds value to the process. These limits
inctude product limits, tenorfterm limits, notional limits, liguidity limits, buckets and Greeks {Dalta,
Theta. Rho and Vega).

+  Scenario analysis is also performed to evaluate disaster scenarios, This is done by applying relevant
market crises of the past to current portfoiios, for example, the events around |1 Septernber 2001
and the Rand crisis of December 2001,

= Limits are reviewed at least annually by the overall Grous Market Risk Forum, but may be reviewed
at the discretian of this forum following periods of significant market volatility.

+ Trading limits are set at a giobal level and then sub-allocated at a desk and product level so that the
sum of the sub-zliocated limits can never be greater than the global limit. Thus the glebal limits
reflected for each major type of market risk are the summation of the limits across product groups.
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Market Risk forums

The various Market Risk forums (see above) are key to the managemant of market risk. and meet

weekly and cover all locations.

The issues primarily dealt with at the forums include:

»  Market risk of new products, including the associated valuation of the products.
*«  MNew and revised product, dealer and desk limits.

+  New dealing paolicies.

= Feedback on various risk issues.

+  Discussion of key risks and concerns.

¢ Limit excesses.

»  Requests for research and analysis of issues affecting product profitabiiity.

* QOperational risks,

» Approval of all new products and strategies.

Measurement of market risk

Investec measures market risk using a combination of historically simulated VaR and stress testing. VaR is
a summary measure of potential losses, based on experience in the relevant markets over a given time
horizon with a specified confidence level. A series of stress tests are applied 1o determine the market
risk for parallel shifts and twists in the underlying yield curves, for basis risk between yield curves and
for extreme market canditions. Daily reports are produced containing this VaR and stress test
information. Daily profitability is also analysed to ensure that sources of revenue are understood.

The tables below represent the group's VaR for its trading book at the year ended 3| March 2003 and
31 March 2002, for a 95% confidence level and a one-day hoiding period, assuming ne mitigating action
is taken. This means that there is a one in 20 chance that daily losses will be at least as large as the
reported VaR amount. The consclidated VaR is caiculated using exponentially weighted historical
simulations. VaR, however. does not indicate how much the group can expect to lose in these cases,
Expected Teif Loss (ETL) quantifies the amount the group can expect to lose when the VaR threshold is
exceeded.

The table for the year ended 31 March 2003 reflects the group’s consolidated VaR and the VaR for the
two fisted entities emanating out of the implementation of the group’s Dual Listed Companies structure,
As it is not possible to present the data for the year ended 31 March 20072 in the same format, the
table for the year ended 31 March 2002 presents a consolidated view of the VaR exposures by type of
market for the UK and SA operations, while the rest of the group's geographical operations are
presented on an aggregated basis.
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¥aR 95% (one-day)

3} March 2003

£000 tnvestec Limited Investec ple Consolidated
Interest rates 64 E 163
Equity 273 282 376
Foreign exchange 552 36 556
Commodities - 57
Consolidated® 695 299 840
Limits (Aggregated) 2997 2 700 5 697
Highest E100 370 | 37G
Lowest 660 240 920
Average 260 450 I 300
31 March 2002

Southern

Africa & UK & Consolidated Group
£'000 Other Europe UK &SA UsA Israel aggregated
3t March 2002
Interest rates 474 455 £37 25 4 671
Equity a3 363 380 38 - 418
Foreign exchange 427 38 490 3 21 5i9
Commadities - 193 193 - - 193
Consolidated® 379 508 982 71 30 ! 083
Limits {Aggregated) 2 878 3348 622 309 }24 6 659
Highest I 220 910 [ 437 2 94 [ 843
Lowest 589 498 879 33 21 973
Average 1 03¢ 774 | 297 7G 29 1 406

*  The consolidated VaR is significantly lower than the sum of the VaR figures for each traded market. This is
dus to offsets which take place as a result of the correlation between the various asset classes.




ETL 95% (one-day)

31 March 2003
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£'0C0 tnvestec Limited Investec ple Consolidated
Interest rates 221 14 231
Equity 355 347 433
Foreign exchange 712 4| 73C
Commodities - 69 69
Consolidated 856 346 %68

The portfolio stress tested under extreme market conditions will result in a
maximum loss of £10.3 millien based on a one-day holding period,

31 March 2003
£7000

{nvestec Limited

{nvestec plc

Consolidated

Interest rates
Equity

Foreign exchange
Comrmodities
Consclidated

| 2300 67.5 i 2975
20475 21150 41625
4 1400 2700 44100

- 4275 4275
74175 2 8800 10 2975
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Market risk - derivatives

The group enters various contracts for derivatives, both as principal for trading purposes and as
customer for hedging foreign exchange, commodity, equity and interest rate exposures. These inciude
financial futures, options, swaps and forward rate agreements. All interest rate contracts are transacted
with other financial institutions. The risks associated with derivative instruments are monitored in the
same manner as for the underlying instruments. Risks are also measured across the product range in
order to take into account possible correlations.

The tables below reflect the group's derivative trading porifolio at the end of the financial year on the
basis of the notional principal and the fair value of all dertvatives,

The notional principal indicates Investec’s activity in the derivatives market and represents the aggregate
size of total outstanding contracts at the year-end. The fair value of & derivative financial instrument
represents the present value of the positive or negative cash flows which would have occurred had the
rights and obligaticns arising from that instrument been closed out by the group in an orderty market
transaction at year-end. Both these amounts reflect only derivatives expasure and exclude the value of
the physical financial instruments used to hadge these positions.

Notionai principal Fair value Positive Negative
31 March 2003 £'ran 3 March 2003 £'ma £'ran
Foreign exchange derivatives 7 465 Foreign exchange derivatives 436 378
Interest rate derivatives 162 638 Interest rate derivatives 558 512
Equity and stock index derivatives i 268 Equity and stock index derivatives 94 It
Commaodity derivatives 3 4CH Commodity derivatives 85 57
Credit derivatives 25 Credit derivatives - -
Effect of netting (696) (696)
Net fair values 477 362

Further information in this regard can be found on pages 288 to 291,

Balance sheet risk management

The Balance Sheet Risk Management team manages the risk reward refationshiz that exists between
liouidity and interest rate risk. This relationship arises from the term, structure and concentration of the
assets and liabilities on Investec's balance sheet, dynamically adjusting to changing economic conditions.

The techniques employed combine traditional gap analysis and dynamic modelling. These include
quantitative models and stress tests designed to measure the range of possible future liguidity needs
and potential distribution of net interest income over a range of scenarios. The modelling process is
supported by ongoing technical and economic analysis. The objective is to identify and quantify
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undesirable risks, which are mitigated by the implementation of appropriate on and off balance sheet

strategies,

Investec maintains, wherever possible, a diversified, high quality surplus liquidity position in the short
term, placing liquidity as a priority over short-term profit, and further excludes taking material interest
rate and currency mismatches, This philosophy is required for all relevant subsidiaries of the group,

Role of the Asset Liability Management committee
Balance sheet risk management is carvied out by the Asset Liability Management committee (ALCO),
which manages the risks represented by the term and swucture of the group's balance sheet,

ALCO parfarms the following functions:

+  Sets the group’s funding and liguidity policy and ensures compliance with it. The poiicy covers
domestic and foreign currency funds and sets out sources and amounts of funds necessary to ensure
continuation of lnvestec’s operations without undue interruption, in accordance with the regufatory
reguirements pertaining to the jurisdiction.

*  Approves Emits pertaining to the Hquidity gaps and interest rate exposure regarding the structural /
commercial banking book, given current market conditicns.

* Implements the methodaology, techniques and processes used to measure the fiquidity and interest
rate exposure,

+  Directs the development of scenarios covering risk factors and assumptions in view of expected
eccnomic conditions and market circumstances.

+ Independently examines the external economic and interest rate outiook, positioning in an interest
rate cycie, term structure of interest rates and other socio-economic factors, together with current
asset and liability mix, projected balance sheet growth, future funding requirements and iiquidity
projections.

+  Manages the sensitivity of income to risk factors in such a way that the net interest income remains
materially neutral to adverse movements in interest rates.

«  Sets investment, funding and hedging strategies and funding targets to be implemented by Treasury,
in line with the cash flow projections, thus managing the risk reward refationship that exists hetween
liquidity and interest rate risk on an ongoing basis.

An ALCG committee is represented in all locations where the group has z banking licence. The regional
ALCQOs are mandated by their respective Boards of Directors and Group ALCO to manage the regional
liguidity risic on a basis consistent with pre-aporoved principles and policies, and the regional regulatory
requirements. Detailed policies cover domestic and foreign currency funds and set out sources and
amounts of funds necessary to ensure the continuation of Investec's operations without undue
interruption, while complying with the regulatory requirements of the jurisdiction,

Different levels of the balance sheet risk management functions are carried out in the group’s different
geographies. The size, materiality, complexity. market maturity, access to stable funds and depth of the
markets in the region will determine the level of risk management sophistication reguired in the
location. In addition, the specific applicabie statutory requirements further dictate certain policies for
each region.
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Investec’s liguidity position is also reported to the Executive Risk Review Forum, the group executive,
the Board Risk Review Committee and the Board of Directors.

Liquidity risk

Liguidity risk is the risk that the bank does not have sufficient cash to meet its financial obfigations,
especially in the short-term.

Liguidity risk is defined by the contractual maturity cash flow mismatch between assets and lizbilities.
Sources of liguidity risk include unforeseen withdrawal of demand deposits, restricted access 1o new
funding with appropriate maturity and interest rate characteristics, inability to liquidate a marketable
asset timeously with minimal risk of capital 1oss, unpredicted customer non-payment of a loan obligation
and a sudden increased demand for loans.

Investec bases its liquidity management processes on four essential steps:

* The maintenance of a stock of readify available high quaiity liguid assets and near cash.

s The preparation of cash flow projections (assets and liabilities), including strategy and contingency
clanning.

*  Measurement and control of investac’s funding requirements corresponding to the forecast cash flow
mismatch.

«  Management of Investec’s access to funds in the market at the level of the cash flow estimates.

Group and regional ALCOs manage liquidity risk through monitoring and/or implementing the

following policies and process:

*  The group closely manages its liquid asset position in line with relevant reguiatory guidelines and the
refevant legal entity’s liquidity policy.

» Investec holds surplus prudential liquidity in excess of its statutory reguirements.

* The Balance Sheet Risk Management team independently models cash flow projections and the
resuftant Jiguidity mismatch, on both a static and dynamic basis, under a range of business scenarios.
Bach region has further established a business strategy and contingency plans covering the “going
concern” and “name crisis” scenarios.

*  ALCCO monitors and analyses the trends in customer behaviour of the assets and liabilities
contributing 1o the liquidity mismatch. In 5o doing, it independently measurss and manages the cash
fiow forecasts and funding requirement, in refation to the external market within each legal entity
and globally,

«  nvestec constantly reviews its capacity to raise funds in the wholesale market, the availability and
reliability of standby facilities and its securitisation programme for parts of its loan portfolio.

+  lavestec further limits the value of deposits it will take from an individua! client, both on a monthly
maturity basis and in aggregate, so as not to become reliant on 2 single source of funds,

+  Investec acknowiedges the importance of its retail and private client base as the principal source of
stabie and weill-diversified funding for its private banking risk assets,
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Interest rate risk

Interast rate risk is the risk that interest rates paid to depositors and vields earned from loans change
at different times, with varying degrees of certainty,

Interest rate risk is defined as the impact on the net interest earnings, as a result of increases or
cdecreases in the levels of interest rates and/or changes in the shape of the ferm structure of interest
rates, when these changes are applied to investec's balance sheet.

Investec bases its interest rate risk management processes on four fundamenzal steps:

= Measurement and analysis of traditional interest rate mismatch gaps detailing the sources of interest
rate exposure.

+  Dynamic Earnings-at-Risk simuiation covering a wide range of scenarios within the loliowing
categories;
- Investec’s interest rate forecasts and "house” view.

Imposed viald curve stress tests on the observed interest rate profile.

- Stochastic interest rate scenarios giving rise to a distribution of pessible earnings.

¢ Technical interast vate analysis and economic review of fundamental developments and trends.

+  Management of interest rate risk by ALCO, having been alerted to both the structural causes and
yield curve scenarios that give rise 1o undesirable risks, This is mitigated through the implementation
of appropriate on and off balance sheet strategies.

Information on the group's repricing orofile, which represents the sensitivity of assets and labilities to
interest rate movements, can be found on page 304 and 305.

Operational risk

Operational risk is the rigk of loss arising from inadequate or failed internal processes, peopie or
systems or from external events. This definition reflects the definition of operational risk as cutiined by
Basel Il and as adopted by the group and is expected to develop and respond to emerging operational
risk management practices. Legal and Decumentation Risk is managed as a distinct risk class, as
discussed beiow.

The key benefits of sound operational risk management practices are considered to be:

+  Enhanced risk consciousness through the identification and assessment of operational risks.
= Appropriate evaiuation of and response to incidents and iosses.

« Predictive operational risk indicators support management decisions.

+  Efficiency in operations.

*+  Appropriate mitigation actions and toois, including insurance,

+  Maintenance of stakeholder confidence and group reputation.

+ Suitable, considered responses to emerging issues.

+  Share price support.
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Operaticnal risk 15 inherent in the activities of a financial institution. Sound corporate governance
practices influence the need to identify, monitor and appropriately mitigate operationat risks in order 1o
minimise the incidence and value of unexpected losses, promote risk consciousness and support market

confidence.

The recent spate of corporate failures and new regulatory initiatives, such as Basel I, has increased the
focus of stakehoiders and regulators on operational risk. Basel Il is planned 1o be effective from january
2007 and will require demonstrable operational risk practices, quantification of operational risk
regulatory capital and enhanced disclosures.

Business unit management is primarily responsible for the management of operational risks. Management
of the group's principal businesses are responsible for planning, controlliing and reporting to the Board
of Directors on key business objectives, significant internal risks, external environmental factors and
incidences and events that could affect their respective business performarnce.

The Group Operational Risk division reports to the Board Risk Review Commuittee and the Group Audit
Cornmittee, In additicn, the division reports emerging risk issues, which In its opinion may escalate into
risk issues if not appropriately mitigated by management, to the Audit and Campliance Implementation
Forum. This forum was established in the year under review in South Africa, to mirror the UK forum.
The purpose of the farum is to strengthen the control environment and facilitate timely interventions to
mitigate emerging risks.

Group Operational Risk Management is responsible for:

»  Promoting and facilitating consistent and systematic operational risk management practices across
the group.

+  Assisting in identifying, assessing, mitigating, measuring, monitoring and reporting operational risks.

*  Enhancing the management of operational risk in the group.

»  Demonstrating sound operational risk management practices in terms of supervisory expectations.

«  Meeting Basel |l operational risk practices and qualifying criteria.

A key focus of the division is to perpetuate and enhance the culture of operational risk, control and
compliance conscieusness throughout the group, in order to ensure that relevant risks are identified and
managed. In this way, the division is able to support senior management and the board in their
responsibility to implement sound governance processes, including risik management and internal control
monitoring, that are adequate and effective relative to the nature and complexity of the aperations of
the group.

The primary focus areas for operational risk are:

Processes

+ Identifying, assessing, mitigating and documenting significant risks,
«  Maintaining adequate and effective internal controls,

*  Ensuring timeous and accurate progessing of transactions.

*  Monitoring unauthorised transactions.
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*  Maintaining sound financial disciplines, ensuring accurate and timely reporting,
< incident tracking and evaluation.
+  Assessing and approving new products.

People

«  Maintaining the ability to attract, retain and develop the appropriate skills and talent.
« Instiliing the group values and culture.

*  Promoting and sustaining empioyse equity within the group.

» Providing a healthy. safe and secure operating environment,

+ Implementing suitable sanctions for inapprepriate behaviour,

+  Supporting consistent and fair employee practices,

Systems

+  Ensuring appropriate investment in technology to support the operations of the group.

*  Ensuring continued availability of technology to ensure ongoing operation in the event of disruption,
through an integrated business resumption plan that is reguiarly tested and monitored,

+  Maintaining a secure operating environment 1o protect and ensure integrity of data and information.

+  Maintaining appropriate processes and controls to manage changes to technclogy systems,

External events

+  Ongoing monitoring of criminal activity, emerging issues and trends,

«  Investigating fraudufent activities.

+ Initiating tegal proceedings against perpetrators of fraud,

= Recovering and protecting assets of the group.

+  Monitoring outsourced services, which are subject to performance agreements.

*  Monitoring external macro-environmental events and developments and assessing and responding to
potential impacts.

+  Responding to developing expectations and emerging risks with regard to corporate social

responsioility.

Significant loss events or incidences are reported to the board on a regular basis.

Reputational risk

Reputational risk is the risk caused by damage o an organisation’s reputation, name or brand, Such
damage may be a breakdown of trust, confidence or business relationships, Reputational risk may arise
as a result of other risks manifesting and not being mitigated.

Various policies and practices are in operation to mitigate reputational risk. These include a strong
group vaiues statement that is regularly and proactively reinforced. In addition, the group subscribes to
sound corporate governance practices, which require that activities, processes and decisions are based
on secure and carefully considered principles, As an international banking group. leading practices are a
desired cutcome. This is particularly relevant in client acceptance rules, anti-money laundering policies
and processes, and risk management practices,
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Investec is acutely aware of the impact of practices that may result in a breakdown of trust and
confidence in the organisation. The group’s policies and practices are regularly reinforced through
transparent communication, accurate reporting, continuous group culture and values assessment, internal
audit and regulatory compliance reviews, as well as the Group Risk Management processes.

Legal and documentation risk

Legal and documentation risk is defined as the risk that contracts the group enters into with its clients
will not be enforceable, especially with respect to events of default by a client i.e. that the
documentation will not give rise to the rights and remedies anticipated when the transaction was
entered into, particularly when security arrangements have been agreed.

Investec's legal teams, supported, where appropriate, by competent external legal advisers, seek to
ensure that the documentation investec enters into provides it with appropriate rights and remedies,

risk management year in review

In what remains a difficut eperating environment the group risk management policies and procedures
kept abreast of market developments. Key developments over the past year are outlined below.

Market risk

«  As discussed elsewhere in this report, the group streamliined and restructured many of its trading
operations during the period of review:
o The UKTreasury withdrew from trading in the repo and money markets
o FProprigtary trading activity in foreign exchange and commaodities was curtailed in the UK.
o Trading within the group's US operations was substantially reduced.

* lnvestec started a backtesting programme to establish the accuracy of the division's VaR model as a
reliable predictor of market risk.

+  Investec aims to seek approval from the South African Reserve Bank during 2003 to use its internal
model (VaR model) to calculate and allocate regulatory capital.

Balance sheet management

*  There was continued standardisation of the balance sheet risk management policy, process and risk
measures on & group-wide basis, thus improving the risk control framework and overall cost control.

+  The group commenced with the implementation of new software, RiskPro, to replace the existing
ALMAMN system. The new system is designed t¢ support better risk management of talance sheet
risks.

* Progress has bzen made on identifying, analysing and monitoring bafance sheet risks on static and
dynamic basis.

« A Liquidity Management forum (subset of ALCQ) was established, comprising senior executives, to
focus on daily reporting of a wide range of balance sheet risk management issues.
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Investec remains a net provider of funds in the interbank market in South Africa and its percentage
of fixed term funding remains substantially higher than the market average.

The group continues to hold prudentiat liquidity requirements of 209%, well above regulatory
requirements of 0% in the UK and 7.5% in South Africa.

Operational risk

Group operational risk management continued to develop during the year under review. International
indusiry and supervisory developments are monitored 1o enable the group o respond appropriately to

emerging leading practices.

Board risk and control assessment process

Significant focus was placed on this issue,

The process, which commenced in 2001, matured in 2003.

Significant risks were identified, controls were evaluated and key indicator data is being collated.
Inherent risks were scored in terms of the likelihood of orcurrence and its impact.

Controls were assessed in terms of design strength and implementation performance. The risks and
controls were scored and a residual risk profile developed. Hligher residual risks are then subject te
an appropriate action plan.

The process was completed during the second half of the year through a facilitated workshop
conducted for each significant business unit,

An executive risk assessment process was completed with senior executives, focusing on risks
affecting the group, including strategic risks,

These assessments are reviewed by senior management and the board, through the Audit
Committee and Board Risk Review Committee, and support the board internal control
representations and the board regulatory reporting obligations.

Imternal Audit and External Audit reviewed the process and outputs to support the report of the
board, as set out in the Corporate Governance section of this report (pages 158 to 180). This
process suppeorts the report by the Board of Directors required in terms of reguiations 38 and 39
of the South African Banks Act.

Technology risk

Technology risk management practices of the group were enhanged during the period under review.
The key information technology (IT) operations in the group undertook an externally facilitated IT
risk assessment and benchmarking programme,

The programme evaluates |T activities against predetermined expectations, identifies the residual risk
profile and facilitates the implementation of appropriate mitigation actions.

Business continuity risk

This remains a significant focus of operatienal risk management.

The availability of systems and the ability to successfully restore technology platforms, resume
operations and continue operating core business processes are essential for the group in the event
of disruption to cperations.

The group-wide business continuity programme inciudes a bi-annual integrated practice and
evaluation of technical recovery and business resumption plans against established recovery
objectives.
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= Significant systems and operations were assessed as recoverable with ongoing inclusion of other
aredas.

+ A Crisis Managemeant committee, with key executives as members. is in place 1o constder and direct
activities in the event of a disruption to normal busingss activities,

* Plans are reviewed regularly for relevance and appropriateness. Enhancements to the process are

regularly considered.

Information security risk

= This programme, which addresses the risk that data integrity and confidentiality may be
compromised, continued to develop.

«  The group appointed an Information Security Officer (150} responsible for implementation of
information security initiatives.

+  The Group Operational Risk division supports the 1SO in identifying and assessing information
security risks and promoting sound information security risk management practices.

* No significant information security risks materialised during the period.

+  Risk management practices associated with changes 1o systems were enhanced an¢ a revised policy
and practice was impiemented to manage and integrate associated risk considerations, such as
business continuity and shared applications, in the change management process.

Documented processes, risks and controis

+  The prograrmme to maintari documenied processes, risks and controls at business process level
continues to evolve in South Africe, and forms the basis of the ongoing risk and control assessment
process, inciuding management self-assessment.

+ Internal and external zudit teams use this documentation to assass and evaluate risk management
processes.

»  Consideration is being given to the group-wide rollout of this initiative.

Incident and loss event tracking

+  This was selectively implemented and will be rolied out across the key business units.

*  Various pocts of data exist detailing events and incidences which form the basis of internal incident
and loss event data.

Financial crime and fraud risk

» This risk is addressed by the Forensic Risk Management team, which is part of the Operational Risk
Management division,

+  The key focus areas are investigating fraud incidences, maintaining a database of events and
incidences, evaluating themes and emerging issues, promoting awareness of issues and supporting
business units in the recovery of assets, Incidents increased during the year under review.

= Investec could be a target of organised crime syndicates. Any cases identified are thoroughly
investigated and actively pursued through the legal and judicial processes, to obtain convictions.

+  Terrorist financing activities received focus in the current year and regulatory requests to review
“terrorist names” were attended to. These reviews did not hightight any matters of concern.

+ The Financial intelligence Centre Act (FICA) came into operation during the year under review.
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Investac has for some time had an anti-monay laundering policy in place, based on international
leading practices. Together with Group Compliance, the anti-money laundering policy was reviewad
to ensure conformance with FICA, staff received appropriate training, and processes 1o report
suspicious and threshold transactions were implemented.

All matters to be reported to the FIC are investigatad by Forensic Risk Management and reviewed
by Group Legal before reports are made.

Requests for information from regulatory and investigation agencies as well as requests in terms of
the Access to Information Act were centralised in Forensic Risk. This was done to facilitate
consistency, completeness and objective overview in responding to such reguests.

Other developments

Basel Il developments (see below), as well as industry related operational risk management
initiatives, continue 1o be monitored in order to assess their impact on operational risk management
trends, expectations and the proposed capital adequacy requirements for operational risk.

Internal Audit reports and recommendations are reviewed for indicators of operational risk,
External insurance cover is in place to cover catastrophic and significant material josses,

A key element of sound operational risk management is the adoption and endorsement of
governance standards that apply in jurisdictions in which the group operates, In particular, the risk
management principles of the South African King Il "Code of Corporate Practice and Conduct” and
the "London Combined Code”, especially the "Turnbull Guidance” refating to the accountability and
audit principles of the code, form the foundation of risk and control governance practices
throughout the group.

Future developments

Significant areas of focus (n the forthcoming year will be:

Further enhancement of the risk identification process.

Development of the indicators of aperational risk.

Collection and analysis roflout of incident and loss event data,

Consideration of appropriate technology sclutions to faciiitate the managaement of operational risk.
Assessment and implementation of Basel Il sound practices and qualifying criteria.

Continued focus on financial crime and fraud mitigation activities,

Enhancernent and further embedding of the business continuity programme.

Addressing of the impact of direct and indirect social and environmental risk, as part of the broader
corporate social responsibility programme aof the group
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Developing issues - Basel H

The proposed Basel Capital Accord {Basel I}, with a planned implementation date of early 2007, focuses

an three pillars:

Piflar | Capital adequacy - outlines new proposals for risk-based regulatory capital adequacy
requirements for credit risk and the introduction of regulatory capital requirements for
operational risk,

Pitiar 2 Supervisory review - sets out supervisory expectations and qualifying criteria to enable
the adoption of advanced risk sensitive approaches to the determination of regulatory
capital,

Pillar 3 Market discipling - details the public disclosure and reporting practices, both guantitative
and gualitative, that will inform stakeholders and support the approaches adopted,

Basel I} is designed to recognise the guality of risk management and internal control practices of the
group in adopting more sophisticated approaches to aliocating capital, and rewards the quality of
praciices with a lower regulatory capital requirement. Internationally active banks are expected to
migrate {owards the adoption of the advanced approaches. This adoption is reguired to be supported
by data that has proven rigour and is demonstrable, and evidenced by proven internal processes that
are embedded in daily operations.

The group menitared Basel I developments. A global Base! Implementation Forum was established to
maonitor, evaluate and facilitate consistent implementation across the group, Local farums support this

process.

In South Africa, the group participated in the SARB Banking Supervision supported Basel || Quantitative
impact Study {Q1S 3) study. This process assisted the group in evaluating key implementation issues as
part of a supervised exercise and facilitated South African industry input into the internaticnal Basel |l
process.

The group is represented on all the committees of the SARB Accord Implermentation Forum (AIF}. The
AlF wiil assess, recommend and formulate matters of national discretion in the implementation of Base! ii,

The Financial Services Authority (FSAY conducted an operational risk discovery visit at Investec Bank
{UK) in late 2007, which was designed tc assist in formulating the UK supervisory approach to
operational risk, ts findings were favourable and recommendations are being addressed.

Consultative Paper 3, which was issued in April 2003 and is intended to be the final accord, was
reviewed and plans are being established.

The group supports the implementation of the accord within the context of international expectations,
but having cansideration for the specific regulatory imperatives of the devefoping social and emerging
economy in Sauth Africa. The group anticipates being in a position to adopt an appropriate advanced
approach, with emphasis on the enhancements in business operations that ¢an be obtained by adopting
leading principles and practices.
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Additional risk information

The implementation of the group's Dual Listed Companies structure did not alter Investec’s attitude
towards risk management, nor its underlying risk managemen: procedures and philosophies. As the
group's primary reparting currency changed to Pounds Sterling, the salient financial and statistical
information included in this section was presented on this basis. The group, however, is also required to
present its financial information in SA GAAP and denominated in Rands, General risk information,
presented in accordance with SA GAAP and denominated in Rands, can be found on pages 381 to 384,

internal audit

The rote and objectives, authority and responsibility of the Internal Audit division is formally defined in a
charter, which was approved by the Audit Committes and is reviewed annually.

Investec's Internal Audit division seeks to effectively provide an independent, objective assurance and

consufting function, designed to add value and improve the group’s operations.

»  The division’s primary role is 1o provide independent assurance that business processes are
adequate to identify and menitor significant risks, and that the control environment is effective to
manage these risks within acceptable limits, given cost-henefit considerations. By doing so, it will
reduce existing levels of risk through enhanced controis and protection of Investec’s reputation.

* The division also assists the group in accomplishing its objectives by employing a systematic, risk-
focused, discipiined approach to evaluating and improving the effectiveness and appropriateriess of
the risk management, control and governance processes,

As a result of the regulatory reporting responsibilities arising from Investec’s Dual Listed Companies
structure, there are two “group” Internal Audit divisions, each reporiing to their respective Audit
Comritiees:

* Brigid Schrieder {based in Johannesburg) is responsible for Investec Limited,

«  Mark Thompsett (based in London) is responsible for Investec plc.

The Heads of Internal Audit operate independently from execytive management. report to the
Chairmen of the Audit Committees. They have unrestricted access to the Chief Executive Cfficer and
the Chairman of the beard. For administrative and co-ordination purposes, they report to the Giobal
Head of Corparate Governance and Cormplance,

Control failures are reporied, in terms of 2n escalation protocol, to the relevant Audit and Compliance
Implemnentation Forum where rectification procedures and progress are monitored, as well as to the
appropriate Audit Committes,

The Internal Audit division proactively reviews its scope. focus and resources 1o meet the increasingly
demanding and evolving Corporate governance and regulatory expectations facing financial institutions.

To this end, the division aims to align its strategic focus with the business and to understand what
activities create the most value for stakeholders. Together with other assurance providers, it identifies
sighificant operating changes, issues and concerns and takes a partnership approach with business unit
management, Compliance and Risk Management,
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The division operates under an annual audit plan that is based on a formal group-wide risk assessment,
as well as issues raised by the respective Audit Committees and management. The appropriate Audit
Commitiee approves this plan annually, Given the group’s dependence on IT systems, there is an
in¢reased focus on auditing technology risks. The risk-based zudit appreach adopted by the division will
be complemented by the board's risk assessment process, as required by the South African King il
“Code of Corpoerate Practice and Conduct” and the UK “Turnbull Guidance”™.

corporate governance and
compliance

Global Head of Corporate Governance and Compliance
Bradley Tapnack

compliance

Introduction

As & result of the regulatory reporting responsibilities arising from the implementation of Investec's
Dual Listed Companies structure, there are two independent “group” Compliance divisions. Each
Compliance division has the responsibility of ensuring that compiiance risk s adeqguately managed within
its listed entity. Compliance rigk is defined as the risk of nan-compliance with the spirit and the letter of
all relevant statutes, regulations, supervisory requirements and industry codes of cenduct to which the
group is subject. Both divisions carry out their responsibilities under terms of reference approved at
board level.

A Group Compliance Officer; who has a direct reporting tine to the relevant Chief Executive Officer
and the Glebal Head of Corporate Governance and Compliance, manages each Compliance division:
*  Geoff Cook (based in johannesburg) is responsible for Investec Limited.
»  Gerard Hague-Holmes {based in London) is rasponsible for Investec plc,

The Compliance divisions operate independently from executive management and have unrestricted
access to the Chief Executive Officer and the Chairmen of the relevant Audit Committees.

The compliance divisions of both Investec Limited and investec pic are structured on a decentralised
aperating model that consists of a central Group Compliance division supported by specizalist operational
compliance functions within the relevant operating entities, The operational Comptiance functions report
both 1o the head of the relevant operating unit and to the relevant Group Compliance Officer, as part of
a matrix management reporting structure.

The Compliance divisions of Investec Limited and Investes plc work closely together to ensure that
compliance risk is managed consistently throughout the broader group.

Investec follows a policy of constructive engagement with its regulators, Compiiance risk is addressed
through the development and implementation of effective compliance processes. These include providing
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advice and training on reguiatory matters, developing policies and procedures affecting reguiatory issues,
and monitoring adhersnce to these policies and procedures through the implementation of a risk-based
menitoring methodology.

Developments

Southern Africa

During the past vean the South African regulatory landscape continued to evolve, with the introduction
of a significant number of new acts, regulatory requiremenits and codes of conduct. The maost notable
were the introduction of anti-money laundering legislation and regulation, bringing Scuth Africa in line
with the Financial Action Task Force requirements, legislation and codes regulating persons providing
financial advisory and intermediary services, and material enhancements to existing legislation governing
collective investment schames,

Corporate governance alse came under scrutiny. This resulted in the South African Reserve Bank
commissioning a review of corporate governance practices in the five largest South African banks, which
included both investec Bank Limited and Investec Limited, All the banks were found to have sound
corporate governance practices and no serious breaches of governance. Investec intends to implemert

all significant recommendations made in the review.

In response to the increased regulatory focus on compliance risk management, the scope of the
Comphliance division was restructured to include non-financial services matters. As g result of the
increased compliance risk universe, responsibitity for ensuring compliance was delegated to the relevant
aperating personmel who repart thereon to the Groug Compliance Officen

The Compliance division aiso sought to manage compliance risk through obtaining high lavel
representation on relevant industry bodies that were invited to participate in the development of the
draft legislation and industry guidelines.

Education forms an important sart of the compliance process and employees therefore received anti-
maoney lzundering training, to ensure that they are aware of their regulatory obligations. Regulatory
concerns on conflicts of interest were also addressed, with the implementation of a number of potlicies

and guidelines,

Mauritius

The Compliance division in Mauritius was formalised as part of the group restructuring exercise and in
response to the changing regulatory environment. Processes to identify and manage compliance risks
were developed and implerented, notably anti-money laundering and banking secrecy and
confidentiality,

UK

Significant developments cccurred in the UK regulatory environment, with the FSA issuing more than 50
consuitation papers. A number of these papers {particularly those on conflicts of interest, bundling and
soft comnmission) wiil have an impact on the way that Investec develops its Investment Banking and
Asset Management business in the UK. Managament is actively censidering the proposals in the papers
and their impact on the business.
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While none of the UK regulated entities were adversely affected by the FSA's investigations into
endowment policy miss-selling, there was a fimited impact from the FSA's investigations into pensicn
miss-sefling. The group did not experience material loss as a result of this investigation.

The FSA's investigations iato the industry's sales of split capital funds centinue. Investec entities involved
belisve that they acted wholly appropriately and it is too early to determine a potential material impact
on the group as a result of the industry-wide investigaticns,

United States

In the US, the SEC gave much attention 10 the conflicts arising between investment banking and
rasearch. While none of the regulatory actions affected the group directly, it responded peositively to the
changes rmade 1o the regulations by reviewing and revising its internal processes.

Australia

Last year, the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority approved a banking licence for Investec Bank
{Australia} Limited. While this was a significant step in the development of the business, it also meant an
increase in regulatory scope, This increase was addressed in the annual compliance plan and the revision
of 4 number of internal policies and procedures,

Israel

Further 1o a Bank of Israel directive issued to the banking industry. lnvestec Bank (israel) appointed a
Compliance Officer in early 2602. The Bank of Israel issued further directives requiring compliance
officers 1o conduct a review of internal processes that affect client protection. The Bank of lgrael also
requires banks to upgrade their internal procedures on the prevention and detection of maney
laundering. The Compliance division of Investec Bank {israel) is addressing both these matters, together
with local management,

corporate governance

For information on Corporate Governance, see pages 153 to 180

additional information

Credit ratings

in general, investec was assigned strong ratings for credit quality, capacity for timely repayment and
financial strength. Historically, rating agencies tendad to focus on rating the combined Investec group or
Just the significant banking entities within the group, namely investec Bank Limited or investec Bank {UK)
Limited. In terms of the implementation of Investec’s Dual Listed Companies structure, howevern,
investec Limited and Investec plc are treated separately from a credit point of view. Therefare, over
time, one will expect 1o see ratings being accorded to both companies. The group is currently engaged
in discussions with the rating agencies, in this regard. The ratings as at 31 March 2003 are set out below.
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Ratings for the former Investec Group Limited (now Investec Limited)

Capical intelligence Ratings
Foreign currency - iong-term rating
Foreign currency - short-term rating

CA Ratings
Short-term local currency debt rating
Long-term local currency debt rating

Fitch

Individual rating
Support rating
International short-term

International long-term

Ratings for Investec Bank Limited

Capital Intelligence Ratings

Foreign currency - long-term rating
Foreign currency - short-term rating
Domestic strength rating

Fitch

Individual rating
Suppart rating
Domestic short-term
Domestic long-term

Global Credit Ratings
Short-term rating
Long-term rating

Moady’s

Bank financial strength
l.ong-term bank deposit
Short-term bank deposit

Ratings for Investec Bank {UK) Limited

Fiteh

individuai rating
Support rating
Short-term rating

L.ong-term rating

Global Credit Ratings
Short-term rating

L.ong-term rating

* constrained by the sovereign rating for South Africa

BBB-"
A3

A-l+

B/IC

F#
BBB*

BBB-*
A3*

B/C

F3*
BBR*

A-lt

C.
Baa2*

Prime 2#

F2
BBB+

A2
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directors’ responsibility
and corporate governance

“Investec has long had an entrenched corporate cufture,
which emphasises above all the need to conduct the affairs
of the group in accordance with the highest standards of
corporate ethics. Good corporate governance is shown in
the group’s values of integrity, responsibility and risk
consciousness.”

- Stephen Koseff, Chief Executive Officer

Corporate governance environment and the year in review

Investec is an international organisation and, as such, is reguired to comply with an extensive range of
diverse legal, regulatory and governance requiremenits.

During the year under review, the increased spate of corporate failures beth domestically and

internaticnally continued to heighten the focus on corporate governance practices, In this regard, a

number of developments took place in the jurisdictions in which the group operates:

+  The South Africen King Il “Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct” (King ) became eifective.

*  The South African Reserve Bank initiated an independent review by Advocate Myburgh of the
governance practices of the five largest banks (inciuding Investec) in Scuth Africa (the Myburgh
Raviaw].

= In the UK, the Higgs Review (on tnhe role and effectiveness of non-executive directors) and the
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Smith Report (Audit Committees combined Code guidance) were released,

«  The UK Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations 2002 became effective.

+  The JSE Securities Exchange South Africa (JSE) and the London Stock Exchange (LSE) enhanced
their listing requirements,

*  The Sarbanes Oxley Act in the USA was enacted in July 2002,

Investec implemented significant measures to formalise and enhance its corporate governance following
the implementation of its Dual Listed Companies (DLC) structure, with fistings on the |SE and L5E (see
pages 4 to 6). In terms of the implementation of this structure, the group reviewed and assessed
governance practices for conformance to leading practices. Furthermore, because Investec has two
primary listings, it is required 10 observe the extensive requirements applicable to public listed
companies in the UK and South Africa,

The recommendations of the Myburgh Review of governance practices in the South African banking
industry as they specifically apply to Investec were accepted and the group addressed and will continue
to address the matters raised and recommendations made. The review concluded that South African
banks showed high standards of corporate governance. Following the group's internal assessment
process and in terms of the formal report of the Myburgh Review, the areas identified as requiring
attention are cutlined below.

Position of the Chairman

The Myburgh Review conciuded that the Chairman, Hugh Herman, was not an independent non-

executive director. The group does, however, consider Hugh Herman to be a non-executive director.

I order to address the matter, the board and the Remuneration Committee agreed on and

implemented the following

+  The Chairman's remuneration package will comprise solely of an overali fee of £250 $00, will be
commensurate with services provided and overall fevel of responsibilities, and will not include
incentive bonuses.

* Time spent on Investec matters will be reduced, as will time spent at the Investec offices.

*  Hugh Herman will continue to have nc executive responsibilities,

Size of Investec Bank Limited board

The Myburgh Review considered the board of Investec Bank Limited to be oversized. This matter
was reviewed and the compoesition addressed with consideration of the skills. expertise and strategic
focus of the bank. The revised board js set cut on page 2{2.

Director Affairs Committee

The Banks Act Amendment Bill proposed the establishment of 2 Director Affairs Committee to
assist the board in governance practices, director cantinuity and nomination. The group is of the
view that the existing Chairman's Committee and supporting processes address these matters.

Should this become mandatory. the group will implement the committes as required.

Key international emerging governance issues, which investec is consciousiy addressing, revolve arcund:

+  Board compaosition, performance and reward praciices.

» ldentification and response to risks, both known and anticipated.

«  Confidence and trust in public disclosures and reporting.

«  Corporate social responsibility and the impact of activities, both directly and indirectly, on
communities and stakeholders.

15¢9
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Corporate governance practices and conduct at investec

Responsibitity

The directors are respensible for monitoring and reviewing the preparation, integrity and reliability of
the Investec plc and Investec Limited consolidated financial statements, accounting palicies and the
information contained in the annual report.

in discharging this responsibility, the directors are supported by an ongoing process for identifying,
evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the group, which was in place for the year unger
review and up to the date of approval of the annual report and accounts. The process is implemented
by Investec management and independently monitored for effectiveness by the audit, risk and other sub-
committees of the board, which are referred o below.

Corporate governance structure

Board of Directors — Investec Limited and Investec pic

J} J} A J} J} J} l}
y ¥ Y ¥
Remuneration Nomination Audit Commiteee Board Risk Review Chairman’s
Committee Committee 8 Sub-Committees Committee Committee
A f ¢
Y
Audit and Compfiance { Group ALCO Committee J
Implementation
Forum i Group Credit Committee ]
A L Country Risk Forum I
r } Group Market Risk Forum ’
A A A T .
v v ¥ LExecutwe Risk Review Forum |
internal Audit Compliance Risk —i»{ Group Deal Forum {
Management
Y Y
Stakeholders

(sharehotlders, investors, depositors, borrowers, staff, suppliers, communities, supervisors)
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Corporate governance

Investec considers sound corporate governance practices Yo be fundamerttal to the operation of a
banking group. Corporate governance, in essence, is the formal maintenance of the necessary balance

between entrepreneurial thrust and enterprise, and prudential restraint, within the boundaries of sound l
business practices and reguiation.

The board retains responsibility for the overall process and structure of corporate governance of the
group. in addition, the group has a division dedicated exclusively to corporate governance issues.
Agherence to goad carporate governance practices, hawever, is also considered to be a respensibility of

each business area, as well as all employees worid-wide. Sound corporate governance therefore
continues 1o be instilied in the group's values, culture, processes, functions and crganisational structure.
The group has cver time created (and continues to refing} the structures necessary o formalise
oversight and to ensure that the values remain embedded in all businesses and processes, These
structures include Investec's written Statement of Values, which serves as its Code of Ethics and has
always been a pillar of lnvestec’s culture,

The group’s values and philosophies form the framework against which behaviour, practices and
activities are measured to assess the characteristics of good governance. Governance at Investec is not
about ¢hecklist confermance. Rather it is about substance and embedded practices that are challenged

regularly for their effectiveness and relevance,

The characteristics of good corporate governance subscribed to by Investec are foundsd on:

* Fairness: understanding and recognition of the broader stakehoider community.

»  Accountability: forums and management structures promote accountabitity for decisions and actions.

« Responsibility: strong values and internal processes support identification and escalation of issues
and the implementation of appropriate responses and corrective action.

+  Transparency: timely communication cf financial and nen-financial matters allows for a clear
understanding of the eccnomic performance of the group.

«  Discipline: commitment by senior management to sound governance practices, and consistent
behaviour in lne with the values of the group.

» Independence: an ethos, processes and structures allow for conflicts of interest and undue influence
to be prevented and challenged.

* Social responsibility: understanding of the direct and indirect impacts of the group's operations on
communities and environments and acting in a respensible and ethical manner.

The pillars of good governance at Investec are considered to revelve around the following key practices

and processes:

* Board and board practices that demonstrate a scund governance environment with appropriate
decision-making, oversight and reward structures that promote long-term shareholder value,

= Management structure and skills that support and drive the implementation of the strategic
objectives for the benefit of stakehoiders.

+ internal control environment and associated assurance processes 1o prevent or detect with
reasonable assurance errors, fraud, misappropriation and other unacceptable processes,

« Risk management orocesses to idemify and reguiarly assess risks, measure and monitor key risk
information, mitigate risks identified and respond to risks that materialise,
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»  Corporate social responsibility programme and disciosure that reflects an understanding of the
social, environmental and economic impacts of the group’s activities and the management initiatives
to maximise opportunities,

« Stakeholder engagement that is proactive in managing and communicating developments and
expectations in order to promote and suppert long-term investment,

« Disclosure of financial, non-financial and risk issues as appropriate, in accordance with generally
accepted practices, ic enabie a clear undersianding of risk and investment profiles,

A balance and alignment of various processes and practices with the teams that drive and support these
pillars is key to the achievement of an effective and efficient governance process.

In addition, risk and controf consciousness, compliance awareness, oversight and supervision processes
are core to ensuring that a considered and diligent approach is inherent in the daily activities and
transactions of the group.

Scund governance practices enable the groug 1o anticipate and respond proactively to deveioping

issues, which in turn enhances Investec’s ability tos

+  Balance entrepreneurial flair with independent and objective oversight.

+ Maintain confidence in the group by clients, counterparties, shareholders and regulators.

¢ Sustain the reputation of the group and the brand.

*  Ensgre fiquidity and support levels to meet group demands.

+  Satisfy supervisor and regulator objectives and minimise systemic risk 1o the industry,

+  Promote stakeholder value by protecting assets and minimising icsses.

+  Ensure proactive, transparent and timeous communication with stakeholders, which enhances the
reliability of information.

+  Operate in a sustainable manner with a long-term vision.

= Operate in compiiance with the laws and reguiations of the jurisdictions in which the group

operates.

Board opinion

The board is of the opinion that Investec conforms substantially to King H, except as disclosed, in
particular the independence of the non-executive Chairman and of the Chairman of the Audit
Committee, Donn Jowell,

In addition, the group has adopted the "Turbull Guidance™, containing principles for consideration by
directors on the implementation of the Accountability and Audit Principles of the UK Combined Code
on good governance and best practice. This requires management and the board to assess the risk
manzgement and internal control environment, identify key risks and risk information and indicators,
embed a culture of risk awareness and control consciousness, obtain assurance of implementatian of
risk management processes and review the governance processes, This guidance aligns with the risk
management practices contained in King il

Investec plc commenced trading as a UK listed company on 29 july 2002, Prior to this date, Investec was
not subject to the UK Combined Code reguirements. The board censiders that the company 15 in
compliance with the above principles as at the date of this report. The board expects that the company
witi continue to comply with these principles on this basis throughout the financial year eading 31

March 2004,
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Qther international business units operate in accordance with the gavernance recommendations of their
jurisdiction, buz with clear reference at all times to group values and culture.

The group recognises its respensibiiity as a financial institution to conduct its affairs with prudence and
integrity and to safeguard the interests of all stakehaolders, thereby maintaining its reputation and
therefore public confidence. Investec will continue 1o monitor and review practices and respand to
developing trends in a pragmatic and proactive manner Furthermore, Investec is committed to
maintaining sound corporate governance practices in each jurisdiction in which the group operates.
Detailed below are the Investec practices and conduct. which support the board's opinion,

Board of Directors

Compaosition

For the year under review, the same people constituted the Investec ple and Investec Limited boards,
The boards comprised four executive and nine non-executive directors The board is balanced so that
no individual or small group can dominate decision making, Subsidiary boards are similarly balanced.

Board size is subject o review and assessment. As recommendad by the Myburgh Review, the board of
lnvestec Bank Limited was reviewed and restructured as set out ahove.

The boards of Investec ple and Investec Limited are separate and subject to legal obligations particular
1o each respective company, The boards comprise the same persons who are authorised, as board
members, to manage Investec as if it were & unified economic enterprise.

Biographical details of the directorate are provided on pages 20% to 21 1.

All board members are suitably experisnced, have a clear understanding of their rote in corporate
governance and are not subject to undue influence from management or putside concarns, Non-
executive directors are individuals of high calibre with diverse backgrounds and expertise. They provide
objectivity and independsence 16 board deliberations and decision-making processes.

Demographic representation was and continues to be addressed as part of the strategic positioning of
the group.

Executive directors are encouraged to hold other non-executive directorships, but only to the extent
that these do not interfere with their immediate management responsibilities.

Independence of non-executive directors

The majority of the non-executive directors are considered to be independent of management and do
not have any other relationship which could materially interfere with the exercise of thewr independent
judgement. Hugh Herman, Donn [owell, lan Kantor and Mangalani Peter Malungamn are not considered to
be independent. The directors consider that Sam Abrahams and Peter Thomas are independent,
notwithstanding the compensation they receive to sit on a number of Investec’s compliance and review
committees {such as the DLC Audit Committes, Group Credit Committee, Board Risk Review
Committee and various audit sub-committees) in an advisory capacity as non-executive directors.
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|ehn Abell was appomnted senior independent non-executive director. The board believes that he brings
vatuable continuity, perception and experience 1o the board.

Appointment and selection

The Nomination Committee is chaired by Hugh Herman and its other members are Sir Chips Keswick
and Sam Abrahams. In accordance with the Cembined Code and King I, all members of the Nemination
Committes are non-executive directors. The Nomination Committee met once during the year and
going forward it is intended that the committee will have twa meetings a year

The Nominaticn Committee is responsible for nominating candidates to fill board vacancies and for
making recommendations on board composition and balance. In exercising this role, the directors take
account of the guidance put forward in the Combined Code and King Il The selection and nomination
process is formal and transparent. Prior to appointing a new directer, the board investigates the
candidate’s background thoroughly. Board appointments are based on a required mix of skills,
experience and demographics to ensure the ongoing success of the group.

The board has charged the Nomination Committes with the task of recommending proper processes to
deal with succession planning of the board and will address this once the ocutcome of the Higgs Review
is final.

It was announced on 20 june 2003 that Mr. Geoffrey MT Howe, formerly a Managing Partner of
solicitors Clifford Chance LLP and Managing Director of Robert Fleming Holdings Limited, and

Miss, Haruko Fakuda OBE, formerly Chief Executive of the World Gold Ceuncil, will be appointed to the
boards of Investec Limited and Investec pic as independent non-executive directors, with effect from

21 july 2003.

New directors may hold office anly until the next annual general meeting, at which they retire and
become available for re-election. All directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election by
shareholders at least once every three years. The dates on which the directors were appointed 1o the
boards of Investec Limited and investec pfc can be found on page 89

All non-executive directors, on appointment, are familiarised appropriately with the operations of the
group, senior management and its business environment and are inducted in terms of their fiduciary

duties and responsibilities.

Details of directors’ service contracts and remuneration packages can be found in the remuneration
report on pages 185 to 203,

Board self-evaluation

Board effectiveness is subject to regutar self-evaluation, which is co-ordinated by the Head of Corporate
Governance and Compliance. Self-evaluation addresses the King |l Code of Practice, the Combined
Cade and other sound practices, including statutory responsibilities.

Directors’ contributions are subject to ongoing review,
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Role and responsibility

The board retains fuil and effective controf of the group and is ultimately accountable and responsible
for the performance and affairs of the group. This includes the responsibility for reviewing and guiding
corporate strategy. understanding the key risks faced by the group, and determining the risk tolerance of
the group and the processes in place to mitigate these.

The beard has defined the limits of delegated aythority and is ultimately responsible for assessing and
managing risk policies and philosophies, overseeing major capital expenditures, acquisitions and disposals,
appraving the establishment of businesses, and approving the introduction of new preducts and services.

In discharging its responsibiiities, the board is supported by members of Investec management, who are
required o implement the board plans and strategies. The board monitors management's progress in
this regard on an ongoing basis.

Furthermare, the board, directly or through its sub-committees:

*  Continually assesses both the quantitative and qualitative aspects of the group's performance
through a comprehensive system cof financial and non-financial monitoring. This invoives an annual
budget process, detailed monthly reporting and management strategic and operational updates.

*  Approves the annual budgets and business pians.

«  Monitors the group's compliance with relevant laws, regulations and codes of business practice,

«  Monitors the group's communication with ali stakeholders.

+ ldentifies and monitors key risk areas and key performance indicators.

*  Reviews processes and procedures to ensure the effectiveness of the group's internal systems of
controi.

The board is accountable to all Investec's stakeholders for exercising leadership, integrity and judgement
in pursuit of its strategic goals and objectives, and to achieve long-term sustainable growth and
prosperity for the group.

Ali directors are regularly kept abreast of statutory, regulatory, accounting, non-financial and industry
developments, which may affect the activities of the group. Furthermaore, non-executive directors have
unrestricted access to management, including the Company Secretaries, and to such information, records
and documents as are needed to carry out their duties and responsibifities comprehensively and
effectively. Te facilitate this, non-executive directors participate in key board sub-committees and other
forums, as indicated elsewhere in this saction. Furthermore, 2l directors are entitled to take such
independent professional advice as is necessary to fulfill their duties, at the group's expense.

Board meetings

Board meetings are scheduled at the commencement of each calendar year and, in terms of the
requirements of the group's DLC structure, the number of meetings must be scheduled equally in the
UK and South Africa in any calendar year: Directors are provided with full baard papers to enable them
to consider in advance the issues on which they will be requested to give decisions.

165




166 Annval Report 2003

Management has an obligation to provide the board with appropriate and timely information. Board

packs typically include:

+  Monthiy management accounts.

+  Status reports from Group Risk Management, Compliance and Internal Audit.

*  Report and minutes of the DLC, Investec Limited and lavestec pic Audit Committees.

+ Report of the Chief Executive Officer, which includes an update on financial and non-financial
aspects and developments within the group,

+ Reporis from the key operating divisions, which include an update on their overall performance and
other non-financial aspects and developments,

+ Reports on the group’s shareholder composition and movements therein.

+  Report from the lnvestor Relations division, which includes an update on various stakeholder issues.

+  Reperis on proposed acquisitions.

+  Reporis on significant regulatory issues,

Prior ta the implementation of the DLC structure the Investec Group Limited board met on two
occasions. The investec Limited and Investec plc boards met five times each during the year, following
the implementation of the group's DLC structure. All members were present at these meetings, except
for the circumstances stated below:

+  Sir Chips Keswick was unable fo attend one meeting.

= Mangalan: Peter Malungani was unable to attend two meetings.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer zre separate. so that no individual has unfettered
powers of decision making. Both the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are appointed by the board.
The board is led by the Chairman, Hugh Herman. The board appraises the Chairman'’s performance
annually. The Chief Executive Officer is Stephen Koseff, who is responsibie to the board for the
implementation of its strategies and policies. The Chairman of the board and the non-executive
directors review the performance of the Chief Executive Officer annually.

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary of Investec Limited is Sebwyn Noik, who is considered to be suitably qualified
and experienced and was appointed by the board in February [994. The Company Secretary of Investec
Limited is responsible for the duties stipulated in section 268{G} of the South African Compantes Act,
1973,

The Company Secretary of Investec pl¢ is Richard Vardy, who is considered to be suitably qualified and
experienced and was appointed by the board in June 2002, Richard Vardy was appeinted as Secretary
for Investec Bank {(UK) Limited in 1996,

Both the Company Secretaries are supported in their role in the group's corporate governance process
by the Head of Corporate Governance and Compliance and are empowered by the board so that they
may fulfil their duties properly.
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In addition te statutory duties, the Company Secretaries are required to provide the directors of the
beard, collectively and individually, with guidance on how their resgponsibilities should be properly
discharged in the best interests of the group. The Campany Secretaries play an important role in the
induction of new directors and also assist the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in determining the
annuzl board meeting plan, Furthermore, the Company Secretaries are required to ensure that the
directors are aware of all legislation relevant to, or affecting, the group, and report at any mestings of
the shareholders of the group or of the group’s directors, any failure to comply with such legislation.

All directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretaries, whose appointment
and remaoval is a matter for the board as a whole,

Management

Global business unit heads, geographic management, and heads of central and group service functions
are appointed by executive management and endarsed by the board, based on the skilis and experience
deemed necessary 1o perform the reguired function. In general, managers do not have fixed term
employment contracts and there are no employment contracts with managers for a term of more than
three years. fnvestec's management structure, reporting lines and the division of responsibilities have
been buily arcund a geographic, divisional and functional matrix, as depicted on page 63.

Furthermore, each strategic business unit has its own executive mahagement cecmmittee and is
respansible for taking and implementing operational decisions, managing risk and aligning divisional
objectives with the group strategy and wisian.

Executive managers are required to provide the board with apsropriate ang timely financial and non-
financial information necessary for it to fulfil its responsibilities.

On an operational level, below the Investec Limited and Investec plc boards are two princpal forums:
the Giobal Operations forum and the Giobal Group Management Forum {Global GMF)Y. in addition,

there are regional management forums in the UK and Souwh Africa.

Giobal Group Management Forum

The Global GMF meets bi-monthly, aliernating between the UK and South Africa, The purpose of this
forum is to identify and discuss key strategic and policy issues and opportunities facing the divisions,
geographic operations and investec as a whole. Typically, acquisition proposals, critical Investec projects,
and other key growth and development recommendations are raised and debated at the Global GMF
and approved by the directors. The Global GMF serves as an effective integrating mechanism., allowing
for constant feedback and input from all members. The forum gives the group's management teams the
opportunity to remain in touch with developmants in tha group as a whole. This helps to minimise
duplicated effert and to enhance synergies across businesses and geographies.
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The Global GMF also provides a forum for communication between senior management and the

executive directors.

The members of the Global GMF are:

Nama Title Joined Investec Residence Age
Stephen Koseff Chief Executive Officer 1980 South Africa 51
Bernard Kantor Managing Director 1980 UK 53
Glynn Burger Global Head of Risk Management

and Joint Managing Director of Investec's

South African cperations 1980 South Africa 46
Fred Carr +Head of Private Client Portfolio Management and

Stockbroking - UK 1997 UK 58
Perry Crosthwatte Head of Investrment Banking - UK 1998 UK 54
Steve Elliott Executive Director Carr Sheppards Crosthwaite 1989 UK 49
Richard Foriee Global Head of Treasury and Specialised Finance and

Regional Head of Investec’s Asian operations 988 UK 42
Bradiey Fried Joint Global Head of Investrment Banking and Joint

Regicnal Head of lnvestec's UK operations 1999 UK 37
Sam Hackner Global Head of Private Banking 1989 South Africa 47
Rayanne Jacobson Global Head of Finance 1996 South Africa 34
David Lawrence Deputy Chairman of the greup's South African

operations responsibility for banking, institutions

and corporate relations 1996 South Africa 52
Andy Leith foint Managing Director of Investec’s South Adrican

operations and {oint Global Head of

Investment Banking 1994 Sauth Africa 43
Geoff Levy Chief Executive Officer of Investec's

Australian operation 2001 Australia 44
Patsy McCue Global Head of Human Resources 1984 South Africa 41
Simon Shapiro Global Head of Information Technology 1990 South Africa 45
Caryn Sclomon Global Head of Organisational Development 2000 UK 49
AlanTapnack loint Regional Head of Investec’s UK operations and

Head of investec’s lsraeli operaticns 1991 UK 56
Bradiey Tapnack Global Head of Corporate Governance and

Compliance 1986 South Africa 56
Hendrik du Toit Global Head of lnvestec Asset Management 1991 UK 4]
Raymond van Niekeri Global Head of Marketing 2001 South Africa 40
Allen Zimbler Chief integrating Officer 2001 UK 53

Giobal Operations Forum

The Global Operations Forum meets monthly, with half the meetings in the UK and half in South Africa,
The key role of this forum is the implementation of Investec’s strategy and global cperational

responsibility and co-erdination.
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The members of the Giobal Operations Forum are:

Name Title Joined Investec Residence Age
Stephen Koseff Chief Executive Officer 1980 Sauth Africa 51
Bernard Kantor Managing Director 980 UK 53
Glynn Burger Global Head of Risk Management and Joint

Managing Director of Investec's South African operations 1980 South Africa 46
Bradiey Fried Joirt Glebal Head of investment Banking and joint

Regional Head of Investec's UK aperations 1999 UK 37
Richard Foriee Global Head of Treasury and Specialised Finance and

Regional Head of Investec’s Asian operaticns 1988 UK 42
Sam Hackner Global Head of Private Banking 1989 South Africa 47
Andy Leith Joint Managing Director of investec’s South African

operations and joirt Global Head of

{nvestment Banking 1994 South Africa 43
Hendrik du Toit Global Head of Investec Asset Management 1991 UK 4]
Allen Zimbler Chief integrating Officer 2001 UK 53

Regional Management Forums

Investec has Regional Management Forums in each of the principai geographies in which it operates. The

forums meet fortnightly and are responsible for the day-to-day management of their respective
geographies, Each forum plays a key role in communications and in the sourcing of debates and ideas
that are ultimately presented to the relevant boards. The two principal Regional Management Forums
are based in the UK and South Africa.

Yarious other formal and informal processes promote interactive dialogue and independent review
between group management and the non-executive directors.

Succession planning

Succession planning is inftiated at management level, where the depth, scope and diversity of talent is
identified and nurtured This ensures that the group maintains a substantial pooi of talent from which
senior management and executives can be selected when required.

The executives have identified successors for key executive management positions.

Board sub-committees

A number of board sub-committees assist the board in the discharge of its duties. The features of these
committees are as follows:

= The sub-committees all have specific terms of reference that include roles and responsibilities, and
are accountable to the board.
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+  Sub-committee members have the requisite skills commensurate with the committees' abjectives and
scope of activity.

«  Non-executive board members have been assigned to all of the sub-committees.

+  Various members of management are invited to attend sub-committee and board meetings
whenever agpropriate.

+  The beard sub-committees are freg to take independent cutside professional advice at the expense
of the company as and when necessary.

Sub-committees provide regular reports on their activities to the board.
The board sub-committees are cutlined below.

Chairman’s Committee

The Chairman's Committee is responsible for censultation on and implementation of the group’s
strategy Responsibility for the day-to-day cperations of the business is delegated to senjor management,
as described above. The committee is chaired by Hugh MHerman {Chairman of the board and 2 non-
execuiive director), Members of the Chairman’s Committee are:

+  Giynn Burger (Group Risk and Finance Director).

¢ Donn E Jowell (non-executive director).

+  Bernard Kantor {Managing Director).

+  Stephen Koseff (Chief Executive Officer).

¢+ David M Lawrence {executive director - Investec Bank Limited).

+ Bradiey Tapnack {executive director - Investec Bank Limited).

The Chairman’s Committee met twice during the financial year and going forward it is intended that the

committee will have four meetings a yean

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is discussed under “appointment and selection” above.

Remuneration Committee

The Investec combined group Remuneration Cammittee is chaired by john Abell and the other
members are Sir Chips Keswick, George Alford and Peter Thomas. In accordance with the requirements
of the Combined Code and King U, all members of the Remuneration Committee are independent non-
executive directors.

Informaticn on the Remuneration Committee's role and responsibilities and details of directors’
remuneration are set out in the directors remuneration report on pages 185 to 203.
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Audit Committee

The former Investec Group Limited Audit Commitiee was reconstituted in tarms of the implementation
of the group's DLC structure, The reconstituted investec combined DLC groug Audit Committee

{referred to in this section as the DLC Audit Committee) is chaired py Donn Jowell and its cther

members are George Alford and john Abell. In accordance with the requirements of the Cornbined

Code and King i, ail members of the DLC Audit Committee are non-executive directors and a majority

of the voting members are independent directors. Donn Jowell is not considered to be an independent

non-executive director, but the cther members are considered to be independent. In addition. Sam
Abrahams {a non-executive director) is a non-voting member of the DLC Audit Committee who

attends meetings of, and lends his experience to, the Committee.

Furthermore, in terms of the DLC structure, Investec Limited and Investec ple have individual Audit

Committees that share similar responsibilities to the DLC Audit Committee and report to the DLC
Audit Committee. The members of the Audit Committee of Investec plc are John Abell (Chairman),
George Alford and Sir Chips Keswick. All the members are non-executive directors and are considered
to be independent in terms of the Combined Code. The members of the Audit Commiites of Investec

Limited are Donn Jowe!l {Chairman), Sam Abrahams and Peter Thomas, Al the members are non-

executive directors and the majority are considered to be independent in terms of King 1.

A number of senior managers are invited {or required by the various Audit Committee charters} to

attend the Audit Committee meetings. These include the Chief Executive Ofiicer of the group, members

of the Finance, Operational Risk, Internal Audit and Compliance divisions, and the Chief Technology
Officer. Representatives of the respective firms of external auditers have permanent invitations and
attend meetings as a matter of course. |n addition, the Chairman of the various Audit Committees has

the right to calt in any other empioyee of the group who is able to assist the committee on an ad hoc

basis,

The committees are responsible for, among other things:

The review and recommendation for the board's approval of Investet’s combined consolidated and
individual company reports and accounts and other published financial reperting documents,
Review of the appropriateness of the combined group's and individual companies’ accounting
policies and the application thereof,

Overseeing of Investec's external audit process in the review of reports and accounts.
Consideration of the external audit scope, fees and audit findings.

Review of Internal Audit plans, capacity and capability, and the reliance by external audit on the
work and findings of Internal Audit.

Review of non-audit services provided by the group's auditors.

Focus on Investec's compliance with legal requirements, accounting standards and the relevant fisting
requirements.

Measures to maintain effective systems of internal financial control and for reporting non-finencial
operating data.

The ultimate responsibility for reviewing and approving the annua! and half-yearly report and accounts
of the combined group and individual companies will remain with the boards.
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The risk and compliance managers, ‘nternal auditors, respective firms of external auditors and non-
executive directors all have unrestricted access to the Chairman of each Audit Committee and to one
ancther, They submit formal reports te the committee at its meetings throughout the year In addition,
the various supervisory and regulatory bodies meet with the Chairmen of the varicus Audit
Committeas at least annually,

The DLC Audit Committee met six times during the financial year. Four of these meetings were held
prior to the impiementstion of the graup's DLC structure, The Investac plc Audit Committee has been
operational since the implementation of the group's DLC structure and met four times during the
financial year, with all its members present at all the meetings, The Investec Limited Audit Commitiee
has been operaticnal since the implementation of the group's DLC siructure and met three times
during the financial year, with alt its members present at all the mestings.

Audit and Compliance Implementation Forum

During the year, the group established an Audit and Comgpliance Implementation Forum in Seuth Africa,
to mirror the forum in the UK. The Chairman of the forum is Bradley Tapnack (Gicbal Head of
Corporate Governance and Compliance) and other attendees include key executive directors and heads
of Risk Management, Internal Audit and Compliance. Non-executive directors attend by invitation,

The purpgse of the forum is to appropriately address and discuss matters:

= Which are considered to be of higher risk.

+  Where management is accepting a higher residual risk,

*  Where there is a dispute between management and the parties listed above.
*  Where management’s response to issues raised is not considered appropriate.

The forum performs a key role in enhancing risk and control censciousness and the associated control

environment of the group.
The forum met three times during the financial year.

Board Risk Review Committee

The Board Risk Review Committee is chaired by Stephen Koseff (Chief Executive Officer) and
comprises:

«  Sam E Abrahams {non-executive director).

+  Glynn Burger {Group Risk and Finance Director).

*  Richard Foriee {Global Head of the Treasury and Specialised Finance division).
= Donn E Jowell (non-executive director).

+ Bernard Kantor {Managing Director).

+  David M Lawrence {executive diregtor - Investec Bank Limited).

= Alan Tapnack (executive director).

»  Bradley Tapnack (executive director - nvestec Bank Limited).

*  Peter R S Thomas (non-executive director},
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The purpose of the committee is to ensure that:

+  All decisions of the board on risk management policies and procedures are implemented and
monitored throughout tnvestec.

» The risk management structure is adequate, with sufficient resources and budget, and exceptions are
reported to the board.

*  Exposure mits for market, counterparty and credit risk are ratified,

+ There is an ongoing process of risk and control identification. particularly for any changes to
business objectives.

The Board Risk Review Committes defines the processes by which internal financial contro! and risk is
assumed, measured and monitored. The independent Group Risk Management divisien provides the
expertise, processes and techniques to monitor these risks,

A number of committees are dedicated to aspects of risk management and report directly to the Board
Risk Review Committee and the Board of Directors. These include the Group ALCO Committee, Group
Credit Committee, Country Risk Forum, Group Market Risk Forum and Group Deal Forum. Detalls of
these committees can be found in the section on Risk Management on page 128 and 129

The Board Risk Review Committee meets monthly.

There is a clear distinction between the governance and implementation of risk processes. The former is
vested in the Board of Directors and the board committees, while the implementation of risk processes
is the responsibility of management, who report to the committees regularly. Management has
unrestricted access 1o the board committees,

Executive Risk Review Forum

The Executive Risk Review Forum, which supplements the Board Risk Review Committes, consists of
executive directors and senior management and meets weekiy. Its mandate is to review and evaluate the
significant risks faced by the group, ensure adherence to risk limits, report limit breaches, and ensure
implementation of and adherence to agreed risk mitigation recommendations.

Group Risk Management

Risk management is critical 1o Investec. The group strives to understand and measure risks in order to
make considered judgements and decisions and to limit loss situations. The board is responsible for the
total process of risk management and the system of internal coniral and has implemented a number of
committees {as mentioned above) to assist in this regard.

An independent Group Risk Management division, which is accountable to the board, is responsible for
implementing, designing and monitering the process of risk management and integrating it into the day-
to-day activities of Investec.
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The board has reviewed and approved the group's risk strategy and philosophies, together with
executive directors and senior management, and is respensible for the cngoing assessment of the
effectiveness of the group’s risk management processes, Furthermore, the group continues to embed a
culture of risk awareness, control and compliance in its activities.

The effectiveness of any bank's policies and procedures for managing risk can never be completely or
accurately predictad or fully assured. The board is of the view that there are sufficient ongoing
processes, which have steadily improved over the years, for identifying, assessing and monitering the
significant risks faced by the group. These processes were in place for the year under review and up to
the date of approval of the annual repart and financial statements.

For further details on the group’s risk management process, see pages 125 to 157,

Internal control

Conirals are reviewed and evaluated regularly for appropriateness and effectiveness. The Board Risk
Review Committee and the Audit Committess assist the board in this regard (as discussed above). Best
practices are reinforced through active risk management processes and initiatives.

The board has the coverall respensibility for the group's system of internal control and for reviewing its
effectiveness. The system of internal control is designed to manage, not eliminate, significant risks faced
by the group and was in place for the year under review. It Is recognised that such a systern can only
provide a reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The group adopted the guidance “Internal Control: Guidance for Directers on the Combined Code™
{Turnbul! Guidance) issued by the institute of Chartered Accountanis in England and Wales in (999
This requires the board, through its approsriate management and agreed control processes, to:

*  Assess the contrel and risk management environment.

+  identify risks and risk information.

*  Embed a cuiture of risk awareness and control consciousness.

* Obtain assurance of implementation of risk management processes.

This is achieved within the group through a combination of risk identification, evaluation and monitoring
process, apprapriate decision and oversight forums, and various contral functions such as the Risk
Management, Internal Audit and Compliance divisions. These ongoing processes were in place
throughout the year under review.

As part of the process, the overall investec business was broken down into strategic business units,
Through establishment of z network of local risk champions, each unit was empowered with the
respensibility and accountability for management of its own risk. Each business unit now follows a
consistent risk assessment process through workshops facilitated by Group Risk Management.
Obijectives to achieve shareholder value are defined, and the risks to these objectives and controls for
each risk are identified and evaluated.
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The action plans and risk and control issues arising from this process are reviewed regularly at the
relevant executive and management comrittees based at a business unit level,

The Internal Audit division is independent and reports directly to the vartous Audit Commitiees
operating under an approved charter On an ongoing basis, any material shortcomings in control
effectiveness are noted in internal audit reports for each business unit. Effective mechanisms are in
place, in order to ensure that appropriate corrective action is taken to remedy control weaknesses
highlighted by the Internal Audit and Cempliance divisions.

The group’s significant risks are reviewed weekly by the Executive Risk Review Forum and monthly by
the Board Risk Review Committee. The purpeses of these commiitees are set out above,

Significant and material breaches of prescribed controls are reported to the Board Risk Review
Committee. Reports from the control functions, the Audit Committees and the Board Risk Review

Committee are reviewed at each board meeting,

Internal financial control

Financial controls througheut the group focus on critical risk areas. These areas are, as appropriate,
identified by operational management, confirmed by group management, monitored by the beard,
reviewed by Group Risk Management, assessed by the risk assurance functions of Internal Audit and
Cempliance, and evaluated by the independent auditors.

Internal financial controls are based on established policies and procedures {see “Role and
respensibility” above). Management is responsible for implementing internai financial controls, ensuring
that personnel are suitably qualified and that an appropriate segregation exists beiween duties and
independent review. Processes are in place to monitor internal control effectiveness, identify and report
material breakdowns, and ensure that timely and appropriate corrective action Is taken.

The directers consider that the group's system of internal financial control is adequately designed 1o

«  Provide reasonable, aithough not absolute, assurance of both the integrity and reliability of financial
information.

* identify and appropriately mitigate significant risks.

+  Safeguard, verify and maintain accountability of assets.

*  Prevent and detect fraud.

*  Support business objectives and sustainability under normal and adverse cperating conditions,

*  Ensure compliance with applicable faws and regulations.

internal and external audit

An Internal Audit division is based in each significant jurisdiction in which the group operates. Internal
Audit operates independently from axecutive management, with unrestricted access 1o the Chairmen of
the various Audit Committees. The Audit Committees review the mandate, authority, resources, scope of
work and effectiveness of Internal Audit annually. The review also includes an assessment of the work
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conducted by internal and external audit. For further details on the group's Internal Audit division, see
page 153 and 154,

The group's external auditors are Ernst & Young and KPMG. The group encourages consuliation between
external and internal auditors within defined parameters that does not in any way impair the
independence of any party,

Group Compliance

Investec has an independent Group Compliance function within its risk management framework, which is
responsible for assisting management in complylng with statutory, regulatory, supervisory and
policyholder protection rule requirementis. The Compliance division has unrestricted access to the
Chairmen of the varicus Audit Committees. For further details on the Group’s Compliance function, see

pages |54 to [56.,

The group responds proactively and pragmatically to new regulatory developments in order to promote
sound practices and minimise the wnpact of regulatory risk,

Communication, disclosure, transparency and relations with stakeholders

The Board of Directars subscribes to a philosophy of providing meaningful, transparent, timaly and
accurate financial and non-financial information to its primary stakeholders, which include sharehoiders,
employees, rating agencies, regulatory bodies. clients and industry investment analysts. This is to help
these stakeholders make meaningful assessments and informed investment decisions about the group.

investec endeavours to prasent a balanced and understandable assessment of the group’s position by
addressing material matters of significant interest and concern. The group also seeks to highlight the key
risks to which it considers iself expesed and the responses tc minimise the impact of the risks. Another
objective is to show a balance between the positive and negative aspects of the activities of the group,
in order to achieve a comprehensive and fair account of its performance.

The board recognises the importance of ensuring an appropriate balance in meeting the diverse needs
and expectations of all the group's stakehclders and building lasting relationships with them,

Al shareholders are encouraged to attend the AGM and any other sharehclder meetings of lnvestec,
and to raise issues and participate in discussion ¢n items included in the notice of the meeting. The
AGM provides an opportunity for the board to communicate with sharehoiders and for sharehoiders to
put their questions across in person. The chairperseons of the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination
Committees attend the AGM to respond to relevant questions.

At general meetings, a schedule of the proxy votes cast is available to all sharehoiders. Investec
proposes a separate resclution on each substantially separate issue and does not bundie resclutions
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together inappropriately. The shareholders are specifically requested to approve the group’s report and

accounts and its remuneration report.

The group has an investor Relations division, whigh is responsible for ensuring appropriate
communication with its stakeholders. Reguler contact is maintained with institutional shareholders, fund
and asset managers, analysis and rating agencies through a comprehensive investar relations programme.
This includes reetings with executive management, investor road shows, preseniations to the
investment community, communication by email, regular telephone conferences and liaison with private
shareholders in response to their enquiries. The Investor Relations division reports back regularly to the
perating divisions, the group executive and the board on various matters and concerns raised by

stakehelders.

The group responds proactively to all requests for explanation or additional information raised by
shareholder representative badies. in order to enable shareholders to better understand the group and

its operations,

Significant announcements are refeased directly 1o the market via the services offered by the London
and |channesburg Stock Exchanges. thereby ensuring fair treatment of all stakeholders,

Furthermore, the group maintains a comprehensive investor relations web site, which ensures that all
stakehclders readily have access to histerical and current information, including credit ratings, financial
results and share price information. The contact details of the Investor Relations division are provided at
the beginning of this report.

The group's Marketing team, in close co-operation with the executive and the Investor Relations
division, liaises with the media to ensure that the public is kept fully informed. The group also employs
external public relations specialists to assist in this regard.

The group's ongoing commiiment to provide timeous, detailed and relevant disciosure to its

stakehoiders was rewarded during the year, when it received the following awards:

*  Best Investment Analyst Society Presentation - Investment Analysts Society of Southern Africa.

*  Rated in the excellent category (just outside the top 10} of the top 100 listed companies on the JSE
- Ernst & Young Excellence in Financial Repoerting Award.

*  Third place for the best investor refations web-site among JSE top 40 companias - South African IR
Magazine Awards,

+  Second place for best crisis management {in relation to the way in which the group handied the
rumours syrrounding the decline in its share grice during February and March 2003) - South African
IR Magazine Awards.

Investec’s communication policy focuses on ensuring that all empioyees worldwide are kept informed of
it aspirations and activities. The group produces a guarterly magazing, Impact, for all its employees,
which provides information on the latest happenings within [nvestec. Furthermore, the group has a
comprehensive intranet site in South Africa and the UK, which provides employees with prompt
communication on group developments and topics of interest. Urgent notices are sent out to all staff
through the group's internai email systems.
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Communication between the beard, the group executive and senior management is facilitated by the
Global GMF and the regionat management forums, as discussed on pages 167 1o 169,

Regulation and supervision

The group is subject to external regulation and supervision by various South African and international
statutory bodies and regulators. In terms of the DLC structure, the South African Reserve Bank {SARE)
Banking Supervision Department is the lead supervisor of the combined Investec greup comprising
investec Limited and Investec plc. The SARB is also the superviser of lnvestec Limited, while the
Financial Services Authority in the UK is the supervisor of laveste¢ plc, The group strives to achieve
open and active dialogue with its regulators and supervisors, 10 comply with the various regulatory and
supervisory requirements. Processes are in place to respond proactively and pragmaticaily to emerging
issues, The group reports to regulators and supervisory bodies regularly. Where appropriate, the group I
participates in industry committees and discussion groups 1o maintain and enhance the regulatory

environment in which it operates.

Financial reporting and going concern

Investec cperates under a DLC structure (see pages 4 to 6), which requires compliance with the
corporate and accounting regulations of both the UK and Scuth Africa.

The financial statermnents of the group were prepared on the going concern basis, The board is of the
opinion, based on its knowledge of the group. key processes in operation and specific enquiries, that
adequate rescyrces exist to support the group on a going concern basis over the next year

Values and code of conduct
Organisational integrity is covered in detail in Irnvestec's Journey 1o Sustainability 2003 regort.

The group has a strong organisational culture of entrenched values, which forms the cornerstone of the
expacted behaviour of the group towards ail stakeholders, both internal and external. These values are
embodied in a written Statement of Values, which serves as the group's Code of Ethics and is continually
reinforced. The group’s Code of Ethics is updatad from time to time. Investec's values demand that the
directars and employees of the group conduct alt internal and external dealings with integrity.
consistently and uncompromisingly displaying moral strength and behaviour which promotes trust.
Cenflicts of interest are required to be disclosed.

The group regularly conducts values workshops across the entire group, to review with all members of
staff the values, their meaning, relevance and importance in the daily operations of the greup.

The group views all employees as the custodians of ethical behavioun, which is reinforced through
internal processes, policies and procedures. As such, all new employees are invited to attend induction
pracesses at which the group’s philosophies, values, culture, risk management and compliance
procedures are expiained and discussed, Furthermore, the group's Organisational Development team
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plays an important role in facilitating the understanding and ongoing practice of the group's valuss,
philesophies and culture.

Investe¢ continually strives to conduct its business with uncompromising integrity and fairness so as to
promote compiete trust and confidence in the banking industry, In addition to the group valuss,
acceptable business practices are communicated through the Human Resource practices manual, which
is available online on the group's intranet.

Dealings in securities

investecs' policy on Personal Account Dealing is based on the position paper and guidelines issued by

the regdlators and is based on international best practice. The policy includes the foliowing features:

« it prohibits trading by staff for speculative purposes (and therefore reguires a minimum 30-day
holding period for securities),

«  The group’s Compliance division is required to sign-off on all employee dealings in securities.

= The group’s Compliance division facilitates the compilation of a restricted list and imposes a closed
peried for staff dealing in Investec securities prior to the publication of the financial statements. In
terms of this “closed period” policy, directors, officers, participants in the share incentive scheme and
staff who may have access to price sensitive information are precluded from dealing in Investec
shares approximately two manths prior 1o the release of the group's interim and financial results.

The group's Compliance division administer compliance with the group's Personal Account Dealing
palicy. Each employee is required to sign an undertaking on this policy, whereby they agree to disciose
all their personal and connected party accounts, The policy, furthermore, requires that all staff dealings
be facilitated through an approved brokerage account.

Details of directors’ dealings in Investec shares in accordance with the |SE and UK listings requirements,
are made publicly available,

Employee participation and skilis

Investec aspires o be one of the world's great specialist banking groups and its success depends on its
employees. investec recognises that its people are its most important asset. Ms philosophy, therefore, is
to employ the highest calibre individuals, who are characterised by integrity, intellect and innovation, and
demonstrate compatibility with Investec’s phitosophy and core values. Investec has a flat, integrated
structure, where individuality is encouraged.

The directors belisve that, ultimately, Investec's success depends on its pecple working together in the
interests of clients. For this reasen, lnvestec strongly emphasises the processes of recruitment, education
and development. To this end, Investec has an internal business learning centre which, together with the
various divisions, offers a wide range of training programmas aimed at enhancing employee potential,
The group's culture values employee participation in the decision-making process, and encourages
communication throughout the group, achieved in part by encouraging wide participation in format

forums and processes,
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Material employee ownership

Material employee ownership is one of Investec's fundamental philosophies. As at 31 March 2003,
management and staff held an effective interest in Investec of approximately 20%. Ownership of the
group is devolved on employees through the various share options and leveraged equity schemes, and
participation in ownership by ali employees is actively encouraged. The purpose of these schemes is to
promote an "esprit de corps” within the organisation, create an awareness cof Investec’s parformance
and provide an incentive to maximise individual and group performance by allowing all employees to
share in the risks and rewards of the group.

Informaticn on the various schemes can be found in the remuneration report on pages 185 to 203,

Sustainabilicy reporting

Corporate reporting is moving continuously towards greater transparency, accountability and integrity, as
a foundation for good governance. It is becoming increasingly important for companies to focus on the
qualitative measures of corporate reporting, which cover the social, envircnmental and economic
aspects of the business. The group is aware of the reguirement, as laid out by King Il and other
international guidelines, to report on its “triple bottom line” and other integrated sustainability reporting

issues.

tnvestec’s fourney to Sustainabdity 2003 wes produced as a separate report accompanying the Annual
Repart for 2003. The report shows in detail Investec's commitment to enhanced corporate
responsibility, stakeholder accountability and creditable performance reporting, Further detail is also
provided on pages 181 1o 184,
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sustainability review

Introduction

Corporate reporting is moving continuously towards greater transparency, accountability and integrity, as
a foundation for good governance {see also Corporate governance on pages 158 1o 180), It is beceming
increasingly important for companies to focus on the qualitative measures of corporate reporting, which
cover the social, environmental and econemic aspects of the business.

nvestec recognises the value that arises from meaningful interaction with stakeholders and embarked
on g process to entrench sustainable growth and corporate responsibility in the group's culture and
business model. As Investec’s understanding of corporate scecial responsibility deepened, its approach
evolyed from passive philanthropy to 2 more comprehensive corporaie citizenship programme.
Accordingly, the group is establishing a responsible sustainability process. based on a pragmatic appreach
that emphasises benefits for all stakeholders. These include shareholders, clients, employees, local
communities and the wider society.

investec's Journey to Sustainability 2003 has been produced as a separate report accompanying the
Annual Report for 2003, The report shows in detail Investec’s commitment to enhanced corporate
responsibifity, stakeholder accountability and creditable performance reporting. A summary of the
report follows.

Black Economic Empowerment

Investec recognises that employment equity and the pursuit of black economic empowerment {BEE) are
pivotal efements of the sustainability process in South Africa, They involve economic and sccial
transformation and, ultimately, aim to achieve sustainable development for the country as a whole. The
group’s empowerment strategy was developed cver a number of years by its BEE Forum, which is driven
by senior management and senior black professionals in the organisation.

As part of this process, Investec underwent a process to transform the organisation from within and to
help black owned and managed companies to establish and develop. Investec acknowledges, however,

iat




182

Annual Repaort 2003

that it also needs to address the transformation of strategic decision-making bodies throughout ail levels
of the organisation,

Accordingly, after the 2003 year-end, Investec Limited concluded an empowerment transaction with Tise
Graup (Tiso), Peu Investment Group (Peu) and the Entrepreneurship Development Trust. in terms of
the transaction, Tiso, Peu. the broad-based Entreprencurship Development Trust and an Investec
Employee Share Trust collectively acquired a 25.1% stake in the issued share capital of Investec Limited.

In summary, the components of investec’s BEE strategy include: employment equity, human rasource
development {including income differentials and skills developrent), procurement, enterprise
development, corporate social investment, and ownership and control, Investec's approach to BEE
embraces each of these aspects, which are addressed in Investac’s fourney te Sustainability 2003 report.

In essence, the group's approach to empowerment and sustainability reflects a spirit of
entrepreneurship, manifest throughout Investec’s approach to business, employees and society.

Business

Investec consistently strives to ensure that clients receive quality products and services by improving
technology, enhancing service and taking cognisance of the individual requirements of all stakeholders.
The group encourages debate and the free flow of ideas to ensure employees seek inncvative,
entrepreneurial solutions to clients’ requirements,

As a company specialising in Investment Banking, Treasury and Specialised Finance, Private Client
Activities and Asset Management, Investec is committed to investing in, creating and developing
sigaificant and sustainable businesses. The group believes that there needs to be a balance between
ecanomic imperatives, the needs of society and their combined impact on the environment.

The most significant sustainable impact that Investec’s business can have, directly or indirectly, is
achieved through the provision of financial services to corporate and private clients. The group believes
that it has a unigue ability to identify talented entrepreneurs and assist them in building sustainable and
meaningful businesses.

Furthermore. investec is committed to developing sound sustainable procurement practices that meet
the challenges of the environment in which the group operates. This is being done within the context of
the commercial and strategic intentions of the group and the expectations of stakeholders,
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Employees

Investec, as a services-orientated business, relies on the health, motivation and performance of its
employees. The group's philosophy is to employ the highest calibre individuals, who show integrity,

intellect and innovation.

Investec strives to inspire entrepreneurship among employees through, for mstance, a flat, integrated
structure, where individuality is encouraged. This, together with the group’s cuiture, values and hurnan
resources practices, creates a working environment that stimulates exiraordinary performance. In this
way, employees are able to be positive contributors to the group, clients and their communities. The
Human Resources division alsc plays a crucial role in sustaining strong serformance by ensuring the
well-being, fair treatment and development of employees,

While Invested’s values embrace equal opportunity and value diversity, circumstances in South Africa
have also highlighted the need for a special focus on employment equity issues, As such, employment
equity is cne of the piliars of the grous's black economic empowerment strategy.

in the past |8 months, an important goal was to continue to maintain the impetus of “employment
equity-mindedness” within the bank, which refates to both an awareness of and commitment to
employment equity, as well as integrating it into the business. This was achieved partly through increasing
managernent accountability for employment equity and placing employment equity on the corporate
agenda. In addition, an important focus is promoting egqual opportunity within the workplace and the
group is committed to diversity, which is viewed not only as a social responsibility but a business
advantage for the future.

Investec's HIV/AIDS philosophy emphasises a commitment to treating all employees with fairness, dignity
and compassion; ensuring that individuals with HIV or AIDS are not unfairly discriminated against: and
managing the HIV and AIDS epidemic in the workplace.

Society

As Investec grows internationally, it nevertheless remains committed to re-building the society from
which it originated. This occurs concurrently with understanding and ensuring synchronisation with the
context of the countries in which the group is expanding. Accordingly, corporate social investment {C51)
remains dedicated to projects in South Africa, which now include involvement from employees around
the world.

In South Africa, Investec has shifted its social investment philosophy to align more closely with changes
in the political, economic and social landscape, as well as with its core business strategies and resources.
Investec’s offices in the UK, the US, Australia and israel are also developing social investment projects to
address their particular social needs and which are aligned to the group's values and philoseophies.

Worldwide, the group's €SI focuses on the creation and develepment of entrepreneurial inltiatives that
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are sustainable, have a measurable impact and empower people by equipping them with quality
education and entrepreneurial skiils, In South Africa, historically disadvantaged groups are & particular
focus. Not only are these initiatives widely recognised to be one of the most effective ways of breaking
the poverty spiral. They also enable Investec to harness the group’s collective skills and thus have the
greatest impact on society. A notable achievement in this sphere is the conception and development of
The Business Place, a cluster of businesses that support entrepreneurs, in the inner city of Jehannesburg.

Along with entreprencurship, Investec believes that relevant, innovative and top-quality education is
crucial to the prosperity of the nation. To this end, the group invested substantially in CIDA City
Campus, a tertiary nstitution that uses innovative teaching technigues to educate previously
disadvantaged students, as well as in secondary and tertiary education, both in urban and rural areas.

Investec also makes significant donations to projects and charities concentrating on health and welfare,
environmental conservation and crime prevention, Spending on health and welfare focuses on the
HIV/AIDS pandemic.

Environment

Investec recognises that it has a direct and indirect impact on society and the natural environment in
which it operates, The group has an impact on the envirenment internally through its operational
activities and externaily through its business activities. Accordingly, the group believes that it is in the
long-term interests of the business, staff, shareholders and broader stakehoiders ¢ embed a tangible
commitment to sustainability into all its activities.

Commitment to sustainability

Investec is firmly committed to the transformation process in South Africa and actively embraces the
challenge of translating the concept of sustainable development into operational practice and reaiity. The
group's commitmeant to empowerment and its entrepreneurial spirit are integral to the way it operates,
helping it to grow and enhance sustainable develcpment in businesses, among emgloyees and across
society.
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directors remuneration
report

Statement from the Chairman of the Board Remuneration Committee

The remuneration report has been prepared by the Remuneration Committee (referred 1o in this
section as the Committee) and has been approved by the Board of Direciors.

The board believes that a groperly constituted and effective Remuneration Committee is key to
improving the linkage between directors’ pay and performance, with the uitimate aim of enhancing the
group's competitiveness,

The primary purpose of the Committee is to determine the group’s policy on the remuneration of
executive directors and the specific remuneration packages for each executive director The Committes
is made up exclusively of non-executive directors, and executive directors are not involved in
determining their own remuneration packages.

This report dascribes the group's current remuneration palicy and details the directors’ remuneration
for the 2003 financial year

The repert is intended to comply with the provisions of the London Cembined Code, the UK Directors’
Remuneration Report Regulations 2002, the UK Financial Services Authority Listing Rufes, the South
African King I} "Code of Corporate Practice and Conduct” and the JSE Securities Exchange South Africa
(ISE) Listing Rules. In addition, the board recognises that the proposals made in the Higgs Raview on
non-executive directors may be incorporated inte the revised London Combined Code and, where
relevant, changes may be made to comply with the possible new code provisions once they have been
finalised,

Furthermere, the auditors are of the opinion that the auditable part of this report on pages 195 to 203
has been properly prepared, in accordance with the Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations 2002,
John Abell

Chairman, Board Remuneration Committee
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Composition and role of the Committee

In terms of the implementation of Investec’'s Dual Listed Companies (DLC) structure, the committees of
the board were reconstituted.

The current members of the recenstituted Remuneration Committee are John Abeit (Chairman),
George Alford, Sir Chips Keswick and Peter Thomas, The Committee members are independeant non-
executive directors and are free from any business or other refationship which could materially interfere
with the exercise of their independent judgement.

The Committee's principal responsibilities and objectives are to:

«  Make recommendations to the board, within agreed terms of reference, on the group's framewark
of executive remuneration, and to determing on their behalf specific remuneration packages for
executive directors.

+  Ensure that executive directors are appropriately and fairly remunerated and incentivised for their
contribution to the group’s performance, taking inte account both qualitative and quantitative
facters.

«  Review comgparable companies’ remuneration practices. This is ta ensure that competitive reward
strategies and programmes are in place, which will attract and retain qualified and experienced
management and executives necessary to meet the group's cbjectives and safeguard sharehcider
interests,

+  Administer and establish performance targets for investec's employee share schemes.

+  Ensure that the comments, recommendations and rules within South Africa and the UK pertaining 1o
director’s remuneration are given due regard, in determining the packages and arrangements of
executive directors.

The Committee is authorised by the board to seek any information it requires from any employee of
the group in order to perform its duties.

The Committee meets at least three times a year and, since July 2002, has met on four occasions, All
members attended the meetings. The Company Secretary of Investec ple, Richard Vardy, acted as
Secretary to the Committee.

Advisers to the Committee

Where appropriate, the Committee has access to independent executive remuneration consultants. The
selection of the advisers is at the discretion of the Committee Chairman, and the group bears any
expenses relating 10 appointment of external consuitants, During the financial year, the Committee
engaged the services of Sibson Consuiting, which provided comparative remuneration data and
recommendations on varicus components of executive remuneration packages. Sibson Consuiting has
also advised the group on other human resource issues such as employee rewards and long-term
incentivisation.
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Group Human Resources also provides advice to the Committee. The Human Resources division is a
speciaiist function within the group and provides supporting information and documentation relating to
matters that are presented to the Committee. This includes comparative data and motivations for
proposed salary, bonus and share awards. The Head of the group's Human Rescurces division, Patsy
McCue, is not 3 board director and is not appointed by the Committee,

While the Chief Executive Officer has the right to address any meeting of the Committee, he plays no
role in the determination of his remuneration package or any other executive director's remuneration
package.

Policy on executive directors’ remuneration

The group’s philosophy is to employ the highest calibre individuals, who are characterised by integrity,
inteflect and innovation. Investec strives 1o inspire entrepreneurship within all areas of the group by
providing a working environment that stimulates extraordinary performance, so that executive directors
may be positive contributors to the group, its clients and their communities.

investec rewards executive directors as individuals for the value they add through payment of an
industry competitive annual package, a variable performance reward and ownership in the form of share
incentive scheme participation. Overali rewards, however, are considered secondary in importance to
Investec’s core values of work content (greater scope of responsibility, variety of work and high leve! of
challenge} and work affiliation (entrepreneurial fee! to company and unique culture) in the attraction,
retention and motivation of employees,

Investec has a strong entrepreneurial, merit and values-based culture, characterised by a high degree of
passion, energy and stamina, The ability to live and perpetuate the stated values, culture and
philosophies of the group in the pursuit of excellence is considered paramount in determining cverall
reward levels, These values clearly apply in the case of the executive directors.

Both the type of people the organisation attracts, and the culture and environment within which they
work, remalin crucial elemants in determining the success and long-term progress of Investec,

The key principles of Investec's overall remuneration policy for executive directors, which was appiied

during the financial year, are as foliows:

*  Reward programmes are designed and administered to align directors’ interests with those of the
group's stakehoiders.

*  Reward programmes are clear and transparent, in order to retain individual interest in. and
identification with, the short- and iong-term success of Investec.

* A significant proportion of rewards, including both annual and long-term incentive companents, are
explicitly linked to the performance of the business and the individual business units, lvestec
recognises the performance of the business and the individual. As indicated above, however, both
gualitative and guantitative issues form an integral part in the determination of reward lavels.

*  Reward levels are targeted to be commerciaily competitive. The most relevant competitive reference
points for reward fevels are based on the scope of responsibility and individua! contribution made.

*  Appropriate benchmark, industry and cornparabie organisations remuneration practices are reviewed
regulariy
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- For executive directors, the FTSE UK Speciality and Other Finance firms provide the most
appropriate benchmark.

- In order to avoid disproportionate packages across areas of the group and between executives,
adjustments are made at any extremes to ensure broad internal group censistencies.
Adiustments may also be made to the competitive positioning ¢f pay components for individuals
in cases where a higher level of investment is needed in order to bulld or grow either a business
unit or the group’s capability in a geography.

+  The Committee determines the overall remuneration package for the executive directors,
*  The reward strategy is open 1o internal as weil as external scrutiny and challenge, and reward

srogrammes are communicated to executive directors,

At the time of writing this report, the Cammittee's intentions were to apply the same philosophies and
pringiples in the determination of the executive directors’ reward packages for the 2004 financial year and
subsequent financial years. These philosophies and principles however, are subject to appropriate review.

Policy on non-executive directors’ remuneration

The policy on the remuneration packages for non-executive directors is agreed and determined by the
board 2s a whole, During the financial year, the Committee conducted a peer group review in order to
determine the appropriste level for non-executive directors’ packages.

t the time of implementing the DLC structure, it was agreed that non-executive directors {with the
exception of the Chairman) will be paid a basic retainer of £30 00C for their services as directors,
Following the peer group review, however, this amaunt has been increased to £35 000 for the 2004
financial year. Additional fees are payabie for chairing or being & member of certain audit or
remuneration and nomination committees and subsidiary boards due to additione! responsibilities, Fees
are also payable for attendance at other sub-committee meetings.

During the 2003 financial year, the Chairman was paid a total package of £186 311 for his services as a
directer. Based on the information gathered during the peer group review, the Committee has agreed
that from the 2004 financizl year, the Chairman will receive an overall fee of £250 000 for his services

as a director.

Service contracts and terms of employment

The executive directors of the group have indefinite contracts of employment, terminable by either
party giving six months’ written notice to the other. kach executive director is entitled to receive a basic
salary and is also eligible for an annual bonus, the amount of which will be determined at the discretion
of the Committee. Furthermore, the executive directors may elect to sacrifice a portion of their annual
salary to receive company benefits such as a travel allowance and medical aid. The full costs of these
benefits wili be deducted from their annual salary. The contracts of employment do not contain
provisions for compensation payable on early termination.

Non-executive directors do not have sarvice contracts and letters of appointment confirm the terms
and conditions of their service. Unless the non-executive directors resign earlier or are removed from
their positions, they will e appointed as directors until the close of the group's annual general meeting




Annual Resory 2003

{AGM) in 2005 (subject to re-election as directors at that AGM and in terms of the provisions of the

Articles of Association).

Dates of appointment to the board

The boards of lnvestec plc and lnvestec Limited are separate and subject to separate legal obligations to
each respective company and comprise the same persons who are authorised, as boards, to manage

Investec as if it were a unified econcmic enterprise.

The directors of investec ple. and the dates on which they were appointed to the board are set out in

the table below:

Name

Date of appointment

Notice period

Executive directors

5. Koseff (Chief Executive Officer)

8. Kantor {(Managing Director)

G.R, Burger {Group Risk and Finance Director}
A, Tapnack

Non-executive directors
H.S. Herman {Chairmany
|. Abell

S.E. Abrahams

G. Alford

DE. Jowei

L.R. Kantor

Sir €. Keswick

P Malungani

PR.S. Themas

26 june 2002
26 june 2002
3 fuly 2002
| july 2002

26 June 2002
19 March 2002
26 June 2002
26 June 20072
26 June 2002
26 June 2002
26 lune 2002
26 june 2002
26 June 2002

& moriths
& months
& months
6 months

The directors of Investec Limited, and the dates on which they were appointed to the board are set out

in the table below:

Name

Date of appointment

Notice period

Executive directors

S. Koseff (Chief Executive Officer)

B. Kantor (Managing Director)

G.R. Burger (Group Risk and Finance Director)
A, Tapnack

Non-executive directors
H.S. Herman (Chairman)
1. Abell

S.k. Abrahams

G. Alford

D.E. Jowed

|.R. Kantor

Sir C. Keswick

P Malungani

PR.S. Thomas

& October 1986
8 June 1987

3 july 2002

I juty 2002

i January 1994
26 June 2002

21 October 1996
26 june 2002

| January 1989
30 July 1980

28 June 2002

26 fune 2602

29 June 198!

& months
& months
& months
& months
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Norte: The board of investec Group Limited {now Investec Limited) was reconstitutad in terms of the implementation
of the group's DLC structure. in terms of providing information on the date that directors have been appointed to
the |nvesiec Limited board, it would be misleading, in the case of those direciors that had been members of the
rvestec Group Limited Board to indicate that they have only been cirectors since the date of implementing the
group’s DLC structure. As a resuit, for those directors concerned, their dates of appointment reflect the date that
they were first appointed to the Investec Group Limited board.

Furthermore. it was announced on 20 June Z003 that Mr. Geoffrey M. T. Howe, previously a Managing
Partner of solicitors Clifford Chance LLP and Managing Director of Robert Flaming Holdings Limited
and Miss Haruko Fukuda OBE, previously Chief Executive of the World Gold Council, will be appointed
as independent non-executive directors to the boards of Investec Limited and Investec ple with effect
from 21 July 2003,

Biographical detaiis of the directors of the board

These detalls can be found on pages 209 1o 21§ of the Annual Report,

Policies on the components of remuneration and employment

The reward package for executive directors comprises:
* Base salary and benefits.

*  Annual bonuses,

»  Long-term share incentive pians.

The Committee reviews the elements of the reward package relative to appropriate benchmarks and
other comparable crganisations, the value of individuals in perpetuating the values, culture and the
possible replacement cost of such individuals.

The elements of the reward paciage, as listed above, are discussed below and the component parts for
each director are detailed in tables accompanying this report,

Base salary and benefits

Sataries are reviewed annually and reflect the refative skills and experience of, and contribution made by,
the individual, Base pay ievels are linked to the relevant competitive market at median levels.

Benefits provide long-term financial value based on continuous employment and are targeted at
competitive levels. These are delivered through flexible and tailored packages. Benefits include pension
schemes; life, disability and personal accident insurance; medical cover; and other benefits, as dictated by
competitive local market practices.

Annual benus

Annuzl bonuses are linked ¢ business performance, based on target business unit performance goals.
individual annual iricentive levels are allccated, based on individual performance, as determined by the
Committes. Furthermore, as discussed previcusly. qualitative issues are integral in the determination of
annual bonuses.
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The total cash element of compensation (base salary plus annual bonus} is targeted at competitive
levels for meeting target performance goals.

Long-term share incentive plans

The group has a number of share incentive plans that are designed to link the interests of the directors
and employees with shareholders and long-term organisational interests through performance ang risk-
based equity grants, The share plan vehicles in operation, and in which the directors are eligibie to
participate, are gutlined below. Further details on the directors’ shareholdings are provided in tables
accompanying this report,

Investec plc share option plan 2002 {approved and unapproved)

Allocations under this scheme are granted to all new full-time empioyees and, on a discretionary basis,
certain other employees, including directors and executives, in the groug in all jurisdictions, excluding
South Africa, Botswana, Namibia and Mauritius.

Under this schame options are granted, over Investec plc shares, at the prevailing market value and each
tranche of the options may only be exercised if the Committee is satisfied that the relevant
perforrmance conditions have been met, These conditions require growth in headling earnings per share
aver the relevant option pericd to equai or exceed the UK Retail Price Index {RPI}, plus 3%
compoundad annually over the same period.

In choosing the performance targets for this plan, the Committee considered the merits of earnings per
share (EPS) based targets as against alternative possibilities, such as comparative performance or
comparative growth in return on average shareholders’ funds (ROE) against a basket of other
companies. The Committee determined that EPS was the most appropriate criterion, as the group's mix
of businesses and geographical profile made it difficult to establish cne suitable basket of comparative
businesses, and growth in ROE would be difficuit 1o benchmark againyt other companies as there is no
industry-specific standard on the way in which this return sheuld be calculated, as a result of the
treatment of certain balance sheet Rterns such as goodwill The Commitiee believes that EPS-based
targets are appropriate as they measure the underlying growth of the group. The Committes intends to
continue 1o apply this during 2004, but keeps the whole matter of the suitabiiity of target-linked share-
based remuneration under periodic review.

Grants up to the value of £30,000 are made to UK employees on the approved pian, Options exceeding
£30,000 and grants in jurisdictions other than the UK are made cn the unapproved pian,

Under the approved plan options vest in tranches of 20%, 30% and 50% at the third, sixth and ninth
anniversary of the grant respectively. Any portion of the tranches that is not, or cannot, be exercised
lapses on expiry of 30 days after each anniversary,

The cptions in terms of the unapproved plan become exercisable in tranches of 25% each on the
second, third, fourth and fifth anniversary of the grant respectively. They similariy lapse 90 days after
each anniversary if the options are not, or cannot, be exercised.

Investec plc share appreciation option plan 2002

Under this scheme optians are granted which, when exercised, pay out a cash amount based on the
increase in the Investec Limited share price. This scheme is used 1o athieve the same objectives as the
unapproved plan in circumstances in which the regulatory authorities of the previous pian. ar of the

tel
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country in which the intended participant is resident, or the individual or corporate taxation
consequences of such participation, make participation in the previous scheme impossibie or inadvisable.

It is thus a scheme which, by duplicating the provisions of the previous scheme, enables the group to
place a proposed participant in the same position by way of cash settlement or otherwise. as he would
have been had he participated in the unapproved plan.

Investee Group Limited UK share option phan

Prior to listing on the LSE on 29 july 2002, the group operated this plan in terms of which options over
the then listed Investec Group Limited shares were granted to empiloyees, directors and executives in all
jurisdictions, excluding South Africa. Botswana, Namibia and Mauritius. The opticns were exercisable in
tranches of 25% each on the second, third, fourth and fifth anniversaries of the grant. Performance
conditions were not attached, as at the time this was not deemed appropriate, and the options did not

lapse untii the 10th anniversary of the grant.

Participants have ongoing rights in terms of the plan, on which the most recent grant was made on 20
June 2002. No further opticns wiil be granted under this plan.

Investec Limited security purchase and option scheme trust 2002

Allocations under the option scheme of this trust are granted to all new full-time employees and, on a
discretionary basis. certain other employees, including directors and executives, in the group in South
Africa, Botswana, Namibia and Mauritius, Since listing on the LSE on 29 july 2002, only one grant has
been made in terms of the option scheme. This grant was made on 24 December 2002

As with the UK scheme above, options are granted at the prevailing market value and each tranche may
only be exercised if the Committee is satisfied that the performance conditions have been met. These
conditions require growth in headline earnings per share over the relevant performance period to equal
or exceed the UK RPL plus 3% compounded annually over the same period. The reasons for adopting
and EPS-based target. is the same as those outlined above. Subject to this performance condition being
met, options become exercisable in tranches of 15% each on the second, third, fourth and fifth
anniversaries of the grant and will lapse 90 days after each such anniversary if the options are not, or
cahnot, be exercised.

Prior to listing on the LSE, an offer of shares in terms of the purchase scheme was made, for which
participants have a liability to the trust for the purchase consideration of the shares. They bear the risk
for any potential loss in the market value of the underlying shares but zre entitled 1o any rise in such
mariet value after the offer becomes exercisable,

As with the option scheme, the purchase offers become exercisable in tranches of 25% each on the
second, third, fourth and fifth anniversary of the effective date of acceptance of the offer, but none of
the tranches lapses until the 10th anniversary of the acceptance of the offer At this anniversary date,
the entire offer lapses. Performance conditions were not applied to these shares as at the time this was
not deemed appropriate. Investec Limited security purchase and option scheme trust.
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Investec Limited security purchase and option scheme trust

Prior to listing on the LSE on 29 july 2002, the group operated the scheme in terms of which optiens
were granted to, and offers of shares under the purchase scheme were accepied by, employees,
directors and executives in South Africa, Botswana, Namibia and Mauritius,

The options and purchase allocaticns were exercisable in tranches of 25% each on the secend, third,
fourth and fifth anniversaries of the grant, Performance conditions were not attached as at the time this
was not deemed appropriate, and neither the options nor the purchase scheme allocations lapse until
the 10th anniversary of the grant or effective date of the offer respectively, Participants have ongoing
rights in terms of the pian, on which the most recent grant was made on 20 June 2002,

The participants in the purchase scheme bear the risk for any potential loss in the market value of the
underlying shares, but are entitied to any rise in such market value after the offer becomes exercisable.
No further options or offers of purchase allocations will be made under this plan.

Leveraged equity plans

A small group of senjor and executive management, inciuding certain Investec Limited/ Investec plc
directors, who have or can have a significant impact on the business, have been granted participation in
leveraged equity plans known as Fintique Ji and Fintique N In terms of these plans, participants acquired
units that entitled them to the risks and, on maturity of the plans in 2004 and 2008. future benefits of
ownership of the underlying Investec shares. Recent downward movements in lnvestec’s share price,
coupled with the leveraged structure of the plans, have had & major negative effect on the value of
these participations. Participants in the schemes bear the risk of a potential liability on maturity of the
schemes. In view of the nature of the participation there are no further performance conditions
applicable to these plans.

Performance graph

Investec is an international specialist banking group that provides a diverse range of financial products
and services to a niche client base in two principal markets, the UK and South Africa, as well as in
certain other geographies, inciuding Australia and [srael. The group is not considered to be a purely
commercial bank and focuses on the following four core areas of activity: Private Client Activities,
Treasury and Specialised Finance, Investment Banking and Asset Management.

The group has implemented a DLC structure in terms of which it has primary listings both in
Johannesburg and London (further informaticn on the DLC structure is provided on pages 4 to 6).The
listing on the LSE took place on 29 July 2002, aithough the group has been listed in South Africa since
1586.

The market price of the group’s shares on the JSE was R74.50 at 31 March 2003, ranging from a low of
R76.5C to a high of R174.4C during the financial year. Furthermore. the market price of the group's
shares on the LSk was £6.15 at 31 March 2003, ranging from a low of £6.07 1o a high of £9.60 from
July 2002 to the end of the financial year
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investec has found it difficuit to find an appropriate group of companies to benchmark itself against
because of its specialist range of activities, A number of companies within the FTSE Speciality and Other
Finance Index conduct simifar activities to Investec , although they do not necessarily have the same
geographicat profile, nevertheless the group believes that this is the most appropriate index against
which to measure its performance on the LSE Selection of an appropriate index against which to
measure the group’s performance on the |SE is more difficult, None of the companies within the
financial sector could be considered direct comparisons as they are generally commercial banks, asset
management or insurance companies, The group, however, still considers the [SE Financial 15 Index a
more appropriate benchmark than the JSE Top 40 Index.

The group’s total shareholder return has underperformed that of the |SE Financial i 5 Index and the
FTSE Speciality and Other Finance Index. This is largely as a result of the weak global equity markets,
which have negatively impacted the performance of investment banks refative to other commercial

banks and financial institutions.
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The following table shows a breakdown of the annual remuneration {excluding equity awards) of

directors for the vear ended 31 March 2003

Salaries,
directors fees Total Totat Total
and other Annual other remuneration  remuneration
remuneration’ bonus* benefits® expense expense
2003 2003 2003 2003 2002'7
Narme' £ £ £ £ £
Executive directars
S. Koseff {Chief Executive Officer) 248 253 300 000 31 747 580 0G0 583 434
8. Kantor (Managing Director) 252 434 350 Q00 27 566 630 000 639 743
G. R. Burger {Group Risk &
Finance Director) 143 834 350 GO0 23736 517 570 525 502
A Tapnack 215 000 250 000 22 742 487 142 5i6 066
Total Pounds Sterting 859 52i 1 250 GO0 105 791 2215312 2324 745
Norn-executive directors
H. 5. Hermman (Chairman)® 163 137 |7 174 186 311 390 244
J. Abei! 43 250 - - 43250 -
S, E Abrahams 59 332 — 59 332 45 74|
G, Alford 40 000 40 000
Dr H. K Davies” i 009 - | 009 2318
G. . Davin’ £ 278 | 278 2318
D, E jowell 127 760 - - 127 760 {06 583
l. R Kantor 22500 - 22 500 2318
Sir C. Keswick 40 000 40 000
£ Malungani 23750 - - 23750 -
0. R, Motsepe” 1 00% - - | 009 23i8
Dr M. Z. Nkosi’ 2 851 - - 2 85! & 167
PR 5. Thomas 57 785 57 785 44 530
Total Pounds Sterling 589 661 - 17 174 606 835 602 537
Total Pounds Sterling i 449 182 1 250 000 122 965 2 822 147 2927 282
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Notes:

“In terms of the implementation of the DLC structure. the board and board committees of Investec
Group Limited (now lnvestec Limited) were reconstituted. As a result, there may not be comparative
information for some of the directors.

* As discussed elsewhere in this report, the non-executive directors’ remuneration comprises a basic
retainer and other directors fees, S.F. Abrahams, D.E. lowell and PR.S. Thomas received fees for
attendance on other board sub-committees of £35 582, £3% 010 and £34 035 respectively. The basic
retainer and other directors fees paid have been apportioned according to the period served as
directers during the financial year

¢ Foliowing the peer group review undertaken during the course of the year, the Remuneraticn
Committee considered it appropriate to adjust the salaries of the executive directors {where necessary)
to reflect the base pay levels of the relevant competitive market at median levels.

* A preakdown of the components of the reward packages for the executive directors in the 2002
financial year is as foliows:

Salaries,
directors fees Total
and ather Annual Other remuneration
rermuneration bonus* benefits® expense
Name £ £ £ £
Executive directors
S, Koseff (Chief Executive Officen) 175 316 370 925 37 193 583 434
B. Kantar (Managing Director) 154 253 425 G18 20472 695 743
G. R, Burger {Group Risk & Finance Director) 104 709 386 399 34 394 525 502
A Tapnack 195 455 300 000 2061 516 066
Total Pounds Sterling 729733 | 482 342 112 670 2 324 745

* As discussed elsewhere in this report, annual bonuses are determined with reference to a range of
qualitative and quantitative factors. The past year has been an extremely chalienging one for the group,
and generally for all investment banks and the investment management industry world-wide.
Notwithstanding, the group made significant strategic advances, the most important of which are as
follows:

+  The implementation of the group's DLC structure - a process that fasted approximately four years,

*  The group successfully adjusted its cost base to compensate for the decline in revenues and
streamlined and rationalised many of its operations, particularty in the US and UK.

»  The group continued to restruciure and rationalise the life assurance activities acquired from
Fedsure Holdings Limited, including implementation of two further transactions. The group is
satisfied that the Fedsure acquisition has now been completed.

»  The Australian business was successfully turned around from successive vears of losses and showed
a pre-tax profit of £6.0 million,

+ A significant step was made in the group's empowerment strategy in Scuth Africa,

The executive directors played an integral role in the achievement of these initiatives. Furthermore,

from a qualitative point of view, the directors continue to piay an importent role in entrenching the

culture, values and philoscphies of the group.
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Notes {continued}:

fThe Chairman and the executive directors receive other benefits which may include pension schemes;
life, disabiiity and personal accident insurance; ang madical cover, on similar terms to other senior
execuiives.

“In line with recommendad market practice, it was decided not to pay the Chairman an annual
incentive payment during the 2003 financial year. The Chairman's annual fee was accordingly adjusted,
although his overall package Is substantially less than the previous year As indicated in this report, the
Committee has agreed that the Chairman will receive an overall fee of £250 000 during the 2004
financial year for his services as director.

" Resigned with effect from 26 June 2002. In terms of the implementation of the DLC structure, the
board and board committees of Investec Group Limited (now Investec Limited) were reconstituted.

Retirement benefits

MNone of the executive directors belong to a defined benefit pension scheme and all are members of
one of the group's defined contribution schemes, The total contribution to these schemes, payable by
the company. inciuded in the total salary of the directer or included in benefits paid as highlighted in the
table abave, is as follows:

Name £

Executive directors

S. Koseff (Chief Executive Officer) 22 697
B. Kantor {Managing Directer) 23 261
G.R. Burger (Group Risk and Finance Directar) {8 157
A Tapnack 22 742
Total Pounds Sterling 86 857

Non-executive directors
H. S Herman {Chairman) 1348
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Directors’ shareholdings and options
The company’s register of directors’ interests contains full details of directors’ shareholdings and opticns.
The tables that follow provide information an the directors’ shareholdings and options.

Birectors’ shareholdings in Investec plc and Investec Limited shares as at 31 March 2003

Indirect beneficial  Indirect beneficial
and non-beneficial  and non-beneficial

interest in interest in
Beneficial and Beneficial and Investec plc call investec Limited
non-beneficial non-beneficial options at a call options at a
interest'- interest strike price of strike price of
Name investec plc Investec Limited R145 per share  R145 per share
Executive directors
5. Koseff 782 401 341 987 315000 185 000
B. Kantor 370 267 792 795} 315000 i85 000
G. R Burger 404 275 143 465 126 000 74 00C
A Tapnack
Non-executive directors
H. S Herman 214 833 67 442 - -
}. Abell 283 166
S, E. Abrahams - - - -
G. Alford - - -
D E jowell 73732 43 302 -
LR Kanter 250 867 450 693 0001 407 00C°
Sir C. Keswick 3150 | 850 - -
P Maiungani - -
PR S.Thomas 137 &4 51133
Total number 2 236 872 | 442 590 | 449 000 851 000
Notes:

' Certain of the directors acquired shares through eguity purchase vehicles towards the end of the
financial year. These acquisitions were announced on [SE and LSE news services on 31 March 2003 and
have been included in the amounts reflected under beneficial interests,

* A put and call option agreement was entered into with Investec Securities Limited on 30 November
2001 (expiring on 28 November 2003) pursuant to which Investec Securities Limited is entitled to a put
aption on 126 000 Investec pic shares to B. Kantor at a strike price of R2Z5 per share and B. Kantor is
gntitled to 2 call option at a strike price of R30G per share.

* A put and call option agreement was entered into with Investec Securities Limited on 30 Navember
2001 (expiring on 28 November 2003) pursuant to which Investec Securities Limited is entitled to a put
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option on 74 000 Investec Limited shares to B. Kantor at a strike price of R225 per share and B. Kantor
is entitled to a call option at a strike price of R300 per share,

“ 315 000 of these call options have a strike price of Ri42 per share.

* 185 000 of these call options have a strike price of Ri42 per share

The directors, together with all other employees of the Investec Limited group, are beneficiaries of
the Investec Limited Security Purchase and Option Scheme and are therefore interested in:

- call options in respect of 630 000 Investec ple shares at a strike price of RI70 per shares
call options in respect of 370 000 Investec Limited shares at a strike price of R170 per share
[ 25 785 Investec Limited shares
- 3738753 Investes plc shares
The directors, together with all other employees of the Investec plc group, are beneficiaries of the
Investec ple Jersay Trust Number ] and are therefore interested in:
- call options in respect of | 398 236 Investec pic shares at £7.93
- call pptions in respect of 449 £93 Investec plc shares at £10.52
The directors, together with all other employees of the Investec ple group, are beneficiaries of the
Investec Guernsey Trust Number | and are therefore interested in:

call options in respect of 6 400 Investec plc shares at £7.95
- calt options in respect of 6 221 Investec plc chares at £10.52
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Directors’ interest in the Investec Limited security purchase and option scheme trust
as at 31 March 2003

investec ple Investec Limited Period
Name shares shares exercisable
Executive directors
G.R. Burger 20 G046 b 774 b April 2003 to | May 2005
A Tapnack 2277 I 337 | April 2003 to | Juiy 2004

Non-executive directors
H.5. Herman 13714 8 054 } April 2003 to | May 2005

Total number 36 037 21 i85

Note: The shares are held in terms of the Investec Limited share purchase scheme, for which the
directors have a liability for any related scheme debt, No shares were granted in terms of this scheme
during the year As at 31 March 2003, all the shares were fully vested,

Directors’ attributable interest in Investec plc and Investec Limited shares through a
leveraged equity plan called Fintique I} as at 31 March 2003

Entitlement to Entitiement to
Name fnvestec plc shares Investee Limited shares Period exercisable
Executive directors
S. Koseff 78 145 45 895 I April 2003 to 31 july 2008
B. Kantor 78 145 45 895 | April 2003 to 31 July 2008
G.R. Burger 67 680 39 748 E April 2003 1o 31 July 2008
A.Tapnack 33 491 19 689 b April 2003 to 31 fuly 2008

Non-executive directors

H.S. Herman 78 145 45 895 b Aprit 2003 1o 31 july 2008
I.R. Kantor 50 236 2% 504 I April 2003 to 31 July 2008
Total number 385 842 226 606

Note: There were no grants in Fintique !l during the year. All the shares the directors are entitied to in
terms of the Fintique Hl scheme are fully vested {the final tranche of 25% having vested on |5 July 2002}
and can be taken up at a price of R74.63, based on the valuation of the sinking fund as at 31 March
2003, The directors are at risk for any shortfall on maturity of the scheme.
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Directors’ attributable interest in Investec ple shares through a feveraged equity plan
calied Fintique Il as at 31 March 2003

Indirect
beneficial and
non-bensficial
interest in call

options at a strike

Indirect
beneficial and
non-beneficial

interest in
call options ata

Indirect
beneficial and
nan-beneficial
interest in call
options sold at

investec plc price of Ri45 strike price of  a strike price of
Name shares per share R17C per share  R300 per share
Executive directors
5. Koseff ! 193 3i0 55705 48410 16943
B. Kantor * 193 310 55 705 48 410 16943
G. R Burger * {44 254 41 696 36 142 |2 650
A Tapack 67 423 |7 740 6578 5802
Non-executive directors
H. S Herman * 147 166 42028 36 805 12 882
SE Abrahams i1 651 | 326 2 653 99
3 E Jowell 7477 1 990 3979 I 393
BRS. Thomas 14 564 1 658 3316 | 160
Total number 788 755 217 848 196 293 68 702

Directors’ attributable interest in Investec Limited shares through a leveraged equicty
plan called Fintique Iii as at 3| March 2003

Indirect
beneficial and
non-beneficiaf
interest in call

options at a strike

Indirect
beneficial and
ron-beneficial

interest in
cafl options at a

Indirect
beneficial and
non-beneficial
interest in call

options sold az

Investec Limited price of R145 strike price of  a strike price of
Name shares per share RI70 per share  R300 per share
Executive directors
S. Koseff ! 113531 32716 28 432 95|
B. Kantor ? 113 531 32716 28 432 9951
G, R Burger?® 84 721 24 488 21 226 7429
ATapacik 39 362 10418 9737 3408
Non-executive directors
H. S. Herman * 86 432 24 683 21 616 7 565
S.E. Abrahams 6 843 779 | 558 545
D.E jowell 10 264 | 168 2337 818
PRS.Thomas 8 554 974 | 947 682
Total number 463 238 127 942 115 285 40 349
Notes:

In terms of the scheme structure, 45% {of which 20% of the entitlement having vested on {5 December
2002) of the shares are free or vested with a further 25% becoming vested on 15 December 2003 and
the remaining 30% vesting on 15 December 2004. The shares through the Fintique il scheme can be
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taken up on maturity {15 December 2004) of the scheme for a consideration of R96 1o R102.38 per
share for Rand denominated units and £5.45 for pound denominated units based on the current
leverage positian of the scheme. The directors are at risk for any shortfalis on maturity of the scheme,
All of the aptions mature on 15 December 2004, The interest in Investec plc shares were only acquired
post 2% july 2002 (the date of listing of Investec plc on the LSE).

' During the year, entitlement to 37 B&7 Investec ple shares and 22 239 Investec limited shares together with
the related interest in call options of 4 310, 8 621 and 3 017 Investec plc shares and 2 532, 5 063 and | 772
Investec Limited shares at a strike of R145, R170 and R300 respectivaly were acquirad by §. Koseft.

* During the year. entitlement to 37 867 Investec plc shares and 22 239 Investec limited shares together with
the related interest in call options of 4 310, 8 621 and 3 017 Investec plc shares and 2 532, 5063 and 1 772
Investec Limited shares at a strike of R145, R170 and R300 respectively were acquired by B. Kantor.

* During the year. entitlement 1o 20 390 Investec pic shares and 11 975 Investec limited shares together with
the related interest in call options of 2 321, 4 642 and | 625 Investec plc shares and | 363, 2 776 and 954
Investec Limited shares at a strike of Ri45, RI70 and R300 respectively were acquired by G.R. Burger,

" During the year. entitlement to 23 302 Investec plc shares and |3 686 Investec limited shares together with
the related interest in call options of 2 653, 5 305 and | 857 Investec plc shares and | 558,3 tig and | 090
Investec Limited shares at a strike of Ri45, R170 and R300 respectively were acquired by H.S. Herman.

Directors’ interest in options - Investec ple shares as at 31 March 2003 (Investec ple
share option plan 2002)

Date of Exercise  Number of Balance at Period
Name grant price  Investec ple 31 March 2003 exercisable
Executive directors
S. Koseff 20 Dec 2002  RII1.96 33 000 33 000G 20 Dec¢ 2004 to 20 Mar 2008
8. Kantor 2G Dec 2002 £7.93 50 0G0 50 000 20 Dec 20604 1o 20 Mar 2008
G.R, Burger 28 Aug 2002 Ri64.50 83000 20 jun 2004 to

20 Dec 2002 Rtt1.96 33 000 9% 000 20 Mar 2003
A.Tapnack 28 Aug 2002 £10.52 47250 20 Jun 2004 to

20 Dec 2007 £7.93 50 000 97 25¢ 20 Mar 2008

The interest in Investec plc shares were only acquired post 29 July 2002 {the date of listing of Investec
plc on the LSE).

Directors’ interest in options - Investec Limited shares as at 31 March 2003

Date of Exercise Number of Balance at Period
Name grant price Investec Limited 3| March 2003 exercisable
Executive directors
- 5. Koseff 20 Dec 2002 RIL1.32 |7 000 |7 OGO 20 Dec 2004 to 20 Mar 2008
G.R. Burger 20 June 2002 R144.50 37 000 20 Jun 2004 to
20 Dec 2002 R1II132 |7 00C 54 000 20 Mar 2008
A Tapnack 20 June 2002 RI6450 27 750 27 750 20 Jun 2004 to 20 Mar 2008
Notes:

S, Koseff and G.R. Burger were granted opticns in terms of the Investec Limited share option and
purchase scheme trust 2002,
- B. Kantor and A. Tapnack were granted options in terms of the Investec ple share option plan 2002,
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- Options granted on 20 December 2002 were based on the weighted average market value of the
oreceding five days.

- The options granted on 20 Juns 2002 and 20 December 2002 were made for no consideration.

- The options granied on 20 December 2002 had certain performance conditions attached (as discussed
on page |91 and 192) which to summarise required growth in headline earnings per share over the
relevant option period 16 equal or exceed the UK RPI plus 3%, (compounded annually over the same
period) and there were no performance conditions attached to the options granted on 20 june 2002,

- Options granted on 20 December 2002 included grants to certain senior executives (other than
directors), which awards were greater than 100% of their annual remuneration, The aliocations were
desmed to be exceptional, but were approved by the Remuneration Committee, as they believed
the allocations were necessary in order to retain the skills and contributions of these individuals,

Directors’ interest in derivatives covering Investec plc shares

Two BV incorporated companies in which certain directors have a beneficial and non-beneficial interest
have sold certain call options over Investec pic shares to the Investec Limited Employee Share Scheme.
The effective proportions relating to each director are set out below. Ali these calls are covered by
existing shares held by the BVl companies. The aggregate percentage economic interest held by these
directors in each of the BVl companies amounts to 30.75% ang 12.01% respectively. The directors
acquired rights to the above options on 31 March 2003

Cail options Call options Cail options Call options Call options
at a strike at a strike at a strike at a strike at a strike
price of price of price of price of price of
£7.93 £7.93 £7.93 £7.93 £10.52
maturing on maturing on maturing on maturing on maturing on
Name 20/12/04 20/12/5 20/12/06 20/ 12107 20/06/07
Executive directors
S. Koseff 7 493 29 444 24 008 23 994 27 564
B. Kantor 7 493 29 444 24 Q08 23 991 27 564
G.R. Burger 5 9%4 23 555 19 206 19193 22 051
MNon-executive directors
.S, Herman 2997 it 778 S 603 9 596 It 026
[.R. Kantor 7 493 29 444 24 008 23 991 27 564
PR.S Thamas I 499 5 889 4 802 4798 2513
Total number 32 969 129 554 105 635 105 560 12¢ 282
Conclusion

The Committee will continue to ensure that Investec’s reward packages remain competitive, provide
appropriate incentive for performance and take due regard of the culture, values and philosophies of
the group. The Commiitee will keep the existing remuneration arrangements, as discussed in this report,
under review during the 2004 financial year

Signed on behalf of the board

John Abetl
Chairman, Board of Remuneration Committee
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shareholder analysis

The group has implemented a Dual Listed Companies (OLC) structure in terms of which it has primary
listings both in johannesburg and tondon (further information on the DLC structure is provided on pages 4
e 6.

Investec plc, which houses the majority of the group's Non-Scuthern African businesses, was listed on the
l.ondon Stock Exchange on 29 July 2002. Investec pic also has a secondary listing on the |SE Securities
Exchange South Africa (JSE). Investec Limited, which houses the group's Southern African and Mauritius
operations, has been listed in South Africa since 1986.

As at 31 March 2003 Iavestec plc and investec Limited had 74 633 746 and 38 399 527 ordinary shares in
issue, respectively,




Spread of ordinary shareholders as at 31 March 2003

Investec pic ordinary shares in issue
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Number of Holdings % of rotal Number of % of issued
shareholders sharcholders shares in issue share capital
6803 1500 81.2% | 820 967 24%
| 544 5611 000 7.5% 05 903 1.5%
| 410 | CC1-5 000 68% 2963 151 40%
295 5001-10 000 A% 2110534 2.8%
429 10 001-50 000 21% 10028 518 13.4%
75 50 00-100 000 0.4% 5402 89S 7.3%
128 10¢ 001 and over 0.6% 51 130 908 6B.6%
Adpustraents® 70 87G G.i%
20 684 100.0% 74 6313 746 100.0%
Investec Limited ordinary shares in issue
Number of Holdings % of total Number of % of issued
shareholders sharehalders shares in issue share capital
15922 i-500 B8.7% i 285 189 3.3%
&97 501-1 000 3.9% 513 049 1.3%
773 i Q0:-5 000 4.3% | 742 610 45%
187 5001-10 000 1.0% | 323 658 35%
278 10 00 I1-50 Q00 1.5% 6 191 912 16.2%
47 50 001-100 000 03% 3349 311 8.7%
53 100 001 and over 0.3% 23 954 430 62.4%
Adjustments® 39 368 0.i%
{7957 100.0% 38 399 527 100.0%
* Arising frorm dernaterialisation orders in transit
Shareholder classification
Spread of Investec Limited Investec pic
shareholders nwmber of shares % holding number of shares % helding
Public* 27 07% 409 705% 57 042 813 764%
Non-Public 11320118 29.5% |7 550 933 23.6%
Non-executive directors of
Investec Limited/Investec plc 144 343 0.4% 679 929 09%
Executive directors of
Investee LimitedfInvestec plc | 278 247 3.3% i 556 943 2.0%
Fintigue I 3730 154 9.7% 6351 344 8.5%
Investec Staff Share Schemes 846 724 2.2% 1441 713 |.9%
Public tvestment Commissioner 5 300 65C 13.9% 7 561 004 i0.2%
Tocal 38 399 527 160.0% 74 633 746 160.0%

*As per the |SE listing requirements
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Largest beneficial shareholders as at 31 March 2003

In accordance with the terms provided for in Section 212 of the UK Companies Act {985 and Section
t40A of the Scuth African Companies Act, 1973, the group has conducted investigations into the
registered holders of «ts ordinary shares (including nominee and asset management companies) and the
results are as disclosed below.

Investec ple

Beneficial owner Number of shares % holding
{. Public Investment Commissioner {SA)} 7 561 004 10.1
2. Fintigue Il (BVI)* 6 351 344 8.5
3. Oid Mutual Life Assurance (SA) 3615002 48
4. Deutsche Bank AG (UK) 2451 322 3.3
5 Fedsure Assurznce Limited (SA) 2 105 304 2.8
4. Legal and General Pooled Index Fund (UK) | 825 728 2.5
7. Sanlam (SA) 1522 124 2.0
8. Liberty Life (SA} P205 191 1.6
9. RMB (54) 142 265 15
¢0. Momentum Life Assurance {3A} 1110 328 .5
Cumulative total 28 889 612 38.6

The top 10 beneficial shareholders account for 38.6% of the total shareholding in Investec pic. This
information is based on a threshold of 20 000 shares. Some major fund managers hold additional shares
below this, which may cause the above figures to be marginally understated.

Investec Limited

Beneficial owner Number of shares % holding
f. Public investment Commissioner {SA) 5 300 656 3.8
2. Fintique [ (BYD* 3730 154 9.7
3. Oid Mutual Life Assurance (SA) 2782473 7.3
4. Saniam (SA) I 317 593 34
5, Fedsure Assurance Limited {SA) i 236 449 32
6. Liberty Life (SA) 686 993 1.8
7. Deutsche Bank AG (UK) 670 409 i.8
g RMB (5A) 640 073 1.7
G. Mormentum Life Assurance {SA) 609 404 1.6
0. Investment Solutions {SA) Se6 (05 1.5
Cumulative total 17 540 303 45.8

The top 10 beneficial shareholders account for 45.8% of the total shareholding in Investec Limited. This
information is based on a threshold of 20 000 shares. Some major fund managers hoid additicnal shares
below this, which may cause the above figures to be marginally understated.

* A small group of senicr and executive management, including certain Investec Limited! Investec plc
directors, who have or can have z significant impact on the business, have been granted participation in
leveraged equity pians known as Fintique If and Fintique i In terms of these plans, participants acquired
units that entitled them to the risks and, on maturity of the plans in 2004 and 2008. fuiure benefits of
ownershis of the underiying Investec shares, Particinants in the schemes bear the risk of a potential
liability on maturity of the schemes.




Geographic holding by beneficial owner as at 31 March 2003
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Investec plc Investec Limited
South Africa 62.8% 81 5%
British Virgin Islands 8.5% 9.7%
UK and Wales 14.5% 2.5%
USA - L7%
Scotland 2.2%
Other countries 12.0% 4.6%

Note: The percentage holding in the British Virgin Islands represents the holding of Fintique ill as

discussed above,

Share statistics

Investec Limited {formerly Investec Group Limited) ordinary shares in issue

For the year ended 3! March 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
Closing market price per share (cents)

~ year end 7650 13000 19700 26020 27900
~ highest {7440 24580 27800 30000 27100
~ lowest 765G 13000 19200 18440 12500
Number of ordinary shares in issue (miilion) 38.4! 96,2 gi.0 80.6 804
Market capitalisation (R'mn)* 8645 14196 i3286 24095 2| 178
Number of shareholders 17957 19 445 3 454 3470 3788
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Investec plc ordinary shares in issue

For the year ended 31 March® 2003

Closing market price per share (pence)

~ year end 615
- highest 960
- lowest a07
Number of ordinary shares in issue (million) 74.6
Market capitalisation (£'mn)* 459
Meonthly average volume of shares traded ('000) 496
Price earnings ratio ® 6.3
Dividend cover {times) * 1.8
Dividend yield (%) * 8.8%
Earnings vield (%) * 15.9%
MNumber of shareholders 20 684
Notes:

' The number of shares in issue has reduced significantly following the implementation of the DLC
structure, in terms of which Investec plc was unbundled from Investec Group Limited {now Investec

Limited).

“The ISE have agreed 1o use the total number of shares in issue for the combined group. comprising
investec Limited and Investec ple, in calculating market capitalisation i.e. a total of |13.0 million shares in
issue.

* Investec pic has only been listed on the LSE since 29 July 2002.

“The LSE only include the shares in issue for Investec plc ie. 74.6 million, in caleulating market
capitalisation, as lnvestec Limited is not incorporated in the UK.

* Caiculations are based on the group's consolidated earnings per share before exceptional items and
amortisation of goodwill, and dividends per share as prepared in accordance with UK GAAP and
denominated in Pounds Sterling.
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directorate investec limited and
investec plc

Executive Directors

Stephen Koseff (51) *7

BCom CA (SA) H Dip BDP MBA

Chief Executive Officer

Stephen joined lnvestec in 1980, He has had diverse experience within investec as Chief Accounting Officer, and
General Manager of Banking Treasury and Merchant Baniing. His directorships include the JSE Securties
Exchange South Africa, Investec Bank Limited, Investec Bank (UK} Limited and The Bidvest Group Limited.

Bernard Kantor (53) *7

Managing Director

Bernard joined Investec in 1980. He has had diverse experience within Investec as 2 Manager of the Trading
division, Marketing Manager and Chief Operating Officer: His directorships include investec Bank Limited, Investec
Bank {UK} Limited and Phumelela Gaming and Leisure Limited,

Glynn R Burger (46) %7

BAcc SA{SA) H Dip BDP MBL

Executive Director responsible for Finance and Risk,

Glynn joined Investec in 1980, He has had diverse experience within Investac as Chief Accounting Officer, Group
Risk Manager and joint Managing Director for South Africa. His directerships include Investec Bank Limited.

Alan Tapnack {(56) *

BCom CA (SA)

Alan practised as a chartered accountant and is a former partner of Price Waterhouse and former Managing
Director of Grey Phillips Bunton Mundeli and Blake, a leading South African marketing services group. Alan joined
Investec in 1991 and subsequently became Chief Executive Officer of Investec’s UK operations. iHe is also
responsible for invested’s Israelt operations. His directorships include Investec Bank (UK} Limited and Carr
Sheppards Crosthwaite Limited.
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directorate investec limited and
investec plc

Non-Executive Directors

Hugh § Herman {62)%*

8A LLB

Non-Executive Chairman

Hugh practised as a lawyer before joining Pick 'n Pay, a leading South Afirican retail group, where he became
Managing Directar. He joined Investec in 1994, His directorships include Investec Bank Limited, investec Bank
(UK} Limited, Pick 'n Pay Hoidings Limited and Pick 'n Pay Stores Limited.

John Abell (71) +2*

MA (Hons)

John is former Chairman and Chief Executive of Orion Royal Bank and former Chairman of CIBC Wooed Gundy
Furope. His directorships include lwestec Bank (UK} Limited.

Sam E Abrzhams (64) "2%7 i
FCA CA (SA}

Sam is & former international partner and South African Managing Partner of Arthur Andersen. His current
directorships inciude Foschini Limited, Super Group Limited, investec Bank Limited and Phumeleia Gaming and
Leisure Limited,

George Alford (55) "4

BSc {Econ} FCIS FIPD MSI

George is former Head of Private Banking and Head of Persorine!l at Kleinwort Benson Group, and is currently a
senior advisor to the FSA His directorships inciude Investec Bank (UK) Limited.

Donn E lowell (61) 37

BCom LLB

Donn is Chairman of and a consultant to Joweli Giyn & Marais Inc, the South African legal advisers to the
company. His current directorships include Angiovaai Mining Limited, Investec Bank Limited and various cther
Investec companies.

lan R Kantor (56)

BSc {(Eng} MBA

fan 15 former Chief Executive of Investec Bank Limited, resigning in 1985 and relocating 1o the Netherlands. His
current directorships include Insinger de Beaufert Holdings SA (where he is Chairman of the management board
and in which Investec holds an 8.6% interest), Bank insinger de Beaufort NV and Investec Bank (LK} Limited.

Sir Chips Keswick (63) ***

Sir Chips is former Chairman of Hambres Bank Limited and Hambros PLC and a former director of Anglo
American Pic and was on the Court of the Bank of England, His directorships include De Beers SA, De Beers
Consolidated Mines Limited, IMI Ple, Persimmon Pl and Investec Bank (UK} Limited.

Mangatani Peter Malungani (45)

BCom MAP LDP

Peter is Executive Chairrman and founder of Peu Investrnent Group and Chairman of Phumelela Gaming and
Leisure Limited, SA Rail Commuter Corporation Limited. He is also Deputy Chairman of Capital Altiance Life
Limited and Capital Alliance Hoidings Limited. Other directorships include Super Group Limited and Investec
Bank Limited.
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directorate investec limited and
investec plc

Non-Executive Directors (continued)

Peter R 5§ Thomas (58} **7

CA (5A)

Peter is a chartered accountant and former Managing Director of The Unisec Group Limited. His current
direttorships include Investec Bank Limited.

Notes:

*  The dates on which the directors were acpeinted to the boards of investec Limited and Investec ple can be
found on page 189

*  Furthermore, it was announced on 20 june 2003 that Mr. Geoffrey M.T. Howe and Miss Haruke Fukuda will
be appointed as independent non-executive directors to the boards of investec Limited and Investec ple,
with effect from 21 july 2003,

Geoffrey M.T. Howe {53)

MA Law (Hons}

Previously a Managing Partner of solicitors Chifford Chance LLP and Managing Director of Robert Fleming
Hoidings Limited. Directorships include Jardine Lloyd Thompsen ple, AHL United Bank (UK} ple, Denton Wild
Sapte and [P Morgan Fleming Overseas Investment Trust pic,

Haruke Fukuda OBE (57)

MA (Cantab) DSc

Previously Chief Executive of the World Gold Council. Directorships include, AB Velvo, The Foreign and Colonial
Investment Trust PLC and Aberdeen Asian Smalier Companies Investment Trust PLC. Advisor to Management
Diagnostics [1d, Metro AG and Lazard, Serves on the Business Advisory Board of the United Natcom Officer for
Project Services.

Tha directors serve as Chairman or members on the following cormittees,

Comboined group/DLC Audit Cornmittee
{nvestec plc Audit Commitiee

Investec Limited Audit Commitiee
Remuneration Committee

* Nomination Committee

Chairman's Commitiee

Board Risk Review Committee

Detals on these committees can be found on pages 170 to 173,
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directorate

Investec Bank Limited
Reg. No. 1969/004763/06

Executive Directors

David M Lawrence (52)
BA(Econ) {Hons) MCom
Ceputy Chairman

Glynn R Burger (46)
BAcc CA{SA) H Dip BDP MBL

Bernard Kantor (53)
Managing Director

Stephen Koseff (51}
BCom CA{SA) H Dip BDP MBA
Chief Executive Officer

Bradiey Tapnack {56)
BCom CA{SA)

Non-Executive Directors

Hugh 5 Herman {62}
BA LLB
Non-Executive Chairman

Sam E Abrahams (64)
FCA CA(SA)

Dann E jowell (61)
BCom LIB

Mangalani Peter Malungani (45)
BCom MAP LDP

Daphne R Motsepe (45)
BR BCompt MBA

Dr Moriey Z Nkosi {67)
BSc MBA PhD

Peter R § Thomas {58)
CA{SA)

Fani Titi (40)
BSc (Hons) MA MBA

Russel A P Upton (68)
CA(SA}




directorate

Investee Bank (UK) Limited

Hugh § Herman (62)
BA LLB

Non-Executive Chairman
Alan Taprack {56)
BCom CA{SA)

Chief Executive Officer
Bradley Fried (37)
BCom CA(SA) MBA
Chief Operating Officer

John Abell (71)
MA {Honsg)

George Alford (55)
BS¢ {Econ} FCIS FPD MSI

Peregrine Crosthwaite {54)
MS!

Michae! Jameson-Till (58)
Bernard Kantor (53)

lan R Kantor {56)
BSc{Eng) MBA

Sir Chips Keswick (63)

Stephen Koseff {51)

BCom CA[SA) H Dip BDP MBA

lan Wohiman (48)
ACIB
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investec Bank (israel) Limited

Hugh S Herman (62)
BA LLB
Non-Executive Chairman

Alan Tapnack (56}

BCom CA{SA)

Deputy Chairman

Janathan Irroni {53)

BA

Managing Director and Chief Executive
Officer

Talya Aharoni {52)
MBA

Amihai Ayalon (58)

David Golan (62)
MBA

Bernard Kantor (53)

Stephen Koseff (51)
BCom CA(SA) H Dip BOP MBA

Mordechai Limon (79}
MBA

Cren N Most (52)
MBA

Shimon Ravid (67}
Pal

Daniel Rothschild (57)
BA

Zvi Zur (80)
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directorate

Investec Asset Management

{Pty} Limited
Reg. No. 1984/011235/07

Hugh § Herman (62}
BA LLB
Chairman

Hendrik | du Toit (41)
BCom {Hons) MCorn MPhil
Chief Executive Officer

Gail Boon (35}
BA (Hons) MBA

George H F Brits [43)
PhD MBA

Rebert A Coombe (34)
BCom CA{SA) ACMA

Elsabé de Vries {40)
BAcc BCompt {Hons) CTA MBA

Dromenico Ferrini (34)
BCom

*#* British

Jeremy B Gardiner {37)
BCom (Hons)

Roefof C Horne (39)
BCom {Honsy CA{SA}

Bernard Kantor (53)

Thabo Khojane (30)
BA Hons (kcon) BSc {Eng)

Stephen Koseff {51)
Com CA(SA) H Dip BDP MBA

Kim M McFarland {38)%*
BAce CALSA) MBA

John T McNab (36}
BEng MEng CFA

Andre D Roux {49)
MSe (Oxford) MPhil (Cambridge)

Mark | Samuelson {38)
BCom

Douglas | N Thomson (33}
BCom Hons




directorate

Investec Bank {Australia)
Limited

David Gonski {49)
BCom LLB
Chairman

Geofirey Levy {44}
BCom LLB
Chief Execytive Officer

Farrel A Meltzer (38)%
BCom BAcc CA{SA) Dip Ady Banking
Managing Director

Julian Block (69)
Dip Law H Dip Tax LLM M Taxation

Aian Chaonowitz (48)
BAcc MCom CA(SA)

Sam Hackner (47)
BCom {Hons) CA(SA)

Hugh S Herman (62}
BA LLB

Stephen Koseff {51}
BCom CA{SA) H Dip BDP MBA

David M Lawrence (52)
BA{Econ) {(Hons) MCom

Andy W | Leith (43)
BCom CA(SA)

Richard A Longes (57)
BA LLB MBA

Robert C Mansfield (54)
BCaom

* Resigned on 27 May 2003
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Investec Bank (Mauritius)
Limited

Hugh S Herman {62)
BA LLB
Neon-Executive Chairman

Pierre de Chasteigner du Mee (49}
ACEA FBIM FMAAT

Stephen Koseff {51)
BCom CA{SA) H Dip BDP MBA

David M Lawrence (52)
BA(Econ) {Hons) MCom

Angele Letimier (55)

Craig McKenzie {42)
B5¢ MSc CFA
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Director’s report

Nature of business

Investec is an international, specialist banking group that provides a diverse range of financial products and
services 1o a niche client base in two principal markets, the UK and South Africa, as well as certain other
gecgraphies including Australia and lsrael, Investec is organised into four principal divisions, namely Investrent
Banking. Treasury and Specialised Finance, Private Client Activities and Asset Management. In addition, Investec’s
head office provides certain group wide integrating functions such as Risk Management, Information Technology,
Finance, Investor Relations, Marketing, Human Resources and Organisational Development, it is also responsible
for the group's central funding as well as other activities, such as the group’s property business, trade finance and
traded endowment operations, A review of the operations for the year can be found on pages 7 to [24

This report deals with the requirements for the legal entity Investec pic. The directors’ report for the legal entity
Investec |imited can be found on page 319,

Group restructure

In luly 2002, in preparation for the Company’s listing on the London Stack Exchange as part of 2 Dual-Listed

Companies (DLC) structure, the Investec group's businesses in the UK, the US, Israei and Australiz were

transferred to the Company which acquired the whole of the ssued share capital (not already owned) of the

fallowing companies:

*  Jnvestec SA for a consideration of £582.1 million, satisfied by the issue of 50 334 493 shares and the
assumption of £281.8 miliion of indebtedness.

s Investec lsrasl BV for a consideration of £60.1 million satisfied by the issue of 9 737 282 shares.

+  The 54.4% of Investec Holdings Australia Limited not already owned by the Company's subsidiary, Investec
Holding Company Limited, for 2 consideration of £56.6 million satisfied by the issue of
9 493 928 shares.

* GRS Overseas Establishraent for a consideration of £4.2 mitlion satisfied by the issue of 701 346 shares.

*  Various other International subsidiaries for a consideration of £0.7 miliion satisfied by the issug of 3¢ 697
shares.

These holdings. with the exception of the holdings in Investec Holdings Australia Limited, were then transferred
to the Company's whoily owned subsidiary, Investec Holding Company Limited (JHC) for an aggregate
consideration of £646.6 million satisfied by the issue of shares and the transfer of indebtedness of £281.8 milion.

On 17 January 2003 Investec ple's 54.4% hoiding in Investec Holdings Australia Limited was transferred to IHC
for an aggregate consideration of £56.6 million on loan account, such that HHC then awned 100% of Investec
Haoidings Australia Limited. On 20 February 2003, the intercompany loan to IHC was capitalised by the issue to
Investec plc of 139 £1 ordinary shares in {HC at £407 494.05 each.

The unconditional primary listing of Investec pke on the London Stock Exchange commenced on 29 July 2002 and
its secondary fisting on the ISE Securities Exchange South Africa commenced on 29 fuly 2002,

Authorised and issued share capital
Details of the share capital are set out in note 37 to the financial statements.

On 19 June 2002, lnvestec Limited subscribed for 3 299 ordinary shares of £0.10 each and Investec Bank
(Nominees) Limited subscribed for | erdinary share.

On 5 july 2002 each ordinary share of £0.10 was sub-divided into 100 ordinary shares of £0.001, the rights
attaching to all bar 330 000 of the then issued ordinary shares were amended such that they became deferred
shares and 999 838 000 000 unissued ordinary shares were cancelled

On 18 July 2002, as set out above, 70 303 746 ordinary shares of Z0.001 each were issued to Invastec Limited in
consideration for the transfer of the Investec group’s intemational businesses ¢ the Company

On 18 Juiy 2002, the Company repurchased and cancelied 50 000 000 of the deferred shares of £0.001 each in issue.

On 19 July 2002, 38 399 028 PLC Special Converting Shares of £0.00! each, | PLC Special Voting Share of
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£0.001 each, | UK Dividend Access Share {Nen South African) of £0.001 and | UK Dividend Access Share
(South African) of £0.0G1 were issued by way of banus issue from reserves.

On 22 July 2002, 4 800 000 ordinary shares of £0.001 were issued at £8.30 per share to strengthen the
Company's capital Base, support organic growth and for general corporate purposes.

On 15 October 2002, 499 PLC Special Converting Shares of £0.001 each were issued by way of bonus issue
from reserves,

Financial resuits
The resuits of the company and the group are set out in the finandiat statements and accompanying notes,

Dividends
Arvinterim dividend of 26 pence par share was declared to shareholders registered on 13 December 2007 and
paid on 24 December 2002,

The directors have proposed a final dividend of 28 pence per share to shareholders registered on 18 July 2003 to
be paid on |1 August 2003, The directors have also recommended the payment of dividends on the UK DAN
Share and UK DAS Share of an aggregate amount equal to R3.56 per ordinary share in Investec Limited, as
provided by the DLC Structure Sharing Agreement.

The holder of 3 515 000 Investec Limited and 5 985 000 Investac oic shares has agreed 1o walve its right 1o the
proposed final dividends,

Directors and secretary
Details of the directors and the secretary are reflected on page 210 and 21 1.

Mr. |. N. Abell was appointed as director of investec plc on 19 March 2002, Messrs G, O, F Alford, S.E. Abrahams,
H.S. Herman, D.E Jowel, LR Kantor, 5. Koseff, PR.S. Thomas, B M. Malungani and Sir Chips Keswick were appointed
1 the board of Investec pic on 26 june 2002, Mr A Tapnack was appointed to the board on | July 2002 and M.
G. R Burger was appointed as a director on 3 july 2002,

Miss H. Fukuda and Mr. G, Howe were appointed to the board with affect from 21 July 2003.

Directors and their interests
Directors’ shareholdings and options to subscribe are set out on pages 198 1o 203,

The company’s register of directors’ interests contains full details of directors’ shareholdings and opticns to
subscribe.

Share incentive trusts
Details regarding options granted during the year are set out on page 282.

Audit commitree

An audit committee comprising non-executive directors meets regalarly with senior managernent, the external
auditors, Operational Risk, Internal Audit, Group Compiiance and the Group's finance and Accounting division to
consider the nature and scope of the audit reviews and the effectiveness of the group’s risk and control systems,
Further details on the role and responsibility of the Audit Committee are sst out on pages 171 to 172

Auditors
Ernst & Young LLP have expressed their willingness ta continue in office as auditors, A resolution to re-appoint
Ernst & Young LLP as auditors will be proposed at the next Annual General Mzeting,

Contracts
Refer to page 188 for detalls of contracts with directors.
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Subsidiary companies
Details of orincipal subsidiary companies are reflected on pages 236 and 237,

Special resolutions

At the Special General Meeting held on 20 November 2002 | special resolutions were passed in terms of which:

+  Articte 85 and 86 of the Articles of Association were amended to provide for the selection of directors who
retire by rotation.

+  Certain amendments to the Articles of Asscciation of investec Limited were approved.

* A renewable authority was granted to the Company 10 acquire its own shares in terms of Sections 166 of
the Companies Act, |985.

Major shareholders
At 31 March 2003 the foliowing were the beneficial owners of 3% or more of the issued ordinary shares of the

Company:

Public Investrment Commissioner 10.1%
Fintique {lf {BVI) 8.5%
Old Mutual Life Assurance 4.8%
Deutsche Bank AG 3.3%

Accounting policies and disclosure

Accourtting policies are set having regard to commercial practice and Internaticnal Accounting Standards, as weli
as complying with applicable United Kingdom law and accounting standards. These policies are set out on pages
230 to 235.

Subsequent events

Cn 15 May 2003, it was announced that agreement had been reached in terms of which Peu Investment Group
and Tiso Group, together with 2 broad-based Entreprenaurship Development Trust and a new Investec empioyee
share trust, will acquire in separate transactions a total interest of 25,1% in the issued share capital of Investec
Limited. This will include the issue of 5 600 000 new shares by Investec Limited for R30 per share The Pubiic
Investment Commissioners has agreed to provide funding to facilitate the proposed transactions,

Creditor payment policy
The group's standard practice is to agree the terms of payment with suppliers at the time of contract and make
payments within the agreed credit terms subject to satisfactory performance.

Employees

The group's pelicy is to recruit and promote on the basis of aptitude and ability without discrimination of any
kind. Applications for employment by disabled people are always considerad bearing in mind the qualifications and
abilities of the applicants. in the event of employees becoming disabled, every effort is made to ensure their
continued employrment, The group's policy is to adopt an open management style, thereby encouraging informal
consuitation at all levels about aspects of the group's operations, and motivating staff involvement of the group’s
performance by means of Empioyee Share Schemes,

Donations
During the year, the company made donations for charitable purposes, tetaliing £229 255.

Environment

The group is committed to pursing sound environmenta! pelicies in alt aspects of s business, and sesks to
encourage and promate geod envirenmental practice among its employses and within the community in which it
operates. Investec’s [ourney to Sustainability 2003 was produced as a separate report accompanying the Annual
Report for 2003, .

By order of the Board

Richard Vardy
Secretary

27 june 2003
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Report of the independent auditors

We have audited the group’s financial staternents for the vear ended 31 March 2003 which comprise
Consolidated Profit and Loss Account, Consolidated Balance Sheet, Company Balance Sheet, Consclidated Cash
Flow Statement, Consclidated Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses, Recondiliation of Consalidated
Shareholders’ Funds and the refated notes | to 42, These financial statements have been prepared on the basis of
the accounting policies set out therein. We have also audited the information on pages |95 to 203 in the
Directors’ Remuneration Report that is described as having been audited,

This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with Section 235 of the
Companies Act |985. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors' report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitied by Jaw, we do not accept or assume responsibility 10 anyone other than the company and the
company's members as a body, for our audit work, far this report, or for the opinions we have formed,

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

The directors' responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report, the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the
financial statements in accordance with applicable United Kingdom law and accounting standards are set out in
the Stetement of Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibiiity is 1o audit the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be
audited in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements, United Kingdem Auditing Standards and
the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financizl statements give a true and fair view and whether the
financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Reruneration Report 1o be audited have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 985 We also report te you if, in cur opinion, the Directors’
Report is not consistent with the financial staternents, if the company has not kept proper accounting records, if
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by
law or the Listing Rules regarding directors’ remuneration and transactions with the group is not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement on pages 174 and 175 reflects the company’s
compliance with the seven provisions of the Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules, and
we report if it does not. We are not required to consider whether the board's staternenis on internal control
cover ali risks and controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the group's corpeorate governance
procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read other information contained in the Annuai Repart and consider whether it is consistent with the
audited financial staterments. This other information comprises the Directors’ Report, unaudited part of the
Directors’ Remuneration Report, Chairman's Statement, Chief Executive Officer and Managing Directors’ Report,
A Detaited Analysis of the group’s Performance, Divisional Reviews and Corporate Governance Report and Risk
Management. We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or
material inconsistencies with the financial statements. Cur responsibilities do not extend to any other information,

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with United Kingdom Auditing Standards issued by the Auditing Practices
Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant 1o the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited. It also includes an
assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the directars in the preparation of the financial
statements, and of whether the accounting poticies are appropriate to the group’s circumstances. consistently
applied and adequately disclosed.
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Report of the independent auditors

We planned and performed our audit so as to ¢btain ail the information and explanations which we considered
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial
staternents and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are fres from material
misstaternent, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we alse evaluated
the overali adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements and the part of the Directors'
Remuneration Report 10 be audited.

Opinion

In our cpinion;

+ the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the group as a:
31 March 2003 and of the foss of the group for the vear then ended: and

+ the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have been
properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985,

Gmd’ r

Ernst & You P
Registered Auditor

London

27 Juns 2003
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Consolidated profit and loss accounts

For the year ended 3| March 2003 2002
Before Before
goodwill  Goodwill goodwill  Goodwill
and and and and
exceprional exceptional exceptional exceptional
(£'000) Notes  items items Total  items items Total

Interest raceivable - interest income

arising from debtt securities 171 066 - 171 066 205 398 - 205398
interest receivable - other interest income 697 805 - 697 805 666802 - 666802 .
nterest payable (737 405) — {737 405) (708 370y -~ (708 370)
Net interest income 131 466 - 31 466 163 830 - 163 830
Diwidend incorne 4 35%7 . 3587 2081 208!
Fees and commissions receivable 331 375 - 331375 415918 - 415918
- annuity 286 782 ~ 286782 335845 - 335845
- deat 44 593 ~ 44593 80073 - BGG73
Fees and commission payabie (54 768} - (51788} (74671} - (767143
Dealing profits 5 45 231 5231 49485 ~ 49485
Income from long-term assurance business 27775 - 7779 31079 - 307
Orther operating income 25 265 - 25269 30949 - 30949
Other income 378 483 — 378483 454 841 - 454 g41
Total operating income 509 949 — 509949 6i8 671 - 618671
Adrministrative expenses 5 (392 4686) ~ {392 468} (428 510} -~ {428 510)
Depreciation and amortisation (14 4173(122 302) (136 719} (16 926)(%8 435) (115 381
— tangibie fixed assets 20 (44170 - {14417 (16926} - {16 926)
-~ amortisation and impairment of gocdwill - (122302) {122 302) - (98435 (58 435)
Provision far bad and doubtful debts 15 (18 308) — (18308} {14 668) - {14 658)
Operating profit/ioss) 84758 (122 302} {37 544) |58 567 (98435) 60132
Operating profit/(loss) from continuing operations 101 427 (416 599) (15 172) 158862 (92 654) 66208
Operating loss from discontinued operations (16 669y (5703 (22372 (295) (5781 (6076)

Investec plc
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Consolidated profit and loss accounts

For the year ended 31 March 2003 2002
Before Before
goodwill  Goodwill goodwill  Goodwill
and and and and
exceptional exceptional exceptional exceptional
{£'000) Notes  items items Total  items items Total
Qperating profit/(loss) 84 758 (122 302) (37 544) 158 567 (98 435) 60 132
Share of income of associated companies 11350 (1l 644y 9706 3504 {821} 3083
Exceptional items (28 757) (28 757) (17 529) (17 529)
Provision for losses on terminat:on and
disposal of group operations-discontirued - (9437 (9437 - {7056 (7058
Impairment of goodwilt on discontinued operations - (19047) (19 047) -
Profit on termination and disposa! of group
operations-—-continuing - 5800 5800 - 1363 1363
Fundamental recrganisation and restructuring
costs—continuing (6 073) (6073 - (11 838) (I 836)
Profit/{loss) on ordirary activities before taxation 96 108 (152 703) (56 595) 162 471 ()16 785) 45 686
Tax on profit on ordinary activities (5 357} (5357y (3t 257y 2717 (28 540)
Tax on profit on ordinary continuing activities 858 - 858 {32 200) — {32 2003
Tax on loss on ordinary discontinued activities (6215} (6 215) 943 943
Tax on provision for lesses on termination
and disposal of group operations—discontinued - - - 2717 3717
Profit/(loss) on cordinary activities after taxation 90 751 (152 703) (61 952) 131 214 (114 068) 17 146
Minority interests—-equity (! 648) - {1 646) (1 586) (i 586)
Profit/{loss) attributable to shareholders 8% 105 (I52 703) (63598) 129 628 (114068) |5 560
Dividends—including non-equity (53 428) - (53428) (57 874) - (57 874%)
Retained profit/ (loss) for the year 35 677 (152 703) {1§7 026) 71 754 (|14 068) {42 314)
{Loss)/profit astributable to shareholders (63 598) 15 560
Amortisation and impairments of goadwill 122 302 98 435
Profit on termination and disposal of group operations {5 80C) {1 363)
Provision for iosses on termination ang
disposal of group operations {net of deferred tax) 28 484 4339
Amortisation of goodwill of associates | 644 821
Fundamental reorganisation and restructuring costs 5073 ii836
Preference dividends (421} 201%)
Earnings before goodwill and exceptional items 88 684 127 613
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Consolidated profit and loss accounts

For the year ended 3| March 2003 2002
Before Before
goodwill  Goodwill goodwill  Goodwiil
and and and and
exceptional exceptional exceptional exceptional

(£'000) Notes  items items Total  items items Total
Earnings per share (pence)
- Basic (70.4) I4.8
- Diluted (70.4) 135
Excluding goodwill and exceptional items
- Basic 57.6 39.8
Headline earnings—basic %09 1268
Dividends per share (pence} 54.0 538
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Consolidated statement of recognised
gains and losses

For the year ended 3| March

{£'000) 2003 2002
{Loss)/profit for the year attributable 1o shareholders {63598y 155860
Currency translation differences on foreign currency net mvestments (i3 870) (69 737y
Unrealised surplus on revaluation of investment properties 18265 10254
Total recognised gains and losses for the year (59 203} (43 923)

There was no material difference betwaen the results as reported and the
resuits that would have been reported on an unmodified historical cost
basis. Accordingly, no ncte of historical cost profits and losses has been
included.
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Consolidated balance sheet

At 31 March
(£7000) Notes 2003 2002
Assets
Cash and balances at central banks 348 343 457 222
Treasury bills and other eligibie bills I2 243015 197 767
toans and advances to banks 13 2758797 2583205
Loans and advances to customers 14 4898 226 4 780 480
Debt securities 16 | 931 265 4 377 877
Equity shares 17 147 638 204 352
Interests in associated undertakings 3 62 422 45 026
Intangibie fixed assets 19 99773 384 900
Tangible fixed assets 24 205 982 86 76|
Own shares 22 82 922 42 130
Other assets 23 | 211 441 177727
Prepayments and accrued income 124 390 97 968
Long-term assurance business attributabie to the shareholder 24 108 528 67 116
12422 746 14 602 331
Long-term assurance assets attributable to poficyholders 25 25836319 2354401
14959 065 16 956 932
Liabilities
Depnosits by banks 26 2129292 3645308
Customer accounts 27 & 354 867 7 068 220
Diebt securities in issue 28 | O8% 756 606 246
Crither liabilittes 29 | 580 88} 2106 19}
Accruals and deferred income 255 281 218 132
1410077 13 644 097
lLong-termn assurance liabilities attributable to policyholders 2536319 2354401
12946 396 |5 998 498
Capital resources
Suberdinated liabilities (including convertible debt) 3i 276 897 190 659
Minority interests - equity 35 804 33473
Calledt up share capital 32 i58 7330
Share premium account 994 108 814 089
Shares 1o be issued 33 2428 41 148
Revaluation reserves 37180 202
Other reserves 173877y (176833
Profit and loss account {155 009) 37 1&6
Shareholders’ funds 694 968 734 302
- equity 696 968 691 201
- non equity - 43 101
1 Q12 669 958 434
{4959 065 16 956 932
Memorandum items
Commitments 37 496 638 506 330
Contingent habilities 38 348 906 299 3i6
845 544 805 646

The directors’ approved the accounts on 27 June 2003,

3. Koseff .
/
/f

Chief Executive Officer
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Consolidated cash flow statement

For the year ended 31 March

(£'000) Notes 2003 2002
Net cash inflow from operating activities 35 79 262 580 542
Dividends received from associated undertakings 2 286
Returns on investments and servicing of finance
Preference share dividend paid (421) {2014
Dividends paid t¢ minority shareholders in subsidiary undertakings [ - (L 716)
Interest paid on compulsorily convertible debentures (25 090 {35 585)
Net cash outflow from return on investments and servicing of finance (255t (39 315
Taxation (2t 151} {19 380
Capital expenditure and financial investment
Purchase of investment securities (2 680 382) (2 661 653)
Sale and maturity of investment securities 2545904 2276008
Purchase of own shares {13 662) {2997y
Purchase of tangible fixed assets (7 746} (78 157}
Sale of tangible fixed assels 19 296 5143
Net cash outflow from capital expenditure and financial investment (136 59C) (461 662)
Acquisitions and disposals
Net cash outflow from the purchase of interests in subsidiary undertakings (672} (58 86¢6)
Net cash {cutflow)finflow from the dispasal of group undertakings {8 579} 2153
Investment in associated undertakings {1 5%8) {38 341
Repayment of the loan capital in associated undertaking | 220 -
Net cash outflow from acquisitions and disposals (9 829} (95 655}
Equity dividends paid - ordinary share dividends (54 335 (58 608)
Finanelng
Proceeds from the issue of subordinated Hiabilities 48 650 36 433
Repayments of compulsorily convertible debentures (13793 (10 359)
Proceeds from shares to be fssued - 5863
Proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital 36 830 P 086
Share issue expenses (32 213) -
Buy-back of ordinary share capital (5 079) (55 533}
Net cash inflow/{outflow) from financing 34 395 {22 510)
Pecrease in cash (131 27 {16 586)
Cash flow reconciliation
Decrease in cash (131 273} (16 58¢8)
Cash and demand bank balances at beginning of the year | 165 175 | 18] 781
Cash and demand bank balances at end of the year | 033 902 | 165 175
Cash and demand bank bafances at end of year comprise:
Cash 348 343 487 222
Demand bank balances 685 559 707 953
[ 033902 1165175
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Consolidated statements of reconciliations of

Share

capital
For the year ended 31 March tnvestec
{£'000) Limited

Share
premium
account

fnvestee Led

Capital
reserve
account

At 31 March 2001 6 701
Year ended 31 March 2002

Foreign currency adjustments -
Retained loss for the year -
Retained eamings of associates
Shares issued/ to be issued Fo23
Buyback and canceflation of shares (195}
Conversions from debentures [

Issue expenses

Revaluation of investment properties* -
Transfers on disposal of revalued investment properties -

563 567

384 640
{134 460y
342

Ar 3| March 2002 7 53¢

814 089

Year ended 31 March 2003

Foreign currency adjustments

Retained loss for the year

Retained earnings of associates -
Issue of shares on listing

Conversion of shares to be issued 374

Issue of shares to staff share scheme

Buyback of shares to be issued -
Buyback and canceliation of shares {148}
Coriversions from debentures |

Adjustment to par value of Investec Limited shares 7712
Unbundiing of Investec pic from Investec Limitad

Capital reduction in Investec Limited

Investec plc transfer to Capital Redemption Reserve Fund

Issue expenses -
Revaluation of investment properties®

Transfers on disposal of revalued investment properties -

86 402
{4931

(290 5353

(4 741)

772

At 3| March 2003 45

600 284

7762

* Revaluation of investment properties is subject to capital gains tax on realisation.
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shareholders' funds and movements on reserves

Share Revaluation
Share premium Shares reserves Equity Foreign Profic
capital account o be Investment accounted currency and toss
Investec ple Investec plc issued properties reserves reserves account Total
- - 35285 832 193 {110 882} 83 189 578 885
- - (499 (69 238} {65 737}
- - - - - - (42 3:4) {42 314)
3593 (3 593)
- - 5863 - - - - 391 526
(134 655}
- - - - - - - 343
- - - 10 254 - - - 16 254
- - Hé - {1186}
- - 4| {48 Ll 202 3287 (180 120) 37 166 734 302
- - - P 727 {15 597} - {13 870}
- (17 026} {117 026}
- - - - 9 064 - (9 0564y -
3 36 826 e 36829
- - (38 148) - - - - 48 628
2 27 701 27703
- - {570y - - - - (572}
~ - - {5 079)
H08 356 769 - - - {66 342}
- - - (50 -
(27 472) - - - - - {32213
- I8 265 18 265
- - - {307} - - 307 -
113 393 824 2 428 29 160 14 078 (195 717) {155 009) 696 968

Investec plc




230

Investec pic

Annual Repert 2003

Accounting policies

Basis of presentation
The group comprises Investec plc, Investec Limited and their subsidiary undertakings.

The consofidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention as madified by the
revaluation of certain assets,

These financial statements have been prepared having regard to Part VI, Chapter It of, and Schedule 9 to, the
Companies Act 1985 in accordance with applicable UK accounting standards, and with the Statements of
Recommended Practice issued by the British Baniers' Association, except where noted in the financial staterents
below.

An outline of the creation of the Dual Listed Company structure is explained in the section headed ‘an overview
of Investec's dual listed companies structure’ as set out on pages 4 to é.

Under UK GAAP the accounts of investec plc and Investec Limited have been combined in accordance with S227
(5) of the Companies Act 1985 on the grounds that they form a single economic entity. The merger method of
accounting has been used ta account for the combination in accordance with the provisions of FRS 6 applying to
group reconstructions, since the Dual Listed Company struciure was brought into effect by de-merging the
existing Investec group into two sub-groups headed by investec plc and Investec Limited by virtue of share for
share transfers which did not alter the rights of existing shareholders or the interest of any minority. The nature
of the DLC merger has resulted in the inciusion of amounts atirizutable 1o the shareholdars of both Investec ple
and Investec Limited in capital and reserves on the balance sheet, and in attributable profit.

Tre effect of the DLC merger is that Investec plc and its subsidiaries and Investec Limited and its subsidiaries
operate together as a single econemic entity, with neither assuming a dominant rofe. This is demonstrated by the
fallowing key features of the arrangements;

*  The shareholders of Investec plc and Investec Limited have a common economic intersst in both groups;

+  The shareholders of Investec plc and Investec Limited take key decisions, including the election of directors,
through a jeint electoral procedure under which the shareholders of the two companies effectively vote on a
joint basis;

+  Investec plc and Investec Limited have a cornmon Board of Directors, 2 unified management structure and
joint abjectives; and

+  Dividends and capital distributions made by the two companies are equalised.

If gither Investec plc or investec Limited proposes to pay a dividend to its shareholders, then the ather Company
mest pay @ matching cash dividend of an equivalent amount per share to its shareholders. If either Company i3
prohibited by law or is otherwise unable to declare, pay or otherwise make all or any portion of such a matching
dividend, then Investec plc or Investec Limited will, so far as it is practicable to do so, enter into such transactions
with each other as Boards agree to be necessary or desirable so as ta enable both Companies to pay dividends
as nearly as practicable at the same time.

Comparatives

The information reflected for the prior year refates to Investec Limited (formerly Investec Group Limited) and its

subsidiaries because prior to the implementation of the DLC strugture, investec Limited and its subsidiaries

constituted the group. The prior year figures have been extracted from the Accountants’ report inciuded in the

Prefiminary Offering Circulas and have been adjusted for the following changes:

»  The group changed its policy for the translation of infangible assets in respect of foreign entities. Thase
intangible assets are now translated at the closing exchange rate instead of the exchange rate at the date of
acquisition. The effect in UK GAAP of this change in policy is a decrease In goodwill as at 31 March 2002 by
£66.3 million, The difference in gach case has been taken directly to foreign currency transtation reserves,
resulting in a decrease in ordinary shareholders funds as at 31 March 2002.There is no effect on the tangbie
net asset value of the group
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Accounting policies

*  During the vear the group conducted a therough evaluation of the funding costs of trading desks as a result
of which interest charges were reallocated between trading and funding desks within the Treasury division.
Comparative figures have been restated to be consistent with this.

Basis of consolidation

The group financial statements incorporate the financial results of investec ple, Investec Limited and their
subsidiary undertakings, All subsidiaries in which the group holds more than one half of the voting rights or over
which it exercises control are consclidated from the effective dates of acquisition and up to the effective dates of
disposal. In the case of vestec Bank (Israef) Limited, whose accounts are compiled to 31 December annually, the
group uses interim management accountis, drawn up to 31 March to prepare the group financial statements at 31
March 2003,

Entities, other than subsidiary undertakings, in which the group exercises significant influence over their operating
and financial policies, are treated as associates. In the group accourts, associates are accounted for using the
equity method.

The consolidated financial statements include the attributable share of the results and reserves of assaciated
undertakings, based on financial staterments made up to dates not earlier than three months prior to 31 March,
The group's interests in associated undertakings are included in the conselidated balance sheet at the group's
share of net assets plus unamartised goodwill.

Positive goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries is amortised against income over its useful economic
fife, a period not exceeding 20 years. Negative goodwill arising on acquisitions is inciuded within intangible fixed
assets and released to profit and loss account inftially over the period that non-monetary assets are reccvered
and then over the periods expected 1o benefit. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment at the end of the first full
financial year following the acquisition and in other perfods if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may not be recoverable

In order to reflect the different nature of the shareholders’ and policyholders’ interests in the iong-term assurance
businzss, the value of the long-term assurance business attrivutable to shareholders and the assets and liabifities
attributable to policyholders are classified under separate headings in the consolidated balance shees,

The group operates various Employes Benefit Trusts. In terms of UITF 13, the assets and liabilities of the
Employee Benefit Trusts are included within the group financial statements.

Foreign entities

The net assets of the group undertakings and associates which da not have sterling as a functional currency are
transiated at closing rates of exchange and the transiation differences arising are taken to reserves, The results of
these companies are translated at weighted average rates of exchange for the relevant period, The difference
between the profit and loss translated at an average rate and the closing rate is recorded as a movement in
reserves. Any exchange differences on foreign currency foans, which are used to hedge the net investmant in
subsidiarias which do not have steriing as a functional currency are aiso taken 1o reserves.

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of entities that do not have sterfing as a functional currency is transiated at
the closing exchange rate. This is not consistent with prior years, as exglained above,

Foreign currency transactions

Monetary assets and liabilities in forelgn currencies are transiated into the local reporting currency at market
rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Alf foreign currency transactions are translated into the local
reporting currency at the exchange rates ruling at the time of the transactions, Any gain or loss arising from a
change in exchange rates subsequent to the date of the transaction is inchxded as an exchange gain or loss in the
profit and foss account.
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Accounting policies

Debt securities and equity shares

Shares and securities intended for use on a continuing basis in the group’s activities are classified as investment
securities, Such shares and securities are stated at cost less provision for any imgairment in value. The cost of
dated invastment securities is adjusted for the amortisation of premiums or discounts on a leval yield basis over
the period to maturity,

Dest securities held for the purpose of hedging are valued on the same basis as the liabilities which are being
hedged.

Other debt securities and equity shares are included in the balance sheet at market vaiue, Changes in the market
value of such assets are recognised in the profit and loss account as 'Dealing profits’ as they arise,

Securities sold subject to repurchase agreements are recorded as assets, Obligations for the repurchase of these
securities are included under deposits by banks and customer accounts, Securities that are purchased under an
agreement to resell the securities at a future date are inciuded under foans and advances.

Stock borrowing and lending transactions that are not cash collateralised are not included in the balance sheet,

Financial instruments

Financial instruments in the trading book are measured at fair value, whereas financial instruments in the non-
trading bock, including loans and investment securities, are measured at amortised ¢ost, Income and expenses on
trading instruments are recognised in the profit and loss account in full in the current period, whereas income
and expenses on non-trading instruments are amertised cver the life of the instrument, with adjustments made
to reflect changes in estimated premiums and discounts.

Derivatives

Derivatives are used to hedge interest, exchange rate and equity exposures related to non-trading positions,
Instruments used for hedging purposes include swaps, equity derivatives, credit derivatives, forward rate
agreerents, futures, options and combinations of these instruments, In addition, the use of derivatives and their
saie to customers as risk managerment products is an integral part of the group's trading activities. Derivatives
entered into for trading purposes include swaps, equity derivatives, credit derivatives, commodity derivatives,
forward rate agreements, futures, options and combinations of these instruments,

Where the group has entered into legally binding netting agreements, positive and negative values of derivatives
are offset within the balance sheet wotals.

Exposures to market risks are limited throtgh the use of hedging instruments. The criteria used for a derivative
instrument to be classified as a designated hedge inciude:

- the transaction must effectively reduce the price or interest rate or credit risk of the asset, liability or
cashflow to which it is linked: and

- adeguate evidence of the intention to fink with the underlying risk inherent in the asset, liability or cashflow,
and

- the transaction must be designated as a hedge at the inception of the derivative contract.

The hedging instruments are accounted for on the same basis as the underlying asset, liability, position or cash
flows being hedged with income and expense being recognised in the profit and loss account. Hedging transactions
which are superseded, cease to be effective or are terminated prior to the end of the life of the asset. lizbility or
cashfiow being hedged are measured at fair value. Any profit or loss arising is deferred and amortised into income
or expense over the remaining life of the item previously hedged. When the underlying asset, lability positien or
cashflow is terminated pricr to the hedging transaction, the hedging transaction s measured at fair vaiue and the
resutting profit or loss is included in the category of income or expense relating 1o the previously hedged
transaction.
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Accounting policies

Instafment credit, leases and rental agreements

Amaunts outstanding on these contracts, net of unearned finance charges, are included in loans and advances.
Finance charges on finance leases and instalment cradit transactions are credited to income in proportion to the
capital balances outstanding.

Specific and general provisions for bad and doubtfui debts

Specific provisions represent the quantfication of actual and expected losses from identified accounts and are
deducted from loans and advances in the balance sheet, The amount of specific provision raised is the group’s
conservative estimate of the amount needed to reduce the carrying value of the asset tc the expected ultimate
net realisable value, taking into account the financial status of the customer and any security for the loan. Included
in the specific provisions are armounts in respect of interest that is not serviced. The charge for bad and doubtful
debts in the income statement includes the unserviced interest which has been transferrad to specific provisions.
Doubtful debis are written off against the balance sheet asset and provision in part, or in whole, when the extent
of the loss incurred has been determined.

Gerieral provisions augment specific pravisions and provide cover for ioans which are impaired at the balance
sheet date but which will net be identified as such until some time in the future. The group's general provision has
been determined taking into account the structure and the risik characteristics of the group's loan portfolic. A
number of complex and changing factors are collectively weighed by managernent in determining the adequacy of
provisions. These factors include rmanagement’s view of the extent of existing risks in the loan pertfolio and
prevailing ecenomic conditions, General provisions are deducted from loans and advances 1o customers in the
balance sheet.

Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are stated at original cost. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over their
anticipated useful lives. Leasehold improvernents are amaortised over the shorter of 20 years and  the remaining
period of the leases.

The annual rates used to depreciate assets are as foliows:

Computer equipment 33%
Motor vehicles 20% - 25%
Equipment 20%
Furnizure and fittings 10% - 20%
Freehold properties 2%

The carrying values of tangible fixed assets are reviewed for impairment if events or changes in circumstances
indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.

Certain of the group's properties are held for long-term investrent. Investment properties are accounted for in

accordance with SSAP 19, as follows:

(i} investment properties are revalued semi-annually The surplus or deficit on revaluation is transferred to the
revaluation reserve unless 2 deficit below original cost, or &s reversal, on an individual investment property is
expected t¢ be permanent, in which case it is recognised in the profit and loss account for the year; and

{il} no depreciation is provided in respect of freehold investment properties or leasehold investment properties
where the lease has over 20 years to run.

Although the Companies Act would normally reauire the systematic annual depreciation of fixed assets, the

directors believe that the policy of not providing depreciation is necessary in order for the financial statements to

give a true and fair view, since the current value of investment properties, and changes to that current value, are

of prime importance rather than a calcutation of systematic annual depreciation. Depreciation is only one of the
many factors refiected in the annual valuation, and the amaount which might otherwise have been inciuded cannot
be separately identified or quantified.
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Accounting policies

Dealing properties
Dealing properties are included in other assets and are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Taxation
Corporation tax payable is provided on taxable profits at the current rate.

Deferred taxation

The directors have implemertted FRS |9 on deferred taxation. Deferred taxation is recognised in respect of all
timing differences that have originated but not reversed at the balance sheet date where transactions or events
that result in an obligation to pay more tax in the future or a right to pay less tax in the future have accurred at
the balance sheet date. This is subject o deferved tax assets only being recognised if it considered more |fety
+han not that there will be suitable profits from which the future reversal of the underiying timing differences can
be deducted, Timing differences are the differences between the group’s taxable profits and its results as stated in
the financial statements, which are capable of reversal in one or more subsequent pericds.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of future remittance of retained earmings of overseas subsidiaries oniy to
the extent that, at the balance sheet date, dividends have been accrued as receivable (or a binding agreement 10
distribute past earnings in the future has been enterad into by the subsidiary),

Deferrad tax is measured on a non-discounted basis at the tax rates that are expecied to apply in the periods in
which the timing differences are expected to reverse, based an tax rates and laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Long term life assurance

1) investec Employee Benefits

fmvestec Employes Benefits is engaged in writing lang-term assurance business, including the provision of iife
assurance, pensicns and annuities. The company is structurad into policyhoiders’ funds and a shareholder's fund.
All premiums recelved, investment returns, chaims and expenses. and changes in liabilities to policyholders are
accounted for within the related long-term assurance fund. Any surplus, which is determined annually by the
Apuointed Actuary after taking account of these items, may either be distributed between the shareholder and
the policyholders according to a predetermined formuda or retained within the long-term assurance fund. The
shareholder will also levy investment management and administrat:on charges upon the long-term assurance fund.

The group accounts for its interest in fong-term assurance business using the embedded value basis of accounting,
Tha value of the shareholder's interest in the fong-term assurance business {'the embedded value) included in
the group's balance sheet is an actuarially determined estimate of the economic vaiue of the group's fife assurance
subsidiaries, excluding any value, which may be attributed to future new business. The embedded value comprises
the net tangible assets of the life assarance subsidiaries, including any surphus retained within the fong-term
assurance funds, which could be transferred to the sharehoider and the present value of the in-force business.
The vaiue of the in-force business is calculated by projecting the future surpluses and other net cash flows
attributable to the shareholder arising from business written by the balance sheet date, using appropriate
sconomic and actuarial assumptions, and diseounting the result at a rate which reflects the shareholder’s overall
risk premim.

Changss in the embadded value, which are determined on a post-tax basis, are included in the orofit and loss account.

The assets held within the long-term assurance funds are legally owned by the life assurance companies, however
the shareholder will only benefit from ownership of these assets to the extent that surpluses are declared or
from other cashflows attributable to the shareholder. Reflecting the different nature of these assets, they are
classified separately on the group's balance sheet as 'Long-term assurance assets attributable to policyholders,
with a corresponding kability to the policyholders alse shown. Investreriis heid within the long-term assurance
funds are inciuded on the following basis: equity shares, debt securities and unit trusts are valued at market prices;
investment properties are reflected at directors valuation, and loans are at cost less amounts written off.
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Accounting policies

2) Investec Assurance
The policy labilities of Investec Assurance Limited comprise unit-iinked business sold to retirement funds and
individual investors, All liabilities are directly refated to asset values and the company assumes no mortality risk,

The liabilities are valued on a basis consistent with the asset values and comply with the Financial Soundness
Valuation basis, as is accepted accourting practice in South Africa.

Investments are refiected at market value. Where market value cannot be determined, investments are reflected
at directors’ valuation,

Income from long term assurance business comprises interest, dividends and rental income received on
investments held, as well as premium income in respect of inked business sold, Gains and losses arising as result
of the fiuctuation in the market value of investrnents, whether realised or unrealised, are accounted for as
movements in the long term assurance fund.

Income recognition

{nterest income s recognised in the profit and loss account as it accrues other than interest the collectibility of
which is considered doubtiid which s credited to a suspense account and excluded from interest income. The
closing balance on the suspense account is netied in the balance sheet against accrued interest receivable or as
the case may be, the amount debited to the borrower Suspended interest is written off when there is no longer
any realistic prospect of it being recovered.

Dealing profits are shown net of the funding cost of the underlying positions and inciudes the unreafised profits
on trading portfolios, which are marked to market daily

Commissions and fees include fees earned from providing advisory services, porticlio management and the
arranging of financing for clients. Al such commissions and fees are recognised as revenue when the related
services are performed. Fees and commissions charged in lieu of interest are taken to income on a level yield
basis over the period of the loan, Equity investments received in lieu of corporate finance fees are included in
trading securities and valued accordingly.

Other operating income includes realised profits and losses on disposal of investments, property rental income
and dividends received.

Retirement benefits
The group operates various defined contribution schemes and two closed defined benefit schemes.

In respect of the defined contribution scheme ail employer contributions are charged to income, as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the scheme, and included under staff costs.

The closed defined benefit scheme is closed to new membershic and to accrual of pensionable service for
existing members. The pension cost relating to the closed UK defined benefit schemes is assessed in accordance
with the advice of qualified actuaries 50 as to recognise the cost of pensions an a systematic basis over
employees’ service lives, Variations from the regular cost are spread over the expected remaining service lives of
current employees in the schemes.

Capital inseruments

Shares are included in shareholders’ funds. Other instruments are classified as labilities if they contain an
obligation to transfer economic benefits and if not they are included in shareholders’ funds. The finance cost
recognised in the profit and loss account in respect of capital instruments other than equity shares is allocated to
periods over the term of the instrument at 2 constant rate on the carrying amount.
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 March

Principal
Activities

Country of
incorporation

% interast % interest

2003

2002

|. Principal subsidiary and associated companies

Direct subsidiaries of Investec ple

investec Holding Company Limited

Indirect subsidiaries of investec plc
lnvestec Australia Lid

[vestec SA

fnvestec Holdings (UK) Ltd

irvestec | Lid

frvestes Bank (UK) Ltd

Investes Group {UK) PLC

Investec Asset Finance PLC

Investec Group Investments (UK) Lid
Investec Investment Holdings AG
Guinness Mahon & Co Limited
Irvestec Bank {Channel Islands) Ltd
Invastec Bank (Switzerland) AG
Irvestec Trust Guernsey Limited
Radeliffes Trustee Company SA
Theodores Trust & Law Group Limited

Carr Sheppards Crosthwaite Ltd

Investec Asset Management Limited
Investec Irefand Ltd

lnvestec Ernst and Company
Investec inc

kwestec Bank (lsrael) Ltd

European Capital Company Lid

Investrent holding

Banking Institution
Investment holding
Heiding company
lnvestrment holding
Banking institution
Heiding company
Leasing company
investment holding
Investmertt holding
Investment holding
Banking institution
Banking institution
Trust Company
Trust Company
Trust Company

Stockbroking and

portfolio management

Asset Management
Financial Services
Financial Services
Investraent Banking
Banking institution

Project Finance

England and Wales

Australia
Luxembourg
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and VWales
England and Wales
Switzerland
England and Wales
Guernsey
Switzerland
Guernsey
Switzerland

jersey

England and Wales
England and Wales
ireland

USA

USA

lsrael

England and Wales

100

160
102
160
00
o
100
100
100
100
100
GO
100
100
100
100

i00
100
100
100
160

80
10

10

100
100
100
100

100
100
Q0
10D
iC0
100
100
100
100
100
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Notes to the financial statements

Far the year ended 3| March

Principal Country of % interest % interest
Activities incorporation 2003 2002
|. Principal subsidiary and associated companies {continued)
Direct subsidiaries of Investec Limited
Fedsure Investments Limited Irvestment holding South Africa 160 100
invego Invastments Ltd Investment holding South Africa 100 100
Investec Asset Management
Hoidings (Pty} Ltd Investment holding South Africa 100 100
Investec Assurance Ltd Insurance company South Africa G0 100
lnvestec Bank Ltd Registered Bank South Africa G0 {00
Investec Employee Benefits Holdings Lid
(Formerly Wilcardo Investments 6 (Pty) Ltd)  Investment holding South Africa 100 GO
Investec Int, {Gibraltar) Limited Investrent holding Gibraltar {00 100
Investec Seeurities Lid Registered Stock Broker  South Africa 100 100
Sibvest Limited (Formerly Securities
Investment Bank Ltd) lnvestment holding Secuth Africa 00 100
Fedsure International Ltd Invesiment hoiding South Africa 160 100
investec Property Greup Holdings Ltd Investment holding South Africa 100 100
Indirect subsidiaries of Investec Limited
Investec Bank {Botswana) Ltd Banking institution Botswang 75 75
Grayimwest Limited {Formerly Investec Ltdy  Investment helding South Africa tC0 100
Barfold Investments Ltd (Formerly
South Alfrican Druggists Ltd) Investment holding South Africa 160 160G
lnvestec Asset Management (Pty) Ltd Asset management South Africa 100 100
Investec Insurance Brokers (Pty) Ltd insurance broking South Africa 100 100
Investec International Holdings (Pty) Lid investment hiciding South Africa 100 1GG
investec Fund Managers SA Ltd Unit trust management  South Africa 100 100
investec Bank (Mauritius) Ltd Banking institution Mauritius 100 100
Investec Property Group Ltd (Formerly IPG
Property Trading & Development (Pty) Ltd)  Property trading South Africa 100 100
Reichmans Ltd Trade financing South Africa 100 100
100 Grayston Drive Property (Pty) Lid Property holding Scuth Adfrica 150 G0
Iwestec Employee Benefits Lid (formerty
Fedsure Life Assurance Ltd) Long-term insurance South Africa 100 100
Fedsure Traded Endowments Ltd Endowment trading United Kingdom 100 100
Principal associated company of investec Limited
Capital Alliance Ltd Long-term insurance Seuth Africa 232 297
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 3! March Group

Private Treasury & Asset  Services Discon-

Client  Specialised InvestmentManagement& Other tinued  Total
(£'000) Activities  Finance  Banking & Assurance Activitles Operations  group

2. Segmental analysis
Business analysis 2003

Net interest income 70817 3i8%2 4992 5376 14330 4059 3] 464
Dividend income - [ 14 | 408 - I 875 - 3597
Net fees and commissions receivable 94 8i6 24491 36141 83592 1084 26483 76607
Deakng profits 5068 35454 8789 732 {3841y (981} 45231

Income from long-term assurance business - - 27779 777
Cther operating income 521 34t 12654 f6 12731 (994) 25 2&9
Operating income 174222 92292 64184 17485 36179 28587 509949
Administrative expenses (113 865) (588245 (45394) (69 182) (60 889) (44 3:2) (392 466)
Depreciation (3835) (I 25%) 907y (1005} (6467) (944 (i44i7)
Provision for bad and doubtiul debts (12601} (4258 (589} (40} (810 - {18308)

Qperating profit/{loss) before amortisation

and impairment of goodwill 40911 27951 17294 47258 (31 987) {16 669) 84758
Share of {loss)/income of

assaciated companies an (1) (23) 9683 48 9 706
Amortisation and impairment

of goodwiil (3 469) 177 {6795) (74 419y (22093) (5703) (122 302)
Cther exceptional items (595 4355 {3 066) (967} (28 484) (I8 757)

Profit/{loss) on ordinary zctivities
before taxation 26836 32482 7410 (17 468) (54999 (50856) (56 595)

Net intercompany interest (54766) 7397t (2625) (14322) (2D (1 93) -
Total assets (£ miion) 3191 7388 257 2948 175 S 14959
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 3| March Group

Private Treasury & Asset  Services Discon-

Client  Specialised InvestmentManagement & Qther  tinued Total
{£'000) Activities  Finance  Banking & Assurance Activities Operations  group

2. Segmental analysis {continued)
Business analysis 2002

Net interest income 71524 537237 3207 3466 15595 12801 163830
Dividend income 61 88 | 604 5% 269 - 208}

Net fees and commissions receivable 92467 19960 6% 361 B3780 23253 52426 34| 247
Dealing profits 3215 28853 7 660 | 672 15266 {7 181) 49485

Income from long-term assurance business - 31079 - - 31079
Other operating income 4127 | 682 22914 312y 2478 (140) 30 949
Operating income 176394 Q7820 (04746 119744 5706F 57906 618671

Administrative expenses {115 633) (52292) (56 969) (66 585} (79 406) (57 625)(428 510}
Depreciation (4010) (16l2y {1047y (1150 (853D {576) {16 928)
Provision for bad and deubtful debts (9262) (2133 {437) (i9y (2818 — {14 668)
Operating profit/(loss) before amertisation

and impairment of goodwill 42489 51784 46293 51990 (33 694) {295} 158 567
Share of income of associated companies - - - 4 3079 - 3083

Amortisation and impairment of goodwiil {8 827) 624 (6516} {68 1086} {9829) (5781) {58435)

Other exceptional items (9222) (1 251) (7056) {17 529)

Profit/{loss) on ordinary activities

before taxation 33662 52408 39777 (25334) (41 695) (13 132) 45686
MNet inter¢ompany interest 35241 (5395%3) 391 {190y 149%0 - -
Total assets (£ miliion) 2767 9749 65] 2767 484 544 16 957

The Siatement of Recommended Practice on Segmental Reporting by Banks
recommends, inter alia, net assets 1o be disciosed by class of business and
gecgraphical segment. In the view of the directors it would not be meaningful to
provide this information by class of business since economic capital of certain
significant businesses of the group is not held in, or aliocated to, these businesses, but
is held cenitratly

As the business of the group is mainly that of banking and insurance, no segmental
analysis of turnover is given.
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 3| March United Discon-
Kingdom Southera tinued Total
(£000) & Europe  Africa  Australia  Israel USA  Operations  group

2. Segmental analysis {continued}
Geographical analysis 2003

Net interest income 56290 52485 7817 10951 ([37) 4059 (31 465
Dividend income 305 3083 162 i7 - - 3597
Net fees & commissions receivable 136 075 9% 884 9 987 7852 3326 26483 276 607
Dealing profits §1290 31080 (7y 1958 L 874 (961 45 73!
Income from long term assurance business - 27779 - - - - 2777
Other operating income i5987 0177 64 {293) 328 {954y 25 249
Operating income 219948 2(7488 18053 20485 5388 28 587 509 949
Administration expenses (1B7 7673 (130 863) (1} 449) (14525 (3550) (44 3123(392 468}
Depreciation (6205) (5193) {196) (i 127} {750) {344) (14417}
Provision for bad and doubtful debts (3 650) (12 889) (432) (1 337} - (18 308)

Operating profit/(loss) before amortisation

and impairment of goodwill 22326 6B 543 5976 3 496 | GB4 (16 669) 84 758
Share of incomef{ioss) of

associated companies - 9689 3% 52 - 9706
Amorusation and impairment of goodwill (23 979) (87 392) (5 199) (33 — (5703122 302
Other exceptional items {5353y 5080 — - - (28484) (28 757
{Loss)/proiit on ordinary activities

before taxation (7 006} (4 080) 78% 3428 1 138 (50 856) (56 595)
Taxation 13704  (9967) (2452} (427} - (6215 (5357}
Minorities {1033) {153} - {463y - - {1 646)
Profit/{loss) attributable to shareholders 5665 (14 200) (i 671} 2 54t I 138 (57 071) (63 598)
MNet intercompany interest 942 5 049 {902) - (3158 (1931} -
Cash and balances at central banks i3 90 2 243 - - 348
Treasury bills and other eligible bills 175 68 243
Loans & advances to banks 2 {43 401 3i 153 3t - 275§
l.oans & advances to customers | 825 2 662 174 236 - 4898
Dett securities | 077 702 - 141 I - 1931
Equity shares 68 76 t - 3 148
interests in associated undertakings 4 58 62
Intangibie fixed assets 165 19 & - - - 300
Tangible fixed assets 20 168 i 8 \ - 206
Own shares - 83 - - - 83
Other assets 286 F (034 7 24 {15) - 1336
Long-term assurance assets 2 645 2 645
Total assets (£ million) 5 601 8213 300 Bi3 32 - {4959
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 March United Discon-
Kingdom Southern tnued Total
{£:000) & Europe  Africa Austrafia  Israel USA  Operations  group

2. Segmental analysis (continued)
Geographical analysis 2002

MNet interest income 6L 197 71173 4324 {3784 550 12 801 163830
Dividend income 655 I 426 - - - - 208!
Net fees & commissions receivable {76414 87278 8248 5973 10908 52426 34i 247
Dealing profits 19295 27 794 () 3308 6772 (7181) 45485
Inceme from long term assurance business P31 078 - - - 31079
Other operating income 4424 {6361 421 {107} (10} {140y 30949
Qperating income 271986 235110 12990 22958 7T7IL 57906 618 671
Adrinistration expenses (202 893) (130 710) (10 435) {12405y (14442 (57 625){(428 510)
Depreciation (7 658 (6 |175) (230 (882 (i 345 {576) {16 926)
Provision for bad and doubtful debts 3345 (16428) (1 043) (545 — — (14 668)

Operating profit/{loss) before
amortisation and impairment of goodwill 64 770 8] 797 | 232 9129 1934 (295) 158 567

Share of income/(loss) of associated companies - 3022 - (&) 67 - 3083
Amortisation and impairment of goodwill (18 769) (85 394) {4 879) (200 (35927 (5781} {98 435)
Crther exceptional items 1363 (1183 - - (7 058) (17529

Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities

before taxation 47364 7589 (3647) 9103 (1 591) (13 132) 45 86
Taxation (BOi4) (221(01)  (4i3) (3524) | 852 3660 (25 540)
Mingrities (5413 - ~ {1 045) - ~ (1 586)

Profit/{loss) astributable to shareholders 38809 (314 512) (4060) 4534 261 {9472) 15560

Net intercompany interest (5453y 3739 - 220 I 494 - -
Cash and balances at certral banks i2 77 - 359 9 - 457
Treasury bills and other eligible bilis 156 42 - 198
Loans & agvances to banks | 994 452 pa 135 - - 2583
Loans & advances to customers | 972 | 948 118 255 - 487 4780
Debt securities 3430 766 - [41 41 - 4378
Equity shares 93 100 2 2 7 204
Interests in associated undertakings f 43 - 45
Intangibie fixed assets 188 149 pl - 27 385
Tangible fixed assets 26 i36 I i 8 - 187
Cwn shares 42 - - 42
Other assets 152 Lot 3 24 16 30 1276
Long-term assurance assets 2422 - 2422
Total assets (£ million} 7 908 7 302 189 933 81 544 16957
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2. Segmental analysis {continued}

The Statement of Recommended Practice on Segmental Reparting by Banks recommends, inter alia, net assets to
be disclosed by class of business and geographical sagment, In the view of the directors it would not be
meaningful to provide this information by class of business since the econemic capital of certain significant
businesses of the group is not held in, or allocated to, these businasses, but is held centrally. Similarly, an analysis
by geographical segment wouid not be meaningful, because of the way in which the group has been structured
and funded historically

The Statement of Recommended Practice on Segmental Reporting by Banks and the Companias Act
recommends the disciosure by geographical segment of gross Income, consisting of interest receivabie, dividend
income, fees and commissions receivabie, dealing profits and other operating income. In the view of the directors,
interest receivable and fees and commissions receivable are monitored on a net basis and aggregate split of fees
and commissions receivable and payable by geographical segment would act provide meaningful disclosure.
Consequently, Gross Income is not separately disclosed.

The Statement of Recommended Practice on segmental Reporting by banks recommends that the geographical
analysis be based on the jocation of the office at which the transaction was recorded or the location of the
customer The group geographical analysis is based on the location of the office at which the transaction was
recorded, except for the traded endowment business. Although the traded endowmerit business is conducted and
recorded in the United Kingdom, it has been allocated 1o the Scuth African segment as the business is held by
investec Limited and managed as part of the South African operations.

As the business of the group is mainly that of banking and insurance, no segmental analysis of turnover is given.

A geographical breakdown of business operating profit before goadwill amortisation is shown
below:

For the year ended 3} March Group

Private  Treasury & Asset  Services Discon-

Client  Specialised InvestmentManagement& Other  tinued Tota
{£000) Activities  Finance  Banking & Assurance Activities Operations  group
2003
United Kingdom and Europe 23273 {2850) 6915 | 644 {6 658) - 22326
Southein Africa 4473 3141t 5871 45494 (28 706) ~ 68543
Australia t 700 (728 2 7H 27293 - 5978
israel | 465 118 | 797 1i8 {3 - 3496
USA | 086 - 1086
Discontinued Operations - - - - (16 669) (16 669
Total group 40911 27951 (7294 47258 (31 987) (16 669) 84 758
2002
United Kingdorm and Europe 28 485 G726 20255 2439 3865 - 64770
Southern Africa 12832 40466 I1B567 4% 233 {39 300) - B 797
Austratia {2655) 1273 2724 - {H0) - 1232
lsrael 3827 319 4 747 318 (82) - 9129
LISA - - I 934 - 1934
Discontinued Operations - - - - - {295)  (295)
Total group 42489 51784 46293 51 390 (33 &94) {295) 158 547




Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 March

Annual Report 2002

{£000) 2003 2002
2. Segmental analysis (continued)
Further breakdowns of business line operating profit before goodwill amortisation
are shown below.
Private Client Activities
Private Banking 34 637 26 869
Private Client Portfolio Management and Stockbroking 6274 15620
40 911 42 48%
Treasury and Specialised Finance
Banking Activities 27 409 39 56!
Financial Market Activities 542 12123
27 951 51784
Investment Banking
Corporate Finance (2039) 502!
Institutional Research and Sales and Trading 2597 9 637
Direct Investrnents 4 604 9223
Private Equity 2132 11412
17294 46 293
Asset Management and Assurance
Asset Management 19479 20911
Assurance 27779 31079
47 258 51 990
Group Services and Other Activities
International Trade Finance P123 2 425
Proserty Worldwide 5 986 5782
US continuing operations I 04l 2054
LUK Traded Endowments {8945) 2531
(795y 12 792
Central Funding 6279 (7 356)
Central Costs (37 471) (39 130)
{31 987) (33 6%4)
Discontinued Operations (16 669) {295)
84 758 158 567
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For the year ended 31 March Continuing Disontinued
{£000) 2003 2002 2003 2002
3. Discontinued Qperations

Interest receivable - interest income arising from debt securities 170839 214630 227 0913

Interest receivable - other interest income 688 738 637 446 9067 29356

Interest payable (732 170) (702 728) {5235 (5 642)

Nat interest income £27 407 151029 4 059 12 801

Dividend income 3 597 o081 -

Fees and cornmissions receivable 298323 338100 33052 778i8
annuity 256 167 262587 30615 73258
deal 42 156 75513 2 437 4 560

Fees and comrission payable (48 199) (49 279y (6569 (25 392)

Dealing profits 46 192 55 666 961y (7 181

Income from long-term assurance business 27779 31079

Other operating income 26 263 31 089 (994) (140

Other income 353955 409736 24528 45 105

Total operating income 481 362 560765 28587 57 906

Administrative expenses (348 154) (370885 (44 312 (57 615

Depreciation and amortisation (136 072) (109004}  (6647) (6357)

Provision for bad and doubtful debts {18308) (i4668)

Operating (loss)/profit {15 172) 66208 (22372) (6076)

Share of income of associated companies S 706 3083 = -

Provision for iosses on termination and disposal of group

operations - discontinued - {2437y (7 056)

Impairment of goodwili on discontinued operations - - (1% 047} -

Profits on termination and disposal of group operations - continuing 5 80C | 363 - -

Fundamental reorganisation and restructuring costs - continuing (6 073y (il 836) - -

(Loss)/profit on ordinary activities before taxation (5739) 588i8 (5085%) (13132
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(£'000) 2003 2002
4. Dividend income
Income from eguity shares 3597 208|
5. Dealing profits
Interest rate instruments 19363 53611
Forelgn exchange instruments 12200 6422
Commodities trading 4263 10265
Profit on disposal of dealing properties 4 391 i 806
Equities and other securities 6 038 5673
Traded endowments (H025) %703
45231 49 485
6. Administrative expenses
Staff costs {including directors’ remuneration)
Wages and salaries 225199 245572
Social security costs 18514 15038
Pensicn and provident fund contributions (3410 (4623
257 123 275 231
Other administrative expenses
Premises {excluding depreciation]) 5658 9224
Operating rental expenses 17245 16634
Equipment (excluding depreciation and operzating rental expenses) 2556% 31980
Business expenses 74628 79747
Marketing expenses 12843 15727
i35 343 153279
392 466 428510
The following amounts were paid to the auditors
Audit fees 3627 2 468
Other services 585 | 058
Listing fees - 1359
Number of employees
The number of perscns empioyed by the group
was as foliows:- Number Number
Private Client Activities i 629 b BE3
Treasury and Specialised Finance 489 563
investment Banking 336 462
Asset Managernent and Assurance I 261 1339
Group Services and Other Activities b 159 1 4i2
4874 5529

Details of the directors’ emciuments, pensions and their interests are disclosed in the directors’ remuneration

report on pages 185 to 203.
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At 31 March
{£7000) 2003 2002

7. Group profits on ordinary activities before tax is stated after:

Income:
Gains on disposalfreclassification of investment securities 25269 30949
Operating lease income 5016 3764

8. Pension costs

Defined benefit obligations - I 708
Defined contributions 13410 12915
Pension and provident fund contributions 13410 14623

The group operates pension schemes throughout its areas of operation. The majority of the schemes are defined
coniribution schemes, with the exception of the Guinness Mahon Pension Scheme (“GM Scheme”} and the
Investec Asset Management Pension scheme {"IAM Scheme™). The GM Scheme, which is a non-contributory
defined benefit scheme, was last valued as at 31 March 2002 by a qualified actuary Scheme assets are held n
separate trustee administered funds, The pension cost relating 1o the scheme was determined using the altained
age method. There were no unpaid contributions outstanding at the year end,

The major assumptions used were:

Investment return 6.25%
Rate of increase in salaries 4.50%
Rate of increase in pensicns in payment for pre 1997 pension 2.00%
Rate of increase in pensions in payment for post 1997 pension 3.00%

The market value of the schemes assets as at 31 March 2002 was £70 124 000 and the zctuarial vajue of those
assets represented 102.9% of the value of the liabilities in respect of the benefits that had accrued to members
after altowing for future increases in earnings,

The most recent actuarial valuation of the {AM Scheme, which is also a non-contributory defined benefit schems,
was carried out as at 31 March 2000. The market vaiue of the scheme’s assets as at 31 March 2000 was

£7 920 000 and the actuarial value of those assets represented | 10% of the benefits that had accrued to
mernbers, after allowing for expected future increases in earnings.

The actuariai valuation of both Schemes was re-performed at 31 March 2003 by independent gualified actuaries
using the following assumptions consistent with FRS17.

31 March 2003 2002 2002
GM Scheme 1AM Scheme

Discount rate 5.50% 600% 6.10%

Rate of increase in salaries 3.25% 4.25% 4.25%

Rate of increase in pensions in payment for pre 1997 pension (GM Scheme)  1.67% 1.83%

Rate of increase in pensions in payment for post 1997 pension 2.50% 275% 270%

inflation 2.50% 2.75% 2.70%
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B. Penston costs {continued)

The assets held in the schemes and the expecied rates of returm were:

GM Scheme Long term Long term

Value at  rate of Valueat rate of
2003 return 2002 ratura

At 3| March £000 expected £'000 expected

Equities 17986  650% 34 53%  7.25%

Gilts 32484 4.50% 24405  525%

Insurance paticy 9405  550% 10 161 6.25%

Cash 2934 375% 1655 400%

Total market value of assets 62 809 70 760

Present value of plan liabilities (74 456) (68 331y

(Deficityfsurplus n the plan (It 647 2429

lrrecoverable surplus {2 429)

Deficit in the plan (11 647} -

Related deferred tax asset 3494 -

Met penston lability (8 153 —

1AM Scheme Long term Long term
Value at  rate of Valuear rate of

2003 return 2002 return

At 3| March £'000 expected £'000  expected

Equities 3804 8I25% 5 545 8.25%

Gilts 1386  4.50% P57 5.25%

Cash 527 375% 328 400%

Total market value of assets 577 7 030

Present value of plan fiabilities 8 414 7571

Deeficit in the plan (2 657 {541)

Related deferred tax asset 809 162

MNet pension lability {i 858) (37%)

If FRS17 was adopted in full at 31 March, the group’s net assets and profit and loss reserve adjusted for the total deficit in

respect of defined benefit schemes would be as follows:

Net assets excluding SSAP 24 pension liability

Pension liabiiity under FRS 17

Net assets including FRS 17 pension lability

Profit and loss reserve excluding SSAP 24 pension lability

Pensicn reserve under FRS |7

Profit and loss reserve including FRS |7 pension liability

2003 2002
£000  £000
504 205 214 761
(aoodny (379
494 164 204 362
84281 180 89C
(10041) (379
74 240 {80511
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8. Pension costs {continued)

The foltowing amounts would have been recognised in the performance staternents in the year 1o 31 March 2003

under the requiremants of FRSI7:

GM 1AM Total
£000s £000s  £000s

Analysis of amount charged to operating profit
Current service cost - -
Past service cost -
Totat cperating charge
Analysis of amount credited to other finance income
Expected return on pension scheme assets 4 001 524 4525
Interest on pension scheme liabilities (4001} (458) (4 459)
Net return — 66 66
Analysis of amount recognised in statement of total recognised gains
and losses (STRGL) under the requirements of FRS17:
Actual return less expected return on pension scherne assets (2 038} {1 6543 (10 692)
Experience gains and losses arising on the scheme liabiiities 2 359 394 2753
Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of the scheme liabilties {4 268) {90%) (5 877)
Actuarial loss recognised in the STRGL (il 647 {2 169) {13 8i6)
Movement in surplus during the year:
Surplus in the scheme at beginning of the year 2429 541y | 888
Mavement in year:
Outgoings - {53) (53)
Net returns - &7 67
Actuarial loss (14 076) (2 170y (16 246)
Deficit in scheme at end of year (i1 647y {2 657y (14 344)
History of experience gains and losses: 31 March 2002 to 3] March 2003

GM IAM Toral
Difference between the expected and actual return on scheme assets;
Armount (£ '000) {9 038) {1 6341 {10692y
Percentage of scheme assets at year end {14.4%) (289%) (15.6%)
Experience gains and losses of scheme liabilities:
Amagunt (£'000) 2 359 394 2753
Percentage of the present value of the scheme liabilities at year end 3.2% 4.7% 36.4%
Total amount recognised in statement of total recognised gains and losses:
Amount {£ '000) (1} 647} Z 7 (13817
Percentage of the present value of the scheme liabilities at year end (15.6%) (25.8%) (182.5%)

The GM Scheme contributions in the year ended 31 March 2003 were
£NIL. Employer contributions will be reviewed as at 31 March 2004,

The GM Scheme is ciosed to new entrants and accrual of service ceased on 31 March 2002
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9. Non-operational exceptional items

2003
Losses of £28.5milllion in respect of the disposal and termination of the substantial components of the US

operations.
Profit of £5.8m on the termination of Securities Invastment Bank Limited.

Costs of £6.1m relating to the fundamental recrganisation and restructuring of business units within the group.
No tax credit is attributable to this cost in the year as the group has not recognised a deferred tax asset for all of
its losses in the year due 1o the level of total deferred tax asset compared to forecast profit {in the legal entities
in which the tax iosses reside). These unrecognised losses have been treated as attributable to the reorganisation

and restructuring costs.

2002

Losses of £7.1m in respect of the pending disposal of the US private client aperations. Deferred tax of £2.7m
was credited 1o the profit and loss account relating to the wiite down,

Costs of £11.8m relating 1o the fundamental restructuring of the Fedsure business units acquired in june 2001,

Profit of £1.4m on disposal of the UK insurance business.

There were no minority interests or taxation effects (other than as detaiied above} in relation to the above items
for 2003 and 2002,
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For the year ended 3| March

statements

{£'000) 2003 2002
10. Tax
Corporation tax
United Kingdom
- current tax on income for the year 560 8 050
- adjustmenits in respect of prior years {8 000;
- advance corporation tax recovered ~- (3110
- corporation tax before double tax relief (7 440y 4940
- double tax relief (580)
{8000y 4940
Overseas current tax charge
Current tax on income for the year
Eurape 2295 35
Southern Africa 7271 71569
Australia 1679 I 595
Israe! P 629 3524
USA 4596  (2392)
18470 24 331
Adjustment in respect of prior vears
Southern Africa {960
Ausiralia (274 -
USA 330
3018 -
Secondary taxation on companies{*) [ 551 238
Share of associates’ taxation charge - 317
i 551 555
Total corporation tax 15037 29826
Deferred tax
United Kingdom (8 000y 4040
Europe - -
Southern Africa B4 (109
Australia 7 (1182
lsrael (8202
s 289 (3120
{2 680) (I 28%)
(*3 Secondary taxation on companies is 2 tax on dividends declared by South

African entities. The rate of taxation is 12.5% on the net dividend being

dividends declared less dividend cradits.
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(£000) 2003 2002

10. Tax {continued)

Total tax charge for the period 5357 28540

Tax on continuing businesses (858y 32200

Tax on discontinued businesses 6215 (3650)

5357 28540

Please refer to note 3 on page 244 for details on discontinued operations.

Items which affect the tax note going forward are:

Estimated tax losses, arising from trading activities,

available for velief against future taxable income

United Kingdom 20000 10000

Europe 29405 18421

South Africa 7523 5 301
56928 33722

£11.9m (2002 : £6m) of the above losses had been recognised as deferred tax assets.

The rates of corporation tax are:

Urited Kingdom 30% 30%

Europe {average) 20% 20%

South Africa 30% 30%

Australia 30% 30%

lsras] 45% 45%

USA () 35% 35%

(Loss)/profit on ordinary activities before taxation (56 595) 45686

Tax on (loss)/orofit on ordinary activities 5357 28310

Effective tax rate (3.5%)  62.5%

(**)  These are the statutory federal tax rates and therefore exclude state and
local income taxes which range from 7.3% to 9%.
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For the year ended 3| March

(£000) 2003 2002
0. Tax (continued)
The tax charge on activities for the year is higher than the standard rate as detailed below:
Tax on {oss)/profit on ordinary activities before taxation at UK rate of 30% (16979) 13706
Uitisation of capital and trading losses {2290y (4258
Tax adjustment refating to foreign earnings(***) (7 834 {21292)
Taxation relating to prior years 8000y (3110)
Capital allowantce in excess of depreciation 58% (5 322)
Goodwill 42 405 29 653
Permanently disatlowed items for corporation tax purposes 30! {716}
Losses carried forward 2 765 -
Secondary taxation on companies i 551 238
Share of associates’ taxation charge - 37
Other timing differences 70286 I 810
15037 29826

Currsnt tax charge

(¥*#*)  These are permanent differences relating to foreign jurisdictions, other than

goodwill
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(£'000) 2003 2002

11. Dividends and earnings per share

Ordinary dividends - pence per share

Interim 260 259

Firal 28.0 279

54.0 538

Ordinary dividends

Other (%) 5848

interim 27 53% 24232

Final 25468 25779
53 007 55859

*This relates 1o dividends paid in respect of shares issued cum

dividend after 31 Marcn 2001

Preference dividends

Dividends 421 2015

Total dividends 53428 57874

Earnings per share - pence per share

Basic earnings per share (pence per share) is calculated by dividing the

(loss)/profit attributable to the erdinary shareholders in lnvestec plc by the

weighted average nurber of ordinary shares in issue during the pericd. (7043 148

Greup {loss)/profit attributable 1o the shareholders per profit and loss account (63 598) 15550

Preference dividends 420 (2015

Group {lossy/profit attributable to ardinary shareholders (61 019) |3 545

Dituted earnings per share - pence per share

Group (loss¥profit attributable to ordinary shareholders (64019 13545
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For the year ended 3| March

(£000) 2003 2002

I |. Dividends and earnings per share {continued)

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit/{ioss) attributable

to the ordinary shareholders of Investec ple, adjusted for the effects of

dilutive ordinary potential shares, by the weighted average number of shares

in issue during the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary

shares that would be issued on conversion of the dilutive ordinary

potential shares (being share options outstanding not yet exercised)

during the yean {704 139

Weighted average number of shares in issug during the year 10C 076 3le 91 519045

Weighted average number of own shares (9 197 610y (237 582)
90 878 704 91 281 463

Weighted average number of shares in issue resuking from future dilutive

potential shares - 200 006

Weighted average number of shares resulting from future

dilutive convertible instruments - 6154 29|

Adjusted weighted number of shares potentially in issue S0 878 706 97 635 754

Excluding goodwill and exceptional items - pence per share

Basic earnings per share excluding goodwill and excepticnal items

(pence per share) are calculated by dividing the profit before deducting

goodwill amortisation and impairment and exceptional items atiributable

1o the ordinary sharehoiders in lnvestec plc by the weighted

average number of ordinary shares in issue during the yean 97.6 {39.8

{Loss)/profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 61019 13 545

Amortisation and impairment of goodwil 122 302 98 435

Profit on termination and disposal of group operations - continuing {5 800; {1 363)

Provision for losses on termination and disposal of

Group operations {net of deferred tax) 9 437 4339

Impairment of goodwill on discontinued operations 19 047 -

Amortisation of goodwilt of associates | 644 821

Fundamental reorganisation and restructuring costs- continuing & 073 bl 836

Earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders excluding goodwill

and exceptional items 88 684 127 613
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For the year ended 31 March
(£1000) 2002 2002

I 1. Dividends and earnings per share (continued)

Headline earnings per share

Headiine earnings per share (pence per share) has been calculated in accordance
with the definition in the Institute of Investment Management Research {"lIMR™)

Statement of Investment Practice No. | "The Definition of Headline Earnings.” 3059 1268

(Lossy/profit attributable 1o ordinary shareholders (64 019) 13545

Amortisation and impairment of goadwill 122 302 98 435
Profit on termination and disposal of group operations - continuing {5 800) {1363
Provision for iosses on termination and disposal of

Group cperations (net of deferred tax) G 437 4339

Impairment of goodwill on discontinued operations 1S 047 -
Arortisation of goodwilt of assaciates I 644 821

Headline earnings attributable to ordinary sharehaolders 82 611 |15 777

In terms of the DLC sharing agreements, Investec ple and lnvestec Limited
shareholders share equally in the profits of the group. Accordingly, in the earnings
per share calculations, the weighted average number of shares in issue includes
both the Investec plc and Investec Limited shares in issue.

12. Treasury bilis and other eligible bilis

Dealing securities held art fair value

Treasury bills 47 156 120 961

Other eligibte bills with banks 132 545 34 395
174 70i 155 356

Investment securities held at cost

Treasury bills - -

Cther eligible bitls with banks 68 318 42411
48 318 42 41|

243 019 197 767

Investment securities:

Opening balance 47 411 1530
Purchases 668 181 302 631
Maturities {644 331} {273 250}
Exchange movements 2057 1 500
Closing balance 68 318 47 411

Treasury bills and other efigible bills are mainly short-term in maturity with a book
value not materially different from market velue,
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statements

(£'000) 2003 2002
13. Loans and advances to banks

Remaining maturity:

Repayable on demand 685 559 707 853
Up to threge months, excluding on demand | 405 991 | 451 919
Three months to one year 592 171 389 594
One year to five years 70 550 419
Greater than fiva years 1526 28 820

14. Loans and advances to customers
Remaining maturity:

Repayable on demand or at short notice

Up to three months, excluding on demand or short notice
Three months to one ygar

One year 1o five years

Greater than five years

Provision for bad and deubtful debts

Included in ioans and advances to customers are:

el s and acv s to customers (refer to note on credit rig
Core loans and advances t mers {refer t t dit risk

Net investment in finance leases
Net investment in HP contracts
Non-perfarming loans

Less 1 Security held against non-periorming loans
Net non-performing ioans

2758797 2583205

677 234 847 678
785 646 983 374
736877 711 406
| 567 190 | 225926
224263 1076 123
(82 984) (64 227)
4898 276 4 780 480

2727619 3312450

71555 64352
115805 90879
60 677 38124
(36 132) (11 821)
24545 26 303

Al of the net non-performing loans are covered by specific provisions.
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(£2008) 2003

2002

15. Provisions for bad and doubtful debis
Specific provisions

At beginning of year 27 253
Charged against income 8 380
Acquired or dispased with subsidiaries -
tilised (10 287)
Recoverias -
Transfers {505}
Exchange adjustments 5972
At end of year 30813

General provisions

At beginning of year 36 974
Charged against income g 928
Acquired or disposed with subsidiaries -
titised (4777
Transfers 505
Exchange adjustments 9 54|
At end of year 52 171

Total provisions

At beginning of year &4 227
Charged aganst income 18308
Acguired or disposed with subsidiaries -
Utilised (15 064)
Recoverias -

Exchange adjustments 15513
At end of year 82 984

44 49
(614)
{(75)

(10 674
(223)
2223
(7 880)
27 253

31216
5282
(227)
(88)

(2 223
(6 986)
36 974

75 712
14 468
(302)
(10 762)
(223)
(14 866}
64 777
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For the year ended 31 March

(£'000) 2003 2002

16. Debz securities

Dealing and market making securities at market value

Government securities 40 058 250 165

Unlisted bank and building society certificates of deposit 480515 2 940 495

Other debt securities 27 830 37 498

648 403 3 248 158

Investment securities at cost

Government securities 209 690 32910

Unlisted bank and building society certificates of deposit 916450 | 045 691

Other unlisted debt securities 156 722 51118
| 2B2862 | 123719

Total debt securities | 931 265 4 377 877

Amounts inciude:

Unamortsed net premiums on investment securities 137 647

The cost of the investrent securities, ail of which are held in the banking book

does not differ materially from the fair value.

Remaining maturity

Up tc one year | 637806 4377876

Greater than one year 293 459 -
{931 265 4377 876

The cost of dealing and market making securities has not been disclosed, as it

cannot be determined without unreasonatle expense,

Investment securities:

Opening balance 1129719 571 595

Additions 2632187 2785901

Sold/imatured {2483 134) (2214388

Amortisation of discounts and premiums - {4

Exchange adjustments 4090 {13 375)
1282862 | 1297i9

Closing balance
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(£000) 2003 2002

17. Equity shares

Dealing securities at market value

Listed 33189 35 806

Unlisted &0 169 51 648
93 358 {47 454

Investment securities at book value

Listed 1063 17332

Unlisted 43217 39 566
54 280 56 8%98
147 638 204 352

Investment securities at market value

Listed It 076 18 485

The market vaiue of unlisted investment securities is not disclosed as its determination

is not practicable. Unlisted investment securities are valued by the directors for

impairment at each reporting date. This veluation is based on predicted cash flows. To

the extent that the book value has been impaired, an impairment loss has been

recognised in the profit and loss account.

The cost of dealing securities has not been cisclosed, as s cost cannot be determined

without unreasonable expense.

Investment securities at book value

At beginning of year 56 898 1109i2

Additions 48 195 47 161

Acquisitions - 4 86

Provisions (10 163) (4893}

Disposals (37 501) (48 173

Reclassifications (4525) (2B 793}

Exchange movements | 376 (24 178)

At end of year 54 280 56 898

Provisions on investment securities

Opening balance {30 547y (25854

Movement (10 163) {4 893)

Closing balance (40 710) (30547

Profit on reclassification of equities from investment to trading | 915 17 509
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statements

(£600) 2003 2002
I8. Interests in associated undertakings
Interests in associated undertakings consist of;
Net asset value 48720 31145
Goodwili t3 702 1388l
investment in associated undertaking 62 422 45 028
Analysis of the movement in our share of net assets:
At beginning of year 31145 3272
Exchangs adjustments Z046  (6284)
Acquisitions 685 27 {70
Repayment of foan capital {1 220) -
Transfers from equities 3400
Operating profits {net of dividends) 9 064 3904
Taxation - (3i7)
At end of year 48 720 31 145
included within interests in associated undertakings net assets are foans to
associates of nil (2002 : £1.2m)
Analysis of the movement in goodwill:
At beginning of year 13881 -
Acguisitions 213 14702
Goodwili amartisation (1 644} {821)
Mavement in foreign currency translaticn reserve 552 -
At end of year 13702 1388]
Associated undertakings:
Listed 58 758 41 865
Linlisted 3 664 3161
£2 422 45026
Market value of listed investiments 39273 28 38§




Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 March

Annuat Report 2003 261

(£:000) 2003 2002
18. Interasts in associated undertakings {continued)
The rmarket vaive of the listed invesirents in associated undertakings as at
12 June 2003 was £39.0 million.
The gocdwill relates to the acquisition of Capital Alliance Limited ("CAL"),
The eguity accourtting for our share of CAl's profit for the current peried does
not include the value of the in-force business as this information was not
available at the time these accounts were prepared.
The only significant investment in assodiates over the periods was CAL CALis a
listed cornpany on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange and conducts the business
of long term life assurance. CAl. became an associate on |9 October 2001,
Their issued ordinary share capital at the end of the vear is: 89 676 66179
Holding in CAL ordinary share (%) 292 297
The significant transactions between the group and CAL, all of which are on
arm’'s length basis are:
- foan to CAL (included in loans and advances 1o customers) {5984 32024
- interest received on the ioan 1o CAL P57 | 739
Re-insurance premiums pald by clients of
Investec Employee Benefits and paid over <o CAL 88 114 §4 507

The group transferred certain assets 1o CAL, in ona transaction during each of
the 2003 and 2002 financial years, as part of reinsurance agreements, CAL in
turn subcontracted the management of these assets to the group. The group
earned investment management fees of £2.3 million (2002 : £2.3 million) from
CAL under arm's length agreements,

The group has no holdings of securities issued by significant
associated undertakings, except as listed above.
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For the year ended 31 March Positive  Negative
(£000) Jotal  Goodwill Goodwill
19. Intangible fixed assets

Year ended 3| March 2003

Goodwill

A E April 2002 537098 550131 (13033
Additions 594 594 -
Fair value adjustment 16743 16749

Disposals {641 {641) -
Movement in foreign currency translation reserve 58697 62494 {(3797)
Cost at 3! March 2003 612497 629 327 (16 830)
Accumuiated amortisation

Accurnuiated amortisation at | Apeif 2602 I52 198 {57 428  (5430)
Charge/{credit) to the profit and loss account 35549 144701 (9 152)
Disposals {128) {128) -
Movement in the foreign currency transfation reserve 25105 27353 (7248
Accumulated amortisation at 3| March 2003 312724 329554 (16 830)
Net book value at 31 March 2003 299 773 299773 -
Net book value at 3! March 2002 384 900 392503 ({7 603}

Additions comprise goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries which is
being amortised over periods of between 3 and 20 years reflecting its expected
usefu! fife, For the majority of agquisitions the goodwill is amortised over 5 10

10 years.

Included in the goodwili amortisation are impairment losses of

£62.8 miliion.

Following the reinsurance transactions between Investec Employee Benefits
(formerly Fedsure Life Assurance Limited) and CAL, an impairment review was
conducted using a combination of value in use and discounted cash flow
valuations, This resulted in an impairment of £45.2 million, A discount rate of

{3.4% was applied in discounting cash flows of the income generating units.

With the discontinuance of the USA operations, the remaining goodwill was

written off. resulting in an impzirment of £19.0 miliion.

Securities Investment Bank ceased operating during the year and the remaining

negative goodwill of £5.8 million was relsased to income.
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(£'000) 002 adjustenents value

|9, Intangible fixed assets {continued)

With the downturn of the European economy an impairmertt review was
conducted on goodwill refating to the groups Swiss operations. This resutted in
an impairment of £4.4 million on the Radcliffes operations.

The fair value adjustment arises as a result of the reinsurance transaction in the
current year This transaction resulied in the transfer of certain assets and
liebilities to CAL {refer to associate note) which were acquired from Fedsure
Heidings Limited in the 2002 financial year. The resuitant effect was to enable
certain technical provisions held at the tme of the acquisition to be released.

The table below details the fair value atiributed to the assels and
liabilities acquired from Fedsure Holdings Limited in the 2002 financial
year and the adjustment to the fair value,

Equity shares 18 39¢ 18 3%
Tangible fixed assets 2 544 7 544
Other assets 71925 - 71925
Long-term assurance assets atiributable to shareholders 42 709 6 749 59 458

235574 16 749 252 323
Long-term assurance assets attributable to policyholders 2 540 552 {16749y 2523803
Total assers 2776 126 - 2776128
Other liabifites 148 526 148 526

148 526 - 148 526
Long-term assurance liabilities attributable to policyholders 2 540 552 (16 745y 2523 803
Total liabilities 2 689 078 {16 749) 2672329
Less: minority interest (3 430) {34303
Net assets acquired 83518 {6 749 (G0 367
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19, Intangible fixed assets {continued)

included in goodwill amortisation charge for 3| March 2002 are impairment losses of £46.1 miilion.

An amount of £41.7 miilion arose from a review of the carrying value of the group's insurance and financial
services acauired from Fedsure Holdings Limited. An impaimment review was conducted by reference to the value
in use of acquired income generating units. A discount rate of 6% was applied in discounting cash flows of the
income generating unis,

The remainden £4.4 million, refates to a review of the carrying value of the group’s private client stackbroking
business in the United States pending a potential disposal in the new financial year,

20. Acguisitions and disposals
Year end 3| March 2003
The group did not make any major acquistions or disposals in the current yean

The goodwill arising on acquisitions is as a resul? of the group purchasing Intefigence at Worlk (Ptyy Lid and
Provest (Pty) Lid which resulted in an addition to gocdwill of £594 thousand.

Investec Ernst and Investec Inc were restructured over the past year as detailed below:

In May 2002, the Private Client Stockbroking business was sold to management The clearing division of Investec
Ernst was sold to Fiserv Securities in August 2002 for US$44 million. The group made the decision to wind down
the investment banking operations and subsequently closed the research, equity sales and frading businesses and
the sold PMG Advisors during the first few months of 2003. This rationalisation has resulted in a charge of
£16.7 million reflecting the operational losses of these discontinued cperations and an exceptional loss on
termination of these businesses of £28.5 million broken down as foliows:

«  £9.47 million provision for losses on termination and disposal of operations

< £19.04 milion impairment of goodwill,

Cther minor adjustments gave rise to the reduction of goodwill amounting to £513 thousand,
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Freehold  Leasehold Furniture & Investment
(£000) properties improvements vehicles Equipment properties  Total
Z|. Tangible fixed assets
Cost or valuation
At 3| March 2002 49 185 17 941 13733 53 447 97 716 232 326
Exchange adjustments 5046 8 949 6174 8 0(9 250677 57 265
Revaluation of investment properties - -~ 3315 3315
Reclassifications ~ - (3083 (3083
Additions 338 I 532 | 482 41393 - 7 745
Disposals {(579) (@52  (2488) (16548) (10320) (31459
At 3| March 2003 54 294 25 898 18 90| 49 311 FI6 725 265 12%
Accumulated depreciation and amortisation
At 31 March 2002 2 459 3754 8793 30 559 ~ 45 545
Exchange adjustments I8 27228 | 475 31283 7002
Disposals - sy @18) (10 534) - (13169
Charge for the year 645 | 193 | 746 10 B33 - 14417
impairments 5327 5327
Az 31 March 2003 3122 {0 688 HIRES 34 141 - 59147
Net book value
At 31 March 2002 47 030 4 |87 4 940 22 388 57716 186 76!
At 31 March 2003 58172 15 2i0 7705 5170 116725 205983

The group vaiues its investment properties semi-annually, The properties were vaiued by directors of the
company concerned. The valuation is performed by capitalising the budgeted annual net income of a property at
the market related yield applicable at the time. No depreciation is provided on investment properties,

2003 2002
Cost of investment properties 115 241 92 240
Carrying value of properties cccupied by group entities 65 382 61 217
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2003 2002

22. Own shares

Invester plc ordinary shares

Investec Limited ordinary shares

lnvester Group Limited ordinary shares*

Investec Holdings Limited (inhold) ordinary shares®

The group has set up a number of trusts as part of its employee remuneration and
share ownership arrangement and the assets, liabilities and transactions of those trusts
are brought into the consolidated accounts as if they were part of the group, except
for those assets that have vested unconditionally with employees. The arrangements
vary from scherne to scheme but principaily comprise conditicnal awards of share
options and share purchase schemes whereby group companies provide loans to
employees to enable them to acquire shares. The conditions attaching to the granting of
rights to shares principally involve the employees remaining employed by the group for
specified periods of time.

Where equity instruments of the group that have been recorded as assets are sold to
third parties, the difference between the net proceeds received and the carrying
amourt is charged or credited to the profit and loss account. Equity instruments that
are recorded as assets are written down through the profit and loss account if, in the
opinion of the direciors, they have suffered a permanent diminution in value, Capital
instruments of the group that are issued by or through the trusts, including certain
advance payments for shares made by employees, are credited to shares to be issued at
the net procesds received where there is no associated obligation on the group to
transfer economic benefit to the holder. Otherwise they are recorded as liabilities,

MNurmber of investec ple ordinary shares hald in employee share trusts

INumber of investec Limited ordinary shares hieid in employee share trusts
Number of Investec Group Limited ordinary shares held in employee share trusts
Nurnber of Inhold Limited ordinary shares held in employee share trusts

Included in the above:

Number of Investec plc ordinary shares conditionally allocated to empioyees
Number of Investec Limited ordinary shares conditionaily aliocated to employess
Number of Investec Group Limited ordinary shares conditionally held by employees
MNumber of Inhold Limited ordinary shares conditionaity held by employees

Market Value of Own Shares:
Investec plc

Invastec Limited

Investec Group Limited
investec Holdings Limited

At 12 June 2003 the market vatue of the Investec ple and Investec Limited shares
was £71 213 616 and £26 338 416 respectively
Dividends on own shares have not been included in the profit and loss account.

62 972
19950
3506
38 624

B2922 42130

7030 503 -

2 059 035 -

- 352 957

- 3978 734

5635 -

3 308 —

~ 23747

58 895

£000 £000
55 501 -

20 152 -

2 840

-~ 24545

* As set out on pages 4 to 6, for each Investec Holdings Limited share held prior 1o implementation of the DLC structure. 2
shareholder received (.8604 shares in the Investec Group Hmited, Furthermore, the implementation of the DLC structure
resufted in each shareholder holding 63 Investec pic and 37 Investec Limited shares for each investec Group Limited hefd.
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23. Other assets
Settlement debtors 518022 498 806
Deferred tax asset (refer to note on deferred taxation) 28 085 18 898
Derivative instruments positive fair values 477 183 410 041
Dezling properties 29 600 36 812
Qther investments 27 807 124 457
Traded endowments 18 274 16 295
Other debtors i12 469 7248
1215 448 V|77 727

24, Long-term assurance business attributable to the shareholder
Investec Employee Benefits Limited

The embedded value comprises:

Net tangible assets of life company including surphus 273072 [56 096
Reallocated to investments in associated undertakings (50824) (34 099)
Eliminaticr: of intercompany balances (120 833) (81 3713
Vaiue of in-force business 713 26 485

108 528 67 116

Movements in embedded value

At beginning of year &7 116
Acauisitions 142 709
Profit per profit and loss account 27 779 31079
Elimination of inter-group transacticns - 27459
Exchange adjustments {1316 {5 143
Gain on revafuation of investment properties 14949 12726
Reclassification of sharehiolder assets - {95 714}
At end of year 108 528 67 116
Income fraom long-term assurance business comprises:

Premium Income 306 110 201 731
Investment Income 13920 93 637
Total income 320030 295 368
Operating expenses (21003 (28210
Policyholder’s benefits paid (415 310) (449 183)
Decrease in technical provisions 457 680 206 597
Re-insurance premium expense {277 387) -
Operating profit 80010 24 571
Tax charged to technical account (8 296} {9 0553
Surplus attributable to shareholders 51714 15516
Vaiue of in-force business (23 935) IS5 563
income from long-term assurance business 7779 31079
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24. Long-term assurance business attributable to the shareholder {continued)
No current taxation has been provided on the surplus atiributable 1o shareholders due
1o the availability of brought forward axation losses.
Re-insurance premium expense of £277 million for the year ended 31 March 2003
{2002 : Nil) relates to the reinsurance of certain policyholder fiabilities with CAL This is
offset by an equivalent decrease in related technical provisions,
Assumptions
The economic assumptions are based upon a long-term view of econamic activity in
South Africa and are therefore not adjusted for market movements which are considered
i be short term. This approach is considered to be the most appropriate given the long-
term nature of the portfolio of products and that the business is located in South Africa.
The economic assumptions are derived by adding appropriate long-term risk/equity
margins to the benchmark gift (ie R153 South African government bond). The principal
economic assumptions which have been used for the 2002 year end are as follows:
% %
Risk-adjusted discount rate 134 165
Return on equities {gross of tax) 124 [5.5
Return on fixed interest securities (gross of tax) 104 (35
Return on property investments {gross of tax) HA 1.5
Return on cash held (gross of tax) 74 105
Inflation rate 64 2.5
Balance Sheet
The assets of the long-term assurance fund attributable to the shareholder
are detailed below:
Investments {76 858 109 630
Intercompany ioans due {20 833 81 371
Other assets 64 176 75 052
Assets of long-term assurance fund attributable to the sharehcider 361 867 266 053
Current liabilities 88 795) (109 957)
273072 156 096
Irivestments shown above comprise:-
Fixed interest securities 14034 3652
Stocks, shares and unit trusts 4259 37 210
Investment properties 51468 18 579
Associate 50 824 34 098
Depaosits 46 273 16091
176 858 109 £30

An increase in the investments properties value of 14,9 milfion in the year ended
31 March 2003 (2002 : £12.7 million ) has been recorded as 2 movement on the
revaluation reserve.
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25. Long-term assurance business attributable to policyholders

Investec Employee Benefits Limited [ 334 775 | 456 295

Investec Assurance Limited i 201 544 B98 {06
2 536 319 2 354 401

Investec Employee Benefits Limited
The assets of the long-term assurance fund attributable to policyheiders are detailed below:

tnvestments 1334775 1456 295

Investmenits shown above comprise:-

Fixed interest securities 168 368 37Z 105
Stocks, shares and unit trusts 680 959 768 262
Investment properties 23195 41630
Deposits 467 353 274 298

1 334775 | 456 295

Investec Assurance Limited
The assets of the long-term assurance fund attributable to policyholders are detiled below:

fnvestments [ 155383 8734%1
Debtors and prepayments 45 175 22 101
Other assets 986 2314
Assets of long-term assurance fund attributable to policyhoiders ! 201 544 898 i06

lnvestments shown above comprise:-

Fixed interast securities 294 276 216935
Stocks shares and unit trusts 454 377 380 622
Investment properties i 399 1083
Deposits 405 331 275051

[ 155383 873491

The business of Invester Assurance Limited is that of linked business with retirement
funds. The retirement funds hold units in a pooled portfolic of assets via a linked
policy issued by the company. The assets are beneficizlly held by investec Assurance
Limited. [ue 1o the nature of a linked poticy, Investec Assurance Limited's fability to
the policyholders is equal te the market value of the assets underiying the policies.

The liabilities to policyholders comprise:

Technical provisicns eti 589 29I 71!
Funds for fuiure appropriations 665 1656 545 583
Technica! provisions for linked liabilities | 229564 898 106

2 536 319 2 354 401
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26. Deposits by banks

With agreed maturity date or periods of notice, by remaining matarity:

Repayable on demand |45 979 239423

Up to three manths, excluding on demand 1394028 2286 374

Three months to one year 557 406 1 080 889

One year 1o five years 24 808 19821

Gregter than five years 7072 18 799
2129 292 3445308

27. Customer accounts '

With agreed maturity date or periods of notice, by remaining maturity:

Repayable on demand | 817 593 | 895 546

Up to three mariths, excluding on demand 3159 799 3295317

Three months t¢ one year 925232 1277522

One year to five years 227 186 346355

Greater than five years 225057 253 480
6 354 867 7068220

Preference shares issued by subsidiary undertakings of investec Limited

which have been guaranteed by Investec Bank Limited are included

in customer accounts. 159422 144 917
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28. Debt securities in issue

Bonds and medium term notes repayable:

Crver five years 73765 -
73 765

Other debt securities in issue repayable:

Not more than three months

Over three months but not more than one year
Over one year but not more than two years
Over two years but not more than five years

The ponds are listed on the Bond Exchange of Seuth Africa, with a final
legal maturity date of |5 December 2025, The group, subject to certain
conditicns being met, may at its discretion redeem these bonds at an
earlier date, but not before!s December 20086,

29. Other liabilities

Settlernent creditors

Short positions in securities

Provision for deferred tax {refer 1o note on deferred taxation)
Current corporation tax

Sharehe!ders ordinary dividend

Derivatives negative fair vaiues

Other creditors and aceruals

Short positions in securities comprise:
Debt securities - government bonds
Equities - listed securities

435 830 365 068
545033 217 368
04 28810

35 Q24

t 015991 606 246

P 089 756 606 246

760 920 959 954
226087 451 743
& il & 896
45789 51 610
25468 25779
362 370 494 15¢
154 136 116058

SBO 881 2 106 191

147 550 360 737
78537 91 006

226 087 45| 743
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30. Deferred tax
Deferred tax asset

Deferved capital allowances 10927 14449
Tax refief in respect of the utilisation of tax losses brought forward

against future taxable income 3 585 | 800
Income and expenditure accruais 9951 | 079
Other timing differences 3623 i 570

28086 18398

Deferred tax liability

Inceme and expenditure accruals 93 69
Equipment aflowances ié 951
Property allowances 2991 23i6
Unrealised gains on investments 21797 2 46
Crher timing differences H4 i394
Deferred tax fiabilty 6 it 6 896
Net defarred tax asset 21975 12002

Raconciliation of net deferred tax asset

Opening balance 12002 8771
Charge to profit and loss 9 680 I 286
Arising on acquisitions - | 266
Exchange adjustments 293 &79
Closing balance 21975 12002

The deferred tax asset arising in 2002 is mainly related to the acquisition of the PMG
group in the United States,

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent it i likely that profits will arise in
future periods. The assessment of the likelihood of future profits is based on past
performance and current projections. Deferred tax assets are not recognised in
respect of capital losses as crystailisation of capital gains and the eligibility of potential
capitat losses is uncertain,
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31. Subordinated liabilities

Dated subordinated debe

Issuzd by Investec Limited

Class "A” Series | Unsecured subordinated compulsorily convertible debentures ("CCD's™) e

Class "A" Series | | Unsecured subordinated CCDs 2 447 -

Issued by Investec Bank Limited - 2 wholly owned subsidiary of investec Limited

Unsecured subordinated CCDs 20 300 15845

Clags “A” Unsecured subordinated CCDs 12 611 £7 271

Class "A” Series | | Unsecured subordinated CCDs 2 60% 3 456

Class “B" Unsecured subordinated CCDs 5030 & 500

Clags "C" Unsecured subordinated CChDs 8280 8 644

16% subordinated bonds 2012 issued in South African Rands 156 720 121 356

Class "E” 15% unsecured redeemable debentures - 2014 22 697 (T 577

V02 12.55% Subordinated unsecured callable bonds 44 464 -
276 897 190 &59

Al subordinated debt ic denominated in South African Rand.

Remzining maturity:

in one year or less, or on demand - -

it more than cne year, but not more than two years 20 230

In more than two years, but not more than five years - 272

[n more than five yzars 256 647 163 432
276 897 190 659

The only event of default in relation to the subcrdinated debt is the non-payment of
principai or interest, The only remedy avalizble to the holders of the subordinated debt in
the event of default is to petition for the winding up of the company. In a winding up no
amount will be paid in respect of the subordinated debt until alt other creditors have
been paid in full.

The compuisory convertible debentures issued by Investec Bank Limited were spiit at
issue into thelr debt and equity components. The equity components were sold to
employee share trusts. The debit components were sold to third parties, represented by
the amounts above.
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Series | & il Class “A” debentures:

Interest is payable six monthly arrears on | May and | Novernber of each year at a variable rate of 3% below the
official rate as defined in the 7th schedule cf the South African income Tax Act of 1962. The debentures convert
into ordinary shares, on a one for one basis, at the slection of the holders. If not converted by efection, the Series
! debentures will automatically convert on | October 2008. The Series |1 debentures will automatically convert
on 4 December 2010,

The unissued debentures are under control of the directors until the next annual general meeting.

Unsecured subordinated CCDs

The compuisorily convertitle debentures will convert inte Investec Bank Limited ordinary shares, on a one for
one basis, on 31 july 2008, The company at its discretion, may at the request of the holder convert at an earlier
date,

The Investec Bank Limited shares arising out of the conversion have been sold forward by the holder thereof to
Investec Limited in exchange for 3 573 994 investec Limited ordinary shares.

Class A unsecured, Class A Series Il, Class B and Class C unsecured CCDs:

The 5 000 000 Ciass A unsecured, 1 006 000 Class A Series Il | 500 G00 Class B and 2 000 000 Class C
unsecured subordinated compulsorily convertble debentures were accuired by Investec Limited on 18 June 2002
in exchange for the issue of 9 500 000 Investec Group Limited shares,

6% subordinated bonds 2012 issued in South African Rands

R1 961 million (2002 - R1 961 million) Investec Bank Limited 16% focal registered unsecured subordinated bonds
are due in 201 2. Interest is paid six monthly in arrears on 31 March and 20 September at a rate of 6% per
annum. The setilement date of the bonds is 31 March 2012

Class “E” 15% unsecured redeemable debentures - 2014

R284 miflion (2002 - R284 million} Investec Bank Limited Class E 15% unsecured redeemable debentures are due
in 2014. From the date of issue to the period ended 31 March 2007, interest is paid six monthly in arrears on 3|
March and 30 September at a rate of 15% (nominal annual compounded). Thereafter to 31 March 2014, the
interest is the floating rate of the Scuth African Rand Johannesburg Interbank rate plus 2.5%, payable quarterly on
31 March, 30 june, 30 September anc 3| December

V02 12.55% Subordinated unsecured callable bonds

R556 milion (2002 - nil} investec Bank Limited IVO2 subordinated |2.55% unsecured callable bonds. The bonds
redermnption date is 31 March 2013 but the company has the option to call the bond on 31 March 2008, If not
cailed, the bonds wili switch 1o a floating rate of 3 month JIBAR plus 300 basis noints payable guarterly in arrears
untii maturity
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32. Called up share capital
Investec plc
Authorised
The autherised share capital of Investec ple is £1 000 million (2002: £1 000 million}
comprising
99% 950 million ordinary shares of £0.001 each {2002: |0 000 rmillion shares
of £0.10 each).
55 500 CUG Special Converting Shares of £0.00( each {200Z: Nil}.
! Special Voting share of £0.001 each, | UK DAN Share of £0001 and
i UK DAS Share of £0001
issued, allotted and fully paid
Number of ordinary shares Numbar Number
At beginning of year 500 000 300 000
Subscription for shares 3 360 -
Subdivision on 100 for | basis 49 826 700 -
Cancellation of shares (50 000 000
Issuad for acquisition of subsidiaries from Investec Limited 70 3033 746 -
Share issued in the Global Offer 4000000 0 -
At end of year 74 633 746 500 000
Nominal value of ordinary shares - GBP £'000 £'000
At beginning of year 50 50
Subscription for shares -¥
Subdivision on 100 for | basis -
Cancellation of shares (50)
Issued for acquisition of subsidiaries from Investec Group Limited 70 -
Share issued in the Global Offer 4 —
At end of year 79 50
Number of special converting shares Number Number
At beginning of year - -
lssued during the year 38 399 527 —
At end of year 38 399 527
Mominal value of special converting shares - GBP £000 £000
At beginning of year -
fssued during the year 38 -
At end of year 38
Number of UK DAN shares Number Number

At beginning of year
Issued during the year
At end of year

* Less than £} 000.
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2003 2002
32. Called up share capital {continued)
Nominal value of UK DAN share - GBP £'000 £000
At beginning of year
Issued during the yvear —* -
At end of year —*
Number of UK DAS shares Number Number
At beginning of year - -
Issued during the year \
At end of year
Nominal value of UK DAS share - GBP £'000 £000
At beginning of year - -
Issued during the vear -
At end of year —*
Investec Limited
Authorised
The authorised share capital of Investec Uimited is South African Rand
205 502 {2002: Ré% 430 000), comprising 55 500 000 ordinary shares of
South African Rand 0001 each (2002: {50 million ordinary shares of South
Adrican Rand 0.6 each), 8 million {2002: 10 million) convertible non-
cumdlative preference shares of South African Rand 0.0C1 each (2002: 0.6
each). 5C 000 (2002 50 000) variable rate cumulative redeemable preference
shares of South African Rand 0.60 cents each, 1 SA DAS redeemable
preference share of | South African Rand (2002: Nil) 1 SA DAN redeemable
preference share of | South African Rand (2002: Nib). 112 million (2002: Nii)
convertible redeemable preference shares of South African Rand 0.001 each
(special converting shares),
Issued, allotted and fully paid
Number of ordinary shares Number Number
At beginning of year 92 228 309  8C 910020
Conversion of preference shares 2000 000
lssued for acquisition of compulsorily convertible debentures 9 500 0G0 -
Subdivision on 600 for | basis 62 164 913 642
Issued under savings-related share option schemes 61 06t
Share issues ~ 19337 336
3t 622

Conversion of compulsority convertible debentures
Cancellation of shares
At end of year

#ess than £1 000

(62 230 242 424) (8 |11 730)
38395 527 92 228 309
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32. Called up share capital (continued)
Nominal value of ordinary shares - GBP £000 £000
At beginning of year / period 7418 6 589
Conversion of preference shares itz -
issued for acquisttion of compudsorily convertible debentures 374 -
Subdivision on 400 for | basis - -

- 023

Issued during the year

Conversion of compuisorily convertible debentures
Cancellation of shares

At end of year

Nurmber of convertible preference shares
At begnning of year

lssued during the year

At end of year

Nomina! value of convertible preference shares - GBP
At beginning of year

Converted during the year

At end of year

Number of redeemable preference shares
At beginning of year

Issued during the year

At end of year

Nomina! value of redeemable preference shares - GBP
At beginning of year

Issued during the year

At end of year

Number of special converting shares
At beginning of year

Issued during the year

At end of year

Nominai value of special converting shares - GBP
At beginning of year

Issued during the year

At end of year

Number of SA DAN shares
At beginning of year

Issued during the year

At end of year

*Less than £1 000,

- |
7859 (195

45 7418

Number  Number
2 G0G 000 2 000 006

{2 000 000} -
— 3 000 000

£000 £000
P12 117

P
- 2

Number  Number

{750 -

1750 -

£000 £000

Number  Number

74 633 746

74 633 746

£000 £000

5

Number  Number
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32. Called up share capital {continued)
Nominal value of SA DAN share - GBP £060 £'000
At beginning of year -

Issued during the year ¥

At end of year —*

Number of SA DAS shares Number Number
At beginning of year
Issued during the vear [

At end of year t

Nominal value of SA DAS share - GBP £060 £'0Q0
At beginning of year - -
lssued during the year ok -
At end of year - -
Nominal value of issued, aliotted and fully paid called up share capital of

Investec ple and Investec Limited

Totai called up share capital 163 7580
Less: Held by Investec Limited {50}
Less: Held by kwvestec plc (5) -
Total called up share capital i58 7 530

The Investec Limited shares were issued in South African Rands, The amounts recorded
above were calculated by reference to historic Sterling/Rand exchange rates.

The redeernable preferance shares zre variable rate, cumuiative and redeemable, The
shares were issued at a premium of R99 999.40 per share. The dividend rate on these
shares is 10.83% of the subscription price {R175 miilion), and are payable annually in
advance on 28 November each year These shares are redeemable on 29 November
2005, at & premium of R99 999.40 per share

The helder of 2 775 Q00 lavestec Limited and 4 725 000 Investec pic shares has agreed
1o waive 1ts right to dividends until 15 December 2004. The holder of 740 GO0 Investec
Limited and | 260 000 investec plc shares has agreed to waive its right to dividends untit
31 March 2008.
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On 19 June 2002, Investec Limited subscribed for 3,299 Ordinary Shares in Investec plc of £0.1C each and
tnvestec Bank (Nominees) Limited subscribed for | Ordinary Share in investec ple of £0.10 each.

On 5 july each Investec pic Ordinary Share of £0.10 was sub-divided intc 100 Ordinary Shares of £0.00! each,
the rights attaching to all bar 330000 of the then Ordinary Shares were amended such that they bacame
deferred shares and 999,838,000.000 unissued Ordinary Shares were cancelled.

On 18 July 2002, Investec ple issued 70 303 746 shares of £0.001 for the acquisition of the International
subsidiaries of investec Limited, in preparation of the London listing of investec ole. On |18 July 2002, Investec pic
repurchased and cancelled 50,000,000 of the deferred shares of £0.001 each in issue. On 9 July 2002,
38,392,028 Investec pic Special Converting Shares of £0.001 each, | Investec ple Special Voting Share of £0.001
each, | UK Dividend Access Share (Nen South African) of £0.001 and | UK Dividend Access Share (South
African) of £0.00} were issued by way of bonus issue from reserves.

On 22 July 2002, a further 4 million shares were issuad by Investec ple prior to listing to fund ongoing capital

requirements.

In terms of the Dual Listed Cornpanies Structure, shareholders have common ecenornic and voting rights as if
fnvestec Limited and Investec plc were a single company. These include equivalent dividends on a per share basis,
joint electorate and class right voting, and equivalert position on the termination of sither compary.

The UK DAS shares, UK DAN share, SA DAS share, the SA DAN share and the special converting shares have
been issued to achieve this,

The unissued shiares are under the contro! of the directors untd the next annual general
rmeeting,

* Less than £1 000
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32. Called up share capital {continued)
Staff Share Scheme

The Bani operates a share option and a share purchase scheme for employees, The
number of ordinary shares conditionally allocated to empioyees are disclosed in note 22.

Mavements in the number of share options issued for | share each, held By employees
are as follows:
Each option is in respect of one share,
Number  Number

Outstanding at | April 5 657 874 3 600 993
Issued during the year 10 667 827 2715853
Exercised (5 940) (47 009)
Lapsed {1 163 298) (616 953)
Qutstanding at 31 March |5 156 463 5 657 874

The purpose of the Staff Share Scheme s 1o promote an esprit de corps” within the
organisation, create an awareness of Investec's performance and provide an incentive 1o
maximise individua!l and group performance by allowing all staff to share in the risks and
rewards of the group.

The group makes shares or debentures available to staff members via the underlying
share trusts, The particular instrument used varies from time to time depending on
taxation legislation and factors affecting the group structure. Nevertheless, whatever the
instrument chosen, its underlying value depends solely on the performance of the group
and stock market conditions,

At present, the practice of the group is to give all permanent staff members a share
allocation approximately equal 1o their annual package after completing six months of
ernployment, In line with the objective of providing a long-term incentive for staff,
participants may not deal in any shares acquired in terms of the Scheme within two
years of accepting them. Thereafier they may acquire them over a minimum period of a
further three years or maximum period of a further eight years.

After the initial allocation referred to above, additional allocations are made to staff
mermbers at the discretion of group managemernt and depending on the individual
performance, and contribution made by, the respective staff members,

In addition to the Staff Share Scheme, other incentive schemes are operated by the
group. Whilst the objectives of such schernes are identical to the Staff Share Scheme,
membership of them is not extended to all staff members but to key members of the
group whom executive management befieve are In a position to add significant vaiue to
the group.Whilst housed in different structures from the Staff Share Scheme, the
underlying assets in them are group instruments. Any benefit derived by the members
from such schemes is thus totally dependent on the performance of the grous.

The extent of the directors’ and staff interest in the incentive schemes is detalled on
page 265.
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33. Shares to be issued
Number of ordinary shares Number Number
At beginning of year 13073994 11073994
Additions ~ 2000000
Conversion {9 500 000
Acquired by staff share scheme (604 176} ~-
At end of year 2969818 13073994
Nominal value of ordinary share £000 £000
At beginning of year 4] 48 35 285
Additions 5843
Caonversion (38 148) -
Acquired by stafl share scheme (572) -
At end of year 2428 41 148

The amounts included in the above figures represent contributions received by the
group in respect of employee share schemnes. All of the 2 965 816 shares to be
issued at 31 March 2003 are due to be issued on 31 July 2008, However, the
tompany may on the election of the holder issue these shares. to the hclders of
these shares at an earlier date.

The rights in respect of 9 580 000 shares to be issued at 31 March 2002 were
acquired by the company in exchange for the issue of 9 500 000 ordinary shares. The
share scheme receiving these 9 500 000 shares has agreed not to receive dividends
and not to sell these shares untif 15 Decemnber 2004 in respect of 7 500 000 of
these shares and until 31 March 2008 in respect of the remaining 2 000 000 shares.

During the year the Staff Share Scheme reacquired the rights in respect of 604 176
shares to be issued.
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34, Share options

Details of share options

2003

Expiry

fnstrument dare

Number
of options
Exercise  issued/
price  exercised

2002
Number
of options
Expiry Exercise  issued/
date price  exercised

Granted during the year

Investec Group Lid 13 Sep 2007

R 16450 6 736 260

| Mar 2012 RI7472 2715 853

Investec Group Ltd 13 Sep 2007 R 17000 770612
Investec plc 19 Mar 2007 R 11196 1 [i7845
Investec Limited 19 Mar 2007 R 11132 833 586
lnvestec plc 19 Mar 2007 £793 77540t
Investec glc 19 Mar 2012 £793 434123
Exercised during the year  Ihwestec Group Lid R 7893 5940 | 2002-2009 R134.85 42 00%
Investec Holdings Limited Ré743 6833
Terms of share options
SA Schemes UK Schemes
Number of Number of Number of Number
Average Investec Investec Average Investec Average  of Investec
exercise Lisited pic exercise Limited axercise plc
price shares shares price shares price shares
31 March 04 R 16576 116779 198835 R 24600 229516 £1573 390798
31 March 0% R 16951 30 821 52 478 R 23545 104 180 £i506 177 388
31 March 06 R 16356 16 334 27812 R16%8C 131 431 £1086 223789
3| March §7 R 15706 6824 11418 R 15106 150727 £9.86 2650110
31 March 08 R 14805 1948 484 3455015 R 24600 237 902 £1573 405076
31 March 09 R 20559 44 368 78 950
31 March 0 R 24021 4] 640 241 170 R 23603 44 300 £1509 75 430
31 March 11 R241.3% 132460 225540 R 13028 224673 £8.88 417750
31 March 12 R 17452 591 915 1 007 855
31 March 13 R 16800 2220 3780
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2003 2002

35. Cash flow reconciliations
Reconciltation of operating profit to net operating cash flows

Operating (loss)/profit

{Increase}/decrease in accrued income and prepayments
Increase/{decrease} in accruals and deferred income

interest expense on subordinated liabilities {inciuding convertible debt)
Depreciation

Provision for bad and doubtiu! debts

Amaortisation of goodwill

Gains on disposal/reciassifications of investment securtties

Loss on the disposal of investment properties

Fundamental reorganisation and restructuring costs

Long-term assurance business attributable to the shareholder

Net cash inflow from trading activities

Net decrease in treasury bills and other eligible biils

MNet decrease in foans and advances 1o banks

MNet decrease in loans and advances to customers

Net increase in non-investment debt and equity securities
and debt securities in issue

MNet decrease in other assets

Net decrease in deposits by banks

Net {decrease)/ increase in customer accounts

Net (decrease)/ increase in other liabilities

Net cash inflow from operating activities

(37 545) 60 132

(26 4272) 1755
37149 (53 187)
25090 35585
14417 16926
18308 14668
122302 98435
(25269) (13 440)
- | 235
(6073) (1] 836)
(44527 (31 078)

77 430 19 195

(45252) (242 093)
(197 986) (350 556)
(87 427) (804 523)

3097 175 | 548 338
(21 136) (436 427)
(1Si6016) (172 434)
(73 353) 597 026
(514 173) 42206

79 262 680 542
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35. Cash flow reconciliations (continued)

Subordinated liabilities

At beginning of the year 190 659 239 129
Foreign currency adjustments 51382 (74 201}
fssues during the year 48 650 36433
Repaymerits (13793) (10359
Conversions during the year (1) {(343)
At end of year 376 897 190 659
Calied up share capital

At beginning of year 7530 & 701
MNet issues during the year 5 4
Conversions during the year 374 i
Buy-back of shares {148) {i79)
Unbundiing and restructuring {7 603) -
Acquisition of subsidiary undertakings - 1 003
At end of year 158 7530
Share premium

At beginning of year 814 089 565 18
Net issues during the year 64 527 i 08!
Conversions during the year 86 402 342
Buy-back of shares {4931y (55354
Urbundiing and restruciuring 66 234
Share issue expenses (32 213) -
Acquisition of subsidiary undertakings ~ 302839
At end of vear 994 108 814 089
Shares to be issued

At beginning of year 41 148 351285
Net (conversionsiissues during the year (38 720) 5863
At end of year 2428 41 148
Total financing

At beginning of year F 053426 846 296

At end of year

P 273591 | 053 426
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35. Cash flow reconciliations (continued)
The groun is required to make deposits with central banks as a result
of government reguiations in the territories in which it operates, amounting to: 327 957 243747
Purchase of interests in subsidiary undertakings
Net assets acquired 78 95211
Goodwil: 594 311 449
672 404 660
Satisfied by:
Shares allotted — 305455
Other assets 42 135
Cash and acquisition cost £72 59070
671 406 660
Analysis of the net cash outflow from the purchase of subsidiary undertakings
Cash consideration {672) {59 070)
Cash zcquired 202
MNet cash outflow {672y {58 868
Due to the integration of acquisitions into our continuing operations i is
not practical 1o analyse the post-acquisition cashflows of the acauired units.
Disposal of group undertakings
Goodwill written off |9 47
Fixed assets and other accounts 5327 790
Other liabiiities {4 469) -
Net assets disposed of 19 905 790
{Lossy/profit on disposal (28 484) i 363
Net cash {outflow}inflow from disposai of group undertakings (8 579) 2153
Satisfled by
Cash 30722 252
Costs incurred in termination and disposal of business undertakings (39 301)
{8 579) 2153
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36.Annual commitments in respect of non-cancelfable operating leases

Leasehold properties

Within one year 777 347
Between one and five years P 069 947
Cver five years 14782 14574

16 628 15843

37. Commitments

Forward repurchase agreements 129 155 307 956
Undrawn faciiities 360 850 187 009
Other commitments 6633 |1 365

496 638 506 330

The group has entered nto forward foreign exchange contracts and loan commitments
in the normal course of its banking business.

38. Contingent liabilities

Guarantees and assets pledged as collateral security;

- guarantees and irrevocable letters of credit 264 824 249 042
- assets pledged as coliateral security — 21003
Other contingent liabilities 84082 29271

348 906 299 316

The amounts shown above are intended only to provide an indication of the volume of
business outstanding at the balance shaet date.

Following falls in the value of assets in the split capital investrent market, ike other firms
in the industry, 2 subsidiary has received a number of complaints, Each complzint has
been investigated in accordance with the group’s complaints procedures and within
guidelines set by the applicable regulatory authority. The directors’ believe that no
provision in respect of these complaints is required in the accounts or the year ended
31 March 2003,

Legal proceedings
Investec is party to various legal proceedings, the ultimate resoiution of of which
is not expected 10 have a material adverse effect on the financial position of the

group.
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39. Risk management

The group’s risk management objectives and policies, including market risk, credit risk and the management of
risks that arise in connection with the use of financial instrumants, is detaiied cn pages 125 1o 157.

In the notes below, short-term debters and creditors are included in the interest rate repricing analysis. non
rrading currency risk tables and the table detailing assets and liabilities denominated in sterling and foreign
currencies. All other disclosures exciude these short-term balances.

Financial Instruments, including Derivatives and Risk Disclosure
Fair vaiues

The group's trading book comprises treasury bills, settlement accounts, debt securities, eguity shares, short
positions in securities, and derivatives as well as secured customer loans and deposits. All amounts are inciuded
in the balance sheet at fair value.

The fair values of bsted and publicly traded securities held for non-trading book purposes {comprising debt
securities and equity shares) are disclosed under the relevant balance sheet note, The falr values of other non-
trading book balances approximate to their carrying value in the balance sheet where a liguid and active market
exisis as defined by FRS 3.

Derivatives (off balance sheet financial instruments)

The group enters into various contracts for derivatives both as principal for trading purposes and as customer for
hedging foreign exchange and interest rate exposures. These inciude financial futures options, swaps and forward
rate agreements. All interest rate contracts are transacted with other financial institutions, The risks associated
with derivative instruments are monitored in the same manner as for the underlying instruments, Risks are also
measured across the product range in order to take into account possible correlations.

In the tables below, notional principal amounts indicate the volume of business outstanding at the balance sheet
date and do not represent amounts at risk. The fair value of a derivative financial instrament represents the
positive or negative cash flows which would have occurred had the rights and obiigations arising from that
ingtrument been closed out by the group in an orderly market transaction at balance sheet date, Detailed below
is the derivative exposure for both trading and non trading portfolios.
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39. Risk management {continued)
Trading derivatives
Notionzl principal amounts
Foreign exchange derivatives
Forward foreign exchange 5803110 13348742
Currency swaps 977 879 649 073
OTC options bought and sold 683 897 525 955
OTC derivatives 7464 886 14523770
Exchange traded futures — 7353008
7 464 886 21 876 778
Interest rate derivatives
Caps and floors I 329411 3356 154
Swaps 32732 965 18 804 698
Forward rate agreements 107 788 182 25 085 041
OTC options bought and sold | 658 469 | 447 110
Other interest rate contracts 47 532
OTC derivatives 143 556 559 48 493 003
Exchange traded futures 18441 355 SC 173
Exchange traded options 640 467 8O 457
|62 638 381 48 663 633
Equity and stock index derivatives
OTC options bought and scld 638 124 86l 976
Equity swaps and forwards 358 802 &7
OTC derivatives 996 926 862 043
Exchange traded futures 4 496 | 823
Exchange traded options 265 716 138771
Warrants 212 49 169
| 268 050 | 051 8Cé
Commodity derivatives
OTC options bought and sold | 361 272 2 120579
Commodity swaps and forwards 206 780 364 521
OTC derivatives | 568 052 2 485 100
Exchange traded futures 1 513923 2909 771
Exchange traded options 319 374 407 521
3401 349 5 802 392
Credit derivatives
Credit linked notes bought and sold 17 850
Credit swaps bought and sold {24 678 18 555
124 £78 46 405
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39. Risk management {continued)
Trading derivatives (continued)
Pasitive fair values

Foreign exchange derivatives

Forward foreign exchange 292 649 856 206
Currency swaps 75 610 56 394
OTC options bought and sold 68 045 8 369
OTC derivatives 436 304 920 969

I 315

Exchange raded futures

436 304 922 284

Interest rate derivatives

Caps and floors 3758 4 388
Swaps 484 417 251703
Forward rate agreements 59 385 51133
OTC ogtions bought and sold 7767 |& 599
OTC derivatives 555 327 323 823
Exchange traded futures 2 343 86
Exchange traded options 7 73

337 677 323 982

Equity and stock index derivatives

OTC opticns bought and sold &3 270 53 557
Equity swaps and forwards 27 100 -
OTC derivatives 50 370 53557
Exchange traded futures 472 9
Exchange traded options 3048 3013
Warrants 212 7733

24102 64 312

Commodity derivatives

OTC options bought and sold 78 620 76994
Commadity swaps and forwards 6 542 7627
OTC derivatives 85 162 84 616
Exchange traded futures - 85 087
Exchange traded options 11722

85 |62 6] 425

Credit derivatives

Credit finked notes bought and sold 362
Credit swaps bought and soid 291 126
29 488
Totai positive fair values 173536 | 472 491
Effect of netting {696 353) (1 062 450)
Amounts included in other assets / liabiliies 477 183 410 04!
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(£7000) 2003 20902
39. Risk management {continued)
Trading derivatives (continued)
Negative fair values
Foreign exchange derivatives
Forward foreign exchange 308 276 835 384
Currency swaps 47 944 158 427
OTC optiens bought and sold 28 802 29 578
OTC deriyatives 378 022 1033 389
Exchange traded futures - 2103
378 022 1 035 492
Interest rate derivatives
Caps and floors 4749 5392
Swaps 437 275 250220
Forward rate agreements 60 828 47 561
OTC options bought and zald 8 401 13 784
Other interest rate contracts 230 -
OTC derivatives 51483 326 957
Exchange traded futures 588 66
Exchange traded options 414 37
512485 327 060
Equity and stock index derivatives
CTC options bought and sold 45 230 57 299
Equity swaps and forwards 42 754
OTC derivatives 107 984 57 299
Exchange traded futures B46 152
Exchange traded options I 833 2 481
Warrants 27 3021
|10 690 62 953
Commedity derivatives
OTC opticns bought and scld 52 044 51 764
Commedity swaps and forwards 5330 5 309
OTC derivatives 57 374 57 073
Exchange traded futures 62 797
Exchange traded options - 10 737
57 374 130607
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39. Risk management {continued)
Trading derivatives {continued)

Negative fair values {continued)

Credit derivatives

Credit linked notes bought and sold - 362

Credit swaps bought and sold i52 127
152 489

Tota! negative fair values 1 058 723 1 556 601

Effect of netting (696 353) {1 D&Z 450y

Amounts inciuded in other assets / liabilities 362 370 494 151

The replacement values of these contracts are their positive fair values. The

notional principal amounts represent the volume of transactions outstanding at

the balance sheet date and do not represent amounts at risk.

Non trading derivatives

Noticnal principal amounts

Foreign exchange derivatives

Forward foreign exchange 59 307 -

Currency swaps 23 316 9193

OTC derivatives 82 623 9 193

Interest rate derivatives

Caps and floors 765 2 5G0

Swaps 2763913 1281918

CTC derivatives 2764 678 1 284 416

Exchange traded futures 338 600 388 452

3103278 1672868

Equity and stock index derivatives
OTC options bought and seld 35917 ! 092
35917 1 092

Credit derivatives

Credit link notes bought and sold 39 959 -
Credit swaps bought angd soid 76 170 -
g9 0 -
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39. Risk management {continued)
Non-trading derivatives (continued)
Positive fair values
Foreign exchange derivatives
Farward forsign exchange 77
Currency swaps b 366 963
OTC derivatives 2343 903
Interest rate derivatives
Swaps - OTC derivatives 37 12 24 795
Exchange traded futures 617

38738 24 795
Equity and stock index derivatives
OTC options bought and sold 2527 329
Credit derivatives
Credit swaps bought and sold 528 -
Total positive fair values (also representing the replacement costs) 44 136 26 027
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39. Risk management {continued)
Nen-trading derivatives (continued)
Negative fair values
Foreign exchange derivatives
Forward foreign exchange 412
Currency swaps 2 597 -
OTC derivatives 3009
Interest rate derivatives
Swaps - OTC derivatives 94 067 26 433
Exchange traded options 105
94 172 26 433
Equity and stock index derivatives
OTC options bought and sold {63 -
Credit derivatives
Credit swaps bought and sold i -
§7 355 26433

Total negative fair values

The replacement values of these contracis are their positive fair values The

notional principal amounts represent the volume of transactions outstanding at

the balance sheet date and do not represent amounts at risk.
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39. Risk management {continued)
Non-trading derivatives (continued)
Positive fair values
Foreign exchange derivatives
Forward foreign exchange 294
Currency swaps (786} g5l
CTC derivatives {492} 35|
Interest rate derivatives
Swaps - OTC derivatives (55 504 {1 510)
Exchange traded futures 541 {369)

(51 960) (| 87%)
Equity and stock index derivatives
CTC options bought and sold 2352 403
Credit derivatives
Credit swaps bought and soid 532
Credit link notes bought and sold {18

52 -

Totat book carrying vaiue {52 579) (525}
Hedging instruments
Gains and fesses on dervatives used for hedging are recognised in iine with the
underlying items that are being hedged. These values have been calculated by
reference 1o the ultimate maturity date of the derivatives.
Unrecognised gains to be recognised within one year Y 993
Urrecognised gains to be recognised in more than one year 34 374 23717
Total unrecognised gains 35 541 24710
Unrecognised tosses to be recognised within one year I 685 2 470
Unrecognised losses 1o be recognised in more than one year 89 394 22 394
Total unrecognised losses 9t 079 24 864
Tota! recognised losses in current period (CEIN] (% 764)
Poriion of recognised losses which was unrecognised in prior year 2453 F012
Net recognised loss arising In the current period {3 158) {8 752)

There are no gains or losses on hedging instruments deferred in the balance sheet,

nor were there any reclassifications of hedging instruments resulting in gaing or losses

arising in prior pericds being recognised in subsequent periods.
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3%. Risk management {continued)
Maturities of derivative instruments
Notional principal
Up te one year
Foreign exchange derivatives
Forward foreign exchange 4852 666 12020512
Currency swaps 428 (44 24 182
Futures — 7353008
Options 358 059 305028
5638769 19702730
interest rate derivatives
Caps and floors 707 784 2 BBY 807
Swaps |7 252075 13612657
Futures [5 209 96| 255 248
Options 27877 ] 45C 433
Forward rate agreements B0 005 221 21429 763
ther interest rate contracts 47 532 -
116 201 290 36 677 214
Equity and stock index derivatives
Swaps and forwards 196 809 &7
Futures 4 48| i 267
Options §69 527 832 862
Warrants 743 38 749
P 071 560 872 945
Commodity derivatives
Options 478 266 £35 599
Furures i 304 732 7 668267
Commodity swaps and forwards 136 590 342 480
P 219 588 3 646 346
Credit derivatives
Credit linked notes bought and sold 39 959 18 567
Credit swaps bought and soid 129 907 -
169 8606 18 567
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2003 2002

39. Risk management {continued)

Maturity of derivative instruments (continued)

Naotional principal {continued)

One to five years

Foreign exchange derivatives
Forward foreign exchange
Currency swaps

Options

Interest rate derivatives
Caps and floors

Swaps

Futures

Options

Forward rate agresments

Equity and stock index derivatives
Equity swaps and forwards

Futures

Optians

Warrants

Commedity derivatives
Options
Futures

Commodity swaps and forwards

Credit derivatives
Credit linked notes bought and sold
Credit swaps bought and soid

738963 1 006 34|
218716 316037
325838 1220927

1 283 517 1 543 305

422392 468 847
12468 925 6 549 509
3554538 223377
20219 37 134

27 782 961 3655272

44449 035 10934 139

161993 -
5 556
70230 168977
61 10420

232302 179953

482 974 1270013
209 191 241 504
70190 22 040

762 355 | 533 557

9 283
70 941 10916

70 94 20199
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For the year ended 31 March

{£'000)

2003 2002

39. Risk management {continued)

Maturity of derivative instruments {continued)

Neotional principal {continued)
More than five years

Foreign exchange derivatives
Forward foreign exchange
Currency swaps

Interest rate derivatives

Swaps
Futures

Equity and stock index derivatives
VWarrants

Commeodity derivatives
Options

Credit derivatives
Credit swaps bought and scld

Total notionaf principal amounts

276788 321 889
354435 318 047

625223 639936

5075878 2714448
i5 456 -

5091 334 2724 448

105

719406 622490

7639

178 235 791 79 124 168
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Notes to the financial

For the year ended 3| March

{£'000)

statements

Positive
fair value

2003

Negative
fair value

2003

39. Risk management {continued)

Maturity of derivative instruments {continued}

Fair values
Up to one year

Foreign exchange derivatives
Forward foreign exchange
Currency swaps

Cptions

Interest rate derivatives
Caps and floors

Swaps

Futures

Optians

Forward rate agreements
Other interest rate contracts

Equity and stock index derivatives
Swaps and forwards

Futures

Options

Warrants

Commodity derivatives
Options
Commadity swaps ang forwards

Credit derivatives
Credit swaps bought and soid

189 668 243 565

5748
7 453

5 244
(5611

202 869 2464 420

710 I 253
64368 48 311
2333 630
& 840 8 775
35675 43 30
- 230

| 13926 102 509
18040 20472
472 836
36998 35613
137 27
55647 56948
6 288 4597
3018 3129
9 306 8126
129 162
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For the year ended 3| March

{£'000)

Annual Reporr 2003

statements

Positive  Negative
fair value fair vaiue
2003 2003

39. Risk management {continued)
Maturity of derivative instrumenss {continued}
Fair values {continued}

One to five years

Foreign exchange derivatives
Forward foreign exchange
Currency swaps

Optiens

Interest rate derivatives
Caps and floors

Swaps

Futures

Options

Forward rate agreements

Equity and stock index derivazives
Equity swaps and forwards

Futures

Ogptions

Warrants

Commodity derivatives
Options
Commodity swaps and forwards

Credit derivatives
Credit swaps bought and soid

90 130 43525
40 216 837
60592 13191

190938 65 087

3048 3496
|73 958 178 501
i 627 6l
934 40
19710 17518
199 277 199 616
3060 42 282
0
31847 11613
44

40951 53905

25 444 |6 767

3524 220
28968 18963
690
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Notes to the financial

For the year ended 3| March

statements

Pasitive  Negative
fair value  fair value
{£°000) 2003 2003
39. Risk management {continued)
Maturity of derivative instruments {continued}
Fair values (continued)
More than five years
Foreign exchange derivatives
Forward foreign exchange 13828 4518
Currency swaps 31012 36 926
44 840 51 444
Interest rate derivatives
Swaps 283 212 304 530
Futures — 2
283 212 304 532
Equity and stock index derivatives
Woarrants 31
Commodity derivatives
Options 46 888 30 280
b 217 672 1 155 998
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 21 March

(£°000)

20603 2002

39. Risk management {continued)

Currency disclosure

Assets and liabilities denominated in sterling and foreign currencies
Dencminated in sterling

Denominated in currencies other than sterling

Total assets

Dencminated in sterling

Denorminated in currencies other than sterling

Total liabilities(*)

(*} includes subordinated liabilities,

3433 422 7564745
Pl 525 643 9392 187

|4 952 065 16 956 932

3042432 6819679
F1 180 861 9 369 478

14223 293 16 {89 157

3ol
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For the year ended 31 March

39, Risk management {continued})

Non-trading currency risk - structural currency exposures

MNon-trading currency risk exposure arises principaily from the group’s net investrnents in
overseas subsidiaries and associated undertakings, principally in South Africa, israel and
the United States of America,

The group's structural currency exposures at each reporting period were as follows:

Currency of structural exposure Net investments in overseas operations(*} £°000
2003
israell Shekel 55 617
US Doliar 28 557
South African Rand {161 952}
Other currencies (also includes the Austratian Dollar and the Eurc) 18 619
100 84)
2002
Jsraeli Shekel 30 000
US Doliar 14 700
South African Rand i4 |78
Other currencies (also includes the Australizn Dollar and the Euro) 54 127
113 005

(*y There were no borrowings taken out in the functional currencies of the overseas operations in order to hedge
foreign net investments.

Goadwill is not cansiderad to form part of the net investment in overseas oparations in the above table,

Invested pic
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended

39. Risk management {continued)
MNen-trading currency risk - non-structural currency expesure

The table below shows the group’s currency exposures. These non-structural exposures give rise to the
net currency gains and losses recognised on the profit and loss account. Such exposures, comprise the
monetary assets and monetary liabilities of the group that are not determined in the functional currency
of the cperating unit involved,

Net foreign currency monetary assets/{liabilities) in £000

Functional currency israeli
of group operation Steriing  SA Rand US Dollar  Shekel Eure Other Total

31 March 2003

Sterling - 564 (2 884) 5 2879 21400 21 964
South African Rand 90 775 - (128 4i8) 2 3692 5376 (28573)
US Dollar (17 896) 654 398 (16 844)
Israeli Sheket (1995 - 10022 - i6 - 8043
Fure 7 320 (aoy 1733 - (572) B 47
Other (3 306) (299) 83 - 5 - 3357
74 898 255 (19 464) 7 7246 16601 (iG 456)

Net foreign currency monetary assets/{fiabilities) in £000

Functional currency Israeli
of group operation Sterling SA Rand US Dollar  Shekel Euro OCther Total

31 March 2002

Sterling 692 49 851 4 (1022) 19213 68 738
South African Rand 344 - 8 094 84 24 | 293 9 839
US Daollar 22 909 (25) - 248 23 132
Israeli Shekel - - 88 183 - - - 88 183
Euro 627 (120) - - 507
Other 4 258 39 - 4 305

23 884 805 146 167 a8 {994y 20754 %0704

The amounts shown do not take into account the effect of any currency swaps, forward contracts and
other derivatives ertered into to manage these currency expasuras.
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statements

More than More than
2 months but & maonths but
Not more than net more than not more
For the year ended (£'000Q) 3 months 6 months than | year
39. Risk management {continued)
Interest rate sensitivity gap for the non-trading book
31 March 2003
Assets
Treasury bills and other eligibie bills 63318 -
Loans and advances to banks b 083 86! 2822 -
Leans and advances to customers 2 581 263 102 49 148 390
Deixt securities and equity shares 779 887 75 040 70526
Orther assets 553 574 3090 3537
Total assets 5066 903 183 443 222 453
Lizbilities
Degasits by banks 660 122 313 191 37 83§
Customer accounts 4615 570 330 145 178 560
Debt securities in issue 513539 3137228 231 805
Orther liabilities 167 913 15095 59 094
Subordinated liabilities 4189 -
Minarities interest and shareholders' funds
Total Labiiities 5961 333 97! 659 507 250
Off-balance sheet items 235 692 11 884 460 752
Interest rate repricing gap {658 738) {676 332) 175 915
Curmulative repricing gap (658 738) {1335 070) {1 159 i55)
31 March 2002
Assets
Treasury biils and other elfigible bilis 4241 - -
Loans and advances to banks G957 278 32155 4280
L.oans and advances to customers 2 (20 399 77 091 124 738
Debt securities and equity shares 385 538 290 309 266 699
Orther assets 158 921 14 588 15799
Tota! assets 3 564 547 414 443 421 516
Liabilities
Deposits by banks 5G7 959 196 149 15432
Customer accounts 3573 368 146 160 125 666
Debt securities in issue 365 068 I16 870 95 698
Other liabiiities
Subcrdinated lizbikties -
Minorities interest and shareholders' funds — - -
fitd 4536 395 458 979 236 7%6
Off-balance sheet items 430 244 i03 851 {2 000)
Interest rate repricing gap (541 603} 59 315 182 720
Cumulative repricing gap {54! 603} (482 288) {299 568)
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More than
| year but
not more More than Norn-interest Total
thank 5 years 5 years bearing non-trading Trading Total
- - 68 318 174 701 243 Gig
- 27763 3583 P18 G29 1 640 768 2758 797
687 814 618 977 19 733 4 158 668 739 558 4 898 226
|24 669 127 547 159 473 i 337 142 741 78l 2 (78 903
18073 9 351 855 668 | 443 293 | 000 508 2 443 801
830 556 782 638 | 038 457 8 125 450 4297 296 12 422 7464
24 808 7072 13352 | 056 376 | 072 916 21429292
191 88 51 219 26 849 5394 16} 360 706 6 354 867
31184 - i1 08% 756 - i 08% 756
|28 981 5096 i78 280 554 459 i 281 703 I 836 162
20250 252 458 - 276 897 276 897
----- 735772 735772 735772
397 04i 315 845 954 253 9 107 421 3315 325 12 422 746
(701 357} {1G6 571 - Z B -
(267 842} 360 822 84204 {981 971) 981 971
(1 426 997) (1 066 175) S8l 971) 981 371
- - 47 41| (55 356 197 767
3034 I15 662 2 866 ! 125 275 i 457 930 2583 205
460 984 971 958 6266 3 661 436 L9044 4 780 480
66 570 22 874 154 627 {186 617 3 395 612 4582 229
29135 379 126 871 729 | 46% 598 989 252 2 458 850
559 723 | 489 620 1 035 488 7 485 337 7417 194 14 602 531
6614 26 388 - 852 542 2792756 3645 308
353 352 i1 307 - 5110053 i 958 |67 7068 220
28 810 604 244 606 246
- 418 475 418 47% | 905 848 2 324 323
27 227 163 432 - 190 659 - 190 659
- - 747 775 767 775 - 767 775
426 003 1101 327 1186 250 7945 750 & 656 78i 14 602 531
@1 779y (240 314) -
47 94l (52 023 (150 762) (460 413 460 413 -
{257 627) (309 651} (460 413) {460 413) - -
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 March

(£7000)

2003

2002

40. Related party transactions

Transactions, arrangements and agreements involving directors and others:

Particulars of transactions, arrangements and agreements entered into by the group with

directors and connacted persons and companies contralied by them. and with officers of

the company:

{2} Atthe respective year-end dates & directors had outstanding ioans from Investec
Bank Limited. For foans to related parties, normal credit parameters are applied
Loans - Investec Bank Limited

{2y H Herman has a |7% and 13.25% holding in Picbel Parkade Shareblock (Pry) Ltd and
Taaibos Square {Pty) Lid respectively. Loans were provided to these entities by
Investec Bank Limited on an arms length, fully secured basis as follows:

Pichel Parkade Shareblock {Pty) Lid
Taaibos Square (Pty) Ltd

The loan provided for Picbel Parlade Sharebiock (Pty) Ltd was settled by H Herman on
3 February 2003,

{c) Boutigue Finance I Ltd is an investment company owned by certain members of
senior management, Investec Bank (UK Limited provided a loan to Boutique Finance
H Ltd and uses Boutique Finance Il Ltd's investment in shares as security thersfore,

Loan provided by investec Bank (UK} Limited

The terms of the loan are such that 280% cover is required at alf times, if the cover
drops betow 175% a margin call back to 200% rnust be made. | Kantor who s a director
of Investec Limited, has guaranteed 34% of the above loan provided.

(dy 5. Keseff, G, Burgen, B. Kantorn | Kantor; H. Herman, P Thomas and D. Jowell have an
interast in Spurwing-P lnvestments Limited and Spurwing-L Investrerits Limited,
which jolntly amount to a holding of 32.3% and 12.02% respectively Loans were
provided to these entities by Investec Bank (Mauritius) on an arm's length basis, to
fund 36% of the acquisition price of shares in Investec Limited and Investec plc, as
follows:

Spurwing-P Investments Limited
Spurwing-L. lavestments Limited

The above entities purchased 4 400 000 Inwestec plc ordinary shares for £27.0 million
from the SA Staff Share Scheme on 31 March 2003 and sold | 860 750 options for
£2 260 506 to the UK Staff Share Scheme on 31 March 2003,

All the above loans are included in loans and advances to customers.

g 093

2730

7678
2182

2418

i 384
5125

4187
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Notes to the financial statements

At 31 March
(£000) 2003 2002

40. Related party transactions {continued)

(e} The group’s personal account trading policy requires all employees who participate in
securities transactions to deal on an arm's length basis through Investec Securities
Limited, This has no material effect on either Investac Securities Limited or the
2roun.

(f) Directors portfolics are subject to management fees on an arms length basis.

(g} Particulars of directors’ dealings in Investec shares are recorded in a register held at
the Registered Office of the Company which is available for inspection.

Transactions with other related parties of the group
Any dealings with regards to investments in unit trusts or the asset management division
occur at arms iength.

(a) During February 2001, Investec Bank Limited entered into a 20 year zero coupon
swap transaction with Fedsure Life Assurance Limited for the future amount of
R 1.4 billion. The nature of the transaction was that investec Bank Limited would pay a
fixed rate interest and receive a floating rate interest. The contract was dissolved
during March 2002

(b} On 30 Septerber 2001, Investec Bank Limited sold certain property loans
to the policyholder assets of Investec Empleyee Benefits for a total consideration of - 33854

The balance was settied at year end.
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Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 3| March

(£000) 2003 2002

41. Miscellaneous

Assets subject to sale and repurchase transactions maturity:

Government securities 9457 3709 83!

Value of liabilities secured by assets:

Deposits by banis 985 453 693

Deposits by customers 334 9768
| 318 463 461

Aggregate amounts receivable, including capital repayments, under finance

leases, hire purchase and conditional sale contracts 35 456 28 446

Costs of assets acquired for the purpose of letting under financial feases 31 248 35 759

The group has Investment management and stockbroking businesses,
42, Subsequent events

On 15 May 2003, it was announced that agreement had been reached in terms of
which Peu Investment Group and Tiso Group, together with a broad-based
Entrepreneurship Development Trust and a new Investec emplayee share trust, wil
acquire in separate transactions a total interest of 25.1% in the issued share capital of
Investec Limited. This will include the issue of 5 600 000 new shares by Investec
Limited at South African rand 90 per share. The Public lnvestment Commissioner has
agreed 1o provide funding o facilitate the proposed transactions.
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Investec plc parent company accounts -
balance sheet

At 3t March
{£000) Notes 2003 2002

Fixed assets
Investments a 421 503 &2

Current assets

Other debtors b 35203 50
Creditors falling due within one year c (61 475) {62)
Net current liabilities {26 272) (2
Total assets less current liabilities 395 231 50

Capital and reserves

Called up equity share capital d iz 50

Share premium account @ 393 823 -

Capital redemption reserve e 50

Profit and loss account & | 245 -
395 231 50

The directors’ approved the accounts on 27 June 2003.

S. Koseff
Chief Executive Officer
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Notes to Investec plc parent company
accounts

For the year ended 3| March

{£000) Subsidiaries Other Total

a. Investments

At T April 2002 62 62
Additions 703 224 5 7031229
Disposals {281 789} - (281 789
Exchange movements \
At 31 March 2003 421 498 5 421503

in July 2002, in preparation for the Company's listing on the London Stock Exchange at part of a dual-

listed structure, the investec groug's businesses in United Kingdom, the United States, lsrael and Australia

were transferred to the Company which acquired the whole of the issued share capital (not aiready

owned) of the following companies:

- Investec SA for a consideration of £582.im satisfied by the issue of 50,334,493 shares and the assumption
of £281.8m of indebtedness.

- Investec Israel BV for a consideration of £60.1m satisfied by the issue of 9,737,282 shares.

- The 54.4% of Invester Holdings Australia Limited not aiready owned by the Company’s subsidiary, Investec
Holding Comgany Limited, for a consideration of £56.6m satisfied by the issue of 9,493,928 shares.

- GRS Owerseas Establishment for a consideration of £4.2m satisfied by the issue of 701,346 shares

- Various cther International subsiciaries for an aggregate consideration of £0.2m satisfied by the issue of
36,697 shares.

These holdings, with the exception of the holding in investec Holdings Australia Limited, were then
transferrad to the Company's wholly owned subsidiary, Investec MHoiding Company Limited (IHC) for an
aggregate consideration of £646.6m satisfied by the issue of shares and the transfer of indebtedness of
£281.8m.

On 17 january 2003 Investec plic’s 54,4% holding in Investec Holdings Australia Limited was transferred to
IHC for an aggregate consideration of £56.6 million on lcan account, such that IHC then owned 100% of
Investec Moldings Australia Limited. On 20 February 2003, the intercompany {oan to IHC was capitalised by
the issue to Investec pic of 139 £1 ordinary shares in IHC at £407 495.05 each,

The principal subsidiary undertakings of the group are detaled in note | of the group accounts on page 236,

For the year ended 31 March

{£'000) 2003 2002

t. Other debtors

Amounts owed by group undertakings 35 194 S0

Crther debtors b -
35203 50

The amounts owed by group undertakings are payable on demand

¢. Creditors falling due within one year

Amount due 1o group undertakings 31917 62
Accruals and deferred income 569
Proposed dividends 28 989 -

61 475 62
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Notes to Investec plc parent company
accounts

For the year ended 31 March (£'000)

d. The company’s called up share capital is detailed in note 32 of the group accounts on pages 275 to 280.

e. Reservas
Share Capital Profic
premiurn Redemption and loss Totat

Reserves account Reserves
At April 2002 - - - -
Transfer 50 {50 -
issue of new shares 471 334 - - 421 334
Bonus issue cf shares 38 - - (38}
Share issue expenses (27 473 - (27 473)
Retained orofit — - i 295 | 295
At 3| March 2003 393 8§23 50 1245 395118

Parent company profit and loss account

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption in s 230 of the Companies Act 985 not 1o present its own
profit and loss account. The Company's profit for the year, determined in accordance with the Act,

was £ 295 237 (2007 : Nil),

f. Reconciliation of shareholders’ equity 2003 2002
Issue of shares 421 358 50
Share issue expenses (27 472)

Retained profit for the year I 295 -
Opening shareholders’ equity 50
Closing shareholders' equity 395 23; 50
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Definitions UK GAAP

Annuity income as a percentage of operating income: Net interest income and annuity commissions receivable
less commissions payable exprassed as a percentage of operating income.

Assets under administration: Includes third party assets under administration and on-balance sheet assets,
Capirtal resources: Includes shareholders' funds, subordinated liabilitles and minority interests,
Cost to income ratio: Administrative expenses and depreciation divided by operating income.

Dividend cover: Earnings per ordinary share pre exceptional items and amortisation of goedwill divided by
dividends per ordinary share,

Dividend yield (%): Dividends per ordinary share divided by the closing share price on the London Stock
Exchange.

Earnings before exceptional items and goodwill amortisazion: As per calculation on page 254,

Earnings yiefd (%): Earnings per share pre exceptional items and goodwilf amortisation divided by the dlosing
share price on the Londen Stock Exchange,

Headline earnings: As per calculation on page 255,
Effective tax rate: Tax charge expressed as & percentage of operating profit,

Market capitalisation: Number of shares in issue, multiplied by the closing share price of Investec plc on the
London Stock Exchange.

Net interest income: Interest receivable less interest payable.

Non-perferming loans (NPL): An exposure is classified as an NPL when there is prospect of non-recovery of
interest or it is deemed imprudent to bring interest to account.

Number of shares in issue on a fully converved basis: Based on the number of shares in issue assuming
corwersion of all debentures and convertible preference shares.

Operating income: All income less interest payable and fees and commissions payable.

Operating profit: Operating income iess administrative expenses, provisions for bad and doubsiful debts and
depreciation of tangible fixed assets before goodwill amortisation and exceptional items,

Operating profit - Southern Africa & Other: Operating profit earned in South Africa, Mauritius and Botswana.

Operating profit - Non-Southern Africa & Other: Operating profit eamed in UK and Europe, Australia, Israel
and the US,

Price earnings ratio:The closing share price on the London Stock Exchange South Africa divided by the earnings
per share pre exceptional items and goodwill amortisation,

Return on average net asset value: Earnings attributable to ordinary sharehclders pre exceptional items and
amortisation of goodwill expressed as a percentage of average shareholders' funds.

Return on average tangible shareholders’ funds: Farnings atiributable to ordinary shareholders pre exceptional
items and amortisation of goodwill expressed as a percentage of average tangible shareholders funds ie,
excluding goodwill.

Staff compensation to operating income ratio: Fixed and varizbie stafl costs expressed as s percentage of
operating income.
Total core joans and advances: Loans and advances to customers less cash and short-term funds included

therein.

Weighted number of shares in issue: The number of ordinary shares in issue at the beginning of the vean,
increased by shares issued during the year, weighted on z time basis for the period during which they have
participated in the income of the group.




